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Luxembourg, with registered address at 4 rue du Fort Wallis, L-2714 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and registered with the Luxembourg Register of Commerce and
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The payments and, where applicable, delivery of all amounts due in respect of the Notes will be guaranteed by KBC Bank NV (the “Guarantor”) pursuant to a deed of guarantee
dated 21 June 2017 as amended and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time (the “Guarantee™) executed by the Guarantor.
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The Notes may be issued on a continuing basis to any Dealer appointed under the Programme from time to time, which appointment may be for a specific issue or on an ongoing basis
and which may include KBC Bank NV acting in its capacity as a Dealer separate from that as a Guarantor (each a “Dealer” and together the “Dealers”).

Application has been made to the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the “CSSF”) in its capacity as competent authority under the Luxembourg Act dated 10 July
2005 relating to prospectuses for securities (loi relative aux prospectus pour valeurs mobilieres), as amended, for the approval of this document as a base prospectus for the purposes
of Article 5.4 of Directive 2003/71/EC as amended (the “Prospectus Directive™) in respect of the issue by the Issuer of PD Notes (as defined below).

According to article 7 (7) of the Luxembourg Act dated 10 July 2005, relating to prospectuses for securities (loi relative aux prospectus pour valeurs mobilieres), as amended, the
CSSF does not assume any responsibility as to the economical and financial soundness of the operation or the quality or solvency of the Issuer or the Guarantor. Application has also
been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme during the period of 12 months from the date of approval of this Base Prospectus to be admitted
to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and to be listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. References in this Base Prospectus to
Notes being “listed” (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes are intended to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market and are
intended to be listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market is a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2004/39/EC of the
European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments as amended (“MiFID”).

The final terms to this Base Prospectus in respect of the issue of any PD Notes (the “Final Terms”), which will specify the applicable terms and conditions of the Notes, will be filed
with the CSSF. Copies of the Final Terms in relation to PD Notes to be listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange will also be published on the website of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange at www.bourse.lu.

The Programme provides that Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on such other or further stock exchanges or markets as may be agreed between the Issuer
and the relevant Dealer(s). In the case of Notes which are (i) to be admitted to trading on a regulated market (as defined in the Prospectus Directive) of a European Economic Area
Member State other than the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (a “Host Member State™); or (ii) offered to the public in a Host Member State, the Issuer will
request that the CSSF delivers to the competent authority of the Host Member State a certificate of approval pursuant to Article 18 of the Prospectus Directive attesting that the Base
Prospectus has been drawn up in accordance with the Prospectus Directive and, if so required by the relevant Host Member State, a translation of the summary set out in this Base
Prospectus.

Notes to be issued under the Programme during the period of twelve months from the date of this Base Prospectus which are (a) offered to the public in the European Economic Area
in circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive whether or not such Notes are listed and admitted to trading on any market; or (b)
admitted to trading on a regulated market as defined under MiFID (including the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange) are hereinafter referred to as the “PD Notes”.
Any PD Notes which have a denomination of less than EUR100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) are hereinafter referred to as “Non-Exempt PD Notes”.

PD Notes issued under this Programme may be issued in any denominations of not less than EUR 1,000 as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s).

The Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes and/or Notes not admitted to trading on any regulated market within the European Economic Area which does not require the publication of
a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive (“Exempt Notes”). The CSSF has not reviewed nor approved any information in relation to Exempt Notes.

The Notes of each Tranche will initially be represented by a temporary global Note (a “Temporary Global Note”) which will be delivered on or prior to the issue date thereof to a
common safekeeper (the “Common Safekeeper”) or acommon depositary (the “Common Depositary”), as the case may be, in either case for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”)
and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme (“Clearstream, Luxembourg™), and/or any other agreed clearance system which will be exchangeable, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms, for a permanent global Note (a “Permanent Global Note”) upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership as required by U.S. Treasury regulations. A Permanent
Global Note will be exchangeable for definitive Notes, either upon request or only upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event, all as further described in “Form of the Notes” below.

The rating of certain Series of Notes to be issued under the Programme may be specified in the applicable Final Terms. Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to
relevant Series of Notes will be issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009, as amended, (the “CRA
Regulation”) will be disclosed in the applicable Final Terms. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension reduction or
withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Prospective purchasers of Notes should ensure that they understand the nature of the relevant Notes and the extent of their exposure to risks and that they consider the
suitability of the relevant Notes as an investment in the light of their own circumstances and financial condition. Certain issues of Notes involve a high degree of risk and
potential investors should be prepared to sustain a loss of all or part of their investment. It is the responsibility of prospective purchasers to ensure that they have sufficient
knowledge, experience and professional advice to make their own legal, financial, tax, accounting and other business evaluation of the merits and risks of investing in the
Notes and are not relying on the advice of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer in that regard. For a discussion of the risks see “Risk Factors” below. An investment in
Notes linked to one or more Reference Items may entail significant risks not associated with investments in a conventional debt security. Such Notes may be principal
protected or, alternatively, the principal invested in such notes may be at risk. If the Notes are principal protected, such protection is nevertheless dependent on the Issuer,
failing which, the Guarantor complying with its obligations with respect to the Notes. If the Notes are not principal protected, the amount paid by the Issuer on redemption
of the Notes may be less than the nominal amount of the Notes, together with any accrued interest, and may in certain circumstances be zero.

Arranger and Dealer
KBC Bank

The date of this Base Prospectus is 21 June 2017.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION
This section sets out important information relating to the use of this Base Prospectus.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), and are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be
offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons (see “Subscription and Sale” below).

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes includes a legend entitled “Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail
Investors”, the Notes are not intended, from 1 January 2018, to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to
and, with effect from such date, should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in
the European Economic Area (“EEA”). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more)
of: (i) aretail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (“MIiFID I1”); (ii) a customer
within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as
defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MIFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Directive
2003/71/EC. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the
“PRI11Ps Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in
the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any
retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPS Regulation.

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes specifies the “Prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium” as
“Applicable”, the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be
offered, sold or otherwise made available to any consumer (consument/consommateur) within the meaning of the
Belgian Code of Economic Law (Wetboek van economisch recht/Code de droit économique) in Belgium.

All references in this document to “U.S. dollars”, “USD” and “U.S.$” refer to United States dollars, those to
“Sterling” refer to pounds sterling, and those to “euro”, “€” and “EUR” refer to the currency introduced at the
start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of
the European Union, as amended.

All references in this document to “KBC Bank Group” refer to KBC Bank NV together with its subsidiaries
and all references in this document to “Group” or “KBC” refer to KBC Group NV together with its subsidiaries.

References to “Affiliate” in this document, means in relation to any entity (the “First Entity”), any entity
controlled, directly or indirectly, by the First Entity, any entity that controls, directly or indirectly, the First Entity
or any entity directly or indirectly under common control with the First Entity. For these purposes “control”
means ownership of a majority of the voting power of an entity.

This Base Prospectus contains or incorporates by reference certain statements that constitute forward-looking
statements. Such forward-looking statements may include, without limitation, statements relating to the Issuer's
or the Guarantor’s business strategies, trends in its business, competition and competitive advantage, regulatory
changes and restructuring plans.

Words such as believes, expects, projects, anticipates, seeks, estimates, intends, plans or similar expressions
are intended to identify forward-looking statements but are not the exclusive means of identifying such
statements. The Issuer and the Guarantor do not intend to update these forward-looking statements except as may
be required by applicable securities laws.

By their very nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, both general and
specific, and risks exist that predictions, forecasts, projections and other outcomes described or implied in
forward-looking statements will not be achieved. A number of important factors could cause actual results,
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performance or achievements to differ materially from the plans, objectives, expectations, estimates and
intentions expressed in such forward-looking statements. These factors include: (i) the ability to maintain
sufficient liquidity and access to capital markets; (ii) market and interest rate fluctuations; (iii) the strength of
global economy in general and the strength of the economies of the countries in which the Issuer or the Guarantor
conducts operations; (iv) the potential impact of sovereign risk in certain European Union countries; (v) adverse
rating actions by credit rating agencies; (vi) the ability of counterparties to meet their obligations to the Issuer or
the Guarantor; (vii) the effects of, and changes in, fiscal, monetary, trade and tax policies, financial regulation
and currency fluctuations; (viii) the possibility of the imposition of foreign exchange controls by government and
monetary authorities; (ix) operational factors, such as systems failure, human error, or the failure to implement
procedures properly; (x) actions taken by regulators with respect to the Issuer’s or the Guarantor’s business and
practices in one or more of the countries in which the Issuer or the Guarantor conducts operations; (xi) the adverse
resolution of litigation and other contingencies; (xii) the Issuer’s or the Guarantor’s success at managing the risks
involved in the foregoing.

The foregoing list of important factors is not exclusive; when evaluating forward-looking statements, investors
should carefully consider the foregoing factors and other uncertainties and events, as well as the other risks
identified in this Base Prospectus.

This Base Prospectus contains various amounts and percentages which have been rounded and, as a result, when
those amounts and percentages are added up, they may not total.

This Base Prospectus constitutes a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive.

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor (together the “Responsible Persons”) accepts responsibility for the
information contained in this Base Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer and the
Guarantor (each having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in this
Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and contains no omissions likely to affect its import.

The applicable Final Terms will (if applicable) contain information relating to any underlying equity
security, ETF share, basket of equity securities and/or ETF shares, index, inflation index, equity index,
currency or debt security (each a “Reference Item”) to which the relevant Notes relate and which is
contained in such Final Terms. However, unless otherwise expressly stated in the relevant Final Terms, any
information contained therein relating to a Reference Item will only consist of extracts from, or summaries
of, information contained in financial and other information released publicly by the issuer, owner or
sponsor, as the case may be, of such Reference Item or component thereof. Each of the Issuer and the
Guarantor will, unless otherwise expressly stated in the applicable Final Terms, confirm that such extracts
or summaries have been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, and is able to ascertain from
information published by the issuer, owner or sponsor, as the case may be, of such Reference Item or
component thereof, no facts have been omitted that would render the information reproduced inaccurate
or misleading.

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with any supplement hereto and all documents which are
deemed to be incorporated herein by reference (see “Documents Incorporated by Reference” below). This Base
Prospectus shall be read and construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated by reference and form
part of this Base Prospectus. This Base Prospectus may only be used for the purposes for which it has been
published. The information on websites referred to in this Base Prospectus are for information purposes only and
do not form part of the Base Prospectus.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, any Dealer appointed under the Programme from time to time does not
accept any responsibility for the contents of this Base Prospectus or for any other statement, made or purported
to be made by the Dealer or on its behalf in connection with the Issuer, the Guarantor, or the issue and offering
of the Notes. Each Dealer accordingly disclaims all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or



Important Information

otherwise (save as referred to in this section) which it might otherwise have in respect of this Base Prospectus or
any such statement. The statements made in this paragraph are made without prejudice to the responsibility of
the Issuer and the Guarantor under the Programme.

No person is or has been authorised by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer to give any information or to make
any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Base Prospectus or any other information supplied
in connection with the Programme or the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must
not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes
(i) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (ii) should be considered as a
recommendation or constituting an invitation or offer by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer that any recipient
of this Base Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or of any Notes
should purchase any Notes. Each investor contemplating purchasing any Notes should make its own independent
investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer
and/or the Guarantor. Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the
Programme or any Notes constitutes an offer by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor or any Dealer to any
person to subscribe for or to purchase any Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes issued hereunder shall
in any circumstances imply that the information contained herein concerning the Issuer and/or the Guarantor is
correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof or that any other information supplied in connection with the
Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document containing the same. The
Dealers appointed under the Programme from time to time expressly do not undertake to review the financial
condition or affairs of the Issuer or the Guarantor during the life of the Programme. Investors should review, inter
alia, the documents incorporated herein by reference when deciding whether or not to purchase any Notes.

The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by law in certain
jurisdictions.

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any Notes in any
jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction.

The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by law in certain
jurisdictions. None of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Dealers represent that this Base Prospectus may be
lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration
or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any
responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, unless specifically indicated to the
contrary in the applicable Final Terms, no action has been taken by the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Dealers which
is intended to permit an offer to the public of any Notes or distribution of this Base Prospectus in any jurisdiction
where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly,
and neither this Base Prospectus nor any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published
in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and
regulations. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus or any Notes may come must inform themselves
about, and observe any such restrictions on the distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering and sale of
Notes. In particular, there are restrictions on the distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes
in the United States and the European Economic Area (including the United Kingdom), see “Subscription and
Sale” below.

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in the Notes must determine
the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor may wish
to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other professional advisers, whether it:
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. has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and
risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base
Prospectus or any applicable supplement or in the applicable Final Terms;

. has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular
financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment
portfolio;

. has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes,

including Notes where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential
investor's currency;

. understands thoroughly the terms of the Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices
and financial markets; and

. is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its
investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain investors
are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential
investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments
for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its
purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate
regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.
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SUMMARY OF THE BASE PROSPECTUS
This section provides a summary of the key information contained in this Base Prospectus with
placeholders for information specific to each tranche of Notes. A summary completed with such
issue-specific information will be attached to the Final Terms.

Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as “Elements”. These Elements are numbered in
Sections A—E (A.1 - E.7). This Summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for
the type of Notes and the Issuer and the Guarantor in relation to Notes with a denomination of less than EUR
100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency). Because some Elements are not required to be addressed,
there may be gaps in the numbering sequence of the Elements. Even though an Element may be required to
be inserted in the Summary because of the type of Notes, the Issuer and the Guarantor, it is possible that no
relevant information can be given regarding the Element. In this case a short description of the Element should

be included in the summary with the mention of “not applicable”.

Section A - Introduction and warnings

Al

Introduction
and warnings

This summary should be read as an introduction to the base prospectus dated
21 June 2017 as supplemented from time to time (the “Base Prospectus”). Any
decision to invest in the Notes should be based on consideration of the Base
Prospectus as a whole by the investor.

Where a claim relating to the information contained in the Base Prospectus is
brought before a court in a Member State, the plaintiff investor might, under the
national legislation of the Member States, have to bear the costs of translating
the Base Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated. Civil liability
attaches only to those persons who have tabled the Summary, including any
translation thereof, but only if the Summary is misleading, inaccurate or
inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the Base Prospectus or it
does not provide, when read together with the other parts of the Base Prospectus,
key information in order to aid investors when considering whether to invest in
such Notes.

A2

Consent to
use the Base
Prospectus for
subsequent
resale or final
placement by

[Not Applicable. The Issuer does not consent to the use of this Base Prospectus
in connection with a Public Offer of Non-Exempt PD Notes by financial
intermediaries other than the dealers appointed under the Programme either for
a specific issue of Notes or on an ongoing basis, which may include KBC Bank
NV (the “Dealers”).]

[Consent: Subject to the conditions set out below, the Issuer consents to the use

financial of this Base Prospectus in connection with a Public Offer of Non-Exempt PD
intermediaries | Notes (as defined below) by the Dealer[s], [®], [and] [each financial intermediary
and whose name is published on the Issuer’s website, (www.kbc.com), and identified
conditions as an Authorised Offeror in respect of the relevant Public Offer] [and any

attached to
such consent

financial intermediary which is authorised to make such offers under the
applicable legislation implementing Directive 2004/39/EC (“MiFID”) and
publishes on its website the following statement (with the information in square
brackets being completed with the relevant information):

“We, [insert legal name of financial intermediary], refer to the [insert title of

relevant Non-Exempt PD Notes] (the “Notes™) described in the Final Terms
dated [insert date] (the “Final Terms™) published by KBC IFIMA S.A. (the
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“Issuer”). We hereby accept the offer by the Issuer of its consent to our use of
the Base Prospectus (as defined in the Final Terms) in connection with the offer
of the Notes in [Belgium] [and] [Luxembourg] (the “Public Offer”) in
accordance with the Authorised Offeror Terms and subject to the conditions to
such consent, each as specified in the Base Prospectus, and we are using the
Base Prospectus in connection with the Public Offer accordingly.”.]

A “Public Offer” of Non-Exempt PD Notes is an offer of Notes (other than
pursuant to Article 3(2) of Directive 2003/71/EC as amended (the “Prospectus
Directive”) in [Belgium] [and] [Luxembourg] (the “Public Offer
Jurisdictions”) during the Offer Period specified below. Those persons to whom
the Issuer gives its consent in accordance with the foregoing provisions are the
“Authorised Offerors” for such Public Offer.

“Non-Exempt PD Notes” are any Notes which are offered to the public in the
European Economic Area in circumstances which require the publication of a
prospectus under the Prospectus Directive and have a denomination of less than
EUR100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency).

Offer Period: The Issuer’s consent referred to above is given for Public Offers of
Non-Exempt PD Notes during the period from [e] to [e] (the “Offer Period”).

Conditions to consent: The conditions to the Issuer’s consent [(in addition to the
conditions referred to above)] are such that consent (a) is only valid in respect of
the relevant Tranche of Non-Exempt PD Notes; (b) is only valid during the Offer
Period; [and] (c) only extends to the use of this Base Prospectus to make Public
Offers of the relevant Tranche of Non-Exempt PD Notes in [Belgium] [and]
[Luxembourg] [and (d) (specify any other clear and objective conditions
attached to the consent which are relevant for the use of the Base Prospectus) ].

An investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Non-Exempt PD Notes
from an Authorised Offeror will do so, and offers and sales of such Non-
Exempt PD Notes to an investor by such Authorised Offeror will be made,
in accordance with any terms and other arrangements in place between such
Authorised Offeror and such investor including as to price allocations and
settlement arrangements (the “Terms and Conditions of the Public Offer”).
The Issuer will not be a party to any such arrangements (other than dealers)
with investors in connection with the offer or sale of Non-Exempt PD Notes
and, accordingly, the Base Prospectus and any Final Terms will not contain
such information. The Terms and Conditions of the Public Offer shall be
provided to investors by that Authorised Offeror at the time of the Public
Offer. None of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Dealers or other
Authorised Offerors has any responsibility or liability for such information.]

Section B - Issuer and Guarantor

B.1 Legal and KBC IFIMA S.A.
commercial
name of the
Issuer
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B.2 Domicile/ The Issuer, having its registered office at 4 rue du Fort Wallis, L-2714,
legal form/ Luxembourg, is incorporated in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg as a limited
legislation/ liability company (société anonyme) under the laws of the Grand Duchy of
country of Luxembourg and registered with the Luxembourg Register of Commerce and
incorporation | Companies (under number B 193577).

B.4b Trend Not applicable; there are no trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or
information events that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the Issuer’s

prospects.

B.5 Description of | The KBC group consists of the KBC Group NV (the holding company) and its
the group and | wholly owned subsidiaries KBC Bank NV and KBC Insurance NV (the
the position of | “Group”). KBC IFIMA S.A. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of KBC Bank NV
the Issuer (the *“Guarantor”). The Guarantor and KBC Insurance NV each have a number
within the of subsidiaries.
group KBC Bank NV and its subsidiaries (the “KBC Bank Group”) is a multi-

channel bank that caters primarily to private persons, small and medium-sized
enterprises and midcaps. Besides its banking activity KBC Bank Group also
has a holding function for a wide range of group companies, mainly banking
and other financial entities in Central and Eastern Europe and in other selected
countries, such as Ireland.

The Issuer acts as a financing vehicle within KBC Bank Group.

B.9 Profit forecast | Not applicable; the Issuer does not make profit forecasts or estimates.
or estimate

B.10 Audit report Not applicable; there are no qualifications in the audit reports on the Issuer’s
qualifications | audited financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2015 and

31 December 2016.

B.12 Selected Selected historical key information:
historical key | The tables below set out a summary of key financial information extracted from
financial the Issuer's audited financial statements for the fiscal years ended on
information/ | 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016 prepared in accordance with
Material generally accepted accounting principles applicable in the Grand Duchy of
adverse Luxembourg (“Luxembourg GAAP”).
change /

Significant
change in the
financial or
trading
position:
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Income Statement

Summary of profit and loss
account

Gross margin and other
income

Total Expenses

Other external charges
Staff costs

Profit before taxation
Corporation tax

Income tax (includes all
taxes applicable)

Net profit for the year
Profit for the financial year

Statement of Financial Position

Summary of balance sheet
Total Assets
Total bonds outstanding

Of which maturing within
one year

Non subordinated debts —
non convertible loans

Of which maturing within
one year

Shareholders’ equity
Capital and reserves
Gross interest margin
Profit after tax
Solvency ratio

Dividends paid out of
previous year’s profits

2015 (EUR)
prepared under
Luxembourg
GAAP
(audited)

N/A

N/A
578,351
151,636

N/A

N/A
990,577

N/A
2,296,717

2015 (EUR)
prepared under
Luxembourg
GAAP
(audited)

6,630,556,146
N/A
N/A

6,607,854,248

2,536,174,843

N/A
11,302,721
N/A

N/A

N/A
1,700,000

2016 (EUR)
prepared under
Luxembourg
GAAP
(audited)

N/A

N/A
367,470
188,408

N/A

N/A
479,819

N/A
1,107,928

2016 (EUR)
prepared under
Luxembourg
GAAP
(audited)

4,118,851,117
N/A
N/A

4,088,813,841

1,803,537,635

N/A
20,650,114
N/A

N/A

N/A
2,181,881
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Cash flow statement

Net profit

Ajdustment for:
Depreciation
Interests income/charges

Net amortisation on loans
and bonds

Other provision

Other — adjustment

Merger

Other advance

Change in other assets and
liabilities accruals

Change in other assets and
liabilities
Taxes (paid)/received

Tax provision

Net cash flow from
operational activities

Distribution on liquidation
of subsidiaries

Financial fixed assets —
issued

Financial fixed assets —
repaid

Interests received

Net cash flow from
investment activities

Bonds issued

Bonds repaid

2015 (EUR) 2016 (EUR)
prepared under  prepared under
Luxembourg Luxembourg
GAAP GAAP
(audited) (audited)
2,296,717 1,107,928
N/A N/A
(3,765,946) (1,954,808)
(241,678)

(243,450)
(215,209) 965
(231,519) -
(2,159,407) (1,087,593)
10,421,347
(18,013)
N/A N/A
24,288 (110,492)
(535) 678,025
969,111 515,884
(1,166,543) 10,399,158
N/A N/A
(112,631,764) (91,200,650)
3,710,206,174  2,558,509,585
302,451,735 177,378,562
3,900,026,145  2,644,687,497
112,631,764 80,796,465
(3,710,135,676)  (2,558,356,950)
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Dividend paid (1,700,000) (2,181,881)
Interest paid (297,790,483) (174,876,082)
Net cash flow from

financing activities (3,896,994,395) (2,654,618,448)
Net cash flow 1,865,207 468,208
Cash balance as at 1

January 4,606,635 6,471,842
Cash balance as at 31

December 6,471,842 6,940,050
Net cash flow 1,865,207 468,208

Material adverse change:

There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer or
KBC Bank Group since 31 December 2016.

Significant change in financial or trading position:

Not applicable; there has been no significant change in the financial or trading
position of the Issuer or KBC Bank Group since 31 December 2016.

B.13 Events Not applicable; there have not been any recent events relevant to the evaluation
impacting the | of the Issuer's solvency since 31 December 2016.
Issuer's
solvency
B.14 Dependence The Issuer is dependent on the Guarantor and other members of KBC Bank
upon other Group servicing debt on-lent by the Issuer as described in Element B.15 below.
group entities | Please also refer to Element B.5.
B.15 Principal The principal activity of the Issuer is to assist in the financing of the Guarantor,
activities its subsidiaries and associated companies by raising debt to be on-lent to the
Guarantor and the other members of KBC Bank Group.
B.16 Controlling KBC Bank NV holds 100 per cent. of the share capital of the Issuer. As KBC
shareholders Bank NV is a wholly-owned subsidiary of KBC Group NV, the Issuer is
indirectly controlled by KBC Group NV and ultimately by the shareholders of
KBC Group NV. KBC Group NV’s shares are listed on Euronext Brussels. At
the date of the Base Prospectus and based on the notifications made in
accordance with the Belgian law of 2 May 2007 on disclosure of major holdings
in issuers whose shares are admitted to trading on a regulated market, the major
shareholders of KBC Group NV are KBC Ancora, Cera, MRBB and the other
core shareholders.
[B.17] | [Solicited [Rating of the Issuer: Not Applicable. The Issuer is not rated by any credit rating

credit ratings]

agency.
Rating of the Notes: [The rating of the Notes [is] [is expected to be] [e].] [Not
Applicable. The Notes are not rated.]] (include only if Notes are issued that
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require information to be given in accordance with Annex V of the Regulation
(EC) 809/2004 as amended)

B.18 Description of | The Notes will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Guarantor
the Guarantee | pursuant to the deed of guarantee dated 21 June 2017, as amended and/or
restated from time to time (the “Guarantee”). Claims in respect of the
Guarantee constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of the Guarantor and rank and will rank pari passu with all present
and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor, without
any preference among themselves and pari passu without any preference one
above the other by reason of priority of date of issue, currency of payment or
otherwise, except for obligations given priority by law.
B.19 Information
about the
Guarantor
B.19/B | Legal and KBC Bank NV
1 commercial
name of the
Guarantor
B.19/B | Domicile/ The Guarantor, having its registered office at Havenlaan 2, B-1080 Brussels, is
2 legal form/ established in Belgium as a bank and operates under the laws of Belgium.
legislation/
country of
incorporation
B19/ Trend The main sources for this section are the European Banking Authority, the
B.4b information European Central Bank (the “ECB”) and the European Commission.

Banking sector

After ongoing recapitalisation in the aftermath of the Eurocrisis, banks in the
Eurozone continued to strengthen their balance sheet, closely monitored by the
European Single Supervisor. At the same time, they adjusted their business
models to the evolving regulatory and challenging operating environment.
While overall progress is significant, the results remain uneven across
institutions and countries, with Italian and Portuguese banks still facing the
toughest challenges. On the other hand, the asset quality of banks in core
countries such as Belgium withstood the recent crises years remarkably well
and continue to be outstanding. The Czech and Slovakian banking systems are
also characterised by good asset quality, while in Hungary high non performing
loans are swiftly decreasing.

Looking forward, macrofinancial risks have shifted to the emerging markets,
while the macrofinancial environment in the Eurozone has improved, although
challenges remain. Enhanced economic governance and the banking union,
which still needs to be completed, significantly strengthened the Eurozone
architecture and offer a more stable banking sector environment than in past
years. In the meantime, credit growth is strengthening. On the other hand,
relatively low nominal economic growth and interest rates will continue to offer
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a challenging environment for banks’ revenue growth for a while. At the same
time new technologies trigger new challenges to business models. Banks with
a large customer and diversified income base are likely best suited to cope with
these challenges.

General economic environment and risks

Global growth and inflation dynamics have gained momentum recently. The
revival of the manufacturing sector after its slump in 2015 and 2016 is
especially remarkable. The strong support of new (export) orders suggests solid
internal and external demand. Moreover, it suggests that the improvements in
the hard data are likely to remain, at least in the short-term. Moreover, sentiment
indicators for the services sector confirm the favourable growth environment.

In the Eurozone, real gross domestic product (GDP) growth in the fourth
quarter of 2016 and the first quarter of 2017 was strong at 0.5% compared to
the previous quarters (quarter-over-quarter). Solid private and government
consumption were major contributors to economic growth.

Meanwhile, optimism in the United States economy continues. Sentiment
indicators are reaching multi-year highs with the manufacturing sector showing
considerable strength. Sentiment in the services industry, which is still the most
important industry for the US economy, also showed resilience. The high
figures of business activity and new orders components suggest that the
momentum will persist. However, hard data did not fully reflect this optimism
surge. Real GDP growth in the fourth quarter of 2016 reached a solid but rather
modest increase of 0.5% quarter-over-quarter. Furthermore, data on personal
spending came in on the soft side. However, given the continued rise in personal
income, the healthy savings rate and the high level of consumer confidence,
private consumption is expected to remain the main growth contributor
throughout the coming quarters. The poor growth of the real GDP growth of
only 0.2% in the first quarter of 2017 (quarter-over-quarter) is expected to be a
temporary phenomenon that will be reversed in the coming quarters.

As was expected, global headline inflation has accelerated sharply, supported
by the base effects of energy and commodity prices. This trend seems, however,
transitory. Once base effects fade out, headline inflation is expected to converge
towards more subdued levels around core inflation. For the United States, this
is heading in the direction of the target of the US Federal Reserve (the “Fed”)
of 2%. For the Eurozone, on the other hand, core inflation remains at around
1% at this stage. This is only about half of the medium term inflation target
which was set by the ECB. The ECB’s target is not expected to be reached in
2017 and 2018.

The Quantitative Easing of the ECB’s monetary policy is expected to be
continued as scheduled at a monthly pace of EUR 60 billion until December
2017. In the second half of 2017 at the latest, the ECB will announce its policy
intentions after the end of its Asset Purchase Programme (“APP”). Real
tapering will start at the beginning of 2018 and the APP is scheduled to be
completely phased out in mid-2018. The first raise of the deposit rate will only
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come several months after the APP is ended. A first rate hike by the ECB is
therefore unlikely before 2019.

Given the solid performance of the United States economy, in total three rate
hikes from the Fed are expected in 2017 and three more in 2018. In this context,
the US dollar environment remains supportive. The monetary policy divergence
between the Fed and the ECB will cause some further US dollar appreciation
against the euro in the coming months. It is, however, not expected that the US
dollar appreciation will continue in 2018. Although the difference in monetary
policy will still exist, the anticipation on the ECB tapering and several months
later the first ECB rate hike is expected to prevent the US dollar from
strengthening further against the euro. As a result, the US dollar will probably
depreciate somewhat in the next year towards US dollar 1.10 per EUR by the
end of 2018.

US long-term sovereign interest rates are expected to increase further at a
gradual pace in the coming months. As the correlation with US vyields is still
high, the German ten year government bond yield will also rise. Intra-European
Monetary Union spreads have decreased again recently, in particular after the
election of Mr. Emmanuel Macron as president of France.

B19/B. | Description of | See Element B.5 above.

5 the group and
the position of
the Guarantor
within the
group

B19/B. | Profit forecast | Not applicable; the Guarantor does not make profit forecasts or estimates.

9 or estimate

B19/ Audit report Not applicable; there are no qualifications in the audit reports on the

B.10 qualifications | Guarantor’s audited financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2015

and 31 December 2016.

B19/ Selected Selected historical key financial information:

B.12 historical key | The tables below set out a summary of key financial information extracted from
financial the Guarantor's audited comprehensive income statements for each of the two
information/ | years ended, and statements of financial position as at, 31 December 2015 and
Material 31 December 2016:
adverse Income Statement
Cr-lan-g? ! Summary of consolidated profit and loss
Significant account data (in millions of EUR, IFRS — FY 2015 FY 2016
change in the audited)
financial or Total income 6,145 6,240
trading Operating expenses -3,388 -3,399
position: Impairment -650 -145

Result after tax, group share 2,239 2,026
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Statement of Financial Position

Summary of consolidated balance sheet data 31 December 31 December
(in millions of EUR, IFRS - audited) 2015 2016
Total assets 217,626 239,333
Parent shareholders' equity 11,888 12,568

Material adverse change:

There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Guarantor or
KBC Bank Group since 31 December 2016.

Significant change in the financial or trading position:

Not applicable, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading
position of the Guarantor or KBC Bank Group since 31 December 2016.

B19/ Events On 31 December 20186, total equity of the Guarantor came to EUR 14.2 billion.
B.13 impacting the | This figure included EUR 12.6 billion in parent shareholders’ equity, EUR 1.4
Guarantor's billion in additional tier-1 instruments and EUR 0.2 billion in minority interests.
solvency Total equity rose by EUR 0.7 billion in 2016. The most important components
in this respect being the inclusion of the annual profit (+ EUR 2.2 billion,
including minority interests), the payment of a dividend to KBC Group (- EUR
0.8 hillion), changes in the available-for-sale reserve and cashflow hedge
reserve (- EUR 0.3 billion in total), changes in defined benefit plans (- EUR 0.3
billion) and several smaller items. The solvency position remained strong as a
result, with a common equity ratio of 14.3% (fully loaded) at the end of 2016.
B19/ Dependence The Guarantor, as full subsidiary of KBC Group NV, has, besides its banking
B.14 upon other activity, also a holding function for a wide range of group companies, mainly
Group entities | banking and other financial entities in Central and Eastern Europe and in other
selected countries, such as Ireland. In its capacity of holding company, the
Guarantor is affected by the cash flows from dividends received from these
group companies. The Guarantor also functions as funding provider for a
number of these group companies.
Please also refer to Element B19/B.5.
B19/ Principal KBC Bank Group is a multi-channel bank catering mainly for retail, private
B.15 activities banking, small and medium-sized enterprises and mid-cap clients.

Geographically, KBC Bank Group focuses on its core markets of Belgium, the
Czech Republic, the Slovak Republic, Hungary and Bulgaria. It is also present
in Ireland and, to a limited extent, elsewhere in the world, primarily to support
corporate clients from its core markets.

KBC Bank Group's core business is retail and private bank-insurance
(including asset management) in its home markets, though it is also active in
services to larger corporations and market activities. Across these markets,
KBC Bank Group is active in a large number of products and activities, ranging
from the plain vanilla deposit, credit, asset management and insurance
businesses (via its sister company, KBC Insurance NV), to specialised activities
(which are conducted out of specialised departments at head office or
specialised KBC Bank Group companies) such as, but not exclusively,
payments services, dealing room activities (money and debt market activities),

10
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brokerage and corporate finance, foreign trade finance, international cash
management and leasing.

B19/
B.16

Controlling
shareholders

As the Guarantor is a wholly-owned subsidiary of KBC Group NV, it is
indirectly controlled by the shareholders of KBC Group NV. KBC Group NV’s
shares are listed on Euronext Brussels. At the date of the Base Prospectus and
based on the notifications made in accordance with the Belgian law of 2 May
2007 on disclosure of major holdings in issuers whose shares are admitted to
trading on a regulated market, the major shareholders of KBC Group NV are
KBC Ancora, Cera, MRBB and the other core shareholders.

[B19/
B.17]

[Solicited
credit ratings]

[Long-term credit ratings of the Guarantor (as at 21 June 2017):
Fitch A

Moody's Al

Standard and Poor's A

Rating of the Notes: [The rating of the Notes [is] [is expected to be] [@].] [Not
Applicable. The Notes are not rated.] J(include only if Notes are issued that
require information to be given in accordance with Annex V of the Regulation
(EC) 809/2004 as amended)

Section C — Securities

C1 Type and Type: The Notes are [Fixed Rate Notes][and][,][Floating Rate
class of Notes][and][,][Zero Coupon Notes][and][,][Range Accrual Notes][and][,][Index
Notes/ISIN | Linked Interest Notes][and][,]J[Equity Linked Interest Notes][and][,][Inflation

Linked Interest Notes][and][,][Currency Linked Interest Notes][and][,][Autocall
Notes][and][Fixed][Index Linked][Equity Linked][Currency Linked] [Credit
Linked] Redemption Notes due [e].
Identification Code: The Notes will be Series Number [®] [(Tranche Number
[#])] and will be uniquely identified by the ISIN Code [®] and Common Code
[e].

C.2 Currency Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, Notes
may be issued in any currency agreed between the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s) at the time of issue. The Notes will be denominated in [®][, any Interest
Amounts will be payable in [#]] and any amount payable on redemption will be
in[e].

C5 Description | Not applicable; the Notes are freely transferable.
of
restrictions
on free
transferabili
ty of the
Notes

Cs8 Description | The Notes have terms and conditions relating to, among other matters, the
of rights following:

11
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attached to
the Notes,
ranking and
including
limitations
to those
rights

Interest/Redemption: The Notes entitle the holder to the payment [(a) of any
amount of interest payable in respect of an interest period and an interest basis
(the “Interest Amounts”) as set out in more detail below in Elements [C.9 and
C.10J/[C.15] and (b)] on the maturity date of a cash amount (the “Redemption
Amount”) as set out in more detail in Element [C.9] / [C.15].

Meetings: The Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of holders of the
Notes to consider matters affecting their interests generally. Defined majorities
can bind all holders of Notes and Coupons whether or not such holders voted on
the resolution.

Governing law: The Notes (except the ranking of claims on the Guarantee), the
Guarantee (except the status of the Guarantee) and the Coupons are governed by
English law. The ranking of claims on the Guarantee and the status of the
Guarantee are governed by Belgian law. The provisions of articles 86 to 94-8 of
the Luxembourg law of 10 August 1915 on commercial companies, as amended,
are excluded.

Status: The Notes and Coupons (if any) constitute direct, unconditional,
unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer ranking pari passu with
all present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and
pari passu among themselves. Claims on the Guarantee on the Notes constitute
direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor
ranking pari passu with all present and future unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of the Guarantor and pari passu among themselves.

Events of default: If one or more of the following events occurs and is continuing:
(i) default in payment of any principal or any Interest Amounts due in respect of
the Notes, continuing for a period of 30 days after the due date; (ii) non-
performance or non-observance by the Issuer or the Guarantor of any of their
respective other obligations under the Notes or the Guarantee, continuing for a
period of 90 days after notice requiring a remedy is given to the Agent by any
Noteholder; (iii) events relating to the winding up, insolvency, bankruptcy or
similar procedure of the Issuer or the Guarantor (except for a reconstruction or
amalgamation where the resulting entity assumes the obligations on the Notes or
Guarantee respectively); and (iv) a distress, execution or other process is levied
or enforced upon or sued out against all or any material part of the property of
the Issuer or the Guarantor (subject to certain exceptions), then the Notes will
become due and payable upon notice being given by the Noteholder.

Taxation: [(If the prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium applies) All
payments will be made without deduction or withholding on account of tax
imposed within any Tax Jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any authority
thereof or therein having power to tax, unless such deduction is required by law.
In the event that any such deduction is required, the Issuer or the Guarantor will
in general be required to pay additional amounts, subject to certain exemptions.
The Issuer may early redeem the Notes if it or the Guarantor (if it were required
to make a payment under the Guarantee) has or will become obliged to pay
additional amounts pursuant to a “Tax Gross-Up” as a result of any change in,
or amendment to, the laws or regulations of any Tax Jurisdiction or any political
subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change

12
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in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which
change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date on which agreement
is reached to issue the first tranche of the Notes and such obligation cannot be
avoided by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor taking reasonable measures
available to it (a “Tax Redemption”).][(If the prohibition of sales to consumers
in Belgium does not apply) Neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor shall be liable
for any tax, duty, withholding or other payment which may arise in connection
with the Notes and all payments made by the Issuer or the Guarantor shall be
made subject to any such tax, duty, withholding or other payment which may be
required.

“Tax Jurisdiction” means (i) any jurisdiction under the laws of which, in respect
of payments by the Issuer, the Issuer or, in respect of payments by the Guarantor,
the Guarantor, or any successor thereto, is organised or (ii) any jurisdiction in
which the Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable), or any successor thereto, is
resident for tax purposes.]

Illegality: The Issuer may early redeem the Notes if the Calculation Agent
determines that the Issuer’s or Guarantor’s obligations under the Notes or
Guarantee, as the case may be, [(if the prohibition of sales to consumers in
Belgium applies) or any hedging arrangements relating to the Issuer’s position
under such Notes,] has or will become unlawful, illegal, or otherwise prohibited
in whole or in part.

[Issuer Call: (If Issuer Call applies) The Issuer may, at its option, give notice to
redeem all of the Notes at [+] (the “Optional Redemption Amount”) on any of
[®][,][®][ and [e]] (each being an “Optional Redemption Date” [that coincides
with an Interest Payment Date]).]

[Autocall Early Redemption: The Autocall Notes will early redeem if the
Autocall Variable is [greater than][less than][greater than or equal to][less than
or equal to] the product of the Autocall Strike and [#]% (being the Scaling
Factor) on any of [e][,][®][ and [e®]] (each being an Autocall Observation Date)
(an “Autocall Redemption™). Notice of the date for redemption (which will
coincide with the next following Interest Payment Date being at least five
Business Days thereafter or absent such date, the Maturity Date)) shall be given
to Noteholders.

The “Autocall Variable” is the [(where Autocall Variable Averaging applies)
mean average of the] [index level][equity price][ETF price][weighted
[equity][and][ETF share] basket price][currency exchange rate][s] (the
“Autocall Reference Item”) determined for each valuation date relating to a
specified Autocall Observation Date. The “Autocall Strike” is the [(where
Autocall Strike Amount applies) amount specified][(otherwise) [(where Autocall
Strike Averaging applies) mean average of the] [level][price][weighted basket
price][rate] of the Autocall Reference Item determined for each valuation date
relating to a specified Autocall Observation Date.]

[(For Credit Linked Notes) The occurrence of a relevant credit event may affect
whether the Notes redeem early and the amount paid on early redemption or at
maturity.]

13
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[(For Index Linked Notes) [¢], acting as the “Calculation Agent”, may deem a
successor index to apply to the Notes if a successor sponsor announces the index
or the index is replaced. Further, if the index sponsor intends to modify, or has
modified, the formula or methodology of the index or permanently cancels or
fails to calculate the index, then the Issuer may [(if the prohibition of sales to
consumers in Belgium does not apply) , subject to certain conditions] (i) ask the
Calculation Agent to determine if such event has a material effect on the Notes,
in which case it will determine the index level based on the latest applicable
formula or substitute the index with a replacement index or (ii) early redeem the
Notes at their Early Redemption Amount (an “Index Modification/Cessation”).
(If Correction of Index Levels applies) Subsequent corrections to published index
levels may be taken into account for future determinations on the Notes.]

[(For Index and Equity Linked Notes) If one or more relevant exchanges do not
open for regular trading or certain market disruption events occur (including the
suspension or limitation in trading or other events disrupting or impairing the
ability to effect transactions on relevant exchanges) [(if Designated Multi-
Exchange Index applies) or the index sponsor does not publish the index or a
trading disruption, exchange disruption or early closure occurs in respect of a
component [equity[or][ETF share]] then [(if the prohibition of sales to consumers
in Belgium does not apply) , subject to certain conditions,] the determination of
any [Interest Amount][,][Redemption Amount][,]J[Autocall Variable or Autocall
Strike] may be postponed and no Interest Amounts or other sum shall be payable
as a result of such postponement or, where such amounts are valued by averaging
values over different valuation dates, the affected valuation date may be
disregarded for the purpose of the valuation.]

[(For Equity Linked Notes) [(If Potential Adjustment Events apply) If certain
potential adjustment events are declared by a relevant [equity][or][ETF] issuer
that have a diluting, concentrative or other effect on the theoretical value of the
[equities][or][ETF shares], [+] as the “Calculation Agent”, [(if the prohibition of
sales to consumers in Belgium does not apply) subject to certain conditions,] will
make appropriate adjustments to the Notes to address such events or,
alternatively, replace the relevant [equity][or][ETF share].][(If De-listing,
Merger Event, Nationalisation and Insolvency and/or Tender Offer applies)
[Further, if][If] [(1)] a de-listing, merger event, nationalisation and insolvency][
and/or] (2)[ a tender offer] occurs with respect to any referenced
[equity][or][ETF share], the Issuer may [(if the prohibition of sales to consumers
in Belgium does not apply) , subject to certain conditions] (i) request the
Calculation Agent to determine an appropriate adjustment to be made to the
Notes or (ii) early redeem the Notes at their Early Redemption Amount.]

[(For Inflation-Linked Interest Notes) If the inflation index level for any
reference month has not been published, [+] as the “Calculation Agent” shall [(if
the prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium does not apply) , subject to
certain conditions] determine the level for the Notes by reference to the actions
taken under any specified related bond or by reference to the change in the most
recently published inflation index level from the inflation level one year prior to
the relevant reference month. Further, the Calculation Agent [(if the prohibition
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of sales to consumers in Belgium does not apply) , subject to certain conditions]
(i) shall determine a successor inflation index if the inflation index ceases to be,
or has not been, published, (ii) shall make adjustments to the terms and
conditions to reflect any rebasing of or modification to the inflation index and
(iii) may take into account certain corrections that are published to remedy a
manifest error.]

[(For Currency Linked Notes with Currency Disruption Events) If one or more
of the applicable currency disruption events have occurred, [¢] as the
“Calculation Agent” may [(if the prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium
does not apply) , subject to certain conditions] (i) deduct from the relevant
[Interest Amount][and/or][Redemption Amount] certain amounts reflecting costs
and expenses arising in connection with such events or make other adjustments
to the Notes, (ii) postpone payment of the relevant [Interest
Amount][and/or][Redemption Amount] (without any Interest Amounts or other
sum being payable as a result of such postponement), (iii) adopt alternative price
sources or (iv) early redeem the Notes at their Early Redemption Amount. Where
such [Interest Amount][and/or][Redemption Amount] is valued by averaging
values over different valuation dates, any valuation date on which such a
Currency Disruption Event has occurred may be disregarded for the purposes of
the valuation].

[(For Credit Linked Notes) In certain circumstances an entity or entities may be
identified as a successor(s) to the original entity to whom the risk of the Credit
Linked Notes is linked (the “Reference Entity”). The identity of the original
Reference Entity will be treated as having been amended accordingly for the
purpose of the Credit Linked Notes so that following the determination or
announcement of a successor, the Credit Linked Notes will be linked to the credit
risk of the successor, which may be different from and could be greater than the
credit risk associated with the original Reference Entity].

[(If Additional Disruption Events apply) Upon the occurrence of any specified
additional disruption event (being [the occurrence at any time of a change in law
or regulation affecting any underlying referenced [equity][or][exchange traded
fund (“ETF”) share][component of an [inflation] index] in relation to the Notes
or materially increasing the Issuer's costs of performing on the Notes] [or] [a
hedging disruption] [or] [an increased cost of hedging] [or] [(for Equity and
Index Linked Notes only) [an increased cost of borrowing any referenced
[equity][or][ETF share] [comprising the index]] [or] [insolvency proceedings of
a referenced [equity][or][ETF share] issuer[ of any referenced [equity][or][ETF
share] comprising the index] [or] [the inability of the Issuer or its affiliates to
borrow the specified amount of the referenced [equity][or][ETF share]
[comprising the index] below the threshold rate][(if an ETF share is referenced)])
[or] [the cross-contamination of a referenced ETF’s assets and the assets of other
classes, series or sub-funds of such ETF] [or] [insolvency proceedings of a
referenced ETF issuer [or another specified entity related to such ETF issuer]
[or] [a modification of the constitutive documents relating to the referenced ETF
that affects the value of the related ETF shares or the rights and remedies of a
holder of such ETF shares] [or] [regulatory action taken in respect of the
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referenced ETF or ETF share] [or] [a breach of any strategy or investment
guidelines of the referenced ETF that affects the value of the related ETF shares
or the rights and remedies of a holder of such ETF shares] and each an
“Additional Disruption Event”] the Issuer may [(if the prohibition of sales to
consumers in Belgium does not apply) , subject to certain conditions] (i) require
the Calculation Agent to make adjustments (including as to Interest and
Redemption Amounts) to the Notes or (ii) early redeem the Notes at their Early
Redemption Amount.]

[(If Alternative Currency Provisions apply) If, as a result of any specified
currency disruption event (being (i) any event making it impossible, illegal or
commercially impracticable for the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any of its
affiliates to convert any amount due in respect of the Notes in the foreign
exchange markets for [the specified currency], (ii) any event that makes it
impossible or commercially impracticable for the Issuer and/or any of its
affiliates to deliver [the specified currency] in relation to a payment obligation
on the Notes between accounts inside, or into or out of, [the primary jurisdiction
for which the specified currency is the lawful currency] (other than as a result of
their respective failure to comply with practicable laws and regulation, (iii) an
illiquidity in the foreign exchange markets for [the specified currency] or (iv) a
currency hedging disruption and each a “Specified Currency Disruption
Event”) the Issuer in agreement with the Calculation Agent determines it to be
commercially impracticable for [the Issuer][it] to make payment on the Notes in
[the specified currency], the Issuer may [(if the prohibition of sales to consumers
in Belgium does not apply) , subject to certain conditions] (a) postpone the
payment for up to [e] Business Days whilst a specified currency disruption event
continues (without further Interest Amounts becoming due) and/or (b) determine
to satisfy the payment obligation by payment of the equivalent in [the alternative
currency] and/or (c) early redeem the Notes at their Early Redemption Amount
or its equivalent in [the alternative currency].]

[C.9]

[Interest,
maturity
and
redemption
provisions,
yield and
representati
ve of the
Noteholders

]

[Please also refer to Element C.8 above.
Interest: [The Notes do not bear interest.]

[(For Zero Coupon Notes) The Notes are zero coupon Notes issued at an Issue
Price of [e] [that do not bear interest]. The Amortisation Yield is [®] per cent.
per annum, determined on a[n] [annually/semi-annually] compounded basis and
assuming the Notes are held until maturity.]

[(For Fixed Rate Notes) The Notes [also] bear fixed rate interest from [the
Interest Commencement Date][e]] at the rate[s] of [e®] per cent. per annum
payable [annually/semi-annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear on [@] in each
year. The yield for the Notes will be [e®] per cent per annum (calculated at the
Issue Date) based on the Issue Price, fixed rate[s] of interest, Final Redemption
Amount and original tenor of the Notes. This is not an indication of future yield
unless the Notes are held until maturity.]

[(For Floating Rate Notes other than Digital Option) The Notes [also] bear
interest from [the Interest Commencement Date][e]] at a floating rate for each
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interest period based on (complete as required for each applicable Interest
Variable Option)

[(If Screen Rate Determination applies) the offered quotation(s) for [the
[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS] reference rate] [, [+/-] [®] per cent. (being
the Margin)] [, with the result being multiplied by the Interest Multiplier],]

[(If Rates Variance applies) (1) [[e] per cent. per annum][Rate: based on the
offered quotation(s) for [the [LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS] reference
rate specified for Ratei] minus (2) the [product of the Scaling Factor and] [[e]
per cent. per annum][Rate. based on the offered quotation(s) for [the
[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS] reference rate specified for Ratez] [, [+/-]
[®] per cent. (being the Margin)]] [, with the result being multiplied by the
Interest Multiplier],]

[(If Asian Option — Interest Rates applies) the mean average of the rates
determined for each of the [e] observation dates specified for such interest
period, each being based on the offered quotation(s) for [the
[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS] reference rate] [, [+/-] [®] per cent. (being
the Margin)] [, with the result being multiplied by the Interest Multiplier],]
payable [annually/semi-annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear on [e] in each
year.]

[(For Range Accrual Notes) The Notes [also] bear interest from [the Interest
Commencement Date][e]] at a range accrual rate for each interest period equal
to a proportion of [®] per cent. per annum that equates to the proportion of days
in such interest period on which the range accrual condition is satisfied.

The range accrual condition is satisfied on a day if [(1)] the floating rate based
on [the mean average of] the offered quotation(s) for [the
[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS] reference rate specified for Variable 1]
[minus (2) the floating rate based on [the mean average of] the offered
quotation(s) for [the [LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS] reference rate
specified for Variable 2] is [greater than or equal to [#]% but less than or equal
to [e]%][greater than [e]% but less than [e]%][greater than [e]%][greater than
or equal to [e]%][less than [e]%][less than or equal to [e]%]. Range accrual
interest is payable [annually/semi-annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear on [e]
in each year.]

[The Issue Price of the Notes is [®].]

[The Interest Commencement Dates are [e] for the Notes.]

[The Interest Determination Dates are [e] for the Notes.]

[The Interest Determination Dates are [e] for [Ratei][Variable 1].]

[The Interest Determination Dates are [e] for [Ratez][Variable 2].]

[The Interest Multiplier is [+/-] [e] per cent.]

[The Interest Payment Dates are [e].]

[The Interest Periods are [e].]

[The Margin is [+/-] [e] per cent.]

[The Scaling Factors are [e] per cent. [for [e] Interest Period]]
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Redemption: The Maturity Date of the Notes is [®][the Interest Payment Date
scheduled to fall on [e]]. Unless redeemed or purchased and cancelled earlier,
the Issuer will redeem the Notes on the Maturity Date at 100 per cent. of their
nominal amount.

Representative of holders: There is no note trustee or other representative of
Noteholders.] (include only if Notes are issued that require information to be
given in accordance with Annex V of the Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as amended)

[C.10] | [Derivative | [[Notapplicable. There is no derivative component in the interest payment.]
component | [The Notes have a derivative component in the interest payments.

?n the Please refer to Element C.9 above which explains how the rate of interest payable

Interest on the Notes for each interest period is affected by the [value of][average value

payment] of][change in value of][change in average value of] the relevant
[[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS] reference rate].] (include only if Notes
are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V of
the Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as amended)

c.1 Application | [Application has been made to [the Luxembourg Stock Exchange/[®]] for the
for Notes to be admitted to trading on [the regulated market of the Luxembourg
Admission Stock Exchange/[®]].]
to Trading [The Notes are not admitted to trading on any stock exchange or market.]

[The Notes will be offered to the public in [e].]

[C.15] | [Description | [Please also refer to Element C.8 above.

of how the
value of
your
investment
is affected
by the value
of the
Underlying
Assets]

[Interest:

(Where  Evolution of Underlying Equity/Basket of  Underlying
Equities/Index/Inflation/Currency applies) The Notes [also] bear interest from
[the Interest Commencement Date][e]] at a variable rate for each interest period
based on the performance of the referenced [equity][ETF share][basket of
[equities][and][ETF shares]][index][inflation index][currency exchange rates]
(the “Reference Item”), payable [annually/semi-annually/quarterly/monthly] in
arrear on [e] in each year.

[(For Evolution of Underlying Equity, Evolution of Basket of Underlying Equities
and Evolution of Index) The variable rate for any interest period is based on the
amount (expressed as a percentage of the arithmetic average of the immediately
preceding values (or, for the first variable rate, the initial values) of the Reference
Item) by which (1) the arithmetic average of the values of the Reference Item for
such interest period has [increased][or][decreased] from (2) the [product of the
Scaling Factor and the] arithmetic average of the values of the Reference Item
for such interest period [, [+/-] [®] per cent. (being the Margin)]] [, with the result
being multiplied by the Interest Multiplier].]

[(For Evolution of Inflation) The variable rate for any interest period is based on
the amount (expressed as a percentage of the immediately preceding value (or,
for the first variable rate, the initial value) of the Reference Item) by which (1)
the wvalue of the Reference Item for such interest period has
[increased][or][decreased] from (2) the [product of the Scaling Factor and the]
value for the immediately preceding interest period (or, for the first variable rate,
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the initial value) [, [+/-] [®] per cent. (being the Margin)]] [, with the result being
multiplied by the Interest Multiplier].]

[(For Evolution of Currency) The variable rate for any interest period is based on
the amount (expressed as a percentage of the value of the Reference Item for
such interest period) by which (1) the value of the Reference Item for the
immediately preceding interest period (or, for the first variable rate, the initial
value) is [greater][less] than (2) the [product of the Scaling Factor and the] value
of the Reference Item for such interest period [, [+/-] [®] per cent. (being the
Margin)]][, with the result being multiplied by the Interest Multiplier].]

[(Where Asian Option — Index/Inflation/Underlying Equity/Basket of Underlying
Equities/Currency applies) The Notes [also] bear interest from [the Interest
Commencement Date][e]] at a variable rate for each interest period based on the
average performance of the [Reference Item][[referenced [index][inflation
index][equity][ETF share][basket of [equities][and][ETF shares]][currency
exchange rates] (the “Reference Item”)]], payable [annually/semi-
annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear on [e] in each year.

[(Other than for Asian Option - Currency) The variable rate for any interest
period is based on the amount (expressed as a percentage of the mean average of
the values of the Reference Item, determined for the initially specified
observation [dates][months] (the “Initial Value”)) by which (1) the mean
average of the values of the Reference Item determined for each of the [e]
observation dates specified for such interest period has [increased][decreased]
from (2) the [product of the Scaling Factor and the] Initial Value [, [+/-] [®] per
cent. (being the Margin)]] [, with the result being multiplied by the Interest
Multiplier].]

[(For Asian Option - Currency) The variable rate for any interest period is based
on the amount (expressed as a percentage of the mean average of the values of
the Reference Item determined for each of the [e] observation dates specified for
such interest period (the “Current Value”)) by which (1) the mean average of
the values of the Reference Item determined for the initially specified
observation dates is [greater][less] than (2) the [product of the Scaling Factor and
the] Current Value[, [+/-] [®] per cent. (being the Margin)]] [, with the result
being multiplied by the Interest Multiplier].]

[(For Digital Option) The Notes [also] bear interest from [the Interest
Commencement Date][e]] at either the Digital Option Exercised Rate or the
Digital Option Fallback Rate, [, [+/-] [®] per cent. (being the Margin)] [, with the
result being multiplied by the Interest Multiplier]. Such interest is payable
[annually/semi-annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear on [e] in each year.

The “Digital Option Exercised Rate” (being [[®] per cent. per annum.][the
floating rate based on [the mean average of] the offered quotation(s) for the
[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS] reference rate for such interest period
[[+/-][®] per cent. (being the Margin)][with the result being multiplied by the
relevant Interest Multiplier][the floating rate based on [the mean average of] the
offered quotation(s) for the [LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS] reference rate
for such interest period [[+/-][®] per cent. (being the Margin)][with the result
being multiplied by the relevant Interest Multiplier], [+/-] [®] per cent. (being the
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Collar Margin), with the result floored at [e] per cent. per annum and capped at
[®] per cent. per annum]) applies if (1) the Digital Option Variable is [greater
than][less than][greater than or equal to][less than or equal to] (2) the [product of
the Scaling Factor and the] Digital Option Strike.

Otherwise, the “Digital Option Fallback Rate” (being [[zero][®] per cent. per
annum.][the floating rate based on [the mean average of] the offered quotation(s)
for the [LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS] reference rate for such interest
period [[+/-][®] per cent. (being the Margin)][with the result being multiplied by
the relevant Interest Multiplier]] [the floating rate based on the offered
quotation(s) for the [LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS] reference rate for
such interest period [[+/-][®] per cent. (being the Margin)][with the result being
multiplied by the relevant Interest Multiplier], [+/-] [®] per cent. (being the Collar
Margin), with the result floored at [®] per cent. per annum and capped at [®] per
cent. per annum]) applies.

The Digital Option Variable is [the floating rate based on the offered quotation(s)
for [the [LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS] reference rate [[+/-][®] per cent.
(being the Margin)][with the result being multiplied by the relevant Interest
Multiplier]][the value of the [Reference Item][referenced [index][equity][ETF
shares] [basket of [equities][and][ETF shares]][inflation level][currency
exchange rates] (the “Reference Item”)]], for such interest period.

The Digital Option Strike is [[e] [per cent. per annum]] the floating rate based
on the offered quotation(s) for [the [LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
reference rate [+/-][®] per cent. (being the Margin)][with the result being
multiplied by the relevant Interest Multiplier][the value of the [Reference
Item][referenced [index][equity][ETF shares] [basket of [equities][and][ETF
shares]][inflation level][currency exchange rates] (the “Reference Item™)]], for
such interest period.

[(Where Single/Asian Fixing - Index applies) The Notes [also] bear interest from
[the Interest Commencement Date][e]] at a variable rate for each interest period
equal to (1) [(For Single Fixing — Index) the value of the referenced index for
such interest period][ [(For Asian Fixing — Index) the mean average of the values
of the reference index determined for each of the [e] observation dates specified
for such interest period] divided by (2) [e] [, [+/-] [®] per cent. (being the
Margin)]] [, with the result being multiplied by the Interest Multiplier], payable
[annually/semi-annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear on [e] in each year.
Notwithstanding the above, if the rate of interest for any interest period
[determined on the basis of [@]] is [[(1)] greater than [®] per cent. per annum, it
shall be capped at that rate][and][,][(2)][less than [e] per cent. per annum, it shall
be floored at that rate][and (3)] negative, it shall be floored at zero.

[(For Credit Linked Notes) Following a relevant credit event, any amounts
payable to investors on redemption shall accrue interest at a lower interest rate,
based on the cost to the Issuer if it were to fund, or of funding, such amount. The
remaining portion of the Credit Linked Notes shall accrue interest at the same
rate as prior to the credit event.]

[The Interest Commencement Dates are [e] for the Notes.]
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[The Interest Determination Dates are [e] for the Notes.]

[The Interest Determination Dates are [e] for [Rates][Variable 1].]
[The Interest Determination Dates are [e] for [Ratez][Variable 2].]
[The Interest Multiplier is [+/-] [] per cent.]

[The Interest Payment Dates are [e].]

[The Interest Periods are [e].]

[The Margin is [+/-] [®] per cent.]

[The Scaling Factors are [e] per cent. [for [e] Interest Period]]
[The Reference Item [is][s are] [].]

Redemption: The Maturity Date of the Notes is [®][the Interest Payment Date
scheduled to fall on [@]]. Unless redeemed or purchased and cancelled earlier,
the Issuer will redeem the Notes on the Maturity Date at [100 per cent. of their
nominal amount][(For Index and Equity Linked Redemption Notes) a percentage
of their nominal amount equal to 100% plus (in the case of a greater final value)
or minus (in the case of a lower final value) a percentage equal to the product of
(i) the amount (expressed as a percentage of the initial value of the [Reference
Item][[referenced [index][equity][ETF shares][basket of [equities][and][ETF
shares]]] (the “Maturity Reference Item”)), by which (1) the final value of the
Maturity Reference Item determined for the purpose of the Maturity Date is
greater than or less than (2) [the product of the Scaling Factor and] its initial
value and (ii) the [Index][Equity] Redemption Multiplier, with the result being
floored at [[zero][®] per cent.] [and capped at [e] per cent.].] [(For Currency
Linked Redemption Notes) a percentage of their nominal amount equal to 100%
plus (in the case of a greater initial value) or minus (in the case of a lower initial
value) a percentage equal to the product of (i) the amount (expressed as a
percentage of the final value of the [Reference Item][referenced currency
exchange rates] (the “Maturity Reference Item”)) by which (1) the initial value
of the Maturity Reference Item determined for the purpose of the Maturity Date
is greater than or less than (2) [the product of the Scaling Factor and] its final
value and (ii) the Currency Redemption Multiplier, with the result being floored
at [[zero][e] per cent.] [and capped at [e] per cent.] [(For Credit Linked Notes)
a percentage of their nominal amount equal to 100% less an amount reflecting
any previous redemptions following a relevant credit event. The Issuer may elect
to pay all such redemption amounts on the Maturity Date].

The initial value of the Maturity Reference Item is [®][the [value][mean average
of the values] of the Maturity Reference Item determined for [the valuation
date][each of the [®] valuation dates] scheduled to be [®][, [®]]. The final value
of the Maturity Reference Item is [ ®][the [value][mean average of the values] of
the Maturity Reference Item determined for [the valuation date][each of the [e]
valuation dates] scheduled to be [®][, [®]]. See Element C.8 above for early
redemption triggers in relation to the Notes.

If the Notes are redeemed due to an event of default, they shall redeem at [par]
[(For Credit Linked Notes) the outstanding principal after the Credit Event(s)]
[together with accrued interest].
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[If the prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as applicable, if
redeemed as a result of an illegality[,][or][ a Tax Redemption] [,][or][ an Index
Modification/Cessation][,][or][a de-listing, merger event, nationalisation and
insolvency] [,][or][a tender offer] [,][or][a currency disruption event][[,][or][an
Additional Disruption Event][,][or][a Specified Currency Disruption Event], the
Notes shall redeem at [[®][an amount in the specified currency equal to [e] per
cent. of its nominal amount][, together with accrued interest]][their fair market
value. The fair market value is determined by the Calculation Agent [and
includes accrued interest], but is adjusted to fully account for losses, expenses
and costs to the Issuer (or any of its affiliates) of unwinding any hedging and
funding arrangements.]

[If the prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as not applicable,
if redeemed as a result of an illegality[,][or][ a Tax Redemption] [,][or][ an Index
Modification/Cessation][,][or][a de-listing, merger event, nationalisation and
insolvency] [,][or][a tender offer] [,][or][a currency disruption event][[,][or][an
Additional Disruption Event][,][or][a Specified Currency Disruption Event], the
Notes shall redeem at [the choice of the Noteholder at, (a) the fair market value
or (b) the amount which is the product of (i) the market value of the savings
component and the derivative component, where account is taken of the accrued
unpaid interest and (ii) the nth power of the sum of 1 and the funding rate from
that date until maturity (whereby n equals the remaining maturity expressed in
years), or by default, the fair market value][the fair market value][the higher of
the fair market value or the nominal amount], in each case, without any costs
being charged for such termination and with a pro rata refund to the Noteholder
of the costs initially paid by the Noteholders to the Issuer. In case of an early
redemption due to a force majeure, the Notes shall redeem at the fair market
value, without any costs being charged for such early termination.]

[(If Issuer Call applies) If the Notes are called by the Issuer, they shall redeem
on an Optional Redemption Date at [®] (being their “Optional Redemption
Amount”)[, together with accrued interest.]

[(For Autocall Notes) If the Notes redeem for an Autocall Redemption, they shall
redeem at [®]][if redeemed prior to [®]][[,][ and] [e] if redeemed prior to [e]]
[(If Autocall Type is other than Currency) a percentage of their nominal amount
equal to the product of (i) the percentage that (1) the final value of the Autocall
Reference Item bears to (2) [the product of the Scaling Factor and] the initial
value of the Autocall Reference Item and (ii) the Autocall Multiplier, with the
result being floored at [[zero][e®] per cent.] [and capped at [®] per cent.].]

[(If Autocall Type is Currency) a percentage of their nominal amount equal to the
product of (i) and the percentage that (1) the initial value of the Autocall
Reference Item bears to (2) [the product of the Scaling Factor and] the final value
of the Autocall Reference Item and (ii) the Autocall Multiplier, with the result
being floored at [[zero][®] per cent.] [and capped at [®] per cent.].]

The initial value of the Autocall Reference Item is [®][the [value][mean average
of the values] of the Autocall Reference Item determined for [the valuation
date][each of the [e®] valuation dates] scheduled to be [®][, [®]]. The final value
of the Autocall Reference Item is [®][the [value][mean average of the values] of
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the Autocall Reference Item determined for [the valuation date][each of the [®]
valuation dates] scheduled to be [®][, [®]].

No accrued interest payment will be made in addition to the amount paid on
Autocall Redemption.]

[If the determination of any [Interest Amount][,]J[or][Autocall Redemption
Amount][,][or][Redemption Amount] is postponed as a result of any disruption
in determining the [[Reference Item][Maturity Reference Item][Autocall
Reference  Item][[referenced  [index][equity][ETF  shares][basket  of
[equities][and][ETF shares]][inflation level][currency exchange rates]], such
postponed amount [(if the prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium does not
apply) , subject to certain conditions,] shall be paid without any Interest Amounts
or other sum payable in respect of the postponement or, where such amounts are
valued by averaging values over different valuation dates, the affected valuation
date may be disregarded for the purpose of the valuation.]

[(For Credit Linked Notes) Where the Calculation Agent determines that a credit
event may occur in respect of a reference entity, the Maturity Date shall be
extended until either: (i) the date on which it is determined that no credit event
has occurred; or (ii) if it is determined that a credit event has occurred, the date
on which the applicable proportion of the Notes is redeemed in respect of such
credit event.]

[The Scaling Factors for Redemption are [e] per cent.]

[The [Autocall][Index][Equity][Currency] Redemption Multiplier is [+/-] [e] per
cent.]

[The [Maturity][Autocall] Reference Item [is][s are] [e].] (include only if Notes
are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex XII of
the Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as amended)

[C.16] | [Expiration | [[Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, the
or Maturity | Maturity Date of the Notes is [®].
Date / [(For Credit Linked Notes) Where the Calculation Agent determines that a credit
Exercise event may occur in respect of a reference entity, the Maturity Date shall be
Date or final | extended until either: (i) the date on which it is determined that no credit event
reference has occurred; or (ii) if it is determined that a credit event has occurred, the date
date] on which the applicable proportion of the Notes is redeemed in respect of such
credit event.]] (include only if Notes are issued that require information to be
given in accordance with Annex XII of the Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as
amended)
[C.17] | [Settlement | [The Notes will be cash settled on [e]. Notes will be delivered on [e] [against

procedure]

payment of the issue price of the Notes]/[free of payment of the issue price of the
Notes].

The Notes are  cleared  through [Euroclear][and][Clearstream,
Luxembourg][other].] (include only if Notes are issued that require information
to be given in accordance with Annex XII of the Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as
amended)
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Section C — Securities

[C.18] | [Description | [The amount(s) payable [as interest][,]J[upon an Autocall Redemption] or on
of return on | redemption of the Notes will reflect an investor’s return.
Securities] | The value of the [Reference Item[s]] [][and] [Autocall Reference Items] [,][and]
[[Maturity Reference Items] to which the Notes are linked will affect [the Interest
Amounts paid,] [whether the Notes redeem early] [and,] [the amount paid on
early redemption or at maturity]. [(For Credit Linked Notes) The occurrence of
arelevant credit event will affect whether the Notes redeem early and the amount
paid on early redemption or at maturity.]] (include only if Notes are issued that
require information to be given in accordance with Annex XII of the Regulation
(EC) 809/2004 as amended)
[C.19] | [Final [[The amount (if any) payable on redemption of the Notes at maturity is not
reference linked to a Maturity Reference Item.]
price of the | [The final value of the Maturity Reference Item is calculated by looking at the
Underlying | [average of the] [price][level][rate][s] of such Maturity Reference Item at the
Asset] relevant time on the valuation date[s] specified for that purpose (being
[®D]1(include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in
accordance with Annex XII of the Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as amended)
[C.20] | [Type of [[The amounts (if any) payable as Interest Amounts or on redemption of the
Underlying | Notes are not linked to a Reference ltem.]
Asset / [The amount(s) payable [as Interest Amounts][,][upon an Autocall Redemption]
Where or on redemption of the Notes are linked to [a
information | [LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS] reference rate] [and] [the [Reference
on the Item] [and] [Autocall Reference Item] [and] [Maturity Reference Item].
underlying | The [Autocall][Maturity]Reference Item is [an index][an equity] [an ETF share]
?ssetd(]:an be | [a basket of [equities][and][ ETF shares]][an inflation index][a currency
oun

exchange rate]. [Information relating to it can be found at [@].]]

[(For Credit Linked Notes) The amounts payable on redemption of the Notes are
linked to the occurrence of credit events in respect of a reference entity or
reference entities.]

[There are multiple [Autocall][Maturity]Reference Items, as set out below:

[Autocall][Maturity] [Autocall][Maturity] [Autocall][Maturity]
Reference Itempy: Reference Itempy: Reference Itemyz:
[e] [e] [e]

[Information relating to each can be found, as set out below:
[Autocall][Maturity] [Autocall][Maturity] [Autocall][Maturity]
Reference Itempy: Reference Itempy: Reference Itemgz:
[e] [e] [e]]

(include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in
accordance with Annex XII of the Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as amended)
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Section D — Risks

D.2 Key risks There are certain factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations
regarding under the Notes. The principal risks in respect of the Issuer include, without
the Issuer limitation, the following: (i) the Issuer is a finance vehicle and accordingly has
and the no trading assets and, if the Guarantor's financial condition deteriorates, the
Guarantor Issuer and investors may suffer direct and materially adverse consequences, (ii)

current economic and market conditions pose significant challenges for KBC
Bank Group and may adversely affect its results, (iii) increased regulation of the
financial services industry, (iv) the highly competitive environment in which
KBC Bank Group operates could intensify further, (v) KBC Bank Group has
significant credit default risk exposure, (vi) risks associated with liquidity and
funding may be aggravated by the current global market conditions, (vii) KBC
Bank Group is exposed to counterparty credit risk, (viii) changes in interest rates,
(ix) foreign exchange risk, (x) strategies for hedging against market risks may
prove to be ineffective, (xi) a downgrade in credit rating may limit access to
certain markets and counterparties and may necessitate the posting of additional
collateral to counterparties or exchanges, (xii) risk management policies,
procedures and methods may expose KBC Bank Group to unidentified or
unanticipated or incorrectly quantified risks, (xiii) operational risks, (xiv) the
financial industry, including KBC Bank Group, is increasingly dependent on
information technology systems, which may fail, be inadequate or no longer
available, (xv) KBC Bank Group’s financial statements are in part based on
assumptions and estimates which, if inaccurate, could have an impact on its
reported results or financial position, (xvi) the risk of breaches of compliance-
related requirements, (xvii) litigation or other proceedings or actions may
adversely affect KBC Bank Group, (xviii) risks on account of pension
obligations, (xix) KBC Bank Group is responsible for contributing to
compensation schemes and subject to special bank taxes, (xx) KBC Bank Group
is subject to increasingly onerous minimum regulatory capital and liquidity
requirements, (xxi) KBC Bank Group could become subject to the exercise of
“bail-in” powers or other resolution powers by the Resolution Authority, (xxii)
the Belgian bank recovery and resolution regime, and (xxiii) KBC Bank Group
is highly concentrated in and hence vulnerable to European sovereign exposure,
in particular in its home country Belgium.

[D.3] [Key risks [There are certain key risk factors which are material for the purpose of assessing
regarding the risks associated with the Notes, including, without limitation, the following
the Notes] key risk factors:

(@  The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors and involve
a high degree of risk.

(b)  Noteholders may be required to absorb losses in the event that KBC Bank
Group were to become subject to the exercise of “bail-in” powers by the
resolution authorities.

(c)  The Notes are [not] principal protected[; any such protection is dependent
on the Issuer, failing which, the Guarantor, performing its obligations
with respect to the Notes. In addition, any such principal protection is
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(d)

The risk factors summarised in item D.2 above in respect of the Issuer also apply
in respect of the Guarantor (other than the risk set out in sub-paragraph (i)
thereof). ] (include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given
in accordance with Annex V of the Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as amended)

only at maturity]. [Prospective investors in the Notes should note that, in
certain circumstances, they may not receive any interest.]

Risks associated with investing in the Notes include, without limitation,
[(1)] minimum [and][/][or] maximum limits imposed on interest rates, (ii)
cancellation or scaling back of offers to the public or the issue date being
deferred, [(iii) [hedging activities of the Issuer and/or any of its affiliates],
[(iv)] conflicts of interest between the Issuer and/or any of its affiliates
and holders of Notes, [(v)] modification of the terms and conditions of
Notes by majority votes binding all holders, [(vi)] change in law, [(vii)]
illiquidity of denominations consisting of integral multiples, [(viii)]
payments being subject to withholding or other taxes, [(ix)] fees and
commissions not being taken into account when determining secondary
market prices of Notes, [(x)] there being no secondary market, [(xi)]
[exchange rate risk] [(xii)] market value of Notes being affected by
various factors independent of the creditworthiness of the Issuer or the
Guarantor; and (xiii) credit ratings not reflecting all risks.

[D.6]

[Risk
warning that
investors
may lose
value of
entire
investment]

[There are certain key risk factors which are material for the purpose of assessing
the risks associated with the Notes, including, without limitation, the following
key risk factors:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors and involve
a high degree of risk.

Noteholders may be required to absorb losses in the event that KBC Bank
Group were to become subject to the exercise of “bail-in” powers by the
resolution authority.

The Notes are [not] principal protected[; any such protection is dependent
on the Issuer, failing which, the Guarantor, performing its obligations
with respect to the Notes. In addition, any such principal protection is
only at maturity]. Also, if the Notes are linked to a [n
Autocall][Maturity]Reference Item, the amount [of interest] payable to
Noteholders [or amounts payable upon Autocall Redemption or at
maturity] will be contingent on the level, price or value of the
[Autocall][Maturity]Reference Item and on the structure of the Notes.
[Prospective investors in the Notes should note that, in certain
circumstances, they may not receive any interest.]

Risks associated with investing in the Notes include, without limitation,
[()] [risk of disruption to valuations], [(ii)] [adjustment to the conditions,
substitution of the relevant index and/or early redemption following an
adjustment event or an illegality], [(iii)] [postponement of interest
payments] [and/or] minimum [and][/][or] maximum limits imposed on
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The risk factors summarised in item D.2 above in respect of the Issuer also apply
in respect of the Guarantor (other than the risk set out in sub-paragraph (i)
thereof).

The capital invested in the Notes is at risk. Consequently, the amount a
prospective investor may receive on redemption of its Notes may be less than
the amount invested by it and may be zero (0).

[Investors may lose up to the entire value of their investment:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

()

interest rates, (iv) cancellation or scaling back of offers to the public or
the issue date being deferred, [(v)] [hedging activities of the Issuer and/or
any of its affiliates], [(vi)] conflicts of interest between the Issuer and/or
any of its affiliates and holders of Notes, [(vii)] modification of the terms
and conditions of Notes by majority votes binding all holders, [(viii)]
change and interpretation of law, [(ix)] illiquidity of denominations
consisting of integral multiples, [(X)] payments being subject to
withholding or other taxes, [(xi)] fees and commissions not being taken
into account when determining secondary market prices of Notes, [(xii)]
there being no secondary market, [(xiii)] [exchange rate risk], [(Xiv)
general risks relating to Credit Linked Notes, such as the variation of the
Reference Entities as the result of the determination of one or more
successor Reference Entities and factors influencing the risk of a credit
event occurring and the event of losses following the occurrence of a
credit event]. [(xv)] market value of Notes being affected by various
factors independent of the creditworthiness of the Issuer or the Guarantor
[including] [the occurrence of a credit event in respect of the Notes] [and]
[credit risk in respect of the Reference Entities and obligations of such
Reference Entity]; and (xvi) credit ratings not reflecting all risks.]

as the relevant payoff conditions may not provide for full repayment of
the initial purchase price upon redemption or early redemption [and the
underlying Reference Items may perform in such a manner that the
amount due under the Notes is less than the initial purchase price] [(For
Credit Linked Notes) and the amounts due to investors following a credit
event may be significantly less than the value of the applicable proportion
of the Notes redeemed, or zero];

if the Investor sells its Notes prior to the Scheduled Maturity Date in the
secondary market at an amount that is less than the initial purchase price;

if the Issuer or the Guarantor is subject to insolvency or bankruptcy
proceedings or some other event which negatively affects the Issuer’s or
the Guarantor’s ability to repay amounts due under the Notes;

if the Notes are redeemed early for reasons beyond control of the Issuer
(such as e.g. a change of applicable law or market event in relation to the
[Autocall][Maturity]Reference Item(s)) and the amount paid or delivered
is less than the initial purchase price; or

if the Notes are subject to certain adjustments or alternative valuations
following certain disruptive market events that result in the amount to be
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paid or delivered being reduced to an amount or value that is less than the
initial purchase price.]] (include only if Notes are issued that require
information to be given in accordance with Annex XII of the Regulation
(EC) 809/2004 as amended)

Section E — Offer

E.2b Reasons for | [The net proceeds from the issue of Notes will be applied by the Issuer to assist

the offer the financing of the activities of the Guarantor or its affiliates to the extent
and use of permitted by applicable law.] [The net proceeds from this issue of Notes will be
proceeds applied by the Issuer to [e]].

E.3 Terms and [Not applicable; the Notes are not being offered to the public.]

conditions [Any Investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Notes from an Authorised
of the offer | Offeror will do so, and offers and sales of the Notes to an Investor by an
Authorised Offeror will be made, in accordance with any terms and other
arrangement in place between such Authorised Offeror and such Investor
including as to price, allocation and settlement arrangements.]

Offer Price: [Issue Price][specify]
Conditions to which the offer is subject: [Not Applicable][give details]

Description of the application process: [Not Applicable][give details
including the time period, and any
possible amendments, during
which the offer will be open]

Description of possibility to reduce [Not Applicable][give details]
subscriptions and manner for refunding
excess amount paid by applicants:

Details of the minimum and/or maximum  [Not Applicable][give details]
amount of application:

Details of the method and time limits for ~ [Not Applicable][give details]
paying up and delivering the Notes:

Manner in and date on which results of [Not Applicable][give details]
the offer are to be made public:

Procedure for exercise of any right of pre-  [Not Applicable][give details]
emption, negotiability of subscription

rights and treatment of subscription rights

not exercised:

Whether tranche(s) have been reserved [Not Applicable][give details]

for certain countries: [Public Offers may only be made
by the Authorised Offerors in each
of the Public Offer Jurisdictions to
any person during the Offer
Period. All offers of the Notes will
be made in compliance with all
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applicable laws and regulations.]

[e]
Process for notification to applicants of [Not Applicable][give details]
the amount allotted and the indication
whether dealing may begin before
notification is made:
Amount of any expenses and taxes [Not Applicable][give details]
specifically charged to the subscriber or
purchaser:

E.4 Interest of [Not applicable; so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the issue of
natural and | the Notes has an interest material to the offer.]
legal [The [e] will be paid aggregate commissions equal to [e] per cent. of the
persons aggregate nominal amount of the Notes to be issued. So far as the Issuer is aware,
involved in | no other person involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the
the offer.] [®][Any [e] [and its affiliates] may also have engaged, and may in the
issue/offer future engage, in [transactions or perform other services for] [the Issuer, the

Guarantor and its affiliates] in the ordinary course of business.]

E.7 Expenses [Not applicable; there are no expenses charged to the investor by the Issuer or
charged to offeror.]
the investor | [The estimated expenses charged to the investor by the Issuer or offeror amount
by the to [e].]

Issuer or an
offeror
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RISK FACTORS
This section sets out the principal risks inherent in investing in Notes issued under the
Programme, including key risks relating to investments linked to the different underlyings or
bases of reference.

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its
obligations under Notes issued under the Programme. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may
not occur and neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor is in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any
such contingency occurring.

In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes
issued under the Programme are also described below.

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks
inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of the Issuer or the Guarantor to
pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for other unknown
reasons or for reasons which may not be considered significant risks by the Issuer or the Guarantor based on
the information currently available to it or which it may not currently be able to anticipate and the Issuer and
the Guarantor do not represent that the risks of holding any Notes as set out below are exhaustive. The sequence
in which the risk factors are listed is not an indication of their likelihood to occur or of the extent of their
consequences. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Base
Prospectus (including any documents incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to
making any investment decision and consult with their own professional advisors (if they consider it necessary).

THE PURCHASE OF NOTES MAY INVOLVE SUBSTANTIAL RISKS AND MAY BE SUITABLE
ONLY FOR INVESTORS WHO HAVE THE KNOWLEDGE AND EXPERIENCE IN FINANCIAL
AND BUSINESS MATTERS NECESSARY TO ENABLE THEM TO EVALUATE THE RISKS AND
THE MERITS OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE NOTES. PRIOR TO MAKING AN INVESTMENT
DECISION, PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD CONSIDER CAREFULLY, IN LIGHT OF
THEIR OWN FINANCIAL CIRCUMSTANCES AND INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, (I) ALL THE
INFORMATION SET FORTH IN THIS BASE PROSPECTUS (AND ANY SUPPLEMENT, IF
APPLICABLE) AND, IN PARTICULAR, THE CONSIDERATIONS SET FORTH BELOW AND (II)
ALL THE INFORMATION SET FORTH IN THE APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS. PROSPECTIVE
INVESTORS SHOULD MAKE SUCH ENQUIRIES AS THEY DEEM NECESSARY WITHOUT
RELYING ON THE ISSUER, THE GUARANTOR OR ANY DEALER.

AN INVESTMENT IN NOTES LINKED TO ONE OR MORE REFERENCE ITEMS MAY ENTAIL
SIGNIFICANT RISKS NOT ASSOCIATED WITH INVESTMENTS IN A CONVENTIONAL DEBT
SECURITY, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THE RISKS SET OUT BELOW. SUCH NOTES
MAY BE PRINCIPAL PROTECTED OR, ALTERNATIVELY, THE PRINCIPAL INVESTED IN SUCH
NOTES MAY BE AT RISK. IF THE NOTES ARE PRINCIPAL PROTECTED, SUCH PROTECTION
IS NEVERTHELESS DEPENDENT ON THE ISSUER, FAILING WHICH, THE GUARANTOR,
PERFORMING ITS OBLIGATIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE NOTES. IF THE NOTES ARE NOT
PRINCIPAL PROTECTED, THE AMOUNT PAID BY THE ISSUER ON REDEMPTION OF THE
NOTES MAY BE LESS THAN THE NOMINALAMOUNT OF THE NOTES, TOGETHER WITH ANY
ACCRUED INTEREST, AND MAY IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES BE ZERO.

CERTAIN ISSUES OF NOTES INVOLVE A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK AND POTENTIAL
INVESTORS SHOULD BE PREPARED TO SUSTAIN A LOSS OF ALL OR PART OF THEIR
INVESTMENT.
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Capitalised terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall bear the meanings ascribed to them in “Terms
and Conditions of the Notes’ below.
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RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE ISSUER AND THE GUARANTOR

Factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the
Programme

The Issuer is a finance vehicle whose principal purpose is to raise debt to be on-lent to the Guarantor and other
subsidiaries of the Guarantor. The Issuer does not have any trading assets and does not generate trading income.
Notes issued under the Programme are guaranteed pursuant to the Guarantee. Accordingly, if the Guarantor’s
financial condition were to deteriorate, the Issuer and investors in the Notes may suffer direct and materially
adverse consequences.

The risk factors as set out below in respect of the Guarantor may also apply, directly and/or indirectly, to the
Issuer, due to the interconnectedness of the credit risks of the Issuer and the Guarantor (since the Issuer is a
fully-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor) and due to the Guarantor itself guaranteeing the obligations of the
Issuer under the Guarantee.

Risks relating to KBC Bank Group, the markets in which it operates and its business

2.1 Economic and market conditions may pose significant challenges for KBC Bank Group and may
adversely affect its results

The global economy, the condition of the financial markets and adverse macro-economic developments
can all significantly influence KBC Bank Group’s performance. The after-effects of the financial crisis
on the wider economy and the uncertainty concerning the future economic environment have led to more
difficult earnings conditions for the financial sector. The challenging environment in which KBC Bank
Group operates is characterised by a tightening of credit, a prolonged period of low interest rates
resulting from (amongst others) ongoing central bank measures to foster economic growth and giving
rise to negative interest rates in some areas, increased and unprecedented levels of market volatility and
a reduction in business activity with lower overall profitability. Furthermore, a number of countries in
Europe have relatively large sovereign debts and/or fiscal deficits, and most European economies face a
number of structural challenges.

Since KBC Bank Group conducts the majority of its business in Belgium, the Czech Republic, the Slovak
Republic, Hungary, Bulgaria and the other home markets such as Ireland, its performance is influenced
by the level and cyclical nature of business activity in these countries which is in turn affected by both
domestic and international economic and political events. A weakening in these economies may in
particular have a negative effect on KBC Bank Group’s financial condition and results of operations.
Moreover, any deterioration in financial and credit market conditions could further adversely affect KBC
Bank Group’s business and, if they were to persist or worsen, could adversely affect KBC Bank Group’s
financial condition, results of operations and access to capital and credit.

General business and economic conditions that could affect KBC Bank Group include the level and
volatility of short-term and long-term interest rates, a prolonged period of low and potentially negative
interest rates in some areas, inflation, employment levels, bankruptcies, household income, consumer
spending, fluctuations in both debt and equity capital markets, liquidity of the global financial markets,
fluctuations in foreign exchange, the availability and cost of funding, investor confidence, political crisis,
credit spreads (e.g., corporate, sovereign) and the strength of the economies in which KBC Bank Group
operates.

In addition, KBC Bank Group’s business activities are dependent on the level of banking, finance and
financial services required by its customers. In particular, levels of borrowing are heavily dependent on
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customer confidence, employment trends, the state of the economies in which KBC Bank Group does
business and market interest rates at the time. All these elements, including market volatility, can
negatively affect KBC Bank Group’s banking and asset management activities through a reduction in
demand for products and services, a reduction in the value of assets held by KBC Bank Group, a decline
in the profitability of certain assets and a loss of liquidity in certain asset classes.

Increased regulation of the financial services industry or changes thereto could have an adverse
effect on KBC Bank Group’s operations

There have been significant regulatory developments in response to the global financial crisis, including
various initiatives, measures, stress tests and liquidity risk assessments taken at the level of the European
Union, national governments, the European Banking Authority (the “EBA”) and/or the European Central
Bank (the “ECB™). This has led to the adoption of a new regulatory framework and the so-called
“Banking Union”, as a result of which the responsibility for the supervision of the major Eurozone
credit institutions (including the Group) has been assumed at the European level.

The most relevant areas of regulatory and legislative developments which affect KBC Bank Group and
its parent KBC Group NV include the following:

e  The revised regulatory framework of Basel 111 which was implemented in the European Union
through the adoption of Regulation (EU) n°575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms
(“CRR”) and Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June
2013 on access to the activity of credit institutions on prudential requirements for credit
institutions and investment firms (“CRD”, and together with CRR, “CRD IV”).

o Anew recovery and resolution regime for credit institutions which introduced certain tools and
powers with a view to addressing banking crises pre-emptively in order to safeguard financial
stability and minimise taxpayers' exposure to losses, through Directive 2014/59/EU of the
European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 establishing a framework for the
recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms and amending various EU
Directives and Regulations (“BRRD”).

e The assumption in November 2014 of certain supervisory responsibilities by the ECB which
were previously handled by the National Bank of Belgium (the “NBB”), pursuant to Council
Regulation (EU) No 1024/2013 of 15 October 2013 conferring specific tasks on the European
Central Bank concerning policies relating to the prudential supervision of credit institutions
(the “Single Supervision Mechanism” or “SSM”).

e Regulation (EU) No 806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 July 2014
establishing uniform rules and a uniform procedure for the resolution of credit institutions and
certain investment firms in the framework of a Single Resolution Mechanism and a Single Bank
Resolution Fund and amending Regulation (EU) No 1093/2010 of the European Parliament and
of the Council (the “Single Resolution Mechanism” or “SRM”). The Single Resolution
Mechanism entered into force on 19 August 2014 and applies to credit institutions which fall
under the supervision of the ECB, including KBC Bank Group. It established a Single
Resolution Board (“SRB™) which is responsible since 1 January 2016 of vetting resolution
plans and carrying out any resolution in cooperation with the national resolution authorities (the
SRB together with the resolution college of the NBB is hereinafter referred to as the
“Resolution Authority”).
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These directives (including CRD IV and BRRD) have been implemented in Belgian law by means of
the new banking law of 25 April 2014 on the status and supervision of credit institutions (the “Banking
Law”). The Banking Law imposes, amongst others, several restrictions with respect to certain activities
(including trading activities, which may have to be separated if certain thresholds are exceeded) and
prohibits certain proprietary trading activities. Certain provisions of the Banking Law are still subject to
further implementation.

In addition, the Banking Law also puts a lot of emphasis on the solid and efficient organisation of credit
institutions and introduces to that effect a dual governance structure at management level, specialised
advisory committees within the Board of Directors (audit committee, risk committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee), independent control functions, and strict remuneration policies
(including limits on the amount of variable remuneration, the form and timing for vesting and payment
of variable remuneration, as well as claw-back mechanics). The Banking Law makes a fundamental
distinction between the management of banking activities, which is within the competence of the
Executive Committee, and the supervision of management and the definition of the credit institution’s
general and risk policy, which is entrusted to the Board of Directors. Pursuant to the Banking Law, the
members of the Executive Committee and the Board of Directors need to permanently have the required
professional reliability and appropriate experience. The same goes for the responsible persons of the
independent control functions. The fit and proper standards have been further elaborated by the NBB in
a circular of 17 June 2013. The NBB Governance Manual for the Banking Sector contains
recommendations to assure the suitability of shareholders, management and independent control
functions and the appropriate organisation of the business.

On 25 November 2016, the European Commission proposed certain further amendments to CRD IV and
BRRD. These relate, amongst others, to the inclusion of a new layer of so-called “preferred” and “non-
preferred” debt instruments to absorb losses and certain changes to implement the total loss-absorbing
capacity (“TLAC”) proposal. These are currently scheduled to be adopted and implemented in large part
by 20109.

KBC Bank Group conducts its businesses subject to on-going regulation and associated regulatory risks,
including the effects of changes in the laws, regulations, policies and interpretations in Belgium and the
other regions in which KBC Bank Group conducts its business. Changes in supervision and regulation,
in particular in Belgium and Central and Eastern Europe (e.g. Hungary), could materially affect KBC
Bank Group’s business, the products and services offered by it or the value of its assets.

In particular, it cannot be excluded that KBC Bank Group would be required to issue further securities
that qualify as regulatory capital or to liquidate assets or curtail certain businesses as a result of such
new regulations or a different interpretation given by the ECB (or exercise of certain discretions under
the applicable banking regulations in a different manner than the NBB). All may have an adverse effect
on KBC Bank Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, there seems
to have been an increase in the level of scrutiny applied by governments and regulators to enforce
applicable regulations and calls to impose further charges on the financial services industry in recent
years. There can be no assurance that such increased scrutiny or charges will not require KBC Bank
Group to take additional measures which, in turn, may have adverse effects on its business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Risk associated with the highly competitive environment in which KBC Bank Group operates and
which could intensify further as a result of the global market conditions
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As part of the financial services industry, KBC Bank Group faces substantial competitive pressures that
could adversely affect the results of its operations in banking, asset management and other products and
services.

In its Belgian home market, KBC Bank Group faces substantial competition, mainly from BNP Paribas
Fortis, ING Group and Belfius Bank. In addition, KBC Bank Group faces increased competition in the
Belgian savings market from smaller-scale banking competitors (and internet bank competitors) seeking
to enlarge their respective market shares by offering higher interest rates. In Central and Eastern Europe,
KBC Bank Group faces competition from the regional banks in each of the jurisdictions in which it
operates and from international competitors such as UniCredit, Erste Bank and Raiffeisen International.

Competition is also affected by consumer demand, technological changes (including the growth of
digital banking), regulatory actions and/or limitations and other factors. Such factors include changes in
competitive behaviour due to new entrants to the market (including potentially non traditional financial
services providers such as large retail or technology conglomerates) and new lending models (such as,
for example, peer-to-peer lending). These competitive pressures could result in increased pricing
pressures on a number of KBC Bank Group’s products and services and in the loss of market share in
one or more such markets. Moreover, there can be no certainty that KBC Bank Group’s investment in
its IT capability intended to address the material increase in customer use of online and mobile
technology for banking will be successful or that it will allow KBC Bank Group to continue to grow
such services in the future.

KBC Bank Group has significant credit default risk exposure

As a large financial organisation, KBC Bank Group is subject to a wide range of general credit risks,
including risks arising from changes in the credit quality and recoverability of loans and amounts due
from counterparties. Third parties that owe KBC Bank Group money, securities or other assets may not
pay or perform under their obligations. These parties include, among others, borrowers under loans made
by KBC Bank Group, the issuers whose securities KBC Bank Group holds, customers, trading
counterparties, counterparties under derivative contracts, clearing agents, exchanges, clearing houses,
guarantors and other financial intermediaries. These parties may default on their obligations to KBC
Bank Group due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, downturns in the economy or real estate values,
operational failure or other reasons.

Credit institutions have witnessed a significant increase in default rates over the past few years as a result
of worsening economic conditions. This increase in the scope and scale of defaults is evidenced by the
significant increase in the amount of impaired loans in the portfolio of KBC Bank Group in 2013,
although this has been decreasing again since 2014. This trend, i.e. the decreasing amount of impaired
loans, remains visible, particularly in Ireland. To a limited extent, credit is also granted in a currency
other than the local currency. In those cases, changes in exchange rates between the local and such other
currency can have an impact on the credit quality of the borrower. Any further adverse changes in the
credit quality of KBC Bank Group’s borrowers, counterparties or other obligors could affect the
recoverability and value of its assets and require an increase in KBC Bank Group’s provision for bad
and doubtful debts and other provisions. In addition to the credit quality of the borrower, adverse market
conditions such as declining real estate prices negatively affect the results of KBC Bank Group’s credit
portfolio since these conditions impact the recovery value of the collateral. All this could be further
exacerbated in the case of a prolonged economic downturn or worsening market conditions.

KBC Bank Group makes provisions for loan losses which correspond to the provision for impairment
losses in its income statement in order to maintain appropriate allowances for loan losses based on an
assessment of prior loan loss experience, the volume and type of lending being conducted, industry
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standards, past due loans, economic conditions and other factors related to the collectability of the loan
portfolio. This determination is primarily based on KBC Bank Group’s historical experience and
judgment. Any increase in the provision for loan losses, any loan losses in excess of the previously
determined provisions with respect thereto or changes in the estimate of the risk of loss inherent in the
portfolio of non-impaired loans could have a material adverse effect on KBC Bank Group’s business,
results of operation or financial condition.

KBC Bank Group’s principal credit risk exposure is to retail and corporate customers, including in its
mortgage and real estate portfolio, as well as towards other financial institutions and sovereigns. As this
credit risk reflects some concentration, particularly in Belgium, the Czech Republic, the Slovak
Republic, Hungary, Bulgaria and Ireland, the home markets where it is active, KBC Bank Group’s
financial position is sensitive to a significant deterioration in credit and general economic conditions in
these regions. Moreover, uncertainty regarding the Eurozone, the risk of losses as a result of a country’s
or a credit institution’s financial difficulties or a downgrade in its credit rating could have a significant
impact on KBC Bank Group’s credit exposure, loan provisioning, results of operation and financial
position. In addition, concerns about, or a default by, one credit institution could lead to significant
liquidity problems, losses or defaults by other institutions, because the commercial and financial
soundness of many financial institutions are closely related as a result of their credit, trading, clearing
and other relationships.

The events described above have adversely affected and may continue to adversely affect KBC Bank
Group’s ability to engage in routine transactions as well as the performance of various loans and other
assets it holds.

Risks associated with liquidity and funding inherent to KBC Bank Group’s business

The procurement of liquidity for KBC Bank Group’s operations and access to long term financings are
crucial to achieve KBC Bank Group’s strategic goals, as they enable KBC Bank Group to meet payment
obligations in cash and on delivery, scheduled or unscheduled, so as not to prejudice KBC Bank Group’s
activities or financial situation.

Although KBC Bank Group currently has a satisfactory liquidity position (with a diversified core deposit
base and a large amount of liquid and/or pledgeable assets), its procurement of liquidity could be
adversely impacted by the inability to access the debt market, sell products or reimburse financings as a
result of the deterioration of market conditions, the lack of confidence in financial markets, uncertainties
and speculations regarding the solvency of market participants, rating downgrades or operational
problems of third parties. In addition thereto, KBC Bank Group’s liquidity position could be adversely
impacted by substantial outflows in deposits and asset management products.

Limitations of KBC Bank Group’s ability to raise the required funds on terms which are favourable for
KBC Bank Group, difficulties in obtaining long-term financings on terms which are favourable for KBC
Bank Group or dealing with substantial outflows could adversely affect KBC Bank Group’s business,
financial condition and results of operations. In this respect, the adoption of new liquidity requirements
under CRD IV must be taken into account since these could give rise to an increased competition
resulting in an increase in the costs of attracting the necessary deposits and funding.

Furthermore, as was the case during the financial crisis, protracted market declines can reduce the
liquidity of markets that are typically liquid. If, in the course of its activities, KBC Bank Group requires
significant amounts of cash on short notice in excess of anticipated cash requirements, KBC Bank Group
may have difficulty selling investments at attractive prices, in a timely manner, or both.
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In such circumstances, market operators may fall back on support from central banks and governments
by pledging securities as collateral. Unavailability of liquidity through such measures, or the decrease
or discontinuation of such measures could result in a reduced availability of liquidity on the market and
higher costs for the procurement of such liquidity when needed, thereby adversely affecting KBC Bank
Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

KBC Bank Group is exposed to counterparty credit risk in derivative transactions

KBC Bank Group executes a wide range of derivatives transactions, such as interest rate, exchange rate,
share/index prices, commodity and credit derivatives with counterparties in the financial services
industry.

Operating in derivative financial instruments exposes KBC Bank Group to market risk and operational
risk, as well as the risk that the counterparty defaults on its obligations or becomes insolvent prior to
maturity when KBC Bank Group has an outstanding claim against that counterparty. Non-standardised
or individually negotiated derivative transactions can make exiting, transferring or settling the position
difficult.

Counterparty credit risk has decreased in recent years, mainly due to mitigating actions taken by KBC
Bank Group (i.e., central clearing and collateralisation). The remaining risk can be exacerbated if the
collateral held by KBC Bank Group cannot be realised or liquidated at a value that is sufficient to cover
the full amount of the counterparty exposure.

Changes in interest rates, which are caused by many factors beyond KBC Bank Group’s control,
can have significant adverse effects on its financial results

Fluctuations in interest rates affect the returns KBC Bank Group earns on fixed interest investments and
also affect the value of the investment and trading portfolio of KBC Bank Group. Interest rate changes
also affect the market values of the amounts of capital gains or losses KBC Bank Group takes on and
the fixed interest securities it holds.

The results of KBC Bank Group’s operations are affected by its management of interest rate sensitivity.
Interest rate sensitivity refers to the relationship between changes in market interest rates and changes
in net interest income. Changes in market interest rates, including in case of negative interest rates in
certain areas, can affect the interest rates that KBC Bank Group receives on its interest-earnings assets
differently to the rates that it pays for its interest-bearing liabilities. Accordingly, the composition of
KBC Bank Group’s assets and liabilities, and any gap position resulting from such composition, causes
KBC Bank Group’s operations’ net interest income to vary with changes in interest rates. In addition,
variations in interest rate sensitivity may exist within the repricing periods and/or between the different
currencies in which KBC Bank Group holds interest rate positions. A mismatch of interest-earning assets
and interest-bearing liabilities in any given period may, in the event of changes in interest rates, have a
material effect on the financial condition or results of operations of KBC Bank Group’s businesses.

KBC Bank Group is subject to foreign exchange risk

KBC Bank Group pursues a prudent policy as regards its structural currency exposure, with a view to
limit as much as possible currency risk. Foreign exchange exposures in the asset-liability management
(“ALM™) books of banking entities with a trading book are transferred to the trading book where they
are managed within the allocated trading limits. The foreign exchange exposure of banking entities
without a trading book and of other entities has to be hedged, if material. Equity holdings in non-euro
currencies that are part of the investment portfolio are however generally not hedged. Participating
interests in foreign currency are in principle funded by borrowing an amount in the relevant currency
equal to the value of assets excluding goodwill. Although KBC Bank Group pursues a prudent policy
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with regard to foreign exchange risk, there can still be a limited impact of this risk on the financial results
of KBC Bank Group.

KBC Bank Group is subject to market risk

The most significant market risks KBC Bank Group faces are interest rate, spread, foreign exchange and
bond and equity price risks. Changes in interest rate levels, yield curves and spreads may affect the
interest rate margin realised between lending and borrowing costs. Changes in currency rates affect the
value of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and may affect income from foreign
exchange dealing. The performance of financial markets may cause changes in the value of KBC Bank
Group’s investment and trading portfolios.

KBC Bank Group uses a range of instruments and strategies to partly hedge against certain market risks.
If these instruments and strategies prove ineffective or only partially effective, KBC Bank Group may
suffer losses. Unforeseen market developments such as those in relation to the government bonds of
various countries which occurred in 2011 and 2012 may significantly reduce the effectiveness of the
measures taken by KBC Bank Group to hedge risks. Gains and losses from ineffective risk-hedging
measures may heighten the volatility of the results achieved by KBC Bank Group and could therefore
have a material adverse effect on KBC Bank Group’s business, results of operations and financial
condition.

A downgrade in the credit rating of KBC Group NV or its subsidiaries may limit access to certain
markets and counterparties and may necessitate the posting of additional collateral to
counterparties or exchanges

The credit ratings of KBC Group NV and certain of its subsidiaries, such as KBC Bank NV, are important
to maintaining access to key markets and trading counterparties. The major rating agencies regularly
evaluate KBC Group NV and KBC Bank NV and their securities, and their ratings of debt and other
securities are based on a number of factors, including financial strength, as well as factors not entirely
within the control of KBC Bank Group, including conditions affecting the financial services industry
generally or the rating of the countries in which it operates. In light of the difficulties in the financial
services industry and the financial markets, there can be no assurance that KBC Group NV or the other
group members will maintain the current ratings.

KBC Group NV or the other group members’ failure to maintain their credit ratings could adversely
affect the competitive position of KBC Bank Group, make entering into hedging transactions more
difficult and increase borrowing costs or limit access to the capital markets or the ability of KBC Bank
Group to engage in funding transactions. A further reduction in any such entities’ credit ratings could
have a significant impact on certain trading revenues, particularly in those businesses where longer term
counterparty performance is critical. In connection with certain trading agreements, KBC Bank Group
may be required to provide additional collateral in the event of a credit ratings downgrade.

KBC Bank Group’s risk management policies, procedures and methods may leave it exposed to
unidentified, unanticipated or incorrectly quantified risks, which could lead to material losses or
material increases in liabilities

KBC Bank Group devotes significant resources to developing risk management policies and models,
procedures and assessment methods for its banking and asset management businesses. KBC Bank Group
applies both quantitative and qualitative methods to arrive at quantifications of risk exposures, amongst
others, value-at-risk (“VVaR”) models, back testing, Probability of Default (“PD”) models, Loss Given
Default (“LGD”) models, asset valuation models and stress tests as well as risk assessment methods.
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Nonetheless, such risk management techniques and strategies may not be fully effective in assessing risk
exposure in all economic and market environments or against all types of risk, including risks that KBC
Bank Group fails to identify or anticipate. Some of the models and metrics used are based upon observed
historical behaviour as well as future predictions. Accordingly, the models used by KBC Bank Group
may fail to predict or predict incorrectly future risk exposures and KBC Bank Group’s losses could
therefore be significantly greater than such measures would indicate. In addition, the risk management
methods used by KBC Bank Group do not take all risks into account and could prove insufficient. If
prices move in a way that KBC Bank Group’s risk modelling has not anticipated, KBC Bank Group may
experience significant losses. These failures can be exacerbated where other market participants are
using models that are similar to those of KBC Bank Group. In certain cases, it may also be difficult to
reduce risk positions due to the activity of other market participants or widespread market dislocations.
Furthermore, other risk management methods depend on the evaluation of information regarding
markets, customers or other publicly-available information. Such information may not always be
accurate or up-to-date.

Accordingly, KBC Bank Group’s losses could be significantly greater than such measures would indicate
and unanticipated or incorrectly quantified risk exposures could result in material losses in KBC Bank
Group’s banking and asset management businesses.

While KBC Bank Group strictly manages its operational risks, these risks remain inherent to its
business

KBC Bank Group is exposed to many types of operational risks, including fraudulent and other criminal
activities (both internal and external), breakdowns in processes or procedures and systems failure or
non-availability. In addition, KBC Bank Group may also be subject to disruptions of its operating
systems, or of the infrastructure that supports it, arising from events that are wholly or partially beyond
KBC Bank Group’s control (for example natural disasters, acts of terrorism, computer viruses,
pandemics, transport or utility failures or external vendors not fulfilling their contractual obligations)
which could give rise to losses in service to customers and to loss or liability to KBC Bank Group.

The operational risks that KBC Bank Group faces include the possibility of inadequate or failed internal
or external processes or systems, human error, regulatory breaches, employee misconduct or external
events such as fraud or cyber crime. These events can potentially result in financial loss as well as harm
to its reputation. Additionally, the loss of key personnel could adversely affect KBC Bank Group’s
operations and results.

KBC Bank Group attempts to keep operational risks at appropriate levels by maintaining a sound and
well controlled environment in light of the characteristics of its business, the markets and the regulatory
environments in which it operates. While these control measures mitigate operational risks, they do not
eliminate them.

The financial industry, including KBC Bank Group, is increasingly dependent on information
technology systems, which may fail, be inadequate or no longer available

KBC Bank Group, like other banks and financial institutions, is increasingly dependent on highly
sophisticated information technology (1T) systems for the conduct of its business. The proper functioning
of KBC Bank Group’s payment systems, financial and sanctions controls, risk management, credit
analysis and reporting, accounting, customer services and other IT services, as well as the
communication networks between its branches and main data centres, are critical to KBC Bank Group’s
operations.
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IT systems are, however, vulnerable to a number of problems, such as software or hardware
malfunctions, computer viruses, hacking and physical damage to vital IT centres. IT systems need
regular upgrading and banks, including KBC Bank Group, may not be able to implement necessary
upgrades on a timely basis or upgrades may fail to function as planned. Furthermore, failure to protect
financial industry operations from cyber-attacks could result in the loss or compromise of customer data
or other sensitive information. These threats are increasingly sophisticated and there can be no assurance
that banks will be able to prevent all breaches and other attacks on its IT systems. In addition to costs
that may be incurred as a result of any failure of IT systems, banks, including KBC Bank Group, could
face fines from bank regulators if they fail to comply with applicable banking or reporting regulations.

KBC Bank Group financial statements are in part based on assumptions and estimates which, if
inaccurate, could have an impact on its reported results or financial position

KBC Bank Group’s financial statements are based in part on assumptions and estimates which, if
inaccurate, could cause material misstatement of the results of its operations and financial position.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS requires the use of estimates. It
also requires management to exercise judgment in applying relevant accounting policies. The key areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions are significant to the
consolidated and individual financial statements, include credit impairment charges for amortised cost
assets, impairment and valuation of available-for-sale investments, calculation of income and deferred
tax, fair value of financial instruments, valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, valuation of
provisions and accounting for pensions and post-retirement benefits. There is a risk that if the judgment
exercised or the estimates or assumptions used subsequently turn out to be incorrect then this could result
in significant loss to KBC Bank Group, beyond that anticipated or provided for, which could have an
adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.

Observable market prices are not available for many of the financial assets and liabilities that KBC Bank
Group holds at fair value and a variety of techniques to estimate the fair value are used. Should the
valuation of such financial assets or liabilities become observable, for example as a result of sales or
trading in comparable assets or liabilities by third parties, this could result in a materially different
valuation to the current carrying value in KBC Bank Group’s financial statements.

The further development of standards and interpretations under EU-IFRS could also significantly affect
the results of operations, financial condition and prospects of KBC Bank Group.

KBC Bank Group is exposed to the risk of breaches of regulatory and compliance-related
requirements in connection with the exercise of its business activity, such as provisions for
limitation of money laundering

The possibility of inadequate or erroneous internal and external work processes and systems, regulatory
problems, breaches of compliance-related provisions in connection with the exercise of business
activities, such as rules to prevent money laundering, human errors and deliberate legal violations such
as fraud cannot be ruled out. KBC Bank Group endeavours to hedge such risks by implementing
appropriate control processes tailored to its business, the market and regulatory environment in which it
operates. Nevertheless, it is possible that these measures prove to be ineffective in relation to particular
or all operational risks to which KBC Bank Group is exposed. Even though KBC Bank Group
endeavours to insure itself against the most significant operational risks, it is not possible to obtain
insurance cover for all the operational risks on commercially acceptable terms on the market. Should
one, some or all of the risks described in this paragraph materialise, KBC Bank Group business, results
of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
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Litigation or other proceedings or actions may adversely affect KBC Bank Group’s business,
financial condition and results of operations

KBC Bank Group’s business is subject to the risk of litigation by customers, employees, shareholders or
others through private actions, administrative proceedings, regulatory actions or other litigation. Given
the complexity of the relevant circumstances and corporate transactions underlying these proceedings,
together with the issues relating to the interpretation of applicable law, it is inherently difficult to estimate
the potential liability related to such liability risks, to evaluate the outcome of such litigation or the time
when such liability may materialise. Management makes estimates regarding the outcome of legal,
regulatory and arbitration matters and creates provisions when losses with respect to such matters are
deemed probable and can be reasonably estimated. Estimates, by their nature, are based on judgment
and currently available information and involve a variety of factors, including but not limited to the type
and nature of the litigation, claim or proceeding, the progress of the matter, the advice of legal counsel
and other advisers, possible defences and previous experience in similar cases or proceedings. Legal
proceedings with remote or non quantifiable outcomes are not provided for and KBC Bank Group may
be required to cover litigation losses which are not covered by such provision, including for example
series of similar proceedings. As a result, there can be no assurance that provisions will be sufficient to
fully cover the possible losses arising from litigation proceedings and KBC Bank Group cannot give any
assurance that a negative outcome in one or more of such proceedings would not have a material adverse
effect on KBC Bank Group’s business, results of operations or financial condition.

Furthermore, plaintiffs in legal proceedings may seek recovery of large or indeterminate amounts or
other remedies that may affect KBC Bank Group’s ability to conduct business, and the magnitude of the
potential loss relating to such actions may remain unknown for substantial periods of time. Also, the cost
to defend future actions may be significant. There may also be adverse publicity associated with
litigation that could decrease customer acceptance of its services, regardless of whether the allegations
are valid or whether they are ultimately found liable. See Section “Description of the Guarantor”,
subsection “Litigation” below for further information.

As a result, litigation may adversely affect KBC Bank Group’s business, financial condition and results
of operations.

KBC Bank Group is exposed to risks on account of pension obligations

KBC Bank Group has various pension obligations towards its current and former staff. These obligations
therefore entail various risks which are similar to, amongst others, risks in a life insurance company and
risks involving a capital investment. Risks, however, may also arise due to changes in tax or other
legislation, and/or in judicial rulings as well as inflation rates or interest rates. Any of these risks could
have a material adverse effect on KBC Bank Group’s business, results of operations and financial
condition.

KBC Bank Group is responsible for contributing to compensation schemes and subject to special
bank taxes

KBC Bank Group is required to make contributions to the European Single Resolution Fund which was
established pursuant to the SRM and which is to be built up with contributions of the banking sector to
ensure the availability of funding support for the resolution of credit institutions. The overall aim of the
SRM is to ensure an orderly resolution of failing banks with minimal costs to taxpayers and the real
economy. Moreover, KBC Bank Group is also subject to special bank taxes which have been introduced
after the financial crisis and which have been increased in recent years.
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Any levies, taxes or funding requirements imposed on KBC Bank Group pursuant to the foregoing or
otherwise in any of the jurisdictions where it operates could have a material adverse effect on KBC Bank
Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

KBC Bank Group is subject to increasingly onerous minimum regulatory capital and liquidity
requirements

As a licensed credit institution, KBC Bank Group is subject to the capital requirements and capital
adequacy ratios of CRD IV, which implements the Basel 111 capital requirements. These include a capital
conservation buffer and, in certain circumstances, a systemic buffer and/or a countercyclical buffer
which come on top of the minimum requirements. These additional requirements are being gradually
phased in and have an impact on KBC Bank Group and its operations, as it imposes higher capital
requirements.

KBC Bank Group is subject to the risk, inherent in all regulated financial businesses, of having
insufficient capital resources to meet the minimum regulatory capital requirements. Under CRD 1V,
capital requirements are inherently more sensitive to market movements than under previous regimes.
Capital requirements will increase if economic conditions or negative trends in the financial markets
worsen. Accordingly, banks could be required to raise additional capital if they were to incur losses or
asset impairments. Any such further capital increases may be difficult to achieve or only be raised at
high costs in the context of adverse market circumstances.

Any failure of KBC Bank Group to maintain its minimum regulatory capital ratios could result in
administrative actions or sanctions or it ultimately being subject to any resolution action (including bail-
in), which in turn is likely to have a material adverse impact on KBC Bank Group’s results of operations.

Under CRD IV, KBC Bank Group will also become subject to a leverage ratio (which compares Tier 1
capital to total assets) in the future.

KBC Bank Group could become subject to the exercise of “bail-in” powers or other resolution
powers by the Resolution Authority. The potential impact thereof is inherently uncertain,
including in certain significant stress situations

BRRD, which was adopted in May 2014 and implemented in the Banking Law, provides common tools
and powers to supervisory and resolution authorities to address banking crises pre-emptively in order to
safeguard financial stability and minimise taxpayers’ exposure to losses. The powers granted to
resolution authorities under the BRRD include a “bail-in” power and a statutory “write-down and
conversion power”. These powers allow to write down the claims of unsecured creditors (including the
rights of Noteholders) of a failing institution in order to recapitalise the institution by allocating losses
to its shareholders and unsecured creditors, or to convert debt into equity, as a means of restoring the
institution’s capital position. The bail-in power is applicable to all eligible liabilities as defined in the
BRRD. Pursuant to Article 44 (2) of the BRRD, certain liabilities of credit institutions are, however,
excluded from the scope of the “eligible liabilities” and therefore not subject to the bail-in. The bail-in
power was introduced with effect on 1 January 2016 and comes in addition to the write-down and
conversion power applicable to additional Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital instruments, which is to be exercised
before or at the latest concurrently with (but immediately prior to) the exercise of any resolution power
(including the bail-in power).

Under the Banking Law, substantial powers have been granted to the NBB, the SSM and the SRM in
their capacity as supervisory authority and resolution authority. These powers enable the Resolution
Authority to deal with and stabilise credit institutions (including the Guarantor) that are failing or are
likely to fail. In line with BRRD, the resolution regime will enable the Resolution Authority to: (i)
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transfer all or part of the business of the relevant entity or the shares of the relevant entity to a private
sector purchaser; (ii) transfer all or part of the business of the relevant entity to a “bridge bank”; and (iii)
obtain the temporary public ownership of the relevant entity. Moreover, competent supervisory and
resolution authorities are entrusted with broad early intervention powers and institutions will be required
to draw up recovery and resolution plans and demonstrate their resolvability.

Moreover, in order to make the bail-in power effective, BRRD and the Banking Law provide that credit
institutions (including the Guarantor) must at all times meet a minimum requirement for own funds and
eligible liabilities (“MREL”) so that there is sufficient capital and liabilities available to stabilise and
recapitalise failing credit institutions. These requirements are being gradually phased in. Certain aspects
relating to, amongst others, the level of the binding MREL requirement, the types of liabilities that will
be subject to the bail-in powers and the manner in which they will be computed still need to be finally
determined. Even though certain efforts have been made to align both, it is at this stage not entirely
certain to what extent the approach set out by the Financial Stability Board in respect of the Total Loss-
Absorbing Capacity (“TLAC”) for global systemically important banks (“G-SIBs”) will be adopted in
respect of MREL (including in relation to the sanctions that would apply in the case of an institution’s
failure to comply with MREL). A failure to comply with applicable MREL requirements in the future
could, nevertheless, have a material adverse effect on KBC Bank Group’s business and results of
operation.

As these are new rules and there are still a number of important elements that need to be adopted under
CRD IV, BRRD and the Banking Law, there remains certain uncertainty as to the potential effect thereof
on the business and operations of KBC Bank Group and how the authorities may choose to exercise the
powers afforded to them under such rules.

Belgian bank recovery and resolution regime

Under the Belgian bank recovery and resolution regime (which has implemented BRRD), the
supervisory and resolution authorities (which includes the Resolution Authority) are able to take a
number of measures in respect of any credit institution it supervises if deficiencies in such credit
institution's operations are not remedied. Such measures include the appointment of a special
commissioner whose consent is required for all or some of the decisions taken by all the institution's
corporate bodies; the imposition of additional requirements in terms of solvency, liquidity, risk
concentration and the imposition of other limitations; limitations on variable remuneration; the complete
or partial suspension or prohibition of the institution's activities; the requirement to transfer all or part
of the institution's participations in other companies; the replacement of the institution's directors or
managers; the revocation of the institution's licence; and the right to impose the reservation of
distributable profits, or the suspension of dividend distributions or interest payments to holders of
additional Tier 1 capital instruments.

Furthermore, the lead regulators can impose specific measures on important financial institutions
(including the Guarantor, and whether systemic or not), when the Resolution Authority is of the opinion
that (a) such financial institution has an unsuitable risk profile or (b) the policy of the financial institution
can have a negative impact on the stability of the financial system.

These new regulations confer wide-ranging powers on competent authorities to intervene and to alter an
institution’s business, operations and capital markets and debt structure which could have significant
consequences on KBC Bank Group’s profitability, operations and financing costs. As these are new rules
and as there remain a number of important measures that still need to be adopted, there is still some
uncertainty about the potential effect thereof on the business and operations of the Guarantor and how
the authorities may choose to exercise the powers afforded to them under such laws and regulations.
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2.22 KBC Bank Group is highly concentrated in and hence vulnerable to European sovereign exposure,

in particular in its home country Belgium

KBC Bank Group conducts the vast majority of its business in the European Union. Part of that business
has led to an exposure by KBC Bank Group towards various countries in the European Union, including
certain countries which have come under market pressure in the past few years and which have not yet
fully recovered from the effects of the financial crisis. As the overall environment remains challenging,
with growth projected to remain weak, it cannot be excluded that political, economic and financial
developments in certain European countries could put pressure on their ability to meet their obligations
vis-a-vis their creditors, including KBC Bank Group. If any such sovereign risk were to materialise,
KBC Bank Group’s business, financial condition and results of operation could be materially adversely
affected. See further “Description of the Guarantor — Risk Management — Sovereign debt exposure”.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE NOTES

3 General risks associated with the Notes

3.1

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in any Notes must
determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential
investor should:

(i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant Notes,
the merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained or
incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement and all
information contained in the applicable Final Terms;

(i)  have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact such investment
will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(iii)  have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
relevant Notes, including where the currency for principal and/or interest payments is different
from the potential investor’s currency;

(iv)  understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any
relevant indices, interest rates and financial markets; and

(v)  be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the
applicable risks.

Each of the risks highlighted below could adversely affect the trading price of any Notes or the rights of
investors under any Notes and, as a result, investors could lose some or all of their investment. Each of
the Issuer and the Guarantor believes that the factors described below represent the key risks inherent in
investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the Issuer and/or the Guarantor may be unable to
pay or deliver amounts on or in connection with any Notes for other reasons and neither the Issuer nor
the Guarantor represents that the statements below regarding the risks of holding any Notes are
exhaustive. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Base
Prospectus (including any documents deemed to be incorporated by reference herein and any supplement
thereto) and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.
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Some Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated investors generally do not purchase
complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments
as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to
their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial
instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes
will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact
this investment will have on the potential investor’s overall investment portfolio.

Noteholders may be required to absorb losses in the event that KBC Bank Group were to
become subject to the exercise of “bail-in”” powers by the Resolution Authority

The recovery and resolution directive BRRD which was adopted in May 2014 provides common tools
and powers to the supervisory and resolution authorities to address banking crises pre-emptively in order
to safeguard financial stability and minimise taxpayers’ exposure to losses.

The powers granted to the Resolution Authority under BRRD include a “bail-in” power, which gives
such authorities the power to write down the claims of unsecured creditors (including the rights of
Noteholders) of a failing institution. The resolution powers further include the ability for the resolution
authorities to force, in certain circumstances of distress, the sale of a credit institution’s business or its
critical functions, the separation of assets, the replacement or substitution of the credit institution as
obligor in respect of debt instruments, modifications to the terms of debt instruments (including altering
the maturity and/or the amount of interest payable and/or imposing a temporary suspension on payments)
and discontinuing the listing and admission to trading of financial instruments.

The bail-in power enables the Resolution Authority to recapitalise a failed institution by allocating losses
to its shareholders and unsecured creditors (including the Noteholders) in a manner that ought to respect
the hierarchy of claims in an insolvency of a relevant financial institution, consistent with the treatment
they would receive in an insolvency. Accordingly, holders of unsubordinated unsecured debt (including
the Notes) should in principle only be required to absorb losses after shareholders and holders of tier one
and tier two securities and any other subordinated creditors.

The conditions for use of the bail-in power are, in summary, that (i) the regulator determines that the
bank is failing or likely to fail, (ii) it is not reasonably likely that any other action can be taken to avoid
the bank’s failure and (iii) the relevant resolution authority determines that it is in the public interest to
exercise the bail-in power. The institution will be deemed to fail or likely to fail if: (i) the institution
infringes or is likely to infringe applicable regulation (including capital requirements), (ii) the assets of
the institution are or are likely in the near future to be less than its liabilities, (iii) the institution is or is
likely in the near future to be unable to pay its debts as they fall due and/or (iv) the institution requires
public financial support (except when the Member State decides to provide exceptional public support
in the form defined in BRRD). BRRD further specifies that governments will only be entitled to use
public money to rescue credit institutions if a minimum of 8% of the own funds and total liabilities have
been written down, converted or bailed in.

Importantly, certain liabilities of credit institutions will be excluded from the scope of the “eligible
liabilities” and therefore not subject to bail-in. These include covered deposits, secured liabilities
(including covered bonds) as well as certain debt with maturities of less than 7 days and certain other
liabilities. All other liabilities (including the Notes) will be deemed “eligible liabilities” subject to the
statutory bail-in powers. Certain aspects of the eligible liabilities that will be subject to the bail-in powers
need to be further implemented by means of technical standards. There can be no assurance that the
existence of applicable loss absorption provisions or the taking of any actions currently contemplated or
as finally reflected in such provisions would not materially adversely affect the price or value of a
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holder's investment in the Notes and/or the ability of the Issuer or the Guarantor to satisfy its obligations
under the Notes or the Guarantee.

Moreover, the determination that all or part of the principal amount of any series of Notes will be subject
to loss absorption is likely to be inherently unpredictable and may depend on a number of factors which
may be outside of KBC Bank’s control. This determination will also be made by the Resolution Authority
and there may be many factors, including factors not directly related to the Issuer or KBC Bank Group,
which could result in such a determination. Because of this inherent uncertainty, it will be difficult to
predict when, if at all, the exercise of such bail-in powers may occur. Accordingly, trading behaviour in
respect of the Notes is not necessarily expected to follow the trading behaviour associated with other
types of securities. Potential investors in the Notes should consider the risk that a Noteholder may lose
all of its investment, including the principal amount plus any accrued and unpaid interest, if such
statutory loss absorption measures are acted upon or that the Notes may be converted into ordinary
shares. Noteholders may have limited rights or no rights to challenge any decision to exercise such
powers or to have that decision reviewed by a judicial or administrative process or otherwise.

Unsecured and unsubordinated obligations

All Notes will represent direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer.
All Notes will rank without any preference among themselves and equally with all other unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, save to the extent that laws affecting creditors’ rights generally
in a bankruptcy or winding-up may give preference to any of such other obligations.

All Notes will constitute “eligible liabilities” which could be subject to statutory “bail-in” in case any
resolution action were to be taken in relation to the Group (see risk factor 3.2).

Furthermore, it should be noted that the Banking Law introduced (i) a general lien on movable assets
(“algemeen voorrecht op roerende goederen”/“privilége général sur biens meubles™) for the benefit of
the deposit guarantee fund (“garantiefonds voor financiéle diensten”/“fonds de garantie pour les
services financiers™) as well as (ii) a general lien on moveable assets for the benefit of natural persons
and small and medium-sized enterprises for deposits exceeding EUR 100,000. These general liens
entered into force on 3 March 2015. These general liens could have an impact on the recourse that
Noteholders would have on the estate of the Guarantor in the case of an insolvency as the claims which
benefit from a general lien will rank ahead of the claims of the Noteholders. The Banking Law requires
nevertheless Belgian credit institutions (including the Guarantor) to have sufficient unencumbered assets
to meet claims of depositors, as set out in Article 110, §2, indent 2 of the Banking Law.

The Issuer and the Guarantor are not prohibited from issuing additional debt

There is no restriction on the amount of debt that the Issuer or Guarantor may issue, which may rank
pari passu with the obligations under the Notes or the Guarantee. The issue of any such debt or securities
may reduce the amount recoverable by investors upon the Issuer's or Guarantor’s bankruptcy. If the
Issuer's or the Guarantor’s financial condition were to deteriorate, the holders could suffer direct and
materially adverse consequences, including suspension of interest and reduction of interest and principal
and, if the Issuer or the Guarantor were liquidated (whether voluntarily or involuntarily), the holders
could suffer loss of their entire investment.

Conflicts of interest

The Agent, some of the Dealers and their affiliates have engaged in, and may in the future engage in,
commercial dealings in the ordinary course of business with the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their
affiliates (including, but not limited to, lending, depositary, risk management, advisory and banking
relationships). They have received, or may in the future receive, customary fees and commissions for
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these transactions. In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Dealers and their
affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities
(or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account
and for the accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities
and/or instruments of the Issuer or its affiliates. The Dealers and their affiliates may also make
investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such
securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or
short positions in such securities and instruments.

The Issuer, the Guarantor and their affiliates may have existing or future business relationships with any
Reference Item(s) and will pursue actions and take steps that they or it deems necessary or appropriate
to protect their and/or its interests arising therefrom without regard to the consequences for a Noteholder.

Potential investors should also be aware that the Issuer is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor
and that the Guarantor may act as Dealer, and that the interests of KBC Bank NV and the Issuer may
conflict with the interests of the holders of Notes. Moreover, the holders of Notes should be aware that
KBC Bank NV, acting in whatever capacity, will not have any obligations vis-a-vis the holders of any
Notes and, in particular, will not be obliged to protect the interests of the holders of any Notes.

Where the Issuer or the Guarantor acts as Calculation Agent or the Calculation Agent is an Affiliate of
the Issuer or the Guarantor, potential conflicts of interest may exist between the Calculation Agent and
Noteholders. The Calculation Agent is entitled to carry out a series of determinations which affect the
Notes. Such determinations could have an adverse effect on the value of the Notes and on the amounts
payable to investors under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (the “Conditions”), whether in the
case of interest payments or redemption payments following an early redemption event or at maturity,
in each case giving rise to a potential conflict of interest in respect of the interests of the Noteholders.
See also risk factors 3.8, 3.9, 5.1 (iv), 5.2 (iii), 5.3 (iv), 5.4 (iii), 7.2, 8.7, 8.8 and 8.9.

Potential conflicts of interest may arise in connection with Notes that are offered to the public, as any
distributors or other entities involved in the offer and/or the listing of such Notes as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms, will act pursuant to a mandate granted by the Issuer and can receive commissions
and/or fees on the basis of the services performed in relation to such offer and/or listing.

The Issuer, the Guarantor and any Dealer may at the date hereof or at any time hereafter, be in possession
of information in relation to a Reference Item (as defined under paragraph 4.5 below) that is or may be
material in the context of the Notes and may or may not be publicly available to Noteholders. Subject to
any applicable laws and regulations, there is no obligation on the Issuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer to
disclose to Noteholders any such information.

Early Redemption due to Taxation

If Condition 12(a) applies, the Issuer may redeem all of the Notes in accordance with Condition 5(b) if,
for reasons outside its control, it or the Guarantor would be unable after taking reasonable measures
available to it to make payments of principal or Interest Amounts under the Notes or payments in respect
of the Guarantee without having to pay additional amounts as a result of any change in, or amendment
to, amongst other things, the laws or regulations of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg or Belgium, which
change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date on which agreement is reached to issue the
first Tranche of the Notes. Notes redeemed pursuant to Condition 5(b) will be redeemed at their Early
Redemption Amount together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of
redemption.
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Early redemption due to Illegality or Change in Law

In the event that the Calculation Agent determines that the performance of the Issuer’s obligations under
the Notes or, as the case may be, the Guarantor’s obligations under the Guarantee or that any
arrangements made to hedge the Issuer’s obligations under such Notes has or will become unlawful,
illegal or otherwise prohibited in whole or in part, the Issuer may redeem all, but not some only, of the
Notes at their Early Redemption Amount together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but
excluding) the date of redemption.

Early Redemption Amount of Notes

The Notes may be redeemed and cancelled earlier than the date scheduled for redemption due to taxation,
illegality or change in law, or for various other reasons depending on the particular structure and/or
features of the Notes (see below). Notes, other than Zero Coupon Notes, Autocall Notes redeeming early
following satisfaction of the Autocall Condition or Notes being redeemed following an Issuer Call (in
respect of which, see below), will be redeemed at their applicable Early Redemption Amount, which
will be (i) the Fixed Early Redemption Amount or the product of the Fixed Early Redemption Percentage
and the nominal amount, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, together with accrued but unpaid
interest if “Including Interest” is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms or (ii) if no
Fixed Early Redemption Amount or Fixed Early Redemption Percentage is specified in the applicable
Final Terms, the fair market value thereof on the date of redemption, including accrued interest (if any),
adjusted to account fully for any losses, expenses and costs to the Issuer (or any of its Affiliates) of
unwinding any underlying or related hedging and funding arrangements, all as determined by the
Calculation Agent.

The Early Redemption Amount may be less than the nominal amount of such Note, and may not be
sufficient such that if an investor were to reinvest such amount, it would, on the scheduled redemption
date, be worth an amount equal to the nominal amount of such Note.

Modification

The Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their
interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including
Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner
contrary to the majority.

The Conditions also provide that the Agent and the Issuer may agree, without the consent of the
Noteholders to any modification (subject to certain specific exceptions) of the Agency Agreement (as
defined under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes™) which is not prejudicial to the interests of the
Noteholders or any modification of the Notes, the Coupons, the Agency Agreement, the Guarantee or
the Deed of Covenant (as defined under “Form of the Notes™) which is of a formal, minor or technical
nature or is made to correct a manifest error or to comply with mandatory provisions of law.

Common Reporting Standard

The exchange of information is governed by the Common Reporting Standard (“CRS”). On 29 October
2014, 51 jurisdictions indeed signed the multilateral competent authority agreement (“MCAA”), which
is a multilateral framework agreement to automatically exchange financial and personal information,
with the subsequent bilateral exchanges coming into effect between those signatories that file the
subsequent notifications. More than 40 jurisdictions have committed to a specific and ambitious
timetable leading to the first automatic information exchanges in 2017 (early adopters).

Under CRS, financial institutions resident in a CRS country are required to report, according to a due
diligence standard, financial information with respect to reportable accounts, which includes interest,
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dividends, account balance or value, income from certain insurance products, sales proceeds from
financial assets and other income generated with respect to assets held in the account or payments made
with respect to the account. Reportable accounts include accounts held by individuals and entities (which
includes trusts and foundations) with fiscal residence in another CRS country. The standard includes a
requirement to look through passive entities to report on the relevant controlling persons.

On 9 December 2014, EU Member States adopted Directive 2014/107/EU on administrative cooperation
in direct taxation (“DAC2"), which provides for mandatory automatic exchange of financial information
between EU Member States as foreseen in CRS. DAC2 amends the previous Directive on administrative
cooperation in direct taxation, Directive 2011/16/EU.

On 27 May 2015 the European Union and Switzerland signed a protocol amending their existing Savings
agreement and transforming it into an agreement on automatic exchange of financial account information
based on the CRS. As of 1 January 2017, financial institutions in the EU and Switzerland apply the due
diligence procedures envisaged under the new Agreement to identify customers who are reportable
persons, i.e. for Switzerland, residents of any EU Member State. By September 2018, the national
authorities will report the financial information to each other.

Investors who are in any doubt as to their position should consult their professional advisers.

Financial Transaction Tax

The European Commission published a proposal for a Directive for a common financial transaction tax
(the “FTT”) in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and
Slovak Republic. In December 2015, Estonia withdrew from the group of states willing to introduce the
FTT (the “Participating Member States™).

The proposed FTT has a very broad scope and could, if introduced in its current form, apply to certain
transactions related to the Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances.

The proposed FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the
Participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in Notes where at least one
party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a Participating Member State. A
financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a Participating Member State in a broad
range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a Participating Member
State or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a Participating
Member State.

However, the proposed FTT remains subject to negotiation between the Participating Member States
and the scope of any such tax is uncertain. Additional Member States may decide to participate.

Prospective holders of the Notes are strongly advised to seek their own professional advice in relation
to the FTT.

Change and interpretation of law

The Notes and the Guarantee will be governed by English law, except for Condition 2(c) of the Notes
and Clause 6 of the Guarantee (and any non-contractual obligations arising therefrom or in connection
therewith) which shall be governed by Belgian law. In addition, certain specific mandatory provisions,
including, for example, the unfair terms set out in the Belgian Code of Economic Law, may apply if
Notes are placed with “consumers”. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial
decision or change to English law or Belgian law or administrative practice or interpretation thereof after
the date of issue of the relevant Notes and any such change could materially adversely impact the value
of any Notes affected by it.
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In addition, any relevant tax law or practice applicable as at the date of this Base Prospectus and/or the
date of purchase or subscription of the Notes may change at any time (including during any subscription
period or the term of the Notes). Any such change may have an adverse effect on a Noteholder, including
that the Notes may be redeemed before their due date, their liquidity may decrease and/or the tax
treatment of amounts payable or receivable by or to an affected Noteholder may be less than otherwise
expected by such Noteholder.

Notes where denominations involve integral multiples: definitive Notes

In relation to any issue of Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified
Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that
such Notes may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified
Denomination. In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which
is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the
relevant time may need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that its holding amounts to a
Specified Denomination in order to (i) receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should
definitive Notes be printed) or (ii) be able to transfer its Notes (subject in all cases to the rules and
procedures of the relevant clearing system).

If definitive Notes are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have a denomination
that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult to
trade.

No taxation gross-up on certain issues of Notes

If Condition 12(b) is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, neither the Issuer nor the
Guarantor shall be liable for or otherwise obliged to pay any tax, duty, withholding or other payment
which may arise as a result of the ownership, transfer, presentation and surrender for payment, or
enforcement of any Note and all payments made by the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor shall
be made subject to any tax, duty, withholding or other payment which may be required to be made, paid,
withheld or deducted.

Such Notes will not have the benefit of a gross up provision in respect of withholding taxes and
deductions, meaning that Noteholders will take the risk of any applicable withholding taxes or
deductions.

U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Withholding

Pursuant to certain provisions of U.S. law, commonly known as FATCA, withholding may be required
on, among other things, (i) certain payments made by “foreign financial institutions” (“foreign passthru
payments”), (ii) dividend equivalent payments (as described below in “Potential U.S. Withholding on
Dividend Equivalent Payments”) and (iii) payments of gross proceeds from the disposition of securities
that generate Dividend Equivalent Payments, in each case, to persons that fail to meet certain
certification, reporting, or related requirements. The Guarantor is a foreign financial institution for these
purposes. A number of jurisdictions (including Luxembourg and Belgium) have entered into, or have
agreed in substance to, intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATCA
(“IGAs”), which modify the way in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions.

Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as the Notes,
including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to
payments on instruments such as the Notes, are uncertain and may be subject to change. Even if
withholding would be required with respect to foreign passthru payments or payments of gross proceeds
from the disposition of Notes that generate dividend equivalent payments pursuant to FATCA or an IGA,
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such withholding would not apply prior to 1 January 2019. Withholding on dividend equivalent
payments pursuant to FATCA would not apply prior to 1 July 2017, at the earliest. Additionally, Notes
that are not treated as equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes and that have a defined term generally
would be “grandfathered” for purposes of FATCA withholding (i) in respect of foreign passthru
payments, if issued on or prior to the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations
defining “foreign passthru payments” are filed with the U.S. Federal Register, and (ii) in respect of
dividend equivalent payments and payments of gross proceeds on Notes that generate dividend
equivalent payments, if issued on or prior to the date that is six months after the date on which Notes of
its type are first treated as giving rise to dividend equivalent payments, in each case, unless the Note is
materially modified after the relevant grandfathering date (including by reason of a substitution of the
Issuer). However, if additional notes (as described under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Further
Issues”) that are not distinguishable from grandfathered Notes are issued after the expiration of the
grandfathering period and are subject to withholding under FATCA, then withholding agents may treat
all Notes, including grandfathered Notes, as subject to withholding under FATCA.

In the event any withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments
on the Notes, no person will be required to pay additional amounts as a result of the withholding.
Prospective Noteholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding how these rules may apply to
their investment in the Notes.

Potential U.S. Withholding on Dividend Equivalent Payments

Under Section 871(m) of the Code and the U.S. Treasury regulations thereunder (“Section 871(m)”), a
“dividend equivalent” payment is treated as a dividend from sources within the United States and will
be subject to U.S. withholding tax at a rate of 30 per cent. when paid to a non-U.S. person (unless a
lower treaty rate on dividends is applicable). A “dividend equivalent” payment generally includes a
payment (or deemed payment) that is contingent upon, or determined by reference to, the payment of a
U.S.-source dividend under certain financial instruments. An instrument whose economic characteristics
are sufficiently similar to those of an underlying or referenced U.S. security that pays U.S.-source
dividends under tests provided in applicable U.S. Treasury regulations will generally be subject to the
Section 871(m) regime (such an instrument, a “Specified ELI”). The tests applicable for determining
whether an instrument is a Specified ELI will depend on the terms of the relevant instrument and the
date on which the instrument is issued, and may be subject to redetermination in connection with certain
modifications of the instrument. Similarly, if additional Notes of the same series are issued (or deemed
issued for U.S. tax purposes, such as certain sales of Notes out of inventory) after the original issue date,
the IRS could treat the issue date for determining whether the existing Notes are Specified ELIs as the
date of such subsequent sale or issuance.

Pursuant to a U.S. Internal Revenue Service notice and U.S. Treasury regulations issued prior to the date
of this Offering Circular, Section 871(m) will not apply to certain financial instruments issued prior to 1
January 2018 if such financial instruments are not “delta one” transactions. In addition, the Section
871(m) regulations provide certain broadly applicable exceptions to characterization as Specified ELIs,
in particular for certain instruments linked to certain broad-based indices.

Withholding in respect of dividend equivalents will generally be required when cash payments are made
under a Specified ELI to a non-U.S. person or upon the date of maturity, lapse or other disposition by
the non-U.S. person of the Specified ELI. If the underlying or referenced U.S. security or securities are
treated as paying dividends during the term of the Specified ELI, withholding generally will still be
required even if the Specified ELI does not provide for payments explicitly linked to such dividends.
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As discussed above, FATCA would impose withholding tax at a rate of 30 per cent. on any payments in
respect of a Note that are treated as dividend equivalent payments when paid to persons that fail to meet
certain certification, reporting, or related requirements. While a payment with respect to a Note could be
subject to U.S. withholding under both FATCA and as a result of being treated as a dividend equivalent
payment, the maximum rate of U.S. withholding on such payment would not exceed 30 per cent.

Upon the issuance of a series of Notes, the Issuer will state in an attachment to the relevant Pricing
Supplement or on the Issuer’s website if it has determined that the Notes are Specified ELI at the time
such Notes are issued, in which case Noteholders should expect to be subject to withholding in respect
of any dividend equivalent payments on such Notes. In the event that any withholding would be required
pursuant to Section 871(m) with respect to payments on the Notes, no person will be required to pay any
additional amounts with respect to amounts so withheld. Additionally, the Issuer may withhold the full
30 per cent. tax on any payment on the Notes in respect of any dividend equivalent arising with respect
to such Notes regardless of any exemption from, or reduction in, such withholding otherwise available
under applicable law (including, for the avoidance of doubt, where a Noteholder is eligible for a reduced
tax rate under an applicable tax treaty with the United States). A Noteholder may be able to claim a
refund of any excess withholding provided the required information is timely furnished to the U.S.
Internal Revenue Service.

Prospective investors should consult their tax advisers regarding the consequences to them of the
potential application of Section 871(m) to the Notes, including their ability to claim reductions in the
amount of withholding, or refunds or credits in respect of amounts withheld, under an applicable tax
treaty with the United States.

Taxation

Potential purchasers and sellers of Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay stamp taxes
or other documentary charges in accordance with the laws and practices of the country where the Notes
are transferred and/or any relevant assets are delivered.

Potential investors cannot solely rely upon the tax summary contained in this Base Prospectus or any
Supplement.

Potential purchasers who are in any doubt as to their tax position should consult their own independent
tax advisers. In addition, potential purchasers should be aware that tax regulations and their application
by the relevant taxation authorities change from time to time. Accordingly, it is not possible to predict
the precise tax treatment which will apply at any given time.

Withdrawal from or cancellation of the Public Offer and Over-subscription

Notes may be distributed by means of a Public Offer made during an Offer Period specified in the
applicable Final Terms. During such Offer Period, (i) the relevant Dealer(s) may in certain limited
circumstances decide to cancel or withdraw from such offer in accordance with the Programme
Agreement, or, in case of a syndicated offer, cancel the offer in accordance with the relevant subscription
agreement and/or (ii) the Issuer and/or any other person specified in the applicable Final Terms may
decide to scale back applications for such offer in the event of over-subscription. In such circumstances,
an applicant investor may not be issued any Notes or may be issued a number of Notes which is less
than the amount for which such applicant investor applied. Any payments made by an applicant investor
for Notes that are not issued to such applicant investor for any such reason will be refunded. However,
there will be a time lag in making any reimbursement, no Interest Amounts will be payable in respect of
any such amounts and the applicant investor may be subject to reinvestment risk.
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Early termination of the Offer Period

The Issuer and/or the other entities specified in the applicable Final Terms may terminate the offer early
by immediate suspension of the acceptance of further subscription requests and by giving notice to the
public in accordance with the applicable Final Terms. Any such termination may occur, even where the
maximum amount for subscription in relation to that offer (as specified in the applicable Final Terms),
has not been reached and, in such circumstances, the early closing of the offer may have an impact on
the aggregate number of Notes issued and, therefore, may have an adverse effect on the liquidity of the
relevant Notes.

Delay in issuing Notes

Investors should note that, in certain circumstances, Notes may not be issued on the originally designated
issue date, for example because either the Issuer and/or any other person specified in the applicable Final
Terms has reserved the right to postpone such issue date or, following the publication of a supplement
to this Base Prospectus the Issuer has decided to postpone such issue date to allow investors who had
made applications to subscribe for Notes before the date of publication of such supplement to exercise
their right to withdraw their acceptances. In the event that the issue date is so delayed, no interest shall
accrue (if applicable) until the issue date of the Notes and no compensation shall be payable.

Hedging

In the ordinary course of its business, including without limitation in connection with its market making
activities, the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates may effect transactions for its own account or for the
account of its customers and hold long or short positions in the Reference Item(s) or related derivatives.
In addition, in connection with the offering of the Notes, the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates may enter
into one or more hedging transactions with respect to the Reference Item(s) or related derivatives. In
connection with such hedging or market-making activities or with respect to proprietary or other trading
activities by the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates, the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates may enter into
transactions in the Reference Item(s) or related derivatives which may affect the market price, liquidity
or value of the Notes and which could be adverse to the interests of the relevant Noteholders.

Notes in new global note form

Each Tranche of Notes will be in bearer form and will be initially issued in the form of a temporary
global note. If so specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Notes may be issued in new global note
(“NGN”) form.

The NGN form has been introduced to allow for the possibility of Notes being issued and held in a
manner which will permit them to be recognised as eligible collateral for monetary policy of the central
banking system for the euro (the “Eurosystem”) and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either
upon issue or at any or all times during their life. However in any particular case such recognition will
depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria at the relevant time. Investors should make
their own assessment as to whether the Notes meet such Eurosystem eligibility criteria.

Rounding adjustments

Investors should note that for purposes of calculating any Interest Amount or any Redemption Amount
(including an Autocall Redemption Amount) (i) in respect of any calculations required, unless otherwise
specified, all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest
one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 of a percentage point being rounded
upwards) and (ii) monetary amounts will always be rounded to the nearest two decimal places (or, in the
case of Japanese Yen, the nearest whole unit) in the Specified Currency, 0.0005 (or, in the case of
Japanese Yen, half of one unit) being rounded upwards. Further, where Notes are represented by a Global
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Note, Interest Amounts and Redemption Amounts shall be calculated by reference to the aggregate
outstanding nominal amount of such Global Note, rather than per Calculation Amount, and rounded
accordingly. As a result of such rounding, any such Interest Amounts and Redemption Amounts that are
based on Reference Items may not entirely track the performance, price or level of the relevant Reference
Item.

Additional risks with respect to specific types of Notes

Awide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. Notes may have one or more features which contain
particular risks for potential investors.

Notes may or may not bear interest. Interest Amounts and Redemption Amounts may be determined on a
number of different bases and Notes may accrue separate Interest Amounts determined by reference to different
methodologies (each, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, an “Interest Basis”). An investor’s return on
its investment in the Notes will depend, among other things, on the Interest Amounts and Redemption Amounts
payable thereon.

4.1

4.2

Zero Coupon Notes

Except where the Notes bear interest on a separate Interest Basis or are redeemed early, Zero Coupon
Notes will bear no interest and an investor will receive no return on the Notes until redemption. Any
investors holding these Notes will be subject to the risk that if the Notes are redeemed prior to their
Maturity Date, an investor may not be able to reinvest the Amortised Face Amount (see below) so as to
receive returns equivalent to the Final Redemption Amount that would, absent such early redemption,
have been paid on the Maturity Date.

In general, the prices at which Zero Coupon Notes trade in the secondary market tend to fluctuate more
in relation to general changes in interest rates than prices for conventional interest-bearing Notes. The
longer the remaining term of the Notes, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional
interest-bearing Notes with comparable maturities.

Zero Coupon Notes are also subject to different early redemption and late payment provisions (see
Conditions 5(e) and 5(j)). In contrast to the scenario described in risk factor 3.6 above, if the prohibition
of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the Early
Redemption Amount for Zero Coupon Notes will be the Amortised Face Amount, which is calculated
by discounting back to the relevant date of payment the amount that would otherwise have been payable
at maturity, using the Amortisation Yield on an annual or semi-annual compounded basis (depending on
what is specified in the applicable Final Terms). If the prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is
specified as not applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the Early Redemption Amount shall be
calculated in accordance with Condition 5(e)(ii).

Fixed Rate Notes

Fixed Rate Notes will bear interest at one or more fixed Rates of Interest, each of which will remain
constant during the specified Interest Periods.

Fixed Rate Notes are subject to the risk that market interest rates increase (or fall insufficiently) during
the life of the Notes with the consequence that the real return on the fixed rate element of such Notes,
and the value of the Notes, may fall. Even if the Notes provide for the fixed Rate of Interest to increase
during their term, any periodic increases may not keep pace with any increase in market interest rates.
If the Notes provide for the fixed Rate of Interest to decrease during their term, investors are subject to
the risk that the revised Rate of Interest will be below the then prevailing market interest rates and, even
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where market interest rates are falling, the reduction in the Rate of Interest on the Notes may be greater
than any reduction in market interest rates.

The yield specified for Fixed Rate Notes is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price,
the fixed rate(s) of interest, the Final Redemption Amount and the original tenor of the Notes. Investors
should note that this is not an indication of future yield unless the Notes are held until the Maturity Date.

Floating Rate Notes

Floating Rate Notes bear interest calculated by reference to a floating Rate of Interest (a “Reference
Rate”), which will be subject to market fluctuations in that Reference Rate. Such Reference Rates may
be subject to fallbacks if the relevant rate is not published (see Condition 3(b)(ii)(A)). Payments on the
Notes may be delayed, or be of a lower quantum than expected, as a result.

If a maximum yield is specified for Floating Rate Notes, such maximum yield will be calculated at the
Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price, the maximum floating rate(s) of interest, the Final Redemption
Amount and the original tenor of the Notes.

If a minimum yield is specified for Floating Rate Notes, such minimum yield will be calculated at the
Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price, the minimum floating rate(s) of interest, the Final Redemption
Amount and the original tenor of the Notes.

The amount of interest payable on Floating Rate Notes will depend on which of the following Interest
Variable Options is applicable: “Screen Rate Determination”, “Rates Variance”, “Asian Option — Interest
Rates” or “Digital Option”.

4.3.1 Screen Rate Determination
If “Screen Rate Determination” is applicable, the Variable Rate of Interest to be applied will be
based on the relevant benchmark Reference Rate, plus or minus the Margin (if any), after
application of the Interest Multiplier (if any) to the resulting amount (see risk factor 8.3 below).
Such Variable Rate of Interest will be capped at any specified Maximum Rate of Interest (see risk
factor 8.4 below). In any case, the Variable Rate of Interest may be lower than market interest
rates and lower than the rate of interest then payable by the Issuer on other floating rate securities.

4.3.2 Rates Variance

If “Rates Variance” is applicable, the Variable Rate of Interest to be applied will depend whether
(i) the relevant value for Rate; (which may be a fixed percentage or based on a benchmark
Reference Rate) is greater or less than (ii) the product (the “Variance Hurdle”) of the relevant
value for Rate, (which may be based on a benchmark Reference Rate or be a fixed percentage)and
the applicable Scaling Factor (see risk factor 8.5).

Where the Interest Multiplier is positive, if the relevant value for Rate; does not exceed the
Variance Hurdle, no Interest Amount will be payable in respect of such Interest Period unless the
shortfall is less than any positive Margin applicable to the Notes. Even if the relevant value for
Rate; does exceed the Variance Hurdle, such excess must be greater than any negative Margin
for an Interest Amount to be payable.

Conversely, where the Interest Multiplier is negative, if the relevant value for Rate; exceeds the
relevant Variance Hurdle, no Interest Amount will be payable in respect of such Interest Period
unless the excess is greater than any negative Margin applicable to the Notes. Even if the relevant
value for Rate; does not exceed the Variance Hurdle, the value of such shortfall must be greater
than any positive Margin for an Interest Amount to be payable.
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Subject to the relevant Interest Multiplier and Margin, the relevant performance of the rates shall
affect the amount of interest, if any, payable to Noteholders. In any case, the Variable Rate of
Interest may be lower than market interest rates and lower than the rate of interest then payable
by the Issuer on other floating rate securities.

4.3.3 Digital Option

If “Digital Option” is applicable, investors should consider risk factor 7.3 in connection with
this risk factor 4.3.

4.3.4 Asian Option — Interest Rates

If “Asian Option — Interest Rates” is applicable, investors should consider risk factor 7.2 in
connection with this risk factor 4.3.

Range Accrual Notes

Range Accrual Notes will bear interest at a fixed rate of interest on each day within the relevant Interest
Period for which the specified Range Accrual Condition is satisfied. Given the potential fixed rate of
interest that is payable, the risks outlined in risk factor 4.2 above apply to Range Accrual Notes. In
addition, certain risks arise in connection with the particular Range Accrual Condition that applies to
such Notes.

The quantum of the Interest Amount will depend on the number of days in the relevant Interest Period
(N) on which the “Reference Spread” fixes at a level which satisfies the parameters for the applicable
Range Accrual Condition (see Condition 3(c)(iii)). Such parameters will be set by reference to a
specified Lower Threshold and, in certain cases, Upper Threshold. If the Reference Spread does not fix
at a level satisfying the Range Accrual Condition on any of those days, then N will be zero and no
Interest Amounts will be payable for such Interest Period. If N is greater than zero, then the applicable
Range Accrual Rate of Interest will be the product of a multiplier (equal to N divided by the actual
number of calendar days in such Interest Period (A)) and the specified fixed rate, but capped at any
specified Maximum Rate of Interest (see risk factor 8.4 below).

The “Reference Spread” (which could be negative) will be the spread of Variable 1 (based on a
benchmark Reference Rate) over Variable 2 (which will be a benchmark Reference Rate or otherwise
specified to be zero). Consequently, the accrual of interest on Range Accrual Notes on any day (in other
words, the value of N for any Interest Period) will depend on how the performance of Variable 1 (or, if
Variable 2 is not zero, the relative performance of Variable 1 against Variable 2) compares with the
parameters of the Range Accrual Condition. Small movements in the Reference Spread may, therefore,
have very large effects on the value of the Notes and the amount of interest to be paid.

Range Accrual Notes may not accrue interest for extended periods of time, if at all. Range Accrual Notes
may pay significantly less interest than a conventional Fixed Rate Note issued at the same time paying
interest at a fixed rate equal to the maximum potential fixed rate payable on the Range Accrual Notes.
This may have a detrimental effect on the market value of the Range Accrual Notes.

Reference Item Linked Notes

The Issuer may also issue Notes that pay Interest Amount(s) linked to an index, an underlying equity, an
ETF share or a basket of underlying equities and/or ETF shares, an inflation index and/or a currency
exchange rate (together with a Reference Rate, each a “Reference Item”) and/or a Redemption
Amount(s) the timing and/or quantum of which is linked to a Reference Item that is an index, an
underlying equity, an ETF share or a basket of underlying equities and/or ETF shares or a currency
exchange rate (together “Reference Item Linked Notes”).
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Reference Item Linked Notes involve a high degree of risk and may entail significant risks not associated
with investments in a conventional debt security. Reference Item Linked Notes provide opportunities for
investment and pose risks to investors as a result of fluctuations in the value of the Reference Item(s) to
which such Reference Item Linked Notes relate.

If Notes are specified to be principal protected, they are principal protected only at maturity. If
Notes are specified to be principal protected, such protection is nevertheless dependent on the
Issuer, failing which, the Guarantor complying with its obligations with respect to the Notes. If
such Notes redeem before their scheduled maturity, except in case of an Event of Default or where
their Early Redemption Amount, Autocall Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount
(as applicable) is specified as a higher amount, they may return less than the principal protected
amount or even zero. In the case of Notes paying a Redemption Amount linked to the Reference
Item which are not principal protected (where the Floor % is specified as less than 100 per cent.),
the amount paid by the Issuer on redemption of the Notes may be less than the nominal amount
of the Notes, together with any accrued interest, and may in certain circumstances be zero. In the
case of Notes which bear interest linked to one or more Reference Items, the Interest Amount(s)
payable to Noteholders will be contingent on the performance of the relevant Reference Item(s)
and on the structure of such Notes. Prospective investors in such Notes should note that, in certain
circumstances, they may not receive any Interest Amount.

Prospective investors in Reference Item Linked Notes should understand the risks inherent in linking
the performance of the Notes to the relevant Reference Item(s) and should reach an investment decision
only after careful consideration, with their advisers, of the suitability of such Reference Item Linked
Notes in light of their particular financial circumstances, the information set forth herein and the
information regarding the relevant Reference Item Linked Notes and the particular Reference Item(s) to
which the value of, and payments in respect of, the relevant Reference Item Linked Notes may relate, as
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

As the Interest Amount(s) and Redemption Amount payable periodically or at maturity may be linked to
the performance of the relevant Reference Item(s), an investor in a Reference Item Linked Note must
generally be knowledgeable as to, and take a view with respect to, the direction, timing and magnitude
of an anticipated change in the value of the relevant Reference Item(s), considered in the context of the
structure of such Notes.

Where the applicable Final Terms specify one or more Reference Item(s), the relevant Reference Item
Linked Notes will represent an investment linked to the economic performance of such Reference
Item(s) and prospective investors should note that the return (if any) on their investment in Reference
Item Linked Notes will depend upon the performance of such Reference Item(s). Potential investors
should also note that whilst the market value of such Reference Item Linked Notes is linked to such
Reference Item(s) and will be influenced (positively or negatively) by such Reference Item(s), any
change may not be comparable and may be disproportionate. It is impossible to predict how the level of
the relevant Reference Item(s) will vary over time. In contrast to a direct investment in the relevant
Reference Item(s), Reference Item Linked Notes represent the right to receive payment, of periodic
payments of Interest Amounts (if specified in the applicable Final Terms) and/or a Redemption Amount
on the Maturity Date, all or some of which may be determined by reference to the performance of the
relevant Reference Item(s).

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS MUST REVIEW THE APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS TO
ASCERTAIN WHAT THE RELEVANT REFERENCE ITEM(S) ARE AND TO SEE HOW
INTEREST AMOUNTS AND REDEMPTION AMOUNTS ARE DETERMINED AND WHEN
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ANY SUCH AMOUNTS ARE PAYABLE, BEFORE MAKING ANY DECISION TO PURCHASE
ANY REFERENCE ITEM LINKED NOTES.

Fluctuations in the value and/or volatility of the relevant Reference Item(s) may affect the value of the
relevant Reference Item Linked Notes. Investors in Reference Item Linked Notes may risk losing their
entire investment if the value of the relevant Reference Item(s) does not move in the anticipated
direction.

Unless otherwise redeemed or purchased and cancelled early, there is no return on Reference Item
Linked Notes other than the potential payment of the relevant periodic Interest Amounts and/or
Redemption Amount on maturity.

Other factors which may influence the market value of Reference Item Linked Notes include interest
rates, potential dividend or interest payments (as applicable) in respect of the relevant Reference Item(s),
changes in the method of calculating the level of the relevant Reference Item(s) from time to time and
market expectations regarding the future performance of the relevant Reference Item(s), its composition
and such Reference Item Linked Notes.

If any of the relevant Reference Item(s) is an index, the value of such Reference Item on any day will
reflect the value of its constituents on such day. Changes in the composition of such Reference Item and
factors (including those described above) which either affect or may affect the value of the constituents,
will affect the value of such Reference Item and therefore may affect the return on an investment in
Reference Item Linked Notes.

Any information about the past performance of the Reference Item available at the time of issuance of
the Notes should not be regarded as indicative of any future performance of such Reference Item, or as
an indication of the range of, trends or fluctuations in the price or value of the Reference Item that may
occur in the future. It is therefore not possible to predict the future value of the Notes based on such past
performance.

Autocall Notes

Autocall Notes are a form of Reference Item Linked Note that shall be early redeemed if the parameters
for the applicable Autocall Condition (see Condition 5(d)(iii)(1)) are satisfied in respect of any Autocall
Observation Date. Such parameters will be set by reference to how the Autocall Variable (being the value
or average value of the specified Reference Item to which the Autocall Notes are linked) performs against
the product of (i) the Autocall Strike (being (i) a specified strike level, price or rate or (ii) a value or
average value of the specified Reference Item) and the applicable Scaling Factor (see risk factor 8.5).

The Reference Items to which Autocall Notes may be linked are Index, Underlying Equity (which may
be an ETF Share) or Basket of Underlying Equities (which may be or include an ETF Share) and
Currency exchange rates. Prospective investors should also consider risk factor 4.5 above and the
relevant sections of risk factor 5 relating to the specific Reference Item to which the Notes in which they
wish to invest are linked.

Holders of Autocall Notes will receive the Autocall Redemption Amount together with any unpaid
accrued interest thereon if the Autocall Condition is satisfied. The Autocall Redemption Amount shall
either be a specified amount or an amount determined by reference to the performance of the relevant
Reference Item over the specified observation period, subject to the application of the Scaling Factor
(see risk factor 8.5) and the Autocall Multiplier (see risk factor 8.3).

Where the Autocall Redemption Amount is linked to the performance of the relevant Reference Item,
unless the Floor % is specified in the applicable Final Terms to be greater than or equal to 100 per cent.,
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the Autocall Redemption Amount could be less than the nominal amount of such Autocall Notes and
investors could lose all or a significant portion of their investment.

5 Additional risks associated with Notes linked to a particular Reference Item

5.1 Index Linked Notes

(M)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Features

Index Linked Interest Notes and/or Index Linked Redemption Notes may be issued under the
Programme (together “Index Linked Notes”).

The amount of interest payable on Index Linked Interest Notes will depend on which of the
following Interest Variable Options is specified: “Evolution of Index”, “Asian Option — Index”,
“Digital Option”, “Single Fixing-Index” or “Asian Fixing-Index”. Prospective investors should
consider the relevant sections of risk factor 7 relating to the specific Interest Variable Option
specified for the Notes in which they wish to invest.

The Redemption Amount payable on Index Linked Redemption Notes is determined by reference
to how the value (or, as applicable, average value) of the specified Index determined at maturity
has performed when compared against the product of (i) the initial value (or, as applicable,
average value) of the specified Index and (ii) the applicable Scaling Factor (see risk factor 8.5),
with the result being multiplied by the relevant Index Redemption Multiplier (see risk factor 8.3).
If such value at maturity is lower than the product of such initial value and the Scaling Factor,
unless the Floor % is specified in the applicable Final Terms to be greater than or equal to 100
per cent., the Redemption Amount could be less than the nominal amount of such Index Linked
Redemption Notes and investors could lose all or a significant portion of their investment.

Index Sponsor not responsible

Index Linked Notes are not in any way sponsored, endorsed, sold or promoted by the Index
Sponsor of the relevant Index and the Index Sponsor makes no warranty or representation
whatsoever, express or implied, either as to the results to be obtained from the use of the Index
and/or the figure at which the Index stands at any particular time on any particular day or
otherwise. An investor’s decision to invest in the Index Linked Notes should be made without
reliance on the Index Sponsor. The Index Sponsor shall not be liable (whether in negligence or
otherwise) for any loss, damages, costs, charges, expenses or other liabilities including, without
limitation, liability for any special, punitive, indirect or consequential damages, even if notified
of the possibility of such damages to any person for any error in the Index and the Index Sponsor
shall not be under any obligation to advise any person of an error therein.

Factors affecting the performance of the Index may adversely affect the value of the Notes

An Index will comprise a synthetic portfolio of shares and, as such, the performance of an Index
is dependent upon the macroeconomic factors relating to the shares that comprise such Index,
which may include interest rates and price levels on the capital markets, currency developments,
political factors and company-specific factors such as earnings position, market position, risk
situation, shareholder structure and distribution policy.

Exposure to Index adjustments and correction of Index Levels

The Calculation Agent has broad discretion to make certain determinations and adjustments, to
replace the original index with another and/or to cause early redemption of the Notes, any of
which may be adverse to Noteholders in connection with an Index Modification, Index
Cancellation or Index Disruption. The Calculation Agent may determine that the consequence of
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any such event is to make adjustments to the Notes or to replace such Index or the value of such
Index with another or to cause early redemption of the Notes. The Calculation Agent may (subject
to the terms and conditions of the relevant Notes) also amend the relevant Reference Price (being
the level of the Index) due to corrections in the level reported by the Index Sponsor.

If the prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as not applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, adjustments and modifications shall be subject to the conditions set out in Condition

6(b)(v).
Loss of return of dividends in respect of most Index Linked Notes

The rules governing the composition and calculation of the relevant underlying Index might
stipulate that dividends distributed on its components do not lead to a rise in the Index level, for
example, if it is a “price” index, which may lead to a decrease in the Index level if all other
circumstances remain the same. As a result, in such cases, the Noteholders in respect of Index
Linked Notes will not participate in dividends or other distributions paid on the components
comprising the Index. Even if the rules of the relevant underlying Index provide that distributed
dividends or other distributions of the components are reinvested in the Index and therefore result
in raising its level, in some circumstances, the dividends or other distributions may not be fully
reinvested in such Index.

A change in the composition or discontinuance of an Index could adversely affect the market
value of the Notes

The Index Sponsor of any Index can add, delete or substitute the components of such Index or
make other methodological changes that could change the level of one or more components. The
modification of components of any Index may affect the level of such Index, as a newly added
component may perform significantly worse or better than the component it replaces, which in
turn may affect the payments made by the Issuer to the Noteholders. The sponsor of any such
Index may also alter, discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of such Index. The
Index Sponsor of an Index will have no involvement in the offer and sale of the Notes and will
have no obligation to any investor in such Notes. The Index Sponsor may take any actions in
respect of such Index without regard to the interests of the investor in the Notes, and any of these
actions could adversely affect the market value of the Notes.

If the prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as not applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, adjustments and modifications shall be subject to the conditions set out in Condition

6(b)(v).

Exposure to the risk that returns on the Index Linked Notes do not reflect direct investment in
underlying equities comprising the Index

The return payable on Index Linked Notes may not reflect the return an investor would realise if
it actually owned the relevant equities comprising the components of the Index. For example,
Noteholders will not receive any dividends paid on those shares and will not participate in the
return on those dividends unless the relevant Index takes such dividends into account for purposes
of calculating the relevant level. Similarly, Noteholders will not have any voting rights in the
underlying equities or any other assets which may comprise the components of the relevant Index.
Accordingly, Noteholders holding Index Linked Redemption Notes may receive a lower payment
upon redemption of such Notes than such investor would have received if it had invested in the
components of the Index directly.
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5.2  Equity Linked Notes

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Features

Equity Linked Interest Notes and/or Equity Linked Redemption Notes may be issued under the
Programme (together the “Equity Linked Notes™).

The amount of interest payable on Equity Linked Interest Notes will depend on which of the
following Interest Variable Options is specified: “Evolution of Underlying Equity” or “Evolution
of Basket of Underlying Equities”, “Asian Option — Underlying Equity” or “Asian Option —
Basket of Underlying Equities” or “Digital Option”. Prospective investors should consider the
relevant sections of risk factor 7 relating to the specific Interest Variable Option specified for the
Notes in which they wish to invest.

The Redemption Amount payable on Equity Linked Redemption Notes is determined by
reference to how the value (or, as applicable, average value) of the specified Underlying Equity
/ Basket of Underlying Equities determined at maturity has performed when compared against
the product of (i) the initial value (or, as applicable, average value) of the specified Underlying
Equity / Basket of Underlying Equities and (ii) the applicable Scaling Factor (see risk factor 8.5),
with the result being multiplied by the relevant Equity Redemption Multiplier (see risk factor
8.3). If such value at maturity is lower than the product of such initial value and the Scaling
Factor, unless the Floor % is specified in the applicable Final Terms to be greater than or equal
to 100 per cent., the Redemption Amount could be less than the nominal amount of such Equity
Linked Redemption Notes and investors could lose all or a significant portion of their investment.

Factors affecting the performance of the Underlying Equities may adversely affect the value
of the Notes

The performance of equities is dependent upon macroeconomic factors, such as interest rates and
price levels on the capital markets, currency developments, political factors and company-
specific factors such as earnings position, market position, risk situation, shareholder structure
and distribution policy.

Determinations made by the Calculation Agent in respect of Potential Adjustment Events,
other relevant events or Additional Disruption Events may have an adverse effect on the value
of the Notes

In case a specified Potential Adjustment Event occurs which according to the Calculation Agent
has a diluting, concentrative or other effect on the theoretical value of the Underlying Equity or
Equities (which may be or include an ETF Share), or where other extraordinary events occur that
comprise a De-listing, Merger Event, Nationalisation, Insolvency (other than in respect of an ETF
Share) and/or Tender Offer in relation to such an Underlying Equity or Equity Issuer, (i) the
Calculation Agent has broad discretion (in certain cases at the direction of the Issuer) to make
certain determinations to account for such event, including to make adjustments to the terms of
the Notes and/or (ii) (in the case of such other specified extraordinary events) the Issuer may
early redeem the Notes. Any of the abovementioned determinations may have an adverse effect
on the value of the Notes.

If the prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as not applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, adjustments and modifications shall be subject to the conditions set out in Condition

7(b)(v).
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No claim against the Equity Issuer of the Underlying Equities or recourse to the Underlying
Equities

Equity Linked Notes do not represent a claim against or an investment in any Equity Issuer (which
includes any ETF Issuer in the content of an ETF Share) to which they are linked and Noteholders
will not have any right of recourse under the Notes to any such Equity Issuer or the equities. The
Notes are not in any way sponsored, endorsed or promoted by any Equity Issuer and such
companies have no obligation to take into account the consequences of their actions for any
Noteholders. Accordingly, the Equity Issuer may take any actions in respect of such Underlying
Equity without regard to the interests of the Noteholders, and any of these actions could adversely
affect the market value of the Notes.

In the case of Notes relating to Underlying Equities, no Equity Issuer (which includes any ETF
Issuer in the content of an ETF Share) will have participated in the preparation of the relevant
Conditions and/or Final Terms of the Notes and neither the Issuer nor any Dealer will make any
investigation or enquiry in connection with such offering with respect to the information
concerning any such Equity Issuer contained in such Final Terms or in the documents from which
such information was extracted. Consequently, there can be no assurance that all events occurring
prior to the relevant Issue Date (including events that would affect the accuracy or completeness
of the publicly available documents described in this paragraph or in any relevant Final Terms)
that would affect the trading price of the Underlying Equities will have been publicly disclosed.
Subsequent disclosure of any such events or the disclosure of or failure to disclose material future
events concerning such an Equity Issuer could affect the trading price of the Underlying Equities
and therefore the trading price of the Notes.

Additional risks associated with ETF Shares as Underlying Equities

(a) Where the Underlying Equity is an ETF Share, there may be divergence from its underlying
share, basket or index

Where the Notes are linked to an ETF and the investment objective of such ETF is to track the
performance of a share, basket or an index, the investors in such Notes are exposed to the
performance of such ETF share rather than the underlying share, basket or index such ETF share
tracks. For certain reasons, including to comply with certain tax and regulatory constraints, an
ETF may not be able to track or replicate the underlying share, basket (or any constituent thereof)
or index, which could give rise to a difference between the performance of the underlying share,
basket or index and such ETF share. Accordingly, investors who purchase Notes that are linked
to an ETF may receive a lower return than if such investors had invested in the share, basket or
the index underlying such ETF share directly.

(b) Action by ETF Adviser, ETF Administrator or sponsor of an ETF may adversely affect the
Notes

Any relevant ETF Adviser, ETF Administrator or sponsor of an ETF will have no involvement in
the offer and sale of the Notes and will have no obligation to any investor in such Notes. Any
such ETF Adviser, ETF Administrator or sponsor of an ETF may take any actions in respect of
such ETF without regard to the interests of the Noteholders, and any of these actions could
adversely affect the market value of the Notes.
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5.3 Inflation Linked Interest Notes

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Features
Inflation Linked Interest Notes may be issued under the Programme.

The amount of interest payable on Inflation Linked Interest Notes will depend on which of the
following Interest Variable Options is specified: “Evolution of Inflation”, “Asian Option —
Inflation” or “Digital Option”. Prospective investors should consider the relevant sections of risk
factor 7 relating to the specific Interest Variable Option specified for the Notes in which they
wish to invest.

Inflation Index Sponsor not responsible

Inflation Linked Interest Notes are not in any way sponsored, endorsed, sold or promoted by the
Inflation Index Sponsor of the relevant Inflation Index and the Inflation Index Sponsor makes no
warranty or representation whatsoever, express or implied, either as to the results to be obtained
from the use of the Inflation Index and/or the figure at which the Inflation Index stands at any
particular time on any particular day or otherwise. An investor’s decision to invest in the Inflation
Linked Interest Notes should be made without reliance on the Inflation Index Sponsor. The
Inflation Index Sponsor shall not be liable (whether in negligence or otherwise) for any loss,
damages, costs, charges, expenses or other liabilities including, without limitation, liability for
any special, punitive, indirect or consequential damages, even if notified of the possibility of such
damages to any person for any error in the Inflation Index and the Inflation Index Sponsor shall
not be under any obligation to advise any person of an error therein.

Factors affecting the performance of the Inflation Index may adversely affect the value of the
Inflation Linked Interest Notes

Movements in the level of the Inflation Index may be subject to significant fluctuations that may
not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices and the timing of changes
in the relevant level of the Inflation Index may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the
average level is consistent with their expectations.

Many economic and market factors may influence the value of Inflation Linked Interest Notes
including, inter alia, (i) general economic, financial, political or regulatory conditions; (ii)
fluctuations in the prices of various consumer goods and energy resources; and (iii) inflation and
expectations concerning inflation. Any such factors may either offset or magnify each other.

Adjustments by the Calculation Agent and corrections of certain manifest errors

The Calculation Agent will adjust or replace the Inflation Index in accordance with Condition 8
when it determines there is a delay in the publication of the Inflation Index, a cessation of
publication of the Inflation Index, a manifest error in the publication of the Inflation Index, a
rebasing of the Inflation Index or a material modification prior to the relevant payment date. The
Calculation Agent may (subject to the terms and conditions of the relevant Notes) also amend the
relevant Reference Price (being the level of the Inflation Index) due to corrections in the level
reported by the Index Sponsor to remedy a manifest error within 30 days of publishing. Any
corrections published thereafter will be disregarded for the purpose of the Notes.

In certain circumstances where the Inflation Index has not been published or announced by the
Inflation Index Sponsor for two consecutive months or such other specified period and/or an
Inflation Index Sponsor announces that it will no longer continue to publish or announce such
Inflation Index, the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment(s) to the Conditions as it deems
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necessary or appropriate to account for any such replacement. If the Calculation Agent determines
that there is no appropriate alternative inflation index, the Issuer shall redeem all the Notes at
their Early Redemption Amount.

If the prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as not applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, adjustments and modifications shall be subject to the conditions set out in Condition

8(a)(vi).

5.4  Currency Linked Notes

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Features

Currency Linked Interest Notes and/or Currency Linked Redemption Notes may be issued under
the Programme.

The amount of interest payable on Currency Linked Interest Notes will depend on which of the
following Interest Variable Options is specified: “Evolution of Currency”, “Asian Option —
Currency” or “Digital Option”. Prospective investors should consider the relevant sections of risk
factor 7 relating to the specific Interest Variable Option specified for the Notes in which they
wish to invest.

The Redemption Amount payable on Currency Linked Redemption Notes is determined by
reference to how the value (or, as applicable, average value) of the specified currency exchange
rate determined upon issue has changed when compared against the product of (i) the value (or,
as applicable, average value) of the specified currency exchange rate at maturity and (ii) the
applicable Scaling Factor (see risk factor 8.5), with the result being multiplied by the relevant
Currency Redemption Multiplier (see risk factor 8.3). If such value upon issue was lower than
the product of such value at maturity and the Scaling Factor, then unless the Floor % is specified
in the applicable Final Terms to be greater than or equal to 100 per cent., the Redemption Amount
could be less than the nominal amount of such Currency Linked Redemption Notes and investors
could lose all or a significant portion of their investment.

Factors affecting the performance of the relevant foreign exchange rate may adversely affect
the value of the Notes

The foreign exchange rate(s) to which the Notes are linked will affect the nature and value of the
investment return on the Notes. The performance of foreign exchange rates is dependent upon
the supply and demand for currencies in the international foreign exchange markets, which are
subject to economic factors, including inflation rates in the countries concerned, interest rate
differences between the respective countries, economic forecasts, international political factors,
currency convertibility and safety of making financial investments in the currency concerned,
speculation and measures taken by governments and central banks. Such measures include,
without limitation, imposition of regulatory controls or taxes, issuance of a new currency to
replace an existing currency, alteration of the exchange rate or exchange characteristics by
devaluation or revaluation of a currency or imposition of exchange controls with respect to the
exchange or transfer of a specified currency that would affect exchange rates and the availability
of a specified currency.

Market Disruption

If a Currency Disruption Event occurs, the calculation method of the Interest Amount and/or
Redemption Amount for the Currency Linked Interest Notes may be adjusted or the Notes may
be early redeemed.
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In case any Valuation Date on which a Reference Price is scheduled to be determined is a
Disrupted Day, the Calculation Agent may in its sole and absolute discretion (i) deduct from the
relevant Interest Amount and/or Redemption Amount an amount calculated by the Calculation
Agent as representing the cost, expense, charge and/or deduction arising in connection with such
Currency Disruption Event(s) or make any other adjustment with respect thereto; and/or (ii)
postpone any date for payment of the relevant Interest Amount; and/or (iii) in the case of a “Price
Source Disruption”, specify and adopt an appropriate alternate fallback or alternative price or
rate source or method of determination selected by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion or
a replacement of any one or more relevant currencies, as the case may be; and/or (iv) redeem all
of the Currency Linked Notes at their Early Redemption Amount. Notwithstanding the above, if
such a Valuation Date relates to an Averaging Payment, such Valuation Date will be deemed not
to be a relevant Valuation Date for the purposes of determining the relevant Interest Amount
and/or Redemption Amount in accordance with the above unless, through operation of this
provision, there would not be any Valuation Date with respect to the date for payment of the
relevant Interest Amount or Redemption Amount.

If the prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as not applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, adjustments and modifications shall be subject to the conditions set out in Condition
9(b), paragraph 3.

(iv)  Foreign exchange dealers and conflicts of interest

Investors should note that certain Affiliates of the Issuer are regular participants in the foreign
exchange markets and in the ordinary course of their business may effect transactions for their
own account or for the account of their customers and hold long and short positions in currencies
and related derivatives, including in the currencies of the relevant foreign exchange rate(s). Such
transactions may affect the relevant foreign exchange Rate(s), the market price, liquidity or value
of the Notes and could be adverse to the interests of Noteholders. No Affiliate of the Issuer has
any duty to enter into such transactions in a manner which is favourable to Notes. See risk factor
3.5.

(v)  Currencies of emerging markets jurisdictions pose particular risks
Currency Linked Notes linked to emerging market currencies may experience greater volatility
and less certainty as to the future levels of such emerging market currencies or their rate of
exchange as against other currencies. See risk factor 6.2.

Credit Linked Notes

The Credit Linked Notes have a different risk profile to other unsecured debt securities. The return on
the Credit Linked Notes is linked to the credit risk of one or more Reference Entities and certain
obligations of one or more Reference Entities underlying that Series of Credit Linked Notes. Investing
in the Credit Linked Notes is not equivalent to investing directly in shares of any Reference Entity or in
any obligation of any Reference Entity, nor is it equivalent to taking an exposure or hedging using over-
the-counter derivatives.

Prospective investors should note that the Credit Linked Notes differ from ordinary debt securities issued
by the Issuer in that the amount of principal and interest (if any) payable by the Issuer is dependent on
whether a Credit Event has occurred with respect to a relevant Reference Entity and, if so, on the value
of certain obligations of such Reference Entity.

The Credit Linked Notes may redeem below par and investors may receive no or a limited amount of
interest. The redemption amount may vary considerably due to market conditions and the Credit Linked
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Notes may in certain circumstances (for example following a default of a Reference Entity) be valued at
a considerable discount to their par value or even zero and investors may therefore lose all or a substantial
portion of their investment. The redemption amount is further reduced by the costs incurred by the Issuer
or an Affiliate of the Issuer in redeeming the Credit Linked Notes early or terminating, obtaining or re-
establishing any related funding, hedging or trading position in connection with the Credit Linked Notes
as a result of a Credit Event occurring.

Investors in the Credit Linked Notes should be aware that the Credit Linked Notes may redeem early if
a Credit Event has occurred and Credit Payment on Maturity does not apply, but may redeem later than
the Scheduled Maturity Date pending the determination of a Credit Event or Event Determination Date
or the determination of the Auction Final Price or Final Price in respect of a Credit Event. In particular,
prospective investors should be aware that notes to which “Credit Payment on Maturity” applies will
only pay the relevant redemption amount of such Note on the Scheduled Maturity Date (or the final
Redemption Date, if later) even though the Credit Event which leads to the calculation of the redemption
amount occurs some time prior to the Scheduled Maturity Date. In certain circumstances, the Credit
Linked Notes may redeem at zero.

If “Credit Payment on Maturity” applies, the occurrence of a Credit Event will not result in the early
termination of the Credit Linked Notes. Investors are therefore exposed to the risk that, following the
occurrence of a Credit Event, they will not receive any principal and a lower rate of interest from either
the Interest Suspension Accrual Date up to the Scheduled Maturity Date.

The market price of Credit Linked Notes may be volatile and will be affected by, amongst other things,
the time remaining to the maturity date, prevailing credit spreads and the creditworthiness of the relevant
Reference Entity or Entities, which in turn may be affected by the economic, financial and political
events in one or more jurisdictions.

There may exist at times only limited markets for the Credit Linked Notes or no market for the Credit
Linked Notes and for the obligations of the Reference Entity or Entities to which the Credit Linked
Notes are linked, resulting in low or non-existent volumes of trading in the Credit Linked Notes and
such obligations, and therefore a lack of liquidity and price volatility of the Credit Linked Notes and
such obligations.

The primary credit risk of the Credit Linked Notes is that of the Reference Entity or Entities identified
in the relevant Final Terms. The occurrence of a Credit Event in relation to a relevant Reference Entity
will directly and materially affect the return and/or value of an investor’s investment in the Credit Linked
Notes. The likelihood of a Credit Event occurring in respect of a relevant Reference Entity will generally
fluctuate with, among other things, the financial condition and other characteristics of such Reference
Entity, general economic conditions, the conditions of certain financial markets, political events,
developments or trends in any particular industry and changes in prevailing interest rates. Prospective
investors should review each Reference Entity and conduct their own investigation and analysis with
respect to the credit risk of each Reference Entity and the likelihood of a Credit Event with respect to
such Reference Entity.

Set out below are additional factors to which prospective investors should have regard when considering
an investment in the Credit Linked Notes.

(i) Independent Review and Advice

Each prospective investor is fully responsible for making its own investment decisions as to
whether the Credit Linked Notes (a) are fully consistent with its (or if it is acquiring the Credit
Linked Notes in a fiduciary capacity, the beneficiary’s) financial needs, objectives and conditions,
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(b) comply and are fully consistent with all investment policies, guidelines and restrictions
applicable to it (or its beneficiary) and (c) are a fit, proper and suitable investment for it (or its
beneficiary).

Each prospective investor is deemed to have sufficient knowledge, experience and professional
advice to make its own investment decisions, including, without limitation, its own legal,
financial, tax, accounting, credit, regulatory and other business evaluation of the risks and merits
of investment in the Credit Linked Notes. Prospective investors should ensure that they fully
understand the risks associated with investments of this nature which are intended to be sold only
to sophisticated investors.

Prospective investors should be aware that neither the Issuer nor any dealer in the Credit Linked
Notes has any duty to conduct or accepts any responsibility for conducting or failing to conduct
any investigation into the business, financial condition, prospects, creditworthiness, status and/or
affairs of any Reference Entity and its Obligations, Underlying Obligations, Underlying Obligors,
Reference Obligations and Valuation Obligations. Prospective investors are solely responsible for
making their own independent appraisal of, and investigation into, such matters. Investors in the
Credit Linked Notes may not rely on the views or advice of the Issuer for any information in
relation to any person other than the Issuer itself.

Credit Linked Notes are complex financial instruments. A prospective investor should not invest
in Credit Linked Notes unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to
evaluate how the Credit Linked Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting
effects on the value of the Credit Linked Notes and the impact this investment will have on the
prospective investor’s overall investment portfolio.

Investment in the Credit Linked Notes is suitable only for investors who can bear the risks
associated with a lack of liquidity in the Credit Linked Notes and the risk of losing all or part of
their investment in the Credit Linked Notes.

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of the Credit Linked Notes

A number of the Credit Linked Notes may have features which contain particular risks for
investors. Set out below is a description of the most common such features:

Risk of Loss of Interest

Save as otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, if a Credit Event occurs interest may be
reduced from the Interest Suspension Accrual Date until such Applicable Proportion of the Credit
Linked Notes is redeemed on an Applicable Proportion of the Credit Linked Notes.

Risk of Loss of Principal

Investors bear the risk of a total loss of principal if a Credit Event and a Relevant Event
Determination Date occur. The Outstanding Aggregate Nominal Amount of the Credit Linked
Notes is likely to be lower following a Credit Event and may be zero. In addition, Noteholders
should be aware that if “Credit Payment on Maturity” applies to the Notes, then payment of
the Redemption Amount will only be made at maturity of the Notes notwithstanding that the
Credit Event leading to the calculation of the Redemption Amount occurs before the Scheduled
Maturity Date of the Notes and Noteholders will not receive any interim payment of principal in
respect of such Note.
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The Redemption Amount will reflect the market value of the obligations of the Reference Entity
in respect of which a Credit Event occurred less a deduction for Unwind Costs (see further
“Unwind Costs” below).

See also risk factor 5.5 (iv) below.

Risks relating to the Credit Linked Conditions and the Credit Derivatives Determinations
Committees

Credit Linked Conditions

The terms and conditions of the Credit Linked Notes do not incorporate by reference the
definitions and provisions of the 2014 ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions, as such definitions
may be amended by the supplements thereto and there may be differences between the definitions
used in the Conditions of the Credit Linked Notes and the Credit Derivatives Definitions.
Consequently, investing in Credit Linked Notes is not exactly the same as entering into a credit
default swap that incorporates the Credit Derivatives Definitions.

While ISDA has published the Credit Derivatives Definitions in order to facilitate transactions
and promote uniformity in the credit derivatives market, the credit derivatives market is expected
to continue to evolve and change. Consequently, the Credit Derivatives Definitions and the terms
applied to credit derivatives, including Credit Linked Notes, are subject to interpretation and
further evolution. Past events have shown that the views of market participants may differ as to
how the Credit Derivatives Definitions operate or should operate. As a result of the continued
evolution in the market, interpretation of the conditions governing the Credit Linked Notes may
differ in the future because of future market standards. Such a result may have a negative impact
on the Credit Linked Notes.

There can be no assurances that changes to the terms applicable to credit derivatives generally
will be predictable or favourable to the Issuer or Noteholders. Future amendments or supplements
to the terms applicable to credit derivatives generally will only apply to Credit Linked Notes that
have already been issued if the Issuer and the Noteholders agree to amend the Credit Linked
Notes to incorporate such amendments or supplements and other conditions to amending the
Credit Linked Notes have been met.

The 2014 ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions introduced new “Asset Package Delivery”
provisions which enable an Asset Package to be the subject of an Auction held to determine the
Auction Final Price for a Reference Entity following the occurrence of an Asset Package Credit
Event. As at the date of these Credit Linked Conditions, the Auction Settlement Terms have not
been updated to reflect such Asset Package Delivery provisions. The Calculation Agent has
discretion to adjust the Auction Final Price for any Asset Package if it determines that the Auction
Final Price does not reflect the price for the entire Asset Package and in doing so the Calculation
Agent may, but is not obliged to, have regard to any Auction Settlement Terms published by ISDA
to settle credit derivatives transactions following an Asset Package Credit Event.

Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees

The Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees (each, an “ISDA DC”) were established
pursuant to the March 2009 Supplements to the 2003 ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions to
make determinations that are relevant to the majority of the credit derivatives market and to
promote transparency and consistency. Further information about the ISDA DCs may be found
at www.isda.org/credit.
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Whether or not a Credit Event or Succession Event has occurred, and certain decisions relating
thereto, may be dependent on determinations made by the ISDA DC. In certain circumstances,
determinations made by the Calculation Agent may be overridden by subsequent determinations
made by an ISDA DC. If the Issuer delivers a Credit Event Notice or Succession Event Notice to
the Agent, the Noteholders should be aware that such notice may be superseded by a
determination of an ISDA DC.

In making any determination in its capacity as Calculation Agent or Issuer, the Issuer shall have
regard to and, where applicable, be bound by decisions made by an ISDA DC.

Investors, in their capacity as Noteholders, will not have the ability to refer questions to an ISDA
DC since the Credit Linked Notes will not constitute an actual credit default swap transaction. As
a result, Noteholders are dependent on market participants in actual credit transactions to refer
specific questions to the relevant ISDA DC. Neither the Issuer nor the Calculation Agent, acting
in any capacity, have any duty to the Noteholders to refer, or to desist from referring, specific
questions to the relevant ISDA DC.

Noteholders shall have no recourse against the Issuer, the Calculation Agent, any institutions
serving on an ISDA DC or the external reviewers in the event of any loss arising directly or
indirectly from any action, determination or resolution taken or made by an ISDA DC.

The Final Terms set out certain representations relating to the relevant ISDA DC which are
deemed to be made by each Noteholder.

Exposure to Reference Entities, Obligations, Underlying Obligations, Underlying Obligors,
Reference Obligations and Valuation Obligations

Unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, investors in Credit Linked Notes are
exposed to the credit risks and other risks associated with each relevant Reference Entity and
their Obligations, Underlying Obligations, Underlying Obligors, Reference Obligations,
Valuation Obligations and any relevant jurisdictional risks.

The Basket Credit Linked Notes and Index Tranche Credit Linked Notes are linked to the credit
risk of more than one Reference Entity. The likelihood of a Credit Event occurring in respect of
any of the Reference Entities referenced by a Basket Credit Linked Note or Index Tranche Credit
Linked Note will differ for each Reference Entity and prospective investors should conduct their
own analysis of the credit risk of each of the multiple Reference Entities for the relevant Basket
Credit Linked Note or Index Tranche Credit Linked Notes.

Further, in respect of Basket Credit Linked Notes or Index Tranche Credit Linked Notes, the
credit risk to Noteholders may be increased, amongst other things, as a result of the concentration
of Reference Entries in a particular industry sector or geographic area, or the exposure of the
Reference Entities to similar financial or other risks as other Reference Entities.

The risk that the Noteholders bear in relation to the Credit Linked Notes is a function of both the
risk of a Credit Event occurring in respect of the Reference Entity or Entities and the risk relating
to the amount that may be recovered following such Credit Event. Where a Credit Event results
in a high recovery rate, the Noteholders will incur a relatively small loss. Conversely, where a
Credit Event results in a low recovery rate, Noteholders will incur a larger loss.

Synthetic Exposure

The Credit Linked Notes do not represent a claim against any Reference Entity and, in the event
of any loss, investors in Credit Linked Notes will not have recourse under the Credit Linked
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Notes to any Reference Entity nor shall a Noteholder have any legal, beneficial or other interest
whatsoever in any of the Obligations, the Reference Obligations or the Valuation Obligations
relating to a Credit Linked Note. The Issuer is not obliged to own or hold any Obligation or
Reference Obligation, and no inference may be drawn from the Programme, the Credit Linked
Conditions or any relevant Final Terms that the Issuer holds any such Obligation or Reference
Obligation or has any credit exposure to any Reference Entity. Amounts payable under the Credit
Linked Notes are not, in any direct or indirect way, limited by, associated with, or linked or
calculated by reference to, any loss of bargain, cost of funding or any other actual loss or cost
suffered by the Issuer as a result of its holding or not holding any Obligation or Reference
Obligation.

Neither the Issuer nor the Calculation Agent has made any investigation of, or makes any
representation or warranty, express or implied, as to the existence or financial or creditworthiness
or other condition of any Reference Entity or the Reference Obligation or Obligations or
Valuation Obligations of such Reference Entity or any information provided in respect of such
Reference Entity. The Issuer and the Calculation Agent may, at any time, be in possession of
information in relation to any Reference Entity (which may or may not be publicly available).
None of such persons shall be under any obligation to make any such information available to
Noteholders or any other party.

The Issuer and/or the Calculation Agent may have access to information with respect to a
Reference Entity that would (or would if available from a Public Source), amongst other things,
constitute Publicly Available Information with respect to a Credit Event or otherwise suggest that
a Credit Event has occurred or may occur with respect to a Reference Entity. There is no
obligation on the Issuer to disclose such information to any Noteholder, nor to respond to any
Noteholder’s enquiries or requests for information with respect to any such, or similar, event.

Credit Events

Prospective investors should note that not all Credit Events have easily ascertainable triggers and
disputes can and have arisen as to whether a specific event did or did not constitute a Credit
Event. However, under the Credit Linked Notes and subject to any determinations made by a
Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee which will be binding on the Issuer and the
Calculation Agent, the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee and/or the Issuer’s
determination of a Credit Event will, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding
on all persons (including, without limitation, the Noteholders), notwithstanding the disagreement
of such persons or other financial institutions, rating agencies or commentators.

Investors should note that a Credit Event occurring prior to the Trade Date may result in a Credit
Event being triggered under the Notes as the Notes have a “Credit Event Backstop Date” which
is a look-back period of sixty calendar days from the Credit Event Resolution Request Date or
the date of the Credit Event Notice. Investors should conduct their own review of any recent
developments with respect to each Reference Entity by consulting publicly available information.
If a request to convene a Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee has been delivered prior
to the Trade Date to determine whether a Credit Event has occurred with respect to the Reference
Entity, details of such request may be found on the ISDA website. If a Credit Derivatives
Determinations Committee has not been convened to determine such matter as of the Trade Date,
one may still be convened after the Trade Date in respect of an event which occurs up to sixty
days before the date of a request to convene such Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee.
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Successors and Substitute Reference Obligations

Following a Succession Date, one or more Successor Reference Entity(s) will (unless otherwise
specified in the relevant Final Terms) be deemed to be a Reference Entity in replacement of (or
in addition to, as applicable) the relevant Reference Entity originally specified in the relevant
Final Terms. Further, upon a Reference Obligation ceasing to exist in the manner specified in the
definition thereof, a Substitute Reference Obligation may be selected.

As a result of the circumstances discussed in the preceding paragraph, a Series of Credit Linked
Notes may be linked to the credit of one or more Reference Entities and their Obligations and
Reference Obligations notwithstanding that such Reference Entities, Obligations and Reference
Obligations were not specified in the relevant Final Terms upon issuance of such Series of Credit
Linked Notes.

Redemption after Scheduled Maturity Date

Redemption may occur irrespective of whether the Relevant Credit Event is continuing on or
after a Relevant Event Determination Date. The relevant Redemption Date may be later than the
Scheduled Maturity Date. If the Issuer determines, in its sole and absolute discretion, that one or
more Reference Entities is or may be subject to (a) a Credit Event, (b) if “Grace Period
Extension” is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, a Potential Failure to Pay
or, (c) if “Repudiation/Moratorium” is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms,
a Potential Repudiation/Moratorium, the Credit Linked Notes then outstanding shall not be
redeemed on the Scheduled Maturity Date but shall be redeemed instead on the Extended
Maturity Date. If an extension of the Scheduled Maturity Date applies pursuant to and in
accordance with Credit Linked Condition 9 (Maturity Date Extension), the Issuer may deliver a
Credit Event Notice or the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee may make a DC Credit
Announcement which will trigger settlement of the Credit Linked Notes after the Scheduled
Maturity Date.

Issuer Discretion

Unless, in accordance with the Credit Linked Conditions, the Credit Derivatives Determinations
Committee makes a DC Credit Event Announcement or a DC No Credit Event Announcement
and the Issuer is bound by such determination, the decision when and whether to deliver a Credit
Event Notice and, if applicable, a Notice of Publicly Available Information, (if required to be
delivered in order to trigger settlement under the Credit Linked Conditions) is at the sole and
absolute discretion of the Issuer. Such notices are effective when delivered to the Agent. The
delivery of or failure to deliver such notices to Noteholders will not affect the effectiveness of
such notices.

Risks relating to the Credit Event Redemption Method

The Credit Event Redemption Method specified in the relevant Final Terms will affect how the
Credit Linked Notes are redeemed. Prospective investors should assess whether the Credit Event
Redemption Method is appropriate for them prior to investing in the Credit Linked Notes.

Auction Redemption

If “Auction Redemption” is specified as being applicable in respect of the Credit Linked Notes,
then the amounts payable by and/or rights and obligations of the parties under the Credit Linked
Notes in respect of the relevant Reference Entity or Reference Obligation will be determined in
accordance with the Auction Final Price. This may result in a lower recovery value than a

74



Risk Factors

Reference Entity or Reference Obligation would have if such Auction Final Price had not been
used.

If “Auction Redemption” is specified as being applicable with respect to the Credit Linked
Notes but a Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee does not decide to conduct an Auction
with respect to obligations of the relevant Reference Entity satisfying the relevant characteristics
as set out in the relevant Final Terms, then the Fallback Redemption Method shall apply. In such
circumstances, the Final Price will be determined pursuant to the Valuation Method.

Noteholders should note that they will not be able to deliver a Customer Physical Settlement
Request (as defined in the Credit Derivatives Auction Settlement Terms) to the Issuer in respect
of their holding of Credit Linked Notes.

In the event of a Governmental Intervention Credit Event or certain Restructuring Credit Events
which constitute an Asset Package Credit Event, the Auction Final Price may be determined by
reference to the value of the Asset Package received or retained by a Relevant Holder in place of
the Prior Deliverable Obligation or Package Observable Bond in connection with such Asset
Package Credit Event. Such Asset Package may be worth significantly less than the original
Package Observable Bond prior to such Asset Package Credit Event and may result in a
significantly lower Redemption Amount being paid out to Noteholders than would have been the
case following the relevant Credit Event had the Auction Final Price been determined only by
reference to Valuation Obligations.

Cash Redemption

If “Cash Redemption” is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms with respect
to the Credit Linked Notes or “Cash Redemption” is the Fallback Redemption Method, then the
Calculation Agent will value the Reference Obligation or any other obligation of the Reference
Entity fulfilling certain criteria including the Valuation Obligation Category and Valuation
Obligation Characteristics by asking for quotations from Quotation Dealers. The date, time and
method of such auction, and the selection of the Reference Obligation, will impact the Final Price.
The Quotation Dealers selected by the Calculation Agent must be financial institutions, funds or
other entities that purchase or deal in obligations similar to the Reference Obligation and may
include the Issuer or any guarantor; however, the Quotation Dealers have no duty towards any
Noteholder and may not be aware that the purpose of the auction is to determine a Final Price for
purposes of the Credit Linked Notes or any other Credit Linked Notes.

Investors should note that the Final Price determined pursuant to a dealer poll may be
significantly different to the Auction Final Price.

In the event of a Governmental Intervention Credit Event or certain Restructuring Credit Events
which constitute an Asset Package Credit Event, the Final Price may be determined by reference
to the value of the Asset Package received or retained by a Relevant Holder in place of the Prior
Deliverable Obligation or Package Observable Bond which would otherwise have been valued
in order to determine the Final Price. Such Asset Package may be worth significantly less than
the original Prior Deliverable Obligation or Package Observable Bond prior to such Asset
Package Credit Event and may result in a significantly lower Cash Redemption Amount being
paid out to Noteholders than would have been the case following the relevant Credit Event had
the Final Price been determined only by reference to Valuation Obligations.

Fixed Recovery Redemption
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If “Fixed Recovery Redemption” is the applicable Credit Event Redemption Method, the
occurrence of a Credit Event may result in the recovery for Noteholders being materially lower
than the prevailing price of the relevant obligations of the relevant Reference Entity.

Credit Payment on Maturity

If “Credit Payment on Maturity” applies, the occurrence of a Credit Event will not result in the
early redemption of the Credit Linked Notes. Investors are therefore exposed to the risk that,
following the occurrence of a Credit Event, they will receive lower interest payments from the
Interest Suspension Accrual Date up to the Maturity Date, and the Redemption Amount will only
be payable on maturity of the Notes.

Redemption Failure/Alternative Redemption

If the Redemption Amount in respect of such Note cannot be paid when due as a result of a
Redemption Failure Event, the Noteholder, after providing a release and indemnity to the
satisfaction of the Issuer, may request such payment to be made to an account or person not
affected by such Redemption Failure Event, provided that, if such Redemption Failure Event is
continuing for 90 calendar days after the Scheduled Maturity Date or other scheduled payment
or delivery date (including the applicable Redemption Date), in respect of an amount to be paid
by the Issuer, if the Noteholder has not requested such payment to be made to an account or
person not affected by such Redemption Failure Event, the Issuer’s obligations in respect of such
payment will be discharged.

Other risk factors
Index Tranche Credit Notes

Noteholders are exposed to losses arising from Credit Events in relation to Index Tranche Credit
Linked Notes only to the extent that the Aggregate Loss Amount exceeds the Loss Threshold
Amount. The likelihood that Noteholders will be exposed to losses is therefore greater for more
subordinated tranches (i.e. those with a lower Attachment Point).

Leverage

Certain Credit Linked Notes may be leveraged or highly leveraged investments, including,
without limitation, Credit Linked Notes linked to a notional amount of one or more Reference
Entities or Reference Obligations exceeding the Original Aggregate Nominal Amount of the
Credit Linked Notes. The use of leverage is a speculative investment technique to enhance
returns. However, leverage also will magnify the adverse impact of Credit Events.

Investors should note in particular that Index Tranche Credit Linked Notes may be leveraged such
that the losses on those Notes are enhanced, although losses are limited to an investor’s initial
investment.

Hedging

In the ordinary course of their business, including without limitation in connection with their
market-making activities, the Issuer, the Quotation Dealers and/or any Agent or any Affiliate of
any of them (each such entity, a “Programme Party”) may effect transactions for their own
account or for the account of their customers and hold long or short positions in any applicable
Reference Obligation or related derivatives. In addition, in connection with the offering of the
Credit Linked Notes, the Issuer and/or any other Programme Party may enter into one or more
hedging transactions with respect to any applicable Reference Obligation or related derivatives.
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In connection with such hedging or market-making activities or with respect to proprietary or
other trading activities by the Issuer and/or any other Programme Party, the Issuer and/or any
other Programme Party may enter into transactions with respect to any applicable Reference
Obligation or related derivatives which may affect the market price, liquidity or value of the
Credit Linked Notes and which could be deemed to be adverse to the interests of the relevant
Noteholders. The Issuer and/or any other Programme Party may pursue such hedging or related
derivatives actions and take such steps as they deem necessary or appropriate to protect their
interests without regard to the consequences for any Noteholder.

Unwind Costs

Any Redemption Amounts payable to Noteholders following the occurrence of a Credit Event
will reflect the Unwind Costs, if applicable, of the Issuer. These relate to the costs and expenses
incurred by the Issuer in redeeming the Notes early or terminating, liquidating, obtaining or re-
establishing any related funding, hedging or trading position in connection with the Notes or a
result of a Credit Event occurring. These costs are not known at the Issue Date of the Credit
Linked Notes and will depend on interest rates and borrowing costs in the future. Where the
Unwind Costs are positive (which is likely to be the case where the Issuer is able to borrow funds
for less than the Funding Interest Rate specified on the Issue Date), the relevant Redemption
Amount will be increased. However, where the Unwind Costs are negative (which is likely to be
the case where the cost of borrowing for the Issuer is higher than the Funding Rate specified on
the Issue Date), the relevant Redemption Amount will be reduced.

The Issuer is not under any duty to hedge itself with respect to any Credit Linked Notes, nor is it
required to hedge itself in a manner that will result in the lowest Unwind Costs. Investors should
be aware that, if Unwind Costs are greater than the applicable Recovery Amount, the Redemption
Amount will be zero.

No Guarantee of Performance

The Credit Linked Notes constitute direct, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer
that are linked to the credit risk of each Reference Entity and/or Reference Obligation specified
in the relevant Final Terms. No Programme Party guarantees the performance of or otherwise
stands behind the performance of any Reference Entity or Reference Obligation or is under any
obligation to make good losses suffered as a result of Credit Events.

Provision of Information

The Programme Parties may at the date hereof or at any time hereafter be in possession of
information in relation to any Reference Entity, any Affiliate of a Reference Entity, any Reference
Obligation or any guarantor that is or may be material in the context of an issue of Notes and may
or may not be publicly available to Noteholders. There is no obligation on any of the Programme
Parties to disclose to Noteholders any such information, except for the Issuer’s obligations to
disclose inside information, regulated information and significant new factors in relation to the
information contained in this Base Prospectus under any applicable regulatory requirements.

No Representations

None of the Programme Parties makes any representation, express or implied, as to any Reference
Entity or any Reference Obligation or the credit quality thereof, or any information contained in
any documents provided by any Reference Entity or filed by a Reference Entity with any
exchange or with any governmental authority.
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Calculation Agent

All calculations and determinations made by the Calculation Agent in relation to the Credit
Linked Notes are final and binding on the Issuer, the Agent, the Paying Agents, any agents
appointed under the Agency Agreement and the Noteholders.

In selecting any Valuation Obligations or in making any other selection in accordance with the
Credit Linked Conditions, the Calculation Agent is not under any obligation to the Noteholders
or any other person and, provided that such selection meets the criteria specified, the relevant
Calculation Agent will not be liable (in any capacity whatsoever) to account to the Noteholders
or any other person for any profit or other benefit to it which may result directly or indirectly
from any such selection.

Correlation between Credit Risk of the Reference Entity and Credit Events

Generally, there may be a correlation between the credit risk of a Reference Entity and the
occurrence of a Credit Event in respect of such Reference Entity. Market perception may also
affect the value of the Notes, particularly in the case of Index Tranche Credit Linked Notes.

Correlation Risks in the case of more than one Reference Entity

The market price of Notes linked to more than one Reference Entity may be adversely affected
by the correlation between Reference Entities. A positive correlation indicates that the probability
of the occurrence of Credit Events of two Reference Entities tend to move in the same direction
which could have the potential to increase losses accruing to Noteholders in the event that such
a Credit Event occurs. A negative correlation indicates that the Credit Event probability moves in
the opposite direction. The degree of correlation can also change over time. Depending on the
structure of the Notes, a change in correlation can therefore have a positive or negative effect on
the market value of the Notes.

Correlation Risks between the Issuer and the Reference Entity(ies)

In addition to credit risk of the Reference Entity or Entities identified in the relevant Final Terms,
investors are also exposed to the credit risk of the Issuer. In certain circumstances, such as times
of general market stress, there may be a correlation between the credit risk of the Reference Entity
or Entities and the Credit Risk of the Issuer, meaning that overall risk for the investor will be
increased.

General risk factors

Each of the risks described under these “General risk factors” could adversely affect the trading
price of the Credit Linked Notes or the rights of Noteholders under the Credit Linked Notes and,
as a result, investors could lose some or all of their investment. The Issuer may be unable to pay
or deliver amounts on or in connection with the Credit Linked Notes for other reasons and the
Issuer does not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding the Credit
Linked Notes are exhaustive. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set
out elsewhere in the relevant Final Terms (including any documents deemed to be incorporated
by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

Each prospective investor in the Credit Linked Notes must determine the suitability of an
investment in the Credit Linked Notes in light of its own circumstances. In particular, but without
limitation, each prospective investor should:
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(@  have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Credit
Linked Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the Credit Linked Notes and the
information contained or incorporated by reference in the Offering Circular;

(b)  have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context
of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Credit Linked Notes, the risks in
connection with an investment in the Credit Linked Notes and the impact the Credit
Linked Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(c) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in
the Credit Linked Notes, including Credit Linked Notes with principal or interest payable
in one or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is
different from the prospective investor’s currency;

(d)  understand thoroughly the terms of the Credit Linked Notes and be familiar with common
market terms, market-standard methodologies and the behaviour of any relevant Credit
Linked Notes, assets and/or financial markets; and

(e)  be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios
for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability
to bear the applicable risks.

The Credit Linked Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors
generally do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They
purchase complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an
understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A prospective
investor should not invest in Credit Linked Notes unless it is financially sophisticated and has the
requisite specialist expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Credit
Linked Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the
Credit Linked Notes and the impact this investment will have on the prospective investor’s overall
investment portfolio.

The original issue price of the Credit Linked Notes may include amounts in respect of certain
commissions paid with respect to the distribution of the Credit Linked Notes together with certain
costs (borne by the Issuer) of hedging the Credit Linked Notes. The price at which the Issuer may
be willing to purchase the Credit Linked Notes in the secondary market, all other factors being
equal, is likely to be less than the original issue price, since the original issue price included, and
secondary market prices are likely to exclude, those commissions and the projected profit
included in such hedging costs. Any such secondary market prices may differ from values
determined by pricing models used by the Issuer.

Several factors may influence the value of the Credit Linked Notes (and, if such value is adversely
affected, investors could lose some or all of their investment). These factors include:

. the actual or perceived creditworthiness and credit ratings of each Reference Entity and
any guarantors or other supporters of its relevant obligations;

. the degree of correlation between the creditworthiness of a Reference Entity and that of
each other Reference Entity and the Issuer (as discussed above in “Correlation Risks in
the case of more than one Reference Entity” and “Correlation Risks between the Issuer
and the Reference Entity(ies)”);

. expected rates of recovery on obligations of the Reference Entity;
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. actions of a Reference Entity and its principal creditors;

. the nature of each Reference Entity’s outstanding indebtedness, including its maturity and
subordination structure and any guarantees or other support that the Reference Entity has
provided to other entities;

. the Credit Events specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms with respect to a
Reference Entity that may trigger early redemption of the Credit Linked Notes;

. Issuer optionality, such as the ability to select the obligations of a Reference Entity that
will be delivered or valued or to decide whether or not to trigger settlement;

. correlation among the credit spreads and/or default probabilities of the components of a
basket or index, if applicable;

. market liquidity for a particular type of Credit Linked Notes;

. interest rates payable under the Credit Linked Notes;
. the time remaining to the maturity of the Credit Linked Notes; and
. economic, financial, political and regulatory or judicial events or conditions that affect

any Reference Entity or its outstanding obligations, or the market for Credit Linked Notes
generally or related financial markets, including credit spreads in the market, market
liquidity or Credit Transactions relative to the liquidity of related cash instruments or
related credit derivatives, and liquidity for secondary assignments of credit derivatives
generally.

The Credit Linked Notes constitute unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and
will rank pari passu without any preference among themselves and equally with all other
unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer from time to time outstanding (other than
obligations preferred by mandatory operation of law).

A prospective investor may not rely on the Issuer in connection with its determination as to the
legality, advisability or suitability of its acquisition of the Credit Linked Notes or as to the other
matters referred to above.

Neither the Issuer nor any of its employees, directors or other connected persons has any duty,
obligation or responsibility towards a Noteholder unless otherwise agreed in writing with that
Noteholder. In particular, without limiting the foregoing, the Issuer need not provide information
to, act on the instruction or request of, find alternative mechanisms for realising money for, or
take into account the views of, any Noteholder. In taking action against third parties, the Issuer
may combine holdings of debt, Credit Linked Notes or other interests as they shall see fit and
apply proceeds thereof, as they shall see fit. The Issuer may only waive contractual obligations
in respect of the Credit Linked Notes in writing.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Conditions, certain notices under the Credit
Linked Conditions are required to be delivered to the Agent and the Agent must deliver a copy to
the Noteholders and other notices which are required to be delivered to the Noteholders under
the Credit Linked Conditions must, in the first instance be delivered by the Issuer to the Agent.
In both cases, notices are deemed to be effective from the date and time of delivery to the Agent,
regardless of whether the Noteholders have received, or have any ability to receive, such notice
at such time.
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The Issuer has not assumed and does not assume any responsibility for the lawfulness of the
acquisition of the Credit Linked Notes by a prospective investor of the Credit Linked Notes,
whether under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or the jurisdiction in which it
operates (if different), or for compliance by that prospective investor with any law, regulation or
regulatory policy applicable to it. Prospective investors should consult with their own legal
advisors in determining whether, and to what extent (a) the Credit Linked Notes will constitute
legal investments for them and the consequences of such an investment, (b) Credit Linked Notes
can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (c) other restrictions apply to its
purchase or pledge of any Credit Linked Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal
advisors or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Credit Linked
Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

There can be no assurance that a secondary market for any of the Credit Linked Notes will
develop, or, if a secondary market does develop, that it will provide the holders of the Credit
Linked Notes with liquidity or that it will continue for the life of the Credit Linked Notes.

The market liquidity of referencing indices may vary significantly between the current series of
the index and prior series. The market liquidity of Credit Linked Notes based on bespoke
portfolios of Reference Entities will generally be less than that of Credit Linked Notes based on
standardized indices.

A decrease in the liquidity of an issue of Credit Linked Notes may cause, in turn, an increase in
the volatility associated with the price of such issue of Credit Linked Notes. Illiquidity may have
a severely adverse effect on the market value of Credit Linked Notes. Any prospective investor
in the Credit Linked Notes must be prepared to hold such Credit Linked Notes until redemption
or expiry of the Credit Linked Notes. The Issuer may, but is not obliged to, purchase Credit
Linked Notes at any time at any price in the open market or by tender or private treaty and may
hold, resell or cancel them. The market for Credit Linked Notes may be limited.

In making calculations and determinations with regard to the Credit Linked Notes, there may be
a difference of interest between the Noteholders and the Issuer. The Issuer is required to act in a
commercially reasonable manner but does not have any obligations of agency or trust for any
Noteholder and has no fiduciary obligations towards them. In particular the Issuer may have
interests in other capacities (such as other business relationships and activities).

If the amount payable on redemption, exercise or expiry of the Credit Linked Notes is less than
their issue price, investors may lose all or part of their investment.

In certain circumstances the Issuer may make adjustments to the terms of the Credit Linked Notes
or redeem or cancel them at their fair market value as determined by it without the consent of the
Noteholders.

The level and basis of taxation on the Credit Linked Notes and on the investors and any reliefs
from such taxation depend on the investor’s individual circumstances and could change at any
time. The tax and regulatory characterisation of the Credit Linked Notes may change over the life
of the Credit Linked Notes. This could have adverse consequences for investors. Prospective
investors will therefore need to consult their own tax advisers to determine the specific tax
consequences of the purchase, ownership, transfer and redemption or enforcement of the Credit
Linked Notes.
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The Issuer makes no representation as to the present or future value of the Credit Linked Notes.
The market value can be expected to fluctuate significantly and investors should be prepared to
assume the market risks associated with these Credit Linked Notes.

The obligations of the Issuer to make any payments under the Credit Linked Notes are subject to
the risk of default of the Issuer. The value of the Credit Linked Notes is dependent on the
creditworthiness of the Issuer, which may vary over the term of the Credit Linked Notes.

If investors are required to sell the Credit Linked Notes prior to maturity, investors could receive
significantly less than their initial investment.

No person has been authorised by the Issuer to give any information or advice or to make any
representation in connection with the issue or sale of the Credit Linked Notes and, if given or
made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by
the Issuer.

The distribution of any Final Terms and the offering or sale of the Credit Linked Notes in certain
jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession any Final Terms come are
required by the Issuer to observe any such restriction. Any Final Terms are not intended as an
offer or solicitation for the purchase or sale of any financial instrument in any jurisdiction where
such offer or solicitation would violate the laws of such jurisdiction.

Any Final Terms are not, nor purport to be or contain, investment advice. None of the Issuer, the
Calculation Agent or any other Agent (including any directors, officers or employees thereof) is
acting as an investment adviser or providing, or undertaking to provide, advice of any other
nature, or assumes any fiduciary obligation, to any prospective investor in Credit Linked Notes,
or accepts any such responsibility or duty to any third party into whose possession any relevant
Final Terms or other information in connection with the Credit Linked Notes comes.

Neither the Issuer nor the Calculation Agent has given to any prospective investor in Credit
Linked Notes (either directly or indirectly) any assurance or guarantee as to the merits,
performance or suitability of such Credit Linked Notes and no such assurance or guarantee will
be given. Neither the Issuer nor the Calculation Agent assumes any obligation or liability
whatsoever to such investor in such regard and the prospective investor should be aware that
Issuer is acting as an arm’s-length contractual counterparty and not as an adviser or fiduciary.

6  Additional risks associated with Reference Item Linked Notes

6.1

6.2

Specific hedging risks relating to Reference Item Linked Notes

Prospective purchasers intending to purchase Notes to hedge against the market risk associated with
investing in the Reference Item(s) relating thereto, should recognise the complexities of utilising Notes
in this manner. For example, the value of the Notes may not exactly correlate with the value of the
relevant Reference Item(s). Due to fluctuating supply and demand for the Notes, there is no assurance
that their value will correlate with movements of the relevant Reference Item(s). For these reasons,
among others, it may not be possible to purchase or liquidate Notes in a portfolio at the prices used to
calculate the value of any relevant Reference Item(s).

Emerging market

Where the Notes relate to Reference Items which involve emerging market countries, investors should
note that the risk of the occurrence and the severity of the consequences of the matters described herein
may be greater than they would otherwise be in relation to more developed countries.
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Notes that are linked to Reference Items involving an emerging market should be considered speculative.
Economies in emerging markets generally are heavily dependent upon international trade and,
accordingly, may be affected adversely by trade barriers, foreign exchange controls (including taxes),
managed adjustments in relative currency values and other protectionist measures imposed or negotiated
by the countries with which they trade. These economies also may be affected adversely by their
economic, financial, military and political conditions and the supply and demand for such currency in
the global markets.

7  Risks associated with particular structured interest pay-outs

7.1

Evolution Interest Pay-outs

Reference Item Linked Notes that bear interest by reference to the change in value of the relevant
Reference Item over a specified observation period have similar characteristics and give rise to certain
common risks. Whilst the risks connected with the particular Reference Item will differ (see the relevant
section of risk factor 5 in this respect), investors in the following types Notes should consider the further
risks highlighted below: (i) Index Linked Interest Notes for which the Interest Variable Option is
specified to be Evolution of Index, (ii) Equity Linked Interest Notes for which the Interest Variable
Option is specified to be Evolution of Underlying Equity or Evolution of Basket of Underlying Equities,
(iii) Inflation Linked Interest Notes for which the Interest Variable Option is specified to be Evolution
of Inflation and (iv) Currency Linked Interest Notes for which the Interest Variable Option is specified
to be Evolution of Currency.

Each Interest Amount payable on Inflation Linked Notes is determined by reference to how (i) the value
of the specified Reference Item determined for the relevant interest period (the “Latest Value”) has
increased or decreased from (ii) the product of the Scaling Factor (see risk factor 8.5) and the value for
the immediately preceding interest period (or, for the first variable rate, the initial value) (the “Previous
Value” and, after application of the Scaling Factor, the “Evolution Hurdle Value”). Such increase or
decrease in value is expressed as a percentage of the Previous Value (the “Evolution”), following which
the Margin (if any) is added or subtracted and the result is multiplied by the applicable Interest Multiplier
(see risk factor 8.3).

Each Interest Amount payable on Equity Linked Interest Notes or Index Linked Interest Notes is
determined by reference to how (i) the average of the values of the specified Reference Item determined
for the relevant interest period (the “Latest Value”) has increased or decreased from (ii) the product of
the Scaling Factor (see risk factor 8.5) and the average of the values of the Reference Item for the
immediately preceding interest period (or, for the first variable rate, the initial value) (the “Previous
Value” and, after application of the Scaling Factor, the “Evolution Hurdle Value™). Such increase or
decrease in value is expressed as a percentage of the Previous Value (the “Evolution”), following which
the Margin (if any) is added or subtracted and the result is multiplied by the applicable Interest Multiplier
(see risk factor 8.3).

Currency Linked Interest Notes differ as a result of the basis on which currency exchange rates are
published, such that Latest Value and Previous Value are reversed (the Previous Value is compared with
the product of (i) the Scaling Factor (see risk factor 8.5) and (ii) the Latest Value (such product being
the “Evolution Hurdle Value” for the purposes of Currency Linked Interest Notes). Otherwise, the pay-
out operates identically.

Where the Interest Multiplier is positive, if such Latest Value (or, in respect of Currency Linked Interest
Notes, the Previous Value) does not exceed the relevant Evolution Hurdle Value, no Interest Amount
will be payable in respect of such Interest Period unless the shortfall when presented as a percentage
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against the Previous Value (or, in respect of Currency Linked Interest Notes, the Latest Value) is less
than any positive Margin applicable to the Notes. Even if the Latest Value (or, in respect of Currency
Linked Interest Notes, the Previous Value) does exceed the relevant Evolution Hurdle Value, such excess
when presented as a percentage against the Previous Value (or, in respect of Currency Linked Interest
Notes, the Latest Value) must be greater than any negative Margin for an Interest Amount to be payable.

Conversely, where the Interest Multiplier is negative, if such Latest Value (or, in respect of Currency
Linked Interest Notes, the Previous Value) exceeds the relevant Evolution Hurdle Value, no Interest
Amount will be payable in respect of such Interest Period unless the excess when presented as a
percentage against the Previous Value (or, in respect of Currency Linked Interest Notes, the Latest Value)
is greater than any negative Margin applicable to the Notes. Even if the Latest Value (or, in respect of
Currency Linked Interest Notes, the Previous Value) does not exceed the relevant Evolution Hurdle
Value, the value of such shortfall when presented as a percentage against the Previous Value (or, in
respect of Currency Linked Interest Notes, the Latest Value) must be greater than any positive Margin
for an Interest Amount to be payable.

Subject to the relevant Interest Multiplier, Margin and Reference Item to which such Notes are linked,
the performance of the relevant Reference Item shall affect the amount of interest, if any, payable to
Noteholders.

Asian Option Pay-outs

Reference Item Linked Notes that bear interest by reference to the average value of the relevant
Reference Item over a number (n) of specified observation dates in respect of an Interest Period have
similar characteristics and give rise to certain common risks. Whilst the risks connected with the
particular Reference Item will differ (see the relevant section of risk factor 5 in this respect), investors
in the following types Notes should consider the risks highlighted below: (i) Floating Rate Notes for
which the Interest Variable Option is specified to be Asian Option — Interest Rates, (ii) Index Linked
Interest Notes for which the Interest Variable Option is specified to be Asian Option — Index, (iii) Equity
Linked Interest Notes for which the Interest Variable Option is specified to be Asian Option — Underlying
Equity / Basket of Underlying Equities, (iv) Inflation Linked Interest Notes for which the Interest
Variable Option is specified to be Asian Option — Inflation and (v) Currency Linked Interest Notes for
which the Interest Variable Option is specified to be Asian Option — Currency.

Each Interest Amount payable on such Notes is determined by reference to how (i) the average of the
values of the specified Reference Item that could be determined for each of the “n” observation dates
relating to the relevant interest period (the result, after application of any of the potential adjustments
below, the “Latest Average Value™) has increased or decreased from (ii) the product of the Scaling
Factor (see risk factor 8.5) and the average of the values of the Reference Item determined for the initially
specified observation dates (the “Initial Value” and, after application of the Scaling Factor, the “Asian
Hurdle Value”). Such increase or decrease in average value is expressed as a percentage of the Initial
Value (the “Asian Performance”), following which the Margin (if any) is added or subtracted and the
result is multiplied by the applicable Interest Multiplier (see risk factor 8.3).

Currency Linked Interest Notes differ as a result of the basis on which currency exchange rates are
published, such that the Latest Average Value and Initial Value are reversed (the Initial Value being
compared with the product of (i) the Scaling Factor (see risk factor 8.5) and (ii) the Latest Average Value
(such product being the “Asian Hurdle Value” for the purposes of Currency Linked Interest Notes)).
Otherwise, the pay-out operates identically.

Floating Rate Notes also differ when applying an Asian Option Interest Variable Option, such that the
Interest Amount is solely based on the Latest Average Value, plus or minus the Margin (if any), with the
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result being multiplied by the applicable Interest Multiplier (see risk factor 8.3). This is because Rates
Variance (see risk factor 4.3.2) covers the relative change in interest rates over a specified observation
period.

Where the Interest Multiplier is positive (excluding Floating Rate Notes for this purpose), if such Latest
Average Value (or, in respect of Currency Linked Interest Notes, the Initial Value) does not exceed the
relevant Asian Hurdle Value, no Interest Amount will be payable in respect of such Interest Period unless
the shortfall when presented as a percentage against the Initial Value (or, in respect of Currency Linked
Interest Notes, the Latest Average Value) is less than any positive Margin applicable to the Notes. Even
if the Latest Average Value (or, in respect of Currency Linked Interest Notes, the Initial Value) does
exceed the relevant Asian Hurdle Value, such excess when presented as a percentage against the Initial
Value (or, in respect of Currency Linked Interest Notes, the Latest Average Value) must be greater than
any negative Margin for an Interest Amount to be payable.

Conversely, where the Interest Multiplier is negative, if such Latest Average Value (or, in respect of
Currency Linked Interest Notes, the Initial Value) exceeds the relevant Asian Hurdle Value, no Interest
Amount will be payable in respect of such Interest Period unless the excess when presented as a
percentage against the Initial Value (or, in respect of Currency Linked Interest Notes, the Latest Average
Value) is greater than any negative Margin applicable to the Notes. Even if the Latest Average Value (or,
in respect of Currency Linked Interest Notes, the Initial Value) does not exceed the relevant Asian Hurdle
Value, the value of such shortfall when presented as a percentage against the Initial Value (or, in respect
of Currency Linked Interest Notes, the Latest Average Value) must be greater than any positive Margin
for an Interest Amount to be payable.

Subject to the relevant Interest Multiplier, Margin and Reference Item to which such Notes are linked,
the performance of the relevant Reference Item shall affect the amount of interest, if any, payable to
Noteholders.

Where the price, level, or rate of the applicable Reference Item is unable to be determined on the relevant
observation date contemplated under the Conditions of the Notes, then the Calculation Agent will apply
different fallback adjustment mechanisms to deal with such disruption event. Such adjustments may
result in that relevant observation date being omitted, postponed or replaced with a different observation
date that is not otherwise used for such Interest Period, in each case depending on what type of Reference
Item the Notes are linked to and what elections are made in the applicable Final Terms. The relevant
adjustment mechanism may reduce the number of averaging dates (n) that are used to determine the
value of the Reference Item, or may result in the same value being used more than once.

If the prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as not applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, adjustments and modifications shall be subject to the conditions set out in Condition 6(b)(v),
Condition 7(b)(v), Condition 8(a)(vi) and Condition 9(b), paragraph 3.

Digital Option Pay-outs

Reference Item Linked Notes with Digital Option pay-outs will bear interest that depends on whether
the relevant Digital Option Payment Condition is satisfied for the relevant Interest Period. Whilst the
risks connected with the particular Reference Item will differ (see the relevant section of risk factor 5 in
this respect), investors in the following types Notes should consider the risks highlighted below: Floating
Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest Notes, Inflation Linked Interest Notes
and Currency Linked Interest Notes, in each case for which the Interest Variable Option is specified to
be Digital Option.
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If the Digital Option Variable, when compared to the product of (i) the Digital Option Strike and the (ii)
Scaling Factor, satisfies the parameters of the relevant Digital Option Payment Condition, then the Notes
may bear interest at a fixed rate or at a floating rate based on a Screen Rate Determination, which floating
rate may be subject to an Interest Multiplier and a Margin (each of which may independently be positive
or negative). It is also possible that a minimum and maximum rate of interest is applied, such that the
rate can not be below or exceed such collar boundaries. If the Digital Option Payment Condition is not
satisfied, then either a fallback rate of interest based on similar methodologies may be applicable or no
interest shall apply. Consequently, depending on the particular terms of such Notes, investors should
also consider in particular risk factors 4.2, 4.3, 8.3, 8.4 and 8.5.

The Digital Option Variable will be a value of the relevant Reference Item that is determined for each
Interest Period. The corresponding Digital Option Strike may either be (i) a specified level, price or rate
or (ii) a value of the relevant Reference Item determined on a different basis to the Digital Option
Variable.

Small movements in the Digital Option Variable may have very large effects on the value of the Notes
and the Interest Amounts to be paid. The market value of Digital Option Notes is typically more volatile
than market value of other conventional Floating Rate or Reference Item Linked Notes or other
equivalent interest bearing Notes linked to the same interest variables and prospective investors in such
Notes should note that, in certain circumstances, they may not receive any interest.

Single Fixing — Index and Asian Fixing - Index

Index Linked Interest Notes with an Interest Variable Option specified as Single Fixing — Index or Asian
Fixing — Index will bear interest depending on the value or average value of the relevant Index that is
determined for a particular Interest Period.

If the Interest Multiplier is positive and such value or average value, when divided by the specified
Denominator, is less than any negative Margin, no Interest Amount will be payable. If the Interest
Multiplier is negative and such value or average value, when divided by the specified Denominator, is
greater than any negative Margin, no Interest Amount will be payable.

Subject to the relevant Interest Multiplier, Margin and Denominator, the performance of the relevant
Index shall affect the amount of interest, if any, payable to Noteholders.

8  Further risks related to particular features that may apply to an issue of Notes

A wide range of additional features may apply to Notes issued under the Programme. A number of these
features give rise to particular risks for potential investors.

8.1

8.2

Notes with more than one Interest Basis

Notes may bear interest on different Interest Bases. In such case, investors should carefully review the
applicable Conditions and the risk factors for each specified Interest Basis together.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium from their nominal amount tend
to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-
bearing Notes. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the Notes, the greater the price volatility as
compared to conventional interest-bearing Notes with comparable maturities.
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Notes with Multipliers

Notes with variable interest rates and redemption payments can be volatile investments. Where any one
or more of an Interest Multiplier, Autocall Multiplier, Index Redemption Multiplier, Equity Redemption
Multiplier or Currency Redemption Multiplier (each, a “Multiplier”) applies to the Notes, their market
value may be even more volatile than for Notes that do not include such feature(s).

The Multiplier will determine the level of exposure of the investor to the Reference Item and will be
specified as a percentage. A Multiplier (other than an Autocall Multiplier) may be a positive or a negative
number.

If the Multiplier is lower than 100 per cent., it may reduce the effects of the gains and losses on the
Reference Item. If the Reference Item is performing well, Noteholders will not benefit from the positive
performance of the underlying Reference Item to the fullest extent.

If the Multiplier is higher than 100 per cent., the exposure of the Noteholders to the effects of the losses
and gains on the Reference Item will be increased. If the Reference Item is not performing well, investors
may receive a lower Interest Amount, Redemption Amount or Autocall Redemption Amount.

If a Multiplier is specified as a negative percentage, investors will generally benefit from under-
performance of the relevant Reference Item, subject to the application of a Scaling Factor and/or Margin.

Notes where a Minimum and/or Maximum Rate of Interest applies

Notes where a Minimum and/or Maximum Rate of Interest applies, will be less exposed to the positive
and negative performance or fluctuations of the Reference Item.

Notes where a Minimum Rate of Interest or a Floor Rate or Floor % applies to a particular Interest Basis,
have an interest rate that is subject to a minimum specified rate. The minimum Interest Amount payable
in respect of such Interest Basis will occur when the applicable formula leads to a Rate of Interest which
is lower than the minimum specified rate, in which case the Rate of Interest will be limited to the
Minimum Rate of Interest specified in the Final Terms.

Investors in such Notes will therefore not be subject to any decreases in the relevant Reference Rate or
value of the Reference Item which would otherwise have led to an interest rate below the minimum
specified rate. The investor will be protected, to the extent of the applicable Minimum Rate of Interest,
from the negative performance of the Reference Item or the decreasing Reference Rate.

Notes where a Maximum Rate of Interest or Cap Rate or Cap % applies to a particular Interest Basis,
have an interest rate that is subject to a maximum specified rate. The maximum Interest Amount payable
in respect of such Interest Basis will occur when the applicable formula leads to a Rate of Interest which
is higher than the maximum specified rate, in which case the Rate of Interest will be limited to the
Maximum Rate of Interest specified in the Final Terms. Investors in such Notes will therefore not benefit
from any increase in the relevant Reference Rate or value of the Reference Item which would otherwise
cause such interest rate to exceed the maximum specified rate. The market value of these Notes would
therefore typically fall the closer the maximum specified rate.

Scaling factor

A Scaling Factor other than 100 per cent. will change both the extent to which the Reference Item’s
performance must vary in order to create a payment for the Noteholders, and the quantum of such
payment. Depending on the other variables applicable to the Notes, in particular whether there is a
negative Interest Multiplier, a Scaling Factor may or may not be detrimental to Noteholders” interests.

87



8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

Risk Factors

If any Interest Amount or Redemption Amount is based on the positive performance (requiring an
increase in value) of the Reference Item during the relevant Interest Period or the term of the Notes, the
application of a Scaling Factor of less than 100 per cent. to the initial value of such Reference Item will
increase both the likelihood of such payment becoming due, and its ultimate quantum. Conversely, if
such a Scaling Factor were greater than 100 per cent., then the Reference Item will have to perform to a
greater extent to ensure that it exceeds the initial value multiplied by the Scaling Factor.

Generally, if a Reference Item is applied to Notes in conjunction with a Multiplier greater than 100 per
cent. or contains some other leverage factor, such as the Scaling Factor, the effect of changes in the
Reference Item on the principal or Interest Amount payable is likely to be magnified.

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

An optional redemption feature permitting the Issuer to call the Notes early is likely to limit the market
value of Notes. If the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will
not rise substantially above the Optional Redemption Amount at which they would be redeemed.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem all the Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest
rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption
proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may
only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk
in light of other investments available at that time.

Cessation of Reference Rate

If the Reference Rate required to make calculations on the Notes has ceased to be calculated and/or
published and the Calculation Agent determines no successor or replacement rate to have been
established, the Issuer may redeem the Notes at their Early Redemption Amount together (if appropriate)
with accrued interest. At such time, Noteholders may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at
an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able
to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of
other investments available at that time.

Additional Disruption Events

The Issuer may specify in the Final Terms any of the following Additional Disruption Events: “Change
in Law”, “Hedging Disruption”, “Increased Cost of Hedging”, “Increased Cost of Stock Borrow”
(applicable only for Equity Linked Notes and Index Linked Notes), “Insolvency Filing” (applicable only
for Equity Linked Notes) and/or “Loss of Stock Borrow” (applicable only for Equity Linked Notes and
Index Linked Notes) as Additional Disruption Event.

In case such specified Disruption Event occurs, the Issuer may in its sole discretion (a) require the
Calculation Agent to determine the appropriate adjustment to the Conditions and/or the applicable Final
Terms to account for the Additional Disruption Event and determine the effective date of that adjustment;
or (b) redeem all Notes at the Early Redemption Amount.

If the prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as not applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, adjustments and modifications shall be subject to the conditions set out in Condition 11(a),
paragraph 3.

Alternative Currency Provisions

If the applicable Final Terms specify that “Alternative Currency Provisions” are applicable, then if the
Issuer in agreement with the Calculation Agent determines that it would be commercially impracticable
for the Issuer to satisfy any payment obligation in respect of the Notes when due in the Scheduled
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Currency as a result of a Specified Currency Disruption Event, the Issuer in its sole and absolute
discretion may either (i) postpone the obligation to pay, (ii) replace the payment obligation by an
obligation to make payment of the Alternative Currency Equivalent or (iii) redeem all but not part of the
Notes.

Investors should note that in case the obligation to pay is being postponed, the relevant payment will be
due on the date so postponed (within the Maximum Alternative Currency Number Business Days),
investors shall receive no Interest Amounts or other sums payable in respect of the postponement of the
payment of such amount.

Investors should note that the Calculation Agent shall determine any alternative rate or currency in a
commercially reasonable manner. There is risk that the amounts to be paid to investors will therefore be
determined in a manner other than what investors may have expected.

In making any determination in respect of any Specified Currency Disruption Event, neither the Issuer
nor the Calculation Agent shall have regard to any interests arising from circumstances particular to any
one or more Noteholders (whatever their number), and, in particular, but without limitation, shall not
have regard to the consequences of any such determination for any one or more Noteholders (whatever
their number), resulting from their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise
connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory or any political sub-division
thereof.

No Noteholder shall be entitled to claim, from the Issuer or the Calculation Agent or any other person,
any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequences or other losses of any such
determination upon individual any Noteholders.

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given,
expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of Condition 11 by the Issuer or the Calculation Agent will
(in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Agents and all
Noteholders.

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks, including the impact of fees, liquidity risk,
exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and credit risk:

9.1

9.2

Impact of fees, commissions and/or inducements on the Issue Price and/or offer price

Investors should note that the issue price and/or offer price of any issue of Notes may include
subscription fees, placement fees, direction fees, structuring fees and/or other additional costs. Any such
fees and/or other commissions and inducements will be disclosed to investors in the applicable Final
Terms. Any such fees may not be taken into account for the purposes of determining the price of such
Notes on the secondary market and could result in a difference between the original issue price and/or
offer price, the theoretical value of such Notes, and/or the actual bid/offer price quoted by any
intermediary in the secondary market.

Any such difference may have an adverse effect on the value of Notes, particularly immediately
following the offer and the issue date relating to such Notes, where any such fees and/or costs may be
deducted from the price at which such Notes can be sold by the initial investor in the secondary market.

The secondary market generally

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market
does develop, it may not be liquid and an investor may not be able to find a timely and/or suitable
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counterpart. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide
them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market or at prices
higher than the relevant investor’s initial investment. Investors seeking to liquidate/sell positions in the
Notes prior to the stated maturity date may receive substantially less than their original purchase price.
Therefore, in establishing their investment strategy, investors should ensure that the term of the Notes is
in line with their future liquidity requirements. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially
sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or
strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors.
These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility
than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of
Notes. The liquidity of Notes is also influenced by whether or not the relevant Notes are exclusively
offered to retail investors without any offer to institutional investors. To the extent that an issue of Notes
is or becomes illiquid, investors may have to hold the relevant Notes until maturity before they are able
to realise value.

The Issuer may, but is not obliged to, list an issue of Notes on a stock exchange or regulated market. If
Notes are not listed or traded on any stock exchange or regulated market, pricing information for the
relevant Notes may be more difficult to obtain and the liquidity of such Notes may be adversely affected,
and therefore the price of the Notes could be affected by their limited liquidity.

If Notes are not listed or traded on a stock exchange or regulated market, they may be traded on trading
systems governed by the laws and regulations in force from time to time (e.g. multilateral trading systems
or “MTF”) or in other trading systems (e.g. bilateral systems, or equivalent trading systems). In the
event that trading in such Notes takes place outside any such stock exchange, regulated market or trading
systems, the manner in which the price of such Notes is determined may be less transparent and the
liquidity of such Notes may be adversely affected. Investors should note that the Issuer does not grant
any warranty to Noteholders as to the methodologies used to determine the price of Notes which are
traded outside a trading system, however, where the Issuer or any of its Affiliates determines the price
of such Notes, it will take into account the market parameters applicable at such time in accordance with
applicable provisions of law. Even if Notes are listed and/or admitted to trading, this will not necessarily
result in greater liquidity.

Each of the Issuer, the Guarantor and any Dealer may, but is not obliged to, at any time purchase Notes
at any price in the open market or by tender or private agreement. Any Notes so purchased may be held
or resold or surrendered for cancellation. If any Notes are redeemed in part, then the number of Notes
outstanding will decrease, which will reduce liquidity for the outstanding Notes. Any such activities may
have an adverse effect on the price of the relevant Notes in the secondary market and/or the existence of
a secondary market.

Any Dealer or any of its Affiliates may, but is not obliged to, be a market maker, liquidity provider,
specialist or bid intermediary, for an issue of Notes. Even if a Dealer is a market-maker, liquidity
provider, specialist or bid intermediary for an issue of Notes, the secondary market for such Notes may
be limited and there is no assurance given as to the price offered by a market-maker, liquidity provider,
specialist or bid intermediary or the impact of any such quoted prices on those available in the wider
market and any such activities may be affected by legal restrictions in certain jurisdictions.

The appointment of an entity acting as a market maker, liquidity provider, specialist or bid intermediary
with respect to the Notes, may, under certain circumstances, have a relevant impact on the price of the
Notes in the secondary market.
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There may be less liquidity in the secondary market for the Notes also if they are exclusively offered to
retail investors without any offer to institutional investors.

If it is possible to sell Notes, they would be sold for the prevailing bid price in the market and may be
subject to a transaction fee. The prevailing bid price may be affected by several factors including the
performance of any relevant Reference Item, prevailing interest rates at the time of sale, the time
remaining to the stated maturity date, the creditworthiness of the Issuer and factors affecting the capital
markets generally. The introduction of additional or competing products in the market may also have a
negative effect on the price of any Notes. It is therefore possible that an investor selling Notes in the
secondary market may receive substantially less than their original purchase price.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The Issuer will pay principal and any Interest Amounts on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This
presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor’s financial activities are
denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the “Investor’s Currency”) other than the
Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including
changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the
risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s Currency may impose or modify exchange
controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor’s Currency relative to the Specified Currency would
decrease (1) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor’s Currency
equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor’s Currency equivalent market
value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls
that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the Issuer or the Guarantor to
make payment in respect of the Notes. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than
expected, or no interest or principal.

Where the Notes are denominated in a Specified Currency from an emerging or volatile market, investors
should note that the risk of the occurrence and the severity of the consequences of the matters described
herein may be greater than they would otherwise be in relation to more developed countries. Such Notes
should be considered speculative. Economies in emerging or volatile markets generally are heavily
dependent upon international trade and, accordingly, may be affected adversely by trade barriers, foreign
exchange controls (including taxes), managed adjustments in relative currency values and other
protectionist measures imposed or negotiated by the countries with which they trade. These economies
also may be affected adversely by their economic, financial, military and political conditions and the
supply and demand for such currency in the global markets. These factors will also impact the market
value of the Notes (see risk factor 9.4).

Market Value of Notes

The market value of an issue of Notes will be affected by a number of factors independent of the
creditworthiness of the Issuer, including, but not limited to:

(i) the value and volatility of the Reference Item(s);

(i) where the Reference Item(s) is/are equity securities, the dividend rate on the Reference Item(s)
and the financial results and prospects of the issuer of each Reference Item;

(iii)  market interest and yield rates;

(iv)  fluctuations in exchange rates;
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(v)  liquidity of the Notes or any Reference Item(s) in the secondary market;
(vi)  the time remaining to any redemption date or the maturity date; and

(vii) economic, financial and political events in one or more jurisdictions, including factors affecting
capital markets generally and the stock exchange(s) on which any Reference Item may be traded.

The price at which a Noteholder will be able to sell any Notes prior to maturity may be at a discount,
which could be substantial, to the market value of such Notes on the issue date, if, at such time, the
market price of the Reference Item(s) is below, equal to or not sufficiently above the market price of the
Reference Item(s) on the issue date. The historical market prices of any Reference Item should not be
taken as an indication of such Reference Item’s future performance during the term of any Note.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The ratings may
not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above,
and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy;,
sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under the CRA Regulation (as defined on the
cover page of this Base Prospectus) from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such ratings
are issued by a credit rating agency established in the EU and registered under the CRA Regulation (and
such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended), subject to transitional provisions that apply in
certain circumstances whilst the registration application is pending. Such general restriction will also
apply in the case of credit ratings issued by non-EU credit rating agencies, unless the relevant credit
ratings are endorsed by an EU-registered credit rating agency or the relevant non-EU rating agency is
certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as the
case may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended). The list of registered and certified rating agencies
published by the European Notes and Markets Authority (“ESMA”) on its website
(http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-CRAs) in accordance with the CRA
Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the status of the relevant rating agency included in such list, as
there may be delays between certain supervisory measures being taken against a relevant rating agency
and the publication of the updated ESMA list. Certain information with respect to the credit rating
agencies and ratings will be disclosed in the applicable Final Terms.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or
review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to
determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as
collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any
Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to determine
the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

Benchmarks

So-called “benchmarks” (for example the Euro Interbank Offered Rate) are the subject of reform
measures by a number of international authorities and other bodies (for example, the “Benchmark
Regulation” (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 in the European Union). Noteholders should be aware of
whether any coupon or redemption amounts payable under the Notes are determined on the basis of a
benchmark and whether such a benchmark is the subject of reform. As a result of such reform measures,
a relevant benchmark may be suspended or discontinued, which could:
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(@)  cause the Notes to be the subject of an early redemption; or

(b)  result in a fallback methodology being applied to determine amounts payable under the Notes,
and such fallback could result in a lower amount being payable to Noteholders than would
otherwise have been the case.

Prospective investors who consider purchasing any Notes should reach an investment decision only
after carefully considering the suitability of such Notes in light of their particular circumstances.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION
This section sets out important information relating to the public offers of Non-Exempt PD Notes
generally.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO PUBLIC OFFERS OF NON-EXEMPT PD
NOTES

Restrictions on Public Offers of Non-Exempt PD Notes in Relevant Member States

Certain Tranches of Non-Exempt PD Notes with a denomination of less than EUR 100,000 (or its equivalent in
any other currency) may, subject as provided below, be offered in any Member State of the European Economic
Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State™) in circumstances
where there is no exemption from the obligation under the Prospectus Directive to publish a prospectus. Any
such offer is referred to in this Base Prospectus as a “Public Offer”.

This Base Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that it permits Public Offers in Belgium and/or
Luxembourg (together, the “Public Offer Jurisdictions” and each, a “Public Offer Jurisdiction”). Any person
making or intending to make a Public Offer of Non-Exempt PD Notes on the basis of this Base Prospectus must
do so only with the Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s consent (see “Consent given in accordance with Article 3.2 of
the Prospectus Directive (Retail Cascades)” below) and the terms of that consent are complied with by the
person (the “Offeror”) making the Public Offer of such Non-Exempt PD Notes.

If the Issuer intends to make or authorise any Public Offer of Non-Exempt PD Notes to be made in one or more
Relevant Member States other than the Public Offer Jurisdictions, it will prepare a supplement to this Base
Prospectus specifying such Relevant Member State(s) and any additional information required by the
Prospectus Directive in respect thereof. Such supplement will also set out provisions relating to the Issuer’s
consent to use this Base Prospectus in connection with any such Public Offer.

Save as provided above, none of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer has authorised, nor do they authorise,
the making of any Public Offer of the Non-Exempt PD Notes in circumstances in which an obligation arises for
the Issuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer.

Consent given in accordance with Article 3.2 of the Prospectus Directive (Retail Cascades)

In the context of any Public Offer of Non-Exempt PD Notes in a Public Offer Jurisdiction, the Issuer and the
Guarantor accept responsibility, in each Public Offer Jurisdiction, for the content of this Base Prospectus under
Article 6 of the Prospectus Directive in relation to any person (an “Investor”) to whom an offer of any Non-
Exempt PD Notes is made by any financial intermediary to whom each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has
given its consent to use the Base Prospectus (an “Authorised Offeror”), where the offer is made in compliance
with all conditions attached to the giving of the consent. Such consent and conditions are described below under
“Consent” and “Common conditions to consent”. None of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer has any
responsibility for any of the actions of any Authorised Offeror, including compliance by an Authorised Offeror
with applicable conduct of business rules or other local regulatory requirements or other securities law
requirements in relation to such Public Offer.

Save as provided below, none of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer has authorised the making of
any Public Offer and the Issuer has not consented to the use of this Base Prospectus by any other person
in connection with any Public Offer of Non-Exempt PD Notes. Any Public Offer made without the consent
of the Issuer is unauthorised and none of the lIssuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer accepts any
responsibility or liability for the actions of the persons making any such unauthorised offer.
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If, in the context of a Public Offer, an Investor is offered Non-Exempt PD Notes by a person which is not an
Authorised Offeror, the Investor should check with such person whether anyone is responsible for this Base
Prospectus in the context of the Public Offer and, if so, who that person is. If the Investor is in any doubt about
whether it can rely on this Base Prospectus and/or who is responsible for its contents it should take legal advice.

Consent

Subject to the conditions set out below under “Common conditions to consent”:

(A)

(B)

M

the Issuer consents to the use of this Base Prospectus (as supplemented as at the relevant time, if
applicable) in connection with a Public Offer of the Non-Exempt PD Notes in a Public Offer Jurisdiction
by the relevant Dealer and by:

(i) any financial intermediary named as an Initial Authorised Offeror in the applicable Final Terms,
and

(i) any financial intermediary appointed after the date of the applicable Final Terms and whose name
is published on the Issuer's website (www.kbc.com) and identified as an Authorised Offeror in
respect of the relevant Public Offer, and

if (and only if) Part B of the applicable Final Terms specifies “General Consent” as “Applicable”, the
Issuer hereby offers to grant its consent to the use of this Base Prospectus (as supplemented as at the
relevant time, if applicable) in connection with a Public Offer of Non-Exempt PD Notes in a Public
Offer Jurisdiction by any financial intermediary which satisfies the following conditions:

() it is authorised to make such offers under the applicable legislation implementing MiFID, and

(i) it accepts such offer by publishing on its website the following statement (with the information
in square brackets completed with the relevant information):

“We, [insert legal name of financial intermediary], refer to the [insert title of relevant Non-
Exempt PD Notes] (the “Notes™) described in the Final Terms dated [insert date] (the “Final
Terms™”) published by KBC IFIMA S.A. (the ““Issuer’”). We hereby accept the offer by the Issuer
of its consent to our use of the Base Prospectus (as defined in the Final Terms) in connection with
the offer of the Notes in [Belgium] [and] [Luxembourg] (the “Public Offer’”) in accordance with
the Authorised Offeror Terms and subject to the conditions to such consent, each as specified in
the Base Prospectus, and we are using the Base Prospectus in connection with the Public Offer
accordingly.”

The “Authorised Offeror Terms” are that the relevant financial intermediary:

will, and it agrees, represents, warrants and undertakes for the benefit of the Issuer, the Guarantor and
the relevant Dealer that it will, at all times in connection with the relevant Public Offer:

(@) act in accordance with, and be solely responsible for complying with, all applicable laws, rules,
regulations and guidance of any applicable regulatory bodies (the “Rules”) including, without
limitation and in each case, Rules relating to both the appropriateness or suitability of any
investment in the Non-Exempt PD Notes by any person and disclosure to any potential Investor,
and will immediately inform the Issuer, the Guarantor, and the relevant Dealer if at any time such
financial intermediary becomes aware or suspects that it is or may be in violation of any Rules
and take all appropriate steps to remedy such violation and comply with such Rules in all respects;

(b)  comply with the restrictions set out under “Subscription and Sale” in this Base Prospectus which
would apply as if it were a Dealer;
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ensure that any fee (and any other commissions or benefits of any kind) received or paid by that
financial intermediary in relation to the offer or sale of the Non-Exempt PD Notes does not violate
the Rules and, to the extent required by the Rules, is fully and clearly disclosed to Investors or
potential Investors;

hold all licences, consents, approvals and permissions required in connection with solicitation of
interest in, or offers or sales of, the Non-Exempt PD Notes under the Rules;

comply with applicable anti-money laundering, anti-bribery, anti-corruption and “know your
client” Rules (including, without limitation, taking appropriate steps, in compliance with such
Rules, to establish and document the identity of each potential Investor prior to initial investment
in any Non-Exempt PD Notes by the Investor), and will not permit any application for Non-
Exempt PD Notes in circumstances where the financial intermediary has any suspicions as to the
source of the application monies;

retain Investor identification records for at least the minimum period required under applicable
Rules, and shall, if so requested, make such records available to the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or
the relevant Dealer or directly to the appropriate authorities with jurisdiction over the Issuer,
Guarantor and/or the relevant Dealer in order to enable the Issuer, the Guarantor, and/or the
relevant Dealer to comply with anti-money laundering, anti-bribery, anti-corruption and “know
your client” Rules applying to the Issuer, the Guarantor, and/or the relevant Dealer;

ensure that no holder of Non-Exempt PD Notes or potential Investor in the Non-Exempt PD
Notes shall become an indirect or direct client of the Issuer, the Guarantor, or the relevant Dealer
for the purposes of any applicable Rules from time to time, and to the extent that any client
obligations are created by the relevant financial intermediary under any applicable Rules, then
such financial intermediary shall perform any such obligations so arising;

co-operate with the Issuer, the Guarantor, and the relevant Dealer in providing such information
(including, without limitation, documents and records maintained pursuant to paragraph (f)
above) upon written request from the Issuer, the Guarantor, or the relevant Dealer as is available
to such financial intermediary or which is within its power and control from time to time, together
with such further assistance as is reasonably requested by the Issuer, the Guarantor, or the relevant
Dealer:

0] in connection with any request or investigation by any regulator of competent jurisdiction
in relation to the Non-Exempt PD Notes, the Issuer, the Guarantor, or the relevant Dealer;
and/or

(ii)  in connection with any complaints received by the Issuer, the Guarantor, and/or the
relevant Dealer relating to the Issuer, the Guarantor, and/or the relevant Dealer or another
Authorised Offeror including, without limitation, complaints as defined in rules published
by any regulator of competent jurisdiction from time to time; and/or

(iii)  which the Issuer, the Guarantor, or the relevant Dealer may reasonably require from time
to time in relation to the Non-Exempt PD Notes and/or as to allow the Issuer, the
Guarantor, or the relevant Dealer fully to comply within its own legal, tax and regulatory
requirements,

in each case, as soon as is reasonably practicable and, in any event, within any time frame set by
any such regulator or regulatory process;
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during the primary distribution period of the Non-Exempt PD Notes: (i) not sell the Non-Exempt
PD Notes at any price other than the Issue Price specified in the applicable Final Terms (unless
otherwise agreed with the relevant Dealer); (ii) not sell the Non-Exempt PD Notes otherwise than
for settlement on the Issue Date specified in the relevant Final Terms; (iii) not appoint any sub-
distributors (unless otherwise agreed with the relevant Dealer); (iv) not pay any fee or
remuneration or commissions or benefits to any third parties in relation to the offering or sale of
the Non-Exempt PD Notes (unless otherwise agreed with the relevant Dealer); and (v) comply
with such other rules of conduct as may be reasonably required and specified by the relevant
Dealer;

either (i) obtain from each potential Investor an executed application for the Non-Exempt PD
Notes, or (ii) keep a record of all requests such financial intermediary (xX) makes for its
discretionary management clients, (y) receives from its advisory clients and (z) receives from its
execution-only clients, in each case prior to making any order for the Non-Exempt PD Notes on
their behalf, and, in each case, maintain the same on its files for so long as is required by any
applicable Rules;

ensure that it does not, directly or indirectly, cause the Issuer, the Guarantor, or the relevant Dealer
to breach any Rule or subject the Issuer, the Guarantor, or the relevant Dealer to any requirement
to obtain or make any filing, authorisation or consent in any jurisdiction;

comply with the conditions to the consent referred to under “Common conditions to consent”
below and any further requirements relevant to the Public Offer as specified in the applicable
Final Terms;

make available to each potential Investor in the Non-Exempt PD Notes the Base Prospectus (as
supplemented as at the relevant time, if applicable), the applicable Final Terms and any applicable
information booklet provided by the Issuer for such purpose, and not convey or publish any
information that is not contained in or entirely consistent with the Base Prospectus; and

if it conveys or publishes any communication (other than the Base Prospectus or any other
materials provided to such financial intermediary by or on behalf of the Issuer for the purposes
of the relevant Public Offer) in connection with the relevant Public Offer, it will ensure that such
communication (A) is fair, clear and not misleading and complies with the Rules, (B) states that
such financial intermediary has provided such communication independently of the Issuer, that
such financial intermediary is solely responsible for such communication and that none of the
Issuer, the Guarantor, or the relevant Dealer accepts any responsibility for such communication
and (C) does not, without the prior written consent of the Issuer, the Guarantor, or the relevant
Dealer (as applicable), use the legal or publicity names of the Issuer, the Guarantor or the relevant
Dealer or any other name, brand or logo registered by an entity within their respective groups or
any material over which any such entity retains a proprietary interest, except to describe the Issuer
as issuer of the relevant Non-Exempt PD Notes and KBC Bank NV as the guarantor of the
relevant Non-Exempt PD Notes on the basis set out in the Base Prospectus;

agrees and undertakes to indemnify each of the Issuer, the Guarantor, and the relevant Dealer (in each
case on behalf of such entity and its respective directors, officers, employees, agents, Affiliates and
controlling persons) against any losses, liabilities, costs, claims, charges, expenses, actions or demands
(including reasonable costs of investigation and any defence raised thereto and counsel's fees and
disbursements associated with any such investigation or defence) which any of them may incur or which
may be made against any of them arising out of or in relation to, or in connection with, any breach of
any of the foregoing agreements, representations, warranties or undertakings by such financial
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intermediary, including (without limitation) any unauthorised action by such financial intermediary or
failure by such financial intermediary to observe any of the above restrictions or requirements or the
making by such financial intermediary of any unauthorised representation or the giving or use by it of
any information which has not been authorised for such purposes by the Issuer, the Guarantor, or the
relevant Dealer; and

(1) agrees and accepts that:

(@)  the contract between the Issuer and the financial intermediary formed upon acceptance by the
financial intermediary of the Issuer's offer to use the Base Prospectus with its consent in
connection with the relevant Public Offer (the “Authorised Offeror Contract”), and any non-
contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Authorised Offeror Contract, shall
be governed by, and construed in accordance with, English law,

(b)  the courts of England are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out
of or in connection with the Authorised Offeror Contract (including a dispute relating to any non-
contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Authorised Offeror Contract)
(“Disputes”) and accordingly submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts,

(c)  for the purposes of paragraph (I11)(b) and (d), the Issuer and the financial intermediary waive any
objection to the English courts on the grounds that they are an inconvenient or inappropriate
forum to settle any Dispute,

(d) this paragraph (111) is for the benefit of the Issuer, the Guarantor and each relevant Dealer. To the
extent allowed by law, the Issuer, the Guarantor and each relevant Dealer may, in respect of any
Dispute or Disputes, take (i) proceedings in any other court with jurisdiction; and (ii) concurrent
proceedings in any number of jurisdictions;

(e)  the Guarantor and each relevant Dealer will, pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties)
Act 1999, be entitled to enforce those provisions of the Authorised Offeror Contract which are,
or are expressed to be, for their benefit, including the agreements, representations, warranties,
undertakings and indemnity given by the financial intermediary pursuant to the Authorised
Offeror Terms.

Any financial intermediary falling within sub-paragraph (B) above who wishes to use this Base
Prospectus in connection with an Public Offer is required, for the duration of the relevant Offer
Period, to publish on its website the statement (duly completed) set out in paragraph (B)(ii) above.

Common conditions to consent

The conditions to the Issuer's consent are (in addition to the conditions described in paragraph (B) above if Part
B of the applicable Final Terms specifies “General Consent” as “Applicable”) that such consent:

(@  isonlyvalid in respect of the relevant Tranche of Non-Exempt PD Notes;
(b) s only valid during the Offer Period specified in the applicable Final Terms;

(c)  only extends to the use of this Base Prospectus to make Public Offers of the relevant Tranche of Non-
Exempt PD Notes in the Public Offer Jurisdictions as specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(d)  issubject to any other conditions set out in Part B of the applicable Final Terms.
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ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN INVESTORS AND AUTHORISED OFFERORS

AN INVESTOR INTENDING TO ACQUIRE OR ACQUIRING ANY NON-EXEMPT PD NOTES INA
PUBLIC OFFER FROM AN AUTHORISED OFFEROR OTHER THAN THE ISSUER WILL DO SO,
AND OFFERS AND SALES OF SUCH NON-EXEMPT PD NOTES TO AN INVESTOR BY SUCH
AUTHORISED OFFEROR WILL BE MADE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY TERMS AND
CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER INCLUDING THOSE IN PLACE BETWEEN SUCH AUTHORISED
OFFEROR AND SUCH INVESTOR INCLUDING AS TO PRICE, ALLOCATIONS, EXPENSES AND
SETTLEMENT, ALL FIXED IN COMPLIANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS, RULES AND
REGULATIONS. NEITHER THE ISSUER NOR THE GUARANTOR WILL BE A PARTY TO ANY
SUCH ARRANGEMENTS WITH SUCH INVESTORS IN CONNECTION WITH THE PUBLIC
OFFER OR SALE OF THE NON-EXEMPT PD NOTES CONCERNED AND, ACCORDINGLY, THIS
BASE PROSPECTUS AND ANY FINAL TERMS WILL NOT CONTAIN SUCH INFORMATION. THE
RELEVANT INFORMATION WILL BE PROVIDED BY THE AUTHORISED OFFEROR AT THE
TIME OF SUCH OFFER AND THE AUTHORISED OFFEROR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR SUCH
INFORMATION. NONE OF THE ISSUER, THE GUARANTOR AND ANY DEALER (EXCEPT
WHERE ANY OF THOSE IS THE RELEVANT AUTHORISED OFFEROR) HAS ANY
RESPONSIBILITY OR LIABILITY TO AN INVESTOR IN RESPECT OF SUCH INFORMATION.

Public Offers: Issue Price and Offer Price

Non-Exempt PD Notes to be offered pursuant to a Public Offer will be issued by the Issuer at the Issue Price
specified in the applicable Final Terms. The Issue Price will be determined by the Issuer in consultation with
the relevant Dealer at the time of the relevant Public Offer and will depend, amongst other things, on the interest
rate applicable to the Non-Exempt PD Notes and prevailing market conditions at that time. The offer price of
such Non-Exempt PD Notes will be the Issue Price or such other price as may be agreed between an Investor
and the Authorised Offeror making the offer of the Non-Exempt PD Notes to such Investor, but in compliance
with the Authorised Offeror Terms regarding such price. The Issuer will not be party to arrangements between
an Investor and an Authorised Offeror, and the Investor will need to look to the relevant Authorised Offeror to
confirm the price at which such Authorised Offeror is offering the Non-Exempt PD Notes to such Investor.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
This section incorporates by reference selected publicly available information regarding the
Issuer and the Guarantor that should be read in conjunction with this Base Prospectus.

The following documents, which have previously been published or are published simultaneously with this
Base Prospectus and have been filed with the CSSF, shall be incorporated by reference in, and form part of, this
Base Prospectus:

(@)  the audited non-consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer for the financial years ended
31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016, together, in each case, with the notes and the related auditors’
report; and

(b)  the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Guarantor for the financial years ended
31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016, together, in each case, with the notes and the related auditors’
report and the ratios set out in “Additional Information”.

Following the publication of this Base Prospectus a supplement may be prepared by the Issuer and approved
by the CSSF in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive. Statements contained in any such
supplement (or contained in a document incorporated by reference therein) shall, to the extent applicable, be
deemed to modify or supersede statements contained in this Base Prospectus or in a document which is
incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except
as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Base Prospectus.

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus can be obtained from the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange’s website at www.bourse.lu, the Issuer’s website at www.kbc.com and from the registered
office of the Issuer. This Base Prospectus will also be published on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s website
at www.bourse.lu and on the Issuer’s website at www.kbc.com.

The Issuer and the Guarantor will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy
relating to the information included in this Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any
Notes or any change in the condition of the Issuer which is material in the context of the Programme or the
issue of any Notes, prepare and publish a supplement to this Base Prospectus or publish a new base prospectus
for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Notes. Furthermore, in connection with the listing of the
Notes on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, so long as any Note remains outstanding and listed on such
exchange, in the event of any material adverse change in the financial condition of the Issuer or the Guarantor
which is not reflected in this Base Prospectus, the Issuer and the Guarantor will prepare a further supplement
to this Base Prospectus or publish a new base prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent issue of the
Notes to be listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

If the terms of the Programme are modified or amended in a manner which would make this Base Prospectus,
as supplemented, inaccurate or misleading, a new base prospectus will be prepared.
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Documents Incorporated by Reference

Specific items contained in “Documents Incorporated by Reference”

Documents

Annual Report of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 2015

Audited non-consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year
ended 31 December 2015 (Luxembourg GAAP) (comprising the unaudited non-
consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31
December 2014 (Luxembourg GAAP))

balance sheet

profit and loss account

cash flow statement

notes to the financial statements

Auditors’ report

Annual Report of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

Audited non-consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year
ended 31 December 2016 (Luxembourg GAAP)

balance sheet

profit and loss account

cash flow statement

notes to the financial statements

Auditors’ report

Annual Report of the Guarantor for the financial year ended 31 December 2015

Audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Guarantor and its consolidated
subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 *

report of the board of directors
balance sheet
income statement
statement of comprehensive income
cash flow statement
notes to the financial statements
statement of changes in equity
Auditors’ report
Additional information
ratios used

Annual Report of the Guarantor for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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4-5
6-7
46
8-45
2-3

36
9-35
5-6

5-66
72

70

71
76-78
79-151
73-75
68-69

246-248



Documents Incorporated by Reference

Documents Page Number

Audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Guarantor and its consolidated
subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 December 2016*

report of the board of directors 6-69
balance sheet 73
income statement 71
statement of comprehensive income 72
cash flow statement 76-77
notes to the financial statements 78-139
statement of changes in equity 74-75
Auditors’ report 140-143

Additional information
ratios used 236-239

* Page references are to the English language PDF version of the relevant documents incorporated by reference.

The information incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-reference list is considered as
additional information and is not required by the relevant schedules of the Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 of 29
April 2004 implementing Directive 2003/71/EC as regards information contained in prospectuses as well as the
format, incorporation by reference and publication of such prospectuses and dissemination of advertisements.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME
This section contains a general overview of the different types of Notes which can be issued
under the Programme.

Under the Programme, the Issuer may from time to time issue Notes denominated in any currency (and having
a minimum maturity of one year), subject as set out herein. The applicable terms of any Notes will be agreed
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) prior to the issue of the Notes and will be set out in the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes endorsed on, attached to, or incorporated by reference into, the Notes, as completed by
the applicable Final Terms attached to, or endorsed on, such Notes, as more fully described under “Form of the
Notes” below.

This Base Prospectus and any supplement will only be valid for issuing Notes in an aggregate nominal amount
which, when added to the aggregate nominal amount then outstanding of all Notes previously or simultaneously
issued under the Programme, does not exceed EUR 10,000,000,000 or its equivalent in other currencies. For
the purpose of calculating the euro equivalent of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes issued under the
Programme from time to time:

(@)  the euro equivalent of Notes denominated in another Specified Currency (as specified in the applicable
Final Terms in relation to the relevant Notes, described under “Form of the Notes™) shall be determined,
at the discretion of the Issuer, either as of the date on which agreement is reached for the issue of Notes
or on the preceding day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business
in London, in each case on the basis of the spot rate for the sale of the euro against the purchase of such
Specified Currency in the London foreign exchange market quoted by any leading international bank
selected by the Issuer on the relevant day of calculation;

(b)  the euro equivalent of Index Linked Notes, Equity Linked Notes, Inflation Linked Notes and Currency
Linked Notes (each as specified in the applicable Final Terms in relation to the relevant Notes, described
under “Form of the Notes”) shall be calculated in the manner specified above by reference to the original
nominal amount on issue of such Notes; and

(c)  the euro equivalent of Zero Coupon Notes (as specified in the applicable Final Terms in relation to the
relevant Notes, described under “Form of the Notes™) and other Notes issued at a discount or premium
shall be calculated in the manner specified above by reference to the net proceeds received by the Issuer
for the relevant issue.
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FORM OF THE NOTES
This section provides a general overview of the form in which the Notes may be issued.

Each Tranche of Notes will be in bearer form and will be initially issued in the form of a Temporary Global
Note which will:

(i) if the Global Notes (as defined under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” below) are specified in the
applicable Final Terms to be issued in new global note (“NGN”) form, be delivered on or prior to the
original issue date of the Tranche to the Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg; and

(i) if the Global Notes are not to be issued in NGN Form, be delivered on or prior to the original issue date
of the Tranche to the Common Depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Whilst any Note is represented by a Temporary Global Note, payments of principal, Interest Amounts (if any)
and any other amount payable in respect of the Notes due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below) will
be made (against presentation of the Temporary Global Note if the Temporary Global Note is not intended to
be issued in NGN form) only to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided) to the effect that the
beneficial owners of interests in such Note are not U.S. persons or persons who have purchased for resale to
any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, has been received by Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable, has given a like certification (based
on the certifications it has received) to the Agent. Any reference in this section “Form of the Notes” to Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to
any additional or alternative clearing system approved by the Issuer and the Agent, and specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

On and after the date (the “Exchange Date”) which is the later of (i) 40 days after the Temporary Global Note
is issued and (ii) 40 days after the completion of the distribution of the relevant Tranche, as determined and
notified by the Agent (the “Distribution Compliance Period”), interests in such Temporary Global Note will
be exchangeable (free of charge) upon a request as described therein for interests in a Permanent Global Note
of the same Series without interest coupons or talons against certification of beneficial ownership as described
in the second sentence of the immediately preceding paragraph unless such certification has already been given.
The holder of a Temporary Global Note will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest, principal or other
amount due on or after the Exchange Date unless upon due certification, exchange of the Temporary Global
Note for interests in the Permanent Global Note is improperly withheld or refused. Pursuant to the Agency
Agreement the Agent shall arrange that, where a further Tranche of Notes is issued which is intended to form a
single Series with an existing Tranche of Notes, the Notes of such Tranche shall be assigned a common code
and ISIN by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg which are different from the common code and ISIN
assigned to Notes of any other Tranche of the same Series until at least the expiry of the Distribution Compliance
Period applicable to the Notes of such Tranche.

Payments of principal, Interest Amounts (if any) or any other amounts on a Permanent Global Note will be
made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (against presentation or surrender (as the case may
be) of the Permanent Global Note if the Permanent Global Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form)
without any requirement for certification. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, a Permanent
Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole but not in part, for definitive Notes with, where
applicable, interest coupons and talons attached only upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event. For these
purposes, “Exchange Event” means that (A) an Event of Default (as defined in Condition 14) has occurred and
is continuing, or (B) the Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have been
closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise)
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Form of the Notes

or have announced an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and no successor clearing
system is available. The Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Credit Linked
Condition 20 if an Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent
Global Note) may give notice to the Agent requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur not later than
45 days after the dates of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Agent. Global Notes and definitive Notes
will be issued pursuant to the Agency Agreement.

The following legend will appear on all Notes, on all interest coupons and on all talons for further interest
coupons:

‘ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO
LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS
PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.’

The sections referred to provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct
any loss on Notes or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment of any gain on any sale,
disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of Notes or interest coupons.

Notes which are represented by a Global Note will only be transferable in accordance with the rules and
procedures for the times being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be.

A Note may be accelerated automatically by the holder thereof in certain circumstances described in Condition
14. In such circumstances, where any Note is still represented by a Global Note (or any part thereof) and a
holder of such Note so represented and credited to his securities account with Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg gives notice that it wishes to accelerate such Note, unless within a period of 15 days from the
giving of such notice payment has been made in full of the amount due in accordance with the terms of such
Global Note, such Global Note will become void at 8.00 pm (London time) on such day. At the same time,
holders of interests in such Global Note credited to their accounts with Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, as the case may be, will become entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer on the basis of
statements of account provided by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, on and subject to the terms of a
deed of covenant (the “Deed of Covenant”) dated 21 June 2017 as amended and/or supplemented and/or
restated from time to time executed by the Issuer.

In Belgium, Notes shall not be physically delivered, except to a clearing system, a depositary or other institution
for the purpose of their immobilisation in accordance with article 4 of the Belgian Law of 14 December 2005.
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Form of Final Terms

FORM OF FINAL TERMS
This section sets out a template for the Final Terms to be used for each specific Notes issuance.

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEARETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes
includes a legend entitled “Prohibition of Sales to EEA retail investors”, the Notes are not intended, from
1 January 2018, to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and, with effect from such date, should
not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area
(“EEA”). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client
as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (“MIiFID I1”); (ii) a customer within the
meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as
defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID I1; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Directive
2003/71/EC. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the
“PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail
investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making
them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPS Regulation.]

The following is the form of Final Terms which will be completed in relation to each Tranche of Notes
(References to numbered Conditions are to the Terms and Conditions of the relevant Notes):

[Date]
KBC IFIMAS.A.

(a public limited liability company (société anonyme) incorporated under the laws of the Grand Duchy
of Luxembourg, having its registered office at 4 rue du Fort Wallis, L-2714 Luxembourg and registered
with the RCS Luxembourg under number B 193577)

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]
[Public offer]*
[Principal protected]/[Principal not protected]

Guaranteed by KBC Bank NV
under the EUR 10,000,000,000

Euro Medium Term Note Programme

PART A—- CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the conditions (the “Conditions™)
set forth in the base prospectus dated 21 June 2017,[ as supplemented by a supplement dated [e],] [together]
the “Base Prospectus”, which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus
Directive. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article
5.4 of Directive 2003/71/EC (the “Prospectus Directive™) and must be read in conjunction with the Base
Prospectus. Full information on the Issuer, the Guarantor and the offer of the Notes is only available on the
basis of a combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus [as so supplemented]. [A summary of the

1

Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or XII.
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Form of Final Terms

issue of the Notes (which comprises the summary in the Base Prospectus as amended to reflect the provision of
these Final Terms) is annexed to these Final Terms.]? The Base Prospectus [is] [and the supplements are]
available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange at www.bourse.lu and the website of the Issuer
at www.kbc.com and copies may be obtained during normal business hours at the registered office of the Issuer.
[A copy of the Final Terms will be available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
at www.bourse.lu and on the website of the Issuer at www.kbc.com.]

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable’” (N/A). Note that the numbering should
remain as set out below, even if “Not Applicable is indicated for individual paragraphs or sub-paragraphs.
Italics denote directions for completing the Final Terms.]

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES

1

7

(i) Series Number:

(i) Tranche Number:

(iii) Date on which the Notes will
be consolidated and form a

single Series:

Specified Currency:

Aggregate Nominal Amount;

(i) Series:
(i) Tranche:
Issue Price:

(i) Specified Denominations:

(ii) Calculation Amount:

Issue Date:

(i) Maturity Date:

2

[e]
[e]
[The notes will be consolidated, form a single Series and be
interchangeable for trading purposes with [Tranche [e]] of
[Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche][Title of Notes] on the
[the Issue Date/exchange of the Temporary Global Note for

interest in the Permanent Global Note, as referred to in paragraph
[30] below][Not Applicable]

[e]

[e]

[o]

[e] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus accrued
interest from [insert date]]

[e]

(If only one Specified Denomination, insert the Specified
Denomination.)

[e]

(If more than one Specified Denomination, insert the highest
common factor. Note: There must be a common factor in the case
of two or more Specified Denominations.)

[e]

[e]/[Interest Payment Date falling in [or nearest to] [specify

month and year]/[[®] Business Days after the [final] Valuation
Date, expected to be [®]] (the “Scheduled Maturity Date™).

Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or XII.
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(i) Business Day Convention for

Maturity Date:

(iii) Additional Business Centre(s):

8 Interest Basis:

9 Redemption/Payment Basis:

10 Issuer Call:

Form of Final Terms

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following
Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/
Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable]/[specify other financial centres required for the
Business Day definition]

[Fixed Rate Notes]

[Floating Rate Notes]

[Range Accrual Notes]

[Zero Coupon Notes]

[Index Linked Interest Notes]
[Equity Linked Interest Notes]
[Inflation Linked Interest Notes]

[Currency Linked Interest Notes]

[Where Credit Linked Notes are applicable, see also paragraph
30.]

(Specify one or more Interest Bas(is)(es) that appl(ies)(y) and
specify further particulars in paragraphs 13 to 20 below as
applicable)

[Fixed Redemption Notes]

[Autocall Notes]

[Index Linked Redemption Notes]

[Equity Linked Redemption Notes]

[Currency Linked Redemption Notes]

(Specify one or more Redemption/Payment Basis that applies
and specify further particulars in paragraph 30 below, as
applicable)

[Applicable][Not Applicable]
(further particulars specified in paragraph 23 below)

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

11 Fixed Rate Notes

(i) Rate[s] of Interest:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[[e] per cent. per annum]

[Rate of Interest Interest Period
From (and To (but
including) excluding)

[e] per cent. per annum (o] [e]

[e] per cent. per annum [e] [e]

[e] per cent. per annum (o] [e]]
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12

(i)
(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Interest Commencement Date:

Interest Period End Date(s):

Business Day Convention for
Interest Period End Dates:

Interest Payment Date(s):

Business Day Convention for
Interest Payment Dates:

(vii) Additional Business Centre(s):

(viii) Fixed Day Count Fraction:

(ix)

Determination Date(s):

Floating Rate Notes

(i)
(i)

Interest Commencement Date:

Interest Period End Dates:

Form of Final Terms
(Use table format if there are different Rates of Interest for
specific Interest Periods)
[Payable annually/semi-annually/quarterly/monthly in arrear]
[®]/[Issue Date]

[®] in each year, starting on [®], up to and including [the Maturity
Date]/[ o]
(NB: This will need to be amended in the case of long or short
coupons)

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following
Business Day  Convention/Preceding  Business  Day
Convention/Not Applicable]

[[®] in each year, starting on [e], up to and including[ the
Maturity Date] [®]]/[Interest Payment Dates will correspond to
Interest Period End Dates]

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following
Business Day  Convention/Preceding  Business  Day
Convention/Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable][please specify other financial centres required
for the Business Day definition]

(Specify one of the options listed below)
[Actual/Actual (ICMA)]
[Actual/Actual] or [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30/360] or [360/360] or [Bond Basis]
[30E/360] or [Eurobond Basis]
[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[1/1]

[[®] in each year][Not Applicable]

(Insert regular Interest Period End Dates, ignoring issue date or
maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon.

This will need to be amended where Interest Periods are not of
equal duration. NB: Only relevant where Fixed Day Count
Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA))

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[®]/[Issue Date]

[e] in each year, starting on [®], up to and including [the Maturity
Date]/[ o]
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(iii) Business Day Convention for
Interest Period End Dates:

(iv) Interest Payment Dates:

(v) Business Day Convention for
Interest Payment Dates:

(vi) Additional Business Centre(s):

(vii) Interest Variable Option:

(viii) Party responsible for calculating
the Variable Rate(s) of Interest
and Interest Amount(s):

(ix) Interest Multiplier:

() Margin:

(xi) Screen Rate Determination:

- Reference Rate:
- Interest Determination

Date(s):

—  Relevant Screen Page:

(xii) Rates Variance:

Form of Final Terms

(NB: This will need to be amended in the case of long or short
coupons)

[Floating Rate  Convention/Following  Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding  Business Day  Convention/Not
Applicable]

[[®] in each year, starting on [e], up to and including [the
Maturity Date] [®]][Interest Payment Dates will correspond to
Interest Period End Dates]

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following
Business Day  Convention/Preceding  Business  Day
Convention/Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable][please specify other financial centres required
for the Business Day definition]

[Screen Rate Determination]

[Rates Variance]

[Asian Option — Interest Rates]

[Digital Option]

(Depending on the applicable Interest Variable Option selected,

insert the relevant variables within the corresponding paragraph
below)

[Agent/Calculation Agent/[e]]

[[+/-][100]/[®] per cent.][As set out under Digital Option below]
(This may be a negative value.)

[[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum][As set out under Digital Option
below]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]

[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]
[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR
Basis-EUR”] (if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it
is a page which shows a composite rate)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
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- Rate:

Rate; Variable Option:
Reference Rate:

Interest Determination

Date(s):

Relevant Screen Page:

- Rate,:

Rate, Variable Option:
Reference Rate:

Interest Determination

Date(s):

Relevant Screen Page:

—  Scaling Factor:

(xiii) Asian Option — Interest Rates:

- Ratey:

Rate; Variable Option:
Reference Rate:

Interest Determination

Dates(s):

Form of Final Terms
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)
[[®] per cent. per annum]
[As determined in accordance with the following elections:
Screen Rate Determination
[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]

[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR
Basis-EUR™] (if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it
is a page which shows a composite rate)]

[[®] per cent. per annum]

[As determined in accordance with the following elections:
Screen Rate Determination
[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]

[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]

[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR
Basis-EUR”] (if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it
is a page which shows a composite rate)]

[[100]/[®] per cent.]

[Scaling Factor Interest Period
From (and To (but
including) excluding)

[#] per cent. [o] [o]

[®] per cent. [e] [e]

[e] per cent. [e] [e]]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

As determined in accordance with the following elections:
Screen Rate Determination
[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
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— Relevant Screen Page:

(xiv) Digital Option:

—  Digital Option Type:
— Reference Rate:

— Interest Determination
Date(s):

— Relevant Screen Page:

—  Digital Option Payment
Condition:

—  Digital Option Strike:

— Reference Rate:

— Interest Determination
Date(s):

— Relevant Screen Page:

Form of Final Terms

[Interest Interest Period
Determination
Dates

From (and To (but excluding)
including)

[e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e]]

(Insert the different Interest Determination Date(s) for the purpose
of determining each Rate:)

[e]

[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR
Basis-EUR™] (if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph.)

Interest Rates
[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]
[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR Basis-
EUR”] (if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)

[Greater Than]

[Less Than]

[Greater Than Or Equal To]
[Less Than Or Equal To]

[®] per cent.

[Screen Rate Determination]
[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]

[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR Basis-
EUR”] (if CMS)
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— Interest Multiplier:

— Margin:

—  Scaling Factor:

— Digital Option Exercised
Rate:

— Digital Option Payment
Determination Method:

— Reference Rate:
— Interest Determination
Date(s):

— Relevant Screen Page:

— Interest Multiplier:

— Margin:
— Cap Rate:
— Floor Rate:

— Collar Margin:

Form of Final Terms
(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)

[+/-][100]/[ ®] per cent.
(This may be a negative value.)

[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum

[[100]/[®] per cent.]

[Scaling Factor Interest Period
From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[#] per cent. [o] [o]
[®] per cent. [e] [e]
[e] per cent. [e] [e]]

[[®] per cent. per annum]|

[As determined in accordance with the Digital Option Payment
Determination Method]

[Not Applicable]
[Screen Rate Determination]
[Collar Rate]

(If Screen Rate Determination and/or Collar Rate applies, insert
relevant information for determining Digital Option Exercised
Rate)

[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]

[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR Basis-
EUR”] (if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)

(If Collar Rate applies, insert relevant information for determining
Digital Option Exercised Rate)

[+/-][100]/[ @] per cent.

(This may be a negative value.)
[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum
[®]/[Infinity]

[®]/[Zero]

[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum
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—  Digital Option Fallback
Rate:

Reference Rate:
Interest Determination
Date(s):

Relevant Screen Page:

Interest Multiplier:

Margin;
Cap Rate:
Floor Rate:

Collar Margin:

(xv) Minimum Rate of Interest:

(xvi) Maximum Rate of Interest:

(xvii) Day Count Fraction:

Form of Final Terms

[Zero]

[[®] per cent. per annum]
[Screen Rate Determination]
[Collar Rate]

(If Screen Rate Determination and/or Collar Rate applies, insert
relevant information for determining Digital Option Fallback
Rate)

[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]
[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR Basis-
EUR”] (if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)

(If Collar Rate applies, insert relevant information for determining
Digital Option Fallback Rate)

[+/-][100]/[ ] per cent.

(This may be a negative value.)
[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum
[®]/[Infinity]

[®]/[Zero]

[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum
[e] per cent. per annum

[®] per cent. per annum

(Insert (i) Minimum Rate of Interest to floor the Rate of Interest;
(ii) Maximum Rate of Interest to cap the Rate of Interest and (iii)
Minimum Rate of Interest and Maximum Rate of Interest to collar
the Rate of Interest)

(Specify one of the options listed below)
[Actual/Actual] or [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30/360] or [360/360] or [Bond Basis]
[30E/360] or [Eurobond Basis]

[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[1/1]
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13 Range Accrual Notes

(i) Interest Commencement Date:
(ii) Interest Period End Dates:

(iii) Business Day Convention for
Interest Period End Dates:

(iv) Interest Payment Dates:

(v) Business Day Convention for
Interest Payment Dates:

(vi) Additional Business Centre(s):

(vii) Minimum Range Accrual Rate of
Interest:

(viii) Maximum Range Accrual Rate
of Interest:

(ix) Day Count Fraction:

(x) RABase Rate:
(xi) \Variable 1:
—  Reference Rate:

- Interest Determination
Date(s):

- Relevant Screen Page:

(xii) Variable 2:

Form of Final Terms
[Applicable/Not Applicable] (if not applicable, delete the
remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
[®]/[Issue Date]

[[®] in each year, starting on [®], up to and including [the Maturity
Date][e]

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following
Business Day  Convention/Preceding Business Day
Convention/Not Applicable]

[[®] in each year, starting on [®], up to and including [the Maturity
Date][®]] [Interest Payment Dates will correspond to Interest
Period End Dates]

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following
Business Day  Convention/Preceding Business Day
Convention/Not Applicable]

[®] (please specify other financial centres required for the Business
Day definition)

[®] per cent. per annum

[®] per cent. per annum

(Specify one of the options listed below)
[Actual/Actual] or [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30/360] or [360/360] or [Bond Basis]
[30E/360] or [Eurobond Basis]
30E/360 (ISDA)

[1/1]

[®] per cent. per annum

Applicable
[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]
[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR Basis-
EUR”] (if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]
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14

15

- Reference Rate:

- Interest
Date(s):

- Relevant Screen Page:

(xiii) Upper Threshold:
(xiv) Lower Threshold:

(xv) Range Accrual Condition:

Zero Coupon Notes

(i) Amortisation Yield:

(i) Amortisation Yield
Compounding Basis:

Index Linked Interest Notes

(i) Interest Commencement Date:

(ii) Interest Period End Dates:

(iii) Business Day Convention for

Interest Period End Dates:

(iv) Interest Payment Dates:

(v) Business Day Convention for

Interest Payment Dates:

(vi) Additional Business Centre(s):

Determination

Form of Final Terms

(There need not be a Variable 2 - If not applicable, delete the
remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]

[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]

[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR Basis-
EUR”] (if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)]

[®] per cent.

[e] per cent.

[Between (Inclusive)]

[Between (Exclusive)]

[Greater Than Lower Threshold]

[Greater Than Or Equal To Lower Threshold]
[Less Than Lower Threshold]

[Less Than Or Equal To Lower Threshold]]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[®] per cent. per annum

[Annually/Semi-annually]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[®]/[Issue Date]

[[®] in each year, starting on [e], up to and including [the Maturity
Date][®]]

[Floating Rate  Convention/Following  Business  Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/Not Applicable]

[[®] in each year, starting on [®], up to and including [the Maturity
Date][®]]/[Interest Payment Dates will correspond to Interest
Period End Dates]

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following
Business Day  Convention/Preceding Business Day
Convention/Not Applicable]

[®] (please specify other financial centres required for the Business
Day definition)
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(vii) Interest Variable Option:

(viii) Day Count Fraction:

(ix) Index and details of the relevant
Index Sponsor:

(x) Interest Multiplier:

(xi) Margin:

(xii) Minimum Rate of Interest:

(xiii) Maximum Rate of Interest:

(xiv) Index Linked Interest Payment
Extension Number:

(xv) Valuation Time:

Form of Final Terms
[Evolution of Index]
[Asian Option — Index]
[Digital Option]
[Single Fixing - Index]
[Asian Fixing — Index]
(Depending on the applicable Interest Variable Option selected,

insert the relevant variables within the corresponding paragraph
below)

(Specify one of the options listed below)
[Actual/Actual] or [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30/360] or [360/360] or [Bond Basis]
[30E/360] or [Eurobond Basis]

[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[1/1]

Index: [name and short description of type of
index]

Index Sponsor: [specify]

Exchange: [specify]

Related Exchange: [All Exchanges][specify]

Designated Multi- [Applicable][Not Applicable]

Exchange Index:
Valuation Time: [specify]
[The Index is a Designated Multi-Exchange Index.]

[[+/-1[100]/[®] per cent.][As set out under Digital Option below]
(This may be a negative value.)

[[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum][As set out under Digital Option
below]

[®] per cent. per annum

[®] per cent. per annum

(With respect to any Interest Period, insert (i) Minimum Rate of
Interest to floor the Rate of Interest; (ii) Maximum Rate of Interest
to cap the Rate of Interest and (iii) Minimum Rate of Interest and
Maximum Rate of Interest to collar the Rate of Interest)

[e]

[Condition 6(d) applies]/[e]
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(xvii)Correction of Index Levels:

(xviii) Correction Cut-Off Date:

(xix) Evolution of Index:

Valuation Dates:

IndeXinitial Valuation Date:

Scaling Factor:

(xx) Asian Option — Index:

IndeXinitial Valuation

Date(s):

Valuation Dates:

Scaling Factor:

Form of Final Terms

Correction of Index Levels [applies/does not apply and the
Reference Price shall be calculated without regard to any
subsequently published correction].

[[®] Business Days prior to each Interest Payment Date/Not
Applicable.]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

Valuation Datest Interest Period

From (and To (but

including) excluding)
[e]. [e], [®] [e] [e]
(], [], [®] [e] [e]
[e]. [e]. [e] [e] [e]

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining
each Indext)

[e],[e].[®]

[[100]/[®] per cent.]

[Scaling Factor Interest Period

From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[®] per cent. [e] [o]
[e] per cent. [e] [e]
[] per cent. [e] [e]]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[e].[®].[e]

[Valuation Datest Interest Period

From (and To (but

including) excluding)
[]. [e], [e] [e] [e]
(o], [e], [e] [e] [e]
[e], [e], [e] [e] [e]]

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining
each Indext)

[[100]/[®] per cent.]
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Form of Final Terms

[Scaling Factor Interest Period
From (and To (but
including) excluding)

[®] per cent. [e] [e]

[®] per cent. [e] [e]

[e] per cent. (o] [e]]

—  Averaging Disruption  [Omission]/[Postponement]/[Modified Postponement]/[Not
Provisions: Applicable]
(xxii) Digital Option: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph. If applicable, insert the relevant variables within the
corresponding paragraph below)

—  Digital Option Type: Index

— Digital Option Payment [Greater Than]

Condition: [Less Than]

[Greater Than Or Equal To]
[Less Than Or Equal To]

—  Valuation Dates: Valuation Dates Interest Period
From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e]]
— Digital Option Strike: [[®]

(Insert relevant level or specify Index Determination and insert the
relevant Variables within the corresponding paragraph below)

[Index Determination

— Valuation Dates: Valuation Date Interest Period
From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[o] [o] [o]
[o] [e] [e]
[o] [o] [o]
— Scaling Factor: [[100]/[®] per cent.]
[Scaling Factor Interest Period
From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[#] per cent. [o] [o]
[®] per cent. [o] [e]
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Digital Option Exercised
Rate:

Digital

Digital Option Payment
Determination Method:

Reference Rate:

Interest Determination

Date(s):

Relevant Screen Page:

Interest Multiplier:

Margin;

Cap Rate:
Floor Rate:
Collar Margin:

Option Fallback

Rate:

Reference Rate:

Interest Determination

Date(s):

Relevant Screen Page:

Form of Final Terms

[e]]

[®] per cent.

[e]
[[®] per cent. per annum]

[As determined in accordance with the Digital Option Payment
Determination Method]

[Not applicable]
[Screen Rate Determination]
[Collar Rate]

(If Screen Rate Determination and/or Collar Rate applies, insert
relevant information for determining Digital Option Exercised
Rate)

[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]
[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR
Basis-EUR”] (if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO01, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)

(If Collar Rate applies, insert relevant information for determining
Digital Option Exercised Rate)

[+/-][100]/[ @] per cent.

(This may be a negative value.)
[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum
[®]/[Infinity]

[®]/[Zero]

[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum

[Zero]

[[®] per cent. per annum]
[Screen Rate Determination]
[Collar Rate]

(If Screen Rate Determination and/or Collar Rate applies, insert
relevant information for determining Digital Option Fallback
Rate)

[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]

[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR
Basis-EUR”] (if CMS)
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— Interest Multiplier:

— Margin:

— Cap Rate:

— Floor Rate:
— Collar Margin:

(xxiii) Single Fixing - Index:

—  Denominator:

—  Valuation Dates:

(xxiv) Asian Fixing - Index

—  Denominator:

—  Valuation Dates:

—  Averaging Disruption
Provisions:

16 Equity Linked Interest Notes

(i)  Interest Commencement Date:

Form of Final Terms

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO01, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)

(If Collar Rate applies, insert relevant information for determining
Digital Option Fallback Rate)

[+/-][100]/[ @] per cent.

(This may be a negative value.)
[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum
[®]/[Infinity]

[®]/[Zero]

[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum]

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[e]

Valuation Datet Interest Period
From (and To (but
including) excluding)

[e] [e] [e]

[e] [e] (o]

[e] [e] [e]

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[e]

[Valuation Datest Interest Period
From (and To (but
including) excluding)

(], [e], [e] [e] [e]
[e], [®], [®] [e] [e]
(], [e], [e] [e] [e]]

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining
each Indext)]

[Omission]/[Postponement]/[Modified Postponement]/[Not
Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[®]/[Issue Date]
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(if)  Interest Period End Dates:

(iii) Business Day Convention for
Interest Period End Dates:

(iv) Interest Payment Dates:

(v) Business Day Convention for
Interest Payment Dates:

(vi) Additional Business Centre(s):

(vii) Interest Variable Option:

(viii) Day Count Fraction:

(ix) The identity of the relevant
Equity Issuer(s) of the equity
security/equity securities in the
basket:

Form of Final Terms
[[®] in each year, starting on [®], up to and including [the Maturity
Date][®]]

[Floating Rate  Convention/Following  Business  Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/Not Applicable]

[[®] in each year starting on [®], up to and including [the Maturity
Date][®]]/[Interest Payment Dates will correspond to Interest
Period End Dates]

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following
Business  Day  Convention/Preceding  Business  Day
Convention/Not Applicable]

[specify other financial centres required for the Business Day
definition][Not Applicable]

[Evolution of Underlying Equity]

[Evolution of Basket of Underlying Equities]
[Asian Option — Underlying Equity]

[Asian Option - Basket of Underlying Equities]
[Digital Option]

(Depending on the applicable Interest Variable Option selected,
insert the relevant variables within the corresponding paragraph
below)

(Specify one of the options listed below)

[Actual/Actual] or [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]

[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30/360] or [360/360] or [Bond Basis]

[30E/360] or [Eurobond Basis]

[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[1/1]

[Give or annex details of the relevant Underlying
Equities/Underlying Equity, as applicable]:

[The following apply only to Notes which have a single equity
component]:

Underlying Equity: [name and short description of type
of shares (which, if “ETF Share™ is
specified below as applicable, will be
ETF Shares)] issued by the Equity
Issuer (ISIN:[e])

ETF Share: [Applicable/Not Applicable]
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(X) Interest Multiplier:

(xi) Margin:

(xii) Minimum Rate of Interest:

Form of Final Terms

Underlying Equity [specify]

Currency:

Equity Issuer: [specify] (in the case of ETF Shares,
specify the relevant ETF Issuer)

Exchange: [specify]

Related Exchange: [All Exchanges][specify]

[(The following additional provisions apply only where the
relevant equity component is an ETF Share):

ETF Adviser: [specify]
ETF Administrator: [specify]
Reference Index: [specify]]

[The following apply only to Notes with an equity basket
component]:

A basket composed of Underlying Equities in the relative
proportions of Underlying Equities of each Equity Issuer specified
below:

Underlying Equity: [name and short description of type
of shares] (which, if “ETF Share” is
specified below as applicable, will be
ETF Shares)] issued by the Equity
Issuer (ISIN: [e])

ETF Share: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

Underlying Equity [specify]

Currency:

Equity Issuer: [specify](in the case of ETF Shares,
specify the relevant ETF Issuer)

Multiplier (per cent.): [specify]

Exchange: [specify]

[(The following additional provisions apply only where the
relevant equity component is an ETF Share):

ETF Adviser: [specify]
ETF Administrator: [specify]
Reference Index: [specify]]
Related Exchange: [All Exchanges][specify]

[Replicate the details in respect of each Equity in the Basket]

[+/-][100]/[ ®] per cent.][As set out under Digital Option below]
(This may be a negative value.)

[[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum][As set out under Digital Option
below]

[e]
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(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

Maximum Rate of Interest:

Equity Linked Interest Payment
Extension Number:

Potential Adjustment Events:

De-listing, Merger  Event,
Nationalisation and Insolvency:

(xvii) Tender Offer:

(xviii)Valuation Time:

(xix)

(xx)

(xxi)

Exchange Rate:

Correction of Share Prices:

Correction Cut-Off Date:

(xxii) Trade Date:

(xxiii)Evolution of Underlying Equity:

—  Valuation Dates:

—  Equityinitia Valuation Date:

—  Scaling Factor:

Form of Final Terms

[e]

(Insert (i) Minimum Rate of Interest to floor the Rate of Interest;
(if) Maximum Rate of Interest to cap the Rate of Interest and (iii)
Minimum Rate of Interest and Maximum Rate of Interest to collar
the Rate of Interest)

[e]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Condition 7(d) applies]/[e]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Insert details]

Correction of Share Prices [applies/does not apply and the
Reference Price shall be calculated without regard to any
subsequently published correction].

[[®] Business Days prior to each Interest Payment Date/Not
Applicable.]

[e]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

Valuation Dates: Interest Period

From (and To (but

including) excluding)
[e], [®], [®] [e] [e]
(], [e], [e] [e] [e]
[e], [®], [®] [e] [e]

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining
each Equity:)

[e],[e].[®]
[[100]/[®] per cent.]
[Scaling Factor Interest Period
From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[®] per cent. [e] [e]
[#] per cent. [o] [o]
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(xxiv)Evolution  of

(xxv) Asian

Basket  of
Underlying Equities:

—  Valuation Dates:

—  Equity Basketinitial
Valuation Date:

—  Scaling Factor:

Option - Underlying

Equity
—  Equityiniia Valuation

Date(s):

—  Valuation Dates:

—  Scaling Factor:

Form of Final Terms

[®] per cent. [e] [e]]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

Valuation Dates: Interest Period

From (and To (but

including) excluding)
[e], [®], [e] [e] [e]
[e], [e], [e] [e] [e]
[e], [®], [®] [e] [e]

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of
determining each Equity Basket:)

[e].[e][]

[[100]/[®] per cent.]

[Scaling Factor Interest Period

From (and To (but excluding)
including)

[e] per cent. [e] [e]

[®] per cent. [e] [e]

[e] per cent. [e] [e]]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[e].[e][®]

Valuation Dates: Interest Period

From (and To (but

including) excluding)
(o], [e], [®] [e] [e]
(o], [], [®] [e] [e]
[e], [e], [e] [e] [e]

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining
each Equityt)

[[100]/[®] per cent.]
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—  Averaging Disruption
Provisions:
(xxvi)Asian Option - Basket of
Underlying Equities:

—  Equity Basketinitial
Valuation Date(s):

—  Valuation Dates:

—  Scaling Factor:

—  Averaging
Provisions:

Disruption

(xxvii) Digital Option:

—  Digital Option Type:

—  Digital Option
Condition:

Payment

Form of Final Terms

[Scaling Factor Interest Period

From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[®] per cent. [o] [e]
[e] per cent. [e] [o]
[e] per cent. [e] [e]]

[Omission]/[Postponement]/[Modified Postponement]/[Not
Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[e].[e][]

Interest Period

To (but
excluding)

Valuation Dates:

From (and
including)

[e], [®], [e] [e] [e]
[e], [], [] [e] [e]
[e], [®], [e] [e] [e]

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining
each Equity Basket;)

[[100]/[®] per cent.]
[Scaling Factor Interest Period
From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[®] per cent. [o] [e]
[e] per cent. [e] [o]
[] per cent. [e] [e]]

[Omission]/[Postponement]/[Modified Postponement]/[Not
Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph. If applicable, insert the relevant variables within the
corresponding paragraph below)

[Basket of Underlying Equities][Underlying Equity]

[Greater Than]

[Less Than]

[Greater Than Or Equal To]

[Less Than Or Equal To]
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—  Valuation Dates:

—  Digital Option Strike:

—  Valuation Dates:

—  Scaling Factor:

— Digital Option Exercised
Rate:

— Digital
Payment
Determination
Method:

Option

— Reference Rate:

— Interest Determination
Date(s):

Relevant Screen Page:

Form of Final Terms

[Valuation Dates Interest Period

From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e]]

([e]

(Insert relevant level or specify Equity Determination and insert
the relevant Variables within the corresponding paragraph below)
[Equity Determination]

Valuation Date Interest Period

From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e]

[[100]/[®] per cent.]

[Scaling Factor Interest Period

From (and To (but excluding)
including)

[e] per cent. [e] (o]

[®] per cent. [o] [o]

[e] per cent. [e] [e]]

[[®] per cent. per annum]|

[As determined in accordance with the Digital Option Payment
Determination Method]

[Not applicable]

[Screen Rate Determination]

[Collar Rate]

(If Screen Rate Determination and/or Collar Rate applies, insert
relevant information for determining Digital Option Exercised
Rate)

[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]
[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR Basis-
EUR”] (if CMS)
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Interest Multiplier:

Margin;
Cap Rate:
Floor Rate:

Collar Margin:

—  Digital Option Fallback
Rate:

Reference Rate:
Interest Determination
Date(s):

Relevant Screen Page:

Interest Multiplier:

Margin;
Cap Rate:
Floor Rate:

Collar Margin:

17 Inflation Linked Interest Notes

(i) Interest Commencement Date:

(ii) Interest Period End Dates:

Form of Final Terms

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)

(If Collar Rate applies, insert relevant information for determining
Digital Option Exercised Rate)

[+/-][100]/[ @] per cent.

(This may be a negative value.)
[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum
[®]/[Infinity]

[®][Zero]

[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum

[Zero]

[[®] per cent. per annum]|
[Screen Date Determination]
[Collar Rate]

(If Screen Rate Determination and/or Collar Rate applies, insert
relevant information for determining Digital Option Fallback
Rate)

[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]
[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR Basis-
EUR”] (if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)

(If Collar Rate applies, insert relevant information for determining
Digital Option Fallback Rate)

[+/-][100]/[ @] per cent.

(This may be a negative value.)
[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum
[®]/[Infinity]

[®]/[Zero]

[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[®]/[Issue Date]

[[®] in each year, starting on [®], up to and including [the Maturity
Date][®]]/[Interest Payment Dates will correspond to Interest
Period End Dates]
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(iii)

Business Day Convention for
Interest Period End Dates:

(iv)

Interest Payment Dates:

(v) Business Day Convention for
Interest Payment Dates:

(vi) Additional Business Centre(s):

(vii) Interest Variable Option:

(viii) Day Count Fraction:

(ix) Inflation Index:

(x) Interest Multiplier:

(xi) Margin:

(xii) Minimum Rate of Interest:

(xiii) Maximum Rate of Interest:

(xiv) Relevant Payment Date:

(xv) Relevant Determination Date(s):

Form of Final Terms

[Floating  Rate  Convention/Following  Business  Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/Not Applicable]

[[®] in each year, starting on [®], up to and including [the Maturity
Date][e]]

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following
Business Day  Convention/Preceding Business Day
Convention/Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable][specify other financial centres required for the
Business Day definition]

[Evolution of Inflation]

[Asian Option — Inflation]

[Digital Option]

(Depending on the applicable Interest Variable Option selected,
insert the relevant variables within the corresponding paragraph
below)

(Specify one of the options listed below)
[Actual/Actual] or [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30/360] or [360/360] or [Bond Basis]
[30E/360] or [Eurobond Basis]
[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[1/1]

[e]Sponsor: [e]

[Give or annex details]

[+/-1[100]/[®] per cent.][As set out under Digital Option below]
(This may be a negative value.)

[[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum][As set out under Digital Option
below]

[e]
[e]
(Insert (i) Minimum Rate of Interest to floor the Rate of Interest;
(if) Maximum Rate of Interest to cap the Rate of Interest and (iii)

Minimum Rate of Interest and Maximum Rate of Interest to collar
the Rate of Interest)

[[®] in each year starting on [e], up to and including [the Maturity
Date][®]]/[Each Interest Payment Date [and][The][ Maturity Date]

[Specify/[Five] Business Days prior to [each/the] Relevant
Payment Date]
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(xvi) Related Bond(s):

(xvii) Issuer(s) of Related Bond(s):
(xviii) Fallback Bond(s):

(xix) Period of  Cessation

Publication:

(xx) Evolution of Inflation:

- Inflationinitiat Reference
Month:

—  Reference Month(s):

—  Scaling Factor:

(xxi) Asian Option — Inflation:
- Inflationinitiai Reference
Month(s):
— Inflation;:

—  Reference Month(s):

of

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

Form of Final Terms

[Specify for an Index/Fallback Bond]

[e]/[Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Specify for an Index/The bond determined as provided in

Condition 8]

[2 consecutive months]/[e]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this

paragraph)

[e]

Reference  Relevant

Months Payment
Dates

[e] [e]

[o] [o]

[e] [e]

[[100]/[®] per cent.]

[Scaling Factor

[®] per cent.

[®] per cent.

[®] per cent.
[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[e].[®].[e]

Interest Periods

From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[e] [e]

[e] [e]
[e] [e]

Interest Period

From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[e] [e]

[e] [e]
[e] [e]]

As determined in accordance with the following elections:

Reference Relevant
Monthst Payment
Dates
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Form of Final Terms
[e], [e].[e] [e] [e] [e]
(o], [®].[¢] [e] [o] [e]
(Insert the different Reference Months for the purpose of
determining each Inflationt)

—  Scaling Factor: [[100]/[®] per cent.]

[Scaling Factor Interest Period
From (and To (but
including) excluding)

[#] per cent. [o] [o]

[®] per cent. [e] [e]

[] per cent. [e] [e]]

(xxii) Digital Option: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph. If applicable, insert the relevant variables within the
corresponding paragraph below)

—  Digital Option Type: Inflation

— Digital Option Payment [Greater Than]

Condition: [Less Than]

[Greater Than Or Equal To]
[Less Than Or Equal To]

—  Reference Months:

Reference Relevant Interest Periods
Months Payment
Dates
From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[e] [e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e] [e]
—  Digital Option Strike: [[®]

(Insert relevant level)
[Inflation Determination]

— Reference Months:

Reference Relevant Interest Periods
Months Payment
Dates
From (and To (but
including) excluding)
(o] [e] (o] [e]
[e] [e] [e] [e]
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Scaling Factor;

Digital Option Exercised
Rate:

Digital

Digital Option Payment
Determination Method:

Reference Rate:

Interest Determination

Date(s):

Relevant Screen Page:

Interest Multiplier:

Margin:

Cap Rate:
Floor Rate:
Collar Margin:

Option Fallback

Rate:

Reference Rate:

Form of Final Terms

[e] [e] [e] [e]

[[100]/[®] per cent.]

[Scaling Factor Interest Period
From (and To (but
including) excluding)

[®] per cent. [®] [®]

[#] per cent. [o] [o]

[e] per cent. [e] [e]]

[[®] per cent. per annum]

[As determined in accordance with the Digital Option Payment
Determination Method]

[Not Applicable]

[Screen Rate Determination]

[Collar Rate]
[EURIBOR][LIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]

[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]
[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR Basis-
EUR”](if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)

(If Collar Rate applies, insert relevant information for determining
Digital Option Exercised Rate)

[+/-][100]/[ @] per cent.

(This may be a negative value.)
[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum
[®]/[Infinity]

[®]/[Zero]

[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum]

[Zero]

[[®] per cent. per annum]|
[Screen Rate Determination]
[Collar Rate]

(If Screen Rate Determination and/or Collar Rate applies, insert
relevant information for determining Digital Option Fallback
Rate)

[EURIBOR][LIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
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Interest Determination
Date(s):

Relevant Screen Page:

Interest Multiplier:

Margin:
Cap Rate:
Floor Rate:

Collar Margin:

18 Currency Linked Interest Notes

(i) Interest Commencement Date:
(ii) Interest Period End Dates:

(iii) Business Day Convention for
Interest Period End Dates:

(iv) Interest Payment Dates:

(v) Business Day Convention for
Interest Payment Dates:

(vi) Additional Business Centre(s):

(vii) Interest Variable Option:

(viii) Day Count Fraction:

Form of Final Terms

[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]
[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR Basis-
EUR”](if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)

(If Collar Rate applies, insert relevant information for determining
Digital Option Fallback Rate)

[+/-][100]/[®] per cent.

(This may be a negative value.)

[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum

[®]/[Infinity]

[®]/[Zero]

[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[®]/[Issue Date]

[[®] in each year, starting on [®], up to and including [the Maturity
Date][e®]]

[Floating Rate  Convention/Following  Business  Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/Not Applicable]

[[®] in each year starting on [®], up to and including [the Maturity
Date][®]]/[Interest Payment Dates will correspond to Interest
Period End Dates]

[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following
Business Day  Convention/Preceding Business Day
Convention/Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable][specify other financial centres required for the
Business Day definition]

[Evolution of Currency]

[Asian Option — Currency]

[Digital Option]

(Depending on the applicable Interest Variable Option selected,

insert the relevant variables within the corresponding paragraph
below)

(Specify one of the options listed below)
[Actual/Actual] or [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]
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(ix) Interest Multiplier:

(x) Margin:

(xi) Minimum Rate of Interest:

(xii) Maximum Rate of Interest:

(xiii) Currency Rate:

(xiv) Currency Page:

(xv) Event Currency:

(xvi) Base Currency:

(xvii) Reference Currency:

(xviii) Valuation Time:

(xix) Currency Disruption Events:

Form of Final Terms

[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30/360] or [360/360] or [Bond Basis]
[30E/360] or [Eurobond Basis]
[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[1/1]

[+/-][100]/[®] per cent.][As set out under Digital Option below]
(This may be a negative value.)

[[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum][As set out under Digital Option
below]

[e]
[e]
(Insert (i) Minimum Rate of Interest to floor the Rate of Interest;
(if) Maximum Rate of Interest to cap the Rate of Interest and (iii)

Minimum Rate of Interest and Maximum Rate of Interest to collar
the Rate of Interest)

[e]

[e]

[e]/[Reference Currency]
[®]/[Specified Currency]
[e]

[e]

[Not applicable]

[Benchmark Obligation Default]
[Benchmark Obligation description: [e]] (if Benchmark
obligation default applicable)

[Dual Exchange Rate]
[General Inconvertibility]
[General Non-Transferability]
[Governmental Authority Default]
[Iiquidity]

[Minimum Amount: [e]];

[[liquidity ~Valuation Date: [e]] (if Hliquidity
applicable)

[Material Change in Circumstances]
[Nationalisation]

[Price Materiality]
[Secondary Rate: [@]]
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(xxX) Evolution of Currency:

—  Currencyinitiar Valuation
Date:

- Valuation Dates:

—  Scaling Factor:

(xxi) Asian Option — Currency:

—  Currencyinitiar Valuation
Date(s):

—  Currency::

- Valuation Dates:

Form of Final Terms

[Price Materiality Percentage [®]](if Price Materiality
applicable)

[Price Source Disruption]

[Specific Inconvertibility]

[Minimum Amount:[e]] (if Specific Inconvertibility
applicable)

[Specific Non-Transferability]

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

(o]

[Valuation Dates Interest Period

From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e]]

[[100]/[®] per cent.]

[Scaling Factor Interest Period

From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[®] per cent. [e] [e]
[®] per cent. [o] [e]
[e] per cent. [e] [e]]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[e].[e],[]

As determined in accordance with the following elections:

[Valuation Datest Interest Period

From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e]]
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—  Scaling Factor:

(xxii) Digital Option:

—  Digital Option Type:

—  Digital Option
Condition:

Payment

- Valuation Dates:

—  Digital Option Strike:

— Valuation Dates:

— Scaling Factor:

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining

each Currencyyr)
[[100]/[®] per cent.]

[Scaling Factor

[®] per cent.
[®] per cent.
[®] per cent.

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this

paragraph)
Currency

[Greater Than]

[Less Than]

[Greater Than Or Equal To]
[Less Than Or Equal To]

[Valuation Dates

[e]
[e]
[e]
[e]

Form of Final Terms

Interest Period

From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[e] [e]
[e] [e]
[e] [e]]

Interest Period

From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[e] [e]

[e] [e]
[e] [e]]

(Insert relevant exchange rate)

[Currency Determination]

Valuation Date

[e]
[e]
[e]
[[100]/[®] per cent.]

[Scaling Factor

[®] per cent.

[®] per cent.
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From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[e] [e]

[e] [e]
[e] [e]

Interest Period

From (and To (but
including) excluding)
(o] (o]

[e] [e]



Digital Option Exercised
Rate:

Digital

Digital Option Payment
Determination Method:

Reference Rate:

Interest Determination

Date(s):

Relevant Screen Page:

Interest Multiplier:

Margin;

Cap Rate:
Floor Rate:
Collar Margin:

Option Fallback

Rate:

Reference Rate:

Interest Determination

Date(s):

Relevant Screen Page:

Interest Multiplier:

Form of Final Terms

[®] per cent. [e] [e]]
[[®] per cent. per annum]
[As determined in accordance with the Digital Option

Determination Method]

[Not Applicable]

[Screen Rate Determination]

[Collar Rate]
[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

(o]
[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR Basis-
EUR”] (if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)

(If Collar Rate applies, insert relevant information for determining
Digital Option Exercised Rate)

[+/-][100]/[ ] per cent.

(This may be a negative value.)
[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum
[®]/[Infinity]

[®]/[Zero]

[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum

[Zero]
[[Screen Rate Determination][ ®] per cent. per annum]

[Collar Rate]

(If Screen Rate Determination and/or Collar Rate applies, insert
relevant information for determining Digital Option Fallback
Rate)

[LIBOR][EURIBOR][NIBOR][CMS]
[e][Standard IDD][Arrears IDD]

[e]
[Reuters Page <ISDAFIX2>, under the heading “EURIBOR Basis-
EUR”] (if CMS)

(in the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1, ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate)

(If Collar Rate applies, insert relevant information for determining
Digital Option Fallback Rate)

[+/-][100]/[ @] per cent.
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Margin;
Cap Rate:
Floor Rate:

Collar Margin:

19 Additional Disruption Events

Form of Final Terms
(This may be a negative value.)
[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum
[®]/[Infinity]
[®]/[Zero]
[+/-] ] per cent. per annum]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)
[[Change in Law]
[Hedging Disruption]
[Increased Cost of Hedging]

[Insolvency Filing]
(NB: applicable in the case of Equity Linked Notes)

[Loss of Stock Borrow] (NB: applicable only for Equity Linked
Notes and Index Linked Notes)

[The Maximum Stock Loan Rate in respect of [specify in relation

to each Underlying Equity/security] is [e]].

(NB: Only applicable if Loss of Stock Borrow is applicable)

[Increased Cost of Stock Borrow] (NB: applicable only for Equity
Linked Notes and Index Linked Notes)
[The Initial Stock Loan rate in respect of [specify in
relation to each Underlying Equity/security] is [e]].
(NB: Only applicable if Increased Cost of Stock Borrow
is applicable)]

[Cross-contamination]

(NB: applicable only for Equity Linked Notes with ETF Shares
specified as an Underlying Equity)

[ETF Insolvency Event]

(NB: applicable only for Equity Linked Notes with ETF Shares

specified as an Underlying Equity)
[ETF Insolvency Entity: [specify][Not Applicable]

(NB: Only applicable if ETF Insolvency Event is applicable)]

[ETF Modification]

(NB: applicable only for Equity Linked Notes with ETF Shares
specified as an Underlying Equity)

[ETF Regulatory Action]

(NB: applicable only for Equity Linked Notes with ETF Shares
specified as an Underlying Equity)

[ETF Strategy Breach]

(NB: applicable only for Equity Linked Notes with ETF Shares
specified as an Underlying Equity)
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(i) Trade Date:

Alternative Currency Provisions

(i) Alternative Currency:

(if) Maximum Alternative Currency
Number:

(iii) AC Rate Calculation Date:

(iv) AC Rate Calculation
Jurisdiction(s):

(v) AC USD Rate Calculation Date:

(vi) AC USD Rate Calculation
Jurisdiction(s):

(vii) Trade Date:

Form of Final Terms
[e]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[USD][]
[e]

[#] AC Rate Calculation Business Days before the due date for
payment of the relevant amount under the Notes

[e]

[#] AC USD Rate Calculation Business Days before the due date
for payment of the relevant amount under the Securities

[e]

[e]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

21

Issuer Call

(i) Optional Redemption Date(s):

(if) Business Day convention for
Optional Redemption Dates:

(iii) Additional Business Centre(s):

(iv) Optional Redemption Amount;

(v) Issuer Call Period (if other than as

set out in Condition 5(c)):

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[e]
[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following
Business Day  Convention/Preceding Business Day

Convention/Not Applicable]

(NB: This should be not applicable unless the Optional
Redemption Date is not expected to fall on an Interest Payment
Date)

[Not Applicable][specify other financial centres required for the
Business Day definition]

(NB: This should be not applicable unless the Optional
Redemption Date is not expected to fall on an Interest Payment
Date)

[e] per Calculation Amount

[e]]

[not] [less than [e]] [nor more than [e]]

(N.B. If setting issuer call periods which are different to those
provided in the Conditions, the Issuer is advised to consider the
practicalities  of  distribution of information through
intermediaries, for example, clearing systems and custodians, as
well as any other notice requirements which may apply, for
example, as between the Issuer and the Agent)
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22 Autocall Early Redemption

(i) Autocall Type:

[_

Index and details of the
relevant Index Sponsor:

Index Linked Interest
Payment Extension
Number:

Valuation Time:

Correction of Index
Levels:

Correction Cut-Off Date:

The identity of the relevant
Equity Issuer(s) of the
equity security/equity
securities in the basket:

Form of Final Terms

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[Index]

[Underlying Equity]

[Basket of Underlying Equities]

[Currency]

Index: [name and short description of
type of index]

Index Sponsor: [specify]

Multiplier (per cent.): [specify]

Exchange: [specify]

Related Exchange: [All Exchanges][specify]

Designated  Multi-Exchange  [Applicable][Not Applicable]
Index:

Valuation Time: [specify]]
[e]]

[Condition 6(d) applies]/[®]]

Correction of Index Levels [applies/does not apply and the
Reference Price shall be calculated without regard to any
subsequently published correction].]

[[®] Business Days prior to each Interest Payment Date/Not
Applicable.]]

[Give or annex details of the relevant Underlying
Equities/Underlying Equity, as applicable]:

[The following apply only to Notes which have a single equity
component]:

Underlying Equity: [name and short description of
type of shares (which, if “ETF
Share” is specified below as
applicable, will be ETF
Shares)] issued by the Equity
Issuer (ISIN: [e])

ETF Share [Applicable/Not Applicable]
Underlying Equity Currency: [specify]
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Equity Linked Interest
Payment Extension
Number:

Potential Adjustment
Events:

Equity Issuer:

Exchange:

Related Exchange:

Form of Final Terms

[specify](in the case of ETF
Shares, specify the relevant ETF
Issuer)

[specify]

[All Exchanges][specify]

[(The following additional provisions apply only where the relevant
equity component is an ETF Share):

ETF Adviser:
ETF Administrator:

Reference Index:

[specify]
[specify]
[specify]]

[The following apply only to Notes with an equity basket

component]:

A Dbasket composed of Underlying Equities in the relative
proportions of Underlying Equities of each Equity Issuer specified

below:

Underlying Equity:

ETF Share
Underlying Equity Currency:
Equity Issuer:

Multiplier (per cent.):
Exchange:

Related Exchange:

[name and short description of
type of shares (which, if “ETF
Share” is specified below as
applicable, will be ETF
Shares)] issued by the Equity
Issuer (ISIN: [e])

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[specify]
[specify](in the case of ETF

Shares, specify the relevant ETF
Issuer)

[specify]
[specify]
[All Exchanges][specify]

[(The following additional provisions apply only where the relevant
equity component is an ETF Share):

ETF Adviser:
ETF Administrator:

Reference Index:

[specify]
[specify]
[specify]]

[Replicate the details in respect of each Equity in the Basket]]

[e]]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]]
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De-listing, Merger Event,
Nationalisation and
Insolvency:

Tender Offer:
Valuation Time:

Exchange Rate:

Correction of Share Prices:

Correction Cut-Off Date:

Trade Date:
Currency Rate:
Currency Page:
Event Currency:
Base Currency:
Reference Currency:
Valuation Time:

Currency Disruption
Events:

Form of Final Terms

[Applicable/Not Applicable]]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]]
[Condition 7(d) applies]/[®]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Insert details]]

Correction of Share Prices [applies/does not apply and the
Reference Price shall be calculated without regard to any
subsequently published correction].]

[®] Business Days prior to each Interest Payment Date/Not
Applicable.]]

[e]]

[e]]

[e]]

[e]/[Reference Currency]]
[®]/[Specified Currency]]
[e]]

[e]]

[Not applicable]

[Benchmark Obligation Default]

[Benchmark Obligation description: [e]] (if Benchmark
obligation default applicable)

[Dual Exchange Rate]
[General Inconvertibility]
[General Non-Transferability]
[Governmental Authority Default]
[Hliquidity]

[Minimum Amount: [e]];

[[liquidity Valuation Date: [®]] (if Illiquidity applicable)
[Material Change in Circumstances]
[Nationalisation]
[Price Materiality]

[Secondary Rate: [e]]

[Price Materiality Percentage [e]](if Price Materiality
applicable)

[Price Source Disruption]

[Specific Inconvertibility]
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(ii) Autocall Condition:

(iii) Autocall Observation Dates:

(iv) Business Day Convention for
Autocall Observation Dates:

(v) Autocall Variable:

[_

Autocall Variable
Averaging:

Valuation Date(s):

Averaging Disruption
Provisions:

(vi) Autocall Strike:

Autocall Strike Amount:

Autocall Strike
Determination:

Autocall Strike Averaging:

Form of Final Terms

[Minimum Amount: [e]] (if Specific Inconvertibility
applicable)

[Specific Non-Transferability]]
[Greater Than]

[Less Than]

[Greater Than Or Equal To]
[Less Than Or Equal To]

[e]
[Floating  Rate  Convention/Following  Business  Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day

Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

Autocall Valuation Date Valuation Dates; (where
Observati | (where Autocall Autocall Variable Averaging
on Dates | Variable Averaging | is Applicable)

is Not Applicable)
[e] [N/A] [N/A]

[e] [e].[e].[®]
[e] [N/A] [N/A]

[e] [e].[®],[®]
[e] [N/A] [N/A]

[e] [e].[®],[®]

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining
each Autocall Variable)

[Omission]/[Postponement]/[Modified Postponement]/[Not
Applicable]]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete table and populate Autocall Strike
Determination or Autocall Strike Averaging)

Autocall Observation | Autocall Strike
Dates

[e] [e]

[e] [e]

[e] [e]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
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[~ Valuation Date(s):

[~ Averaging Disruption
Provisions:

(vii) Average Autocall Reference
Price:

—  Autocall Variable
Averaging:

—  Autocall Strike Averaging:

—  Autocall Reference
IteMinitiar Averaging:

- Autocall Reference lteMfinal
Averaging:

(viii) Scaling Factor:

(ix) Autocall Redemption Amount:

Form of Final Terms

Autocall Valuation Date Valuation Dates: (where
Observation | (where Autocall Autocall Strike Averaging is
Dates Strike Applicable)
Determination is
Applicable)
[e] [N/A] [N/A]
[e] [e].[e].[®]
[e] [N/A] [N/A]
[e] [e].[®].[®]
[e] [N/A] [N/A]
[e] [e].[®].[®]

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining
each Autocall Variable, unless Autocall Strike Amount applies in
which case delete the above table)]

[Omission]/[Postponement]/[Modified Postponement]/[Not

Applicable]]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]
[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[[100]/[®] per cent.]

[Scaling Factor

Interest Period

From (and  To (but excluding)
including)
[] per cent. [e] [e]
[e] per cent. [e] [e]
[®] per cent. [e] [e]]
([e]
[Autocall Redemption Autocall Notes
Amount redeeming
From (and To (but
including) excluding)
[e] [e] [e]
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Reference Iteminitial:

Valuation Date(s):

Averaging Disruption
Provisions:

Reference ltemfinal:

Valuation Date(s):

Form of Final Terms

[e] [e] [e]
(o] (o] [e]]
(If one or more specific amounts are specified, delete the remainder

of this paragraph. If a specific amount is not specified, populate
the provisions below)

([e]

(Insert relevant level or amount, depending on Autocall Type,
unless Reference Iteminiiar Determination or Autocall Reference
Itemsinal Averaging applies)]

[Reference Iteminitial Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable]]

[Autocall Reference Iteminia Averaging: [Applicable/Not
Applicable]
Autocall Valuation Date Valuation Dates: (where
Observation | (where Reference | Autocall Reference IteMinitial
Dates IteMinitial Averaging is Applicable)
Determination is
Applicable)
[e] [N/A] [N/A]
[e] [e].[®].[®]
[e] [N/A] [N/A]
[e] [e].[®].[e]
[e] [N/A] [N/A]

[e] [e].[®].[e]]
[Omission]/[Postponement]/[Modified Postponement]/[Not
Applicable]]

([e]

(Insert relevant level or amount, depending on Autocall Type,
unless Reference Itemfinai Determination or Autocall Reference
Itemfinal Averaging applies)]

[Reference Itemsinal Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable]]

[Autocall Reference Itemrsina  Averaging: [Applicable/Not
Applicable]]
Autocall Valuation Date Valuation Dates; (where

Observation
Dates

(where Reference
IteMfinal
Determination is

Autocall Reference IteMyina
Averaging is Applicable)

Applicable)
[o] [N/A] [N/A]

[e] [e].[®].[e]
[o] [N/A] [N/A]

(o] [e].[e].[®]
[o] [N/A] [N/A]

[e] [e].[®].[®]]
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23

24

[~ Averaging Disruption
Provisions:

- Cap %:
- Floor %:

- Scaling Factor:

- Autocall Multiplier:

Final Redemption Amount:

[Early Redemption Amount:

Early Redemption Amount payable
on redemption for taxation reasons or
on an illegality (or, in the case of
Floating Rate Notes, following a
cessation of the Reference Rate or, in
the case of Index Linked Notes,
following an Index Adjustment Event
in accordance with Condition
6(b)(ii)(b) or, in the case of Equity
Linked Notes, following a De-listing
and/or Merger Event and/or
Nationalisation and/or Insolvency
and/or Tender Offer in accordance
with Condition 7(b)(ii)(b) or, in the
case of Inflation Linked Notes,
following an Inflation Index
Cancellation pursuant to a Cessation
of Publication in accordance with
Condition 8 or, in the case of
Currency Linked Notes, following a
Currency Disruption Event, in
accordance with Condition
9(b)(i)(D)) or following an
Additional Disruption Event (if

Form of Final Terms

[Omission]/[Postponement]/[Modified Postponement]/[Not
Applicable]]

[®]/[Infinity]

[®]/[Zero]

[[100]/[®] per cent.]

Autocall Observation | Scaling Factor
Dates

[eo] [®] per cent.
[e] [®] per cent.
[e] [e] per cent.
[eo] [®] per cent.

[] [100] per cent.

[Redemption will be at par][e]

[In accordance with Conditions] (applicable for Index Linked
Redemption Notes, Equity Linked Redemption Notes and
Currency Linked Redemption Notes only)

[In accordance with Credit Linked Conditions] (applicable for
Credit Linked Notes only)

— Fixed Early Redemption Amount: [@][Not Applicable]

— Fixed Early Redemption Percentage: [®#]%[Not Applicable]

— Including Interest: [Applicable][Not Applicable]] (if Condition
5(e)(i) applies)
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applicable) or, following a Scheduled
Payment Currency Disruption Event:

Index Linked Redemption Notes:

(i) Index and details of the relevant
Sponsors:

(ii) Index Linked Redemption

Amount:

[- Index Redemption
Multiplier:

[-  Reference Iteminitiai:

[ Valuation Date(s):

[~  Averaging Disruption
Provisions:

[- Reference Itemsinal:

Form of Final Terms

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

Index: [name and short description of type
of index.]

Index Sponsor: [specify]

Multiplier (per cent.): [specify]

Exchange: [specify]

Related Exchange:

Designated Multi-
Exchange Index:

[All Exchanges][specify]
[Applicable][Not Applicable]

Valuation Time: [specify]
[The Index is a Designated Multi-Exchange Index]

(N.B. Designated Multi-Exchange Index only applies in relation
to the Euro Stoxx Index unless otherwise specifically agreed)

(Populate the provisions below)

[+/-][100]/[ @] per cent.

(This may be a negative value.)

([e]

(Insert relevant amount, unless Reference Iteminitiai Determination
or Reference Itemsina Averaging applies)]

[Reference Iteminiiar Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Reference Iteminiia Averaging: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

Valuation Dates; (where
Reference IteMinitial

Valuation Date (where
Reference IteMinitia
Determination Applicable) Averaging Applicable)

[N/A] [N/A]
[e] [e], [®], []

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining
each Reference Iteminitiai, Unless relevant amount specified in
which case delete the above table)]

[Omission]/[Postponement]/[Modified Postponement]/[Not
Applicable]]

([e]
(Insert relevant amount, unless Reference Itemsina Determination
or Reference Itemsina Averaging applies)]

[Reference Itemsina Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable]
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—
|

Valuation Date(s):

[~ Averaging Disruption
Provisions:

[ Scaling Factor:
[~ Cap%:
[~ Floor %:
(iii) Exchange(s):
(iv) Related Exchange(s):
(v) Valuation Date:
(vi) Valuation Time:
(vii) Multiplier:

(viii)Correction of Index Levels:

(ix) Correction Cut-Off Date:
Equity Linked Redemption Notes

(i)  Whether the Notes relate to a
basket of equity securities or a
single equity security, and the
identity of the relevant Equity
Issuer(s):

Form of Final Terms

[Reference Itemsina Averaging: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

Valuation Date (where
Reference Itemyina

Valuation Dates; (where
Reference Itemyina Averaging

Determination Applicable) Applicable)
[N/A] [N/A]
[e] (o], [], [®]

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining
each Reference Itemsinal, Unless relevant amount specified in which
case delete the above table)]

[Omission]/[Postponement]/[Modified Postponement]/[Not
Applicable]]

[100]/[e] per cent.]
[®]/[Infinity]]

[®]/[Zero]]

[o]

[All Exchanges]

[e]

[Condition 6(d) applies]/[e]
[+/-] [®] [100] per cent.

Correction of Index Levels [applies/does not apply and the
Reference Price shall be calculated without regard to any
subsequently published correction].

[e] Business Days prior to the Maturity Date/Not Applicable
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Basket of Underlying Equities/Single Underlying Equity]

[(Give or annex details of the relevant Underlying Equities/
Underlying Equity, as applicable):

[The following apply only to Notes which have a single equity
component]:

Underlying Equity: [name and short description of type of
shares (which, if “ETF Share” is
specified below as applicable, will be
ETF Shares)] issued by the Equity

Issuer (ISIN: [®])
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[specify]

ETF Share
Underlying Equity
Currency:

Equity Issuer: [specify] (in the case of ETF Shares,

specify the relevant ETF Issuer)

[specify]
[All Exchanges][specify]

Exchange

Related Exchange:
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(ii) Equity Linked Redemption
Amount:

[~ Equity Redemption
Multiplier:

[-  Reference Iteminitiar:

[- Valuation Date(s):

Form of Final Terms

[(The following additional provisions apply only where the relevant
equity component is an ETF Share):

ETF Adviser: [specify]
ETF Administrator: [specify]
Reference Index: [specify]]

[The following apply only to Notes with an equity basket
component]:

A basket composed of Underlying Equities in the relative
proportions of Underlying Equities of each Equity Issuer specified
below:

Underlying Equity [name and short description of type of
shares (which, if “ETF Share” is
specified below as applicable, will be
ETF Shares)] issued by the Equity
Issuer (ISIN: [e])

ETF Share [Applicable/Not Applicable]

Underlying Equity [specify]

Currency

Equity Issuer [specify](in the case of ETF Shares,
specify the relevant ETF Issuer)

Multiplier (per cent.) [specify]

Exchange [specify]

[(The following additional provisions apply only where the relevant
equity component is an ETF Share):

ETF Adviser: [specify]
ETF Administrator: [specify]
Reference Index: [specify]]

[Replicate the details in respect of each Equity in the Basket]
([e]]

(Populate the provisions below)

[+/-][100]/[ ] per cent.

(This may be a negative value.)

([e]

(Insert relevant amount, unless Reference Iteminitiai Determination
or Reference lteminiia Averaging applies)]

[Reference Iteminiiar Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Reference Iteminiia Averaging: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

Valuation Date (where Valuation Dates; (where
Reference IteMinitia Reference Iteminiial
Determination Applicable) Averaging Applicable)
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[~ Awveraging Disruption
Provisions:

[- Reference Itemsina:

[- Valuation Date(s):

[~ Awveraging Disruption
Provisions:

[- Scaling Factor:
[~ Cap%:
[ Floor %:
(iii) Related Exchange(s):
(iv) Potential Adjustment Events:

(v) De-listing, Merger Event,

Nationalisation and Insolvency:

(vi) Tender Offer:
(vii) Reference Price:
(viii) Valuation Date:
(ix) Valuation Time:
(x) Multiplier:

(xi) Exchange Rate:

Form of Final Terms

[N/A]
[N/A] [e], [®], [e]
[e]

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining
each Reference Iteminitiai, Unless relevant amount specified in
which case delete the above table)]

[Omission]/[Postponement]/[Modified Postponement]/[Not
Applicable]]

([e]
(Insert relevant amount, unless Reference Itemsina Determination
or Reference Itemsina Averaging applies)]

[Reference Itemsina Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Reference Itemsina Averaging: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

Valuation Dates; (where
Valuation Date (where Reference Itemrina Averaging
Reference IteMyina Applicable)

Determination Applicable)

[N/A]
[N/A] [o], [e], [e]
[e]

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining
each Reference Itemsinal, Unless relevant amount specified in which
case delete the above table)]

[Omission]/[Postponement]/[Modified Postponement]/[Not
Applicable]]

[100]/[e] per cent.]]
[®]/[Infinity]]

[®]/[Zero]]

[All Exchanges]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[e]

[e]

[Condition 7(d) applies]/[e]

[+/-] [®] [100] per cent.

[Applicable/Not Applicable] [Insert details]
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27

(xii) Correction of Share Prices:

(xiii) Correction Cut-Off Date:
(xiv) Trade Date:

Currency Linked Redemption
Notes

(i) Currency Linked Redemption
Amount:

[~ Currency Redemption
Multiplier:

[-  Reference lteMinitiai:

[-  Valuation Date(s):

[-  Reference Itemsina:

—
|

Valuation Date(s):

Form of Final Terms

Correction of Share Prices [applies/does not apply and the
Reference Price shall be calculated without regard to any
subsequently published correction].

[[®] Business Days prior to the Maturity Date]/[Not Applicable.]
[e]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

([e]]

(Populate the provisions below)

[+/-][100]/[ ®] per cent.

(This may be a negative value.)

[[e]

(Insert relevant amount, unless Reference Iteminitiai Determination
or Reference Itemsina Averaging applies)]

[Reference Iteminiiar Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Reference Iteminiia Averaging: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

Valuation Dates; (where
Reference Iteminitial
Averaging Applicable)

Valuation Date (where
Reference IteMinitia
Determination Applicable)

[N/A]
[N/A] [e], [®], [e]

[e]

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining
each Reference Iteminitiai, Unless relevant amount specified in
which case delete the above table)]

([e]
(Insert relevant amount, unless Reference Itemsina Determination
or Reference Itemsina Averaging applies)]

[Reference Itemsina Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Reference Itemsina Averaging: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

Valuation Dates; (where
Valuation Date (where Reference Itemrina Averaging
Reference IteMyina Applicable)
Determination Applicable)

[N/A]
[N/A] [e], [®], [e]
[o]
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[~  Scaling Factor:
[ Cap%:
[  Floor %:
(if) Currency Rate:
(iii) Currency Page:
(iv) Event Currency:
(v) Base Currency:
(vi) Reference Currency:
(vii) Valuation Date:
(viii) Valuation Time:
(ix) Multiplier:

(x) Currency Disruption Events:

28 Credit Linked Notes:

Form of Final Terms

(Insert the different Valuation Dates for the purpose of determining
each Reference Itemsinal, Unless relevant amount specified in which
case delete the above table)]

[100]/[®] per cent.]
[®]/[Infinity]]
[®]/[Zero]]

[e]

[e]

[e]/[Reference Currency]
[®]/[Specified Currency]
[e]

[e]

[e]

[+/-] [®] [100] per cent.
[Not applicable]

[Benchmark Obligation Default]

[Benchmark Obligation description: [e]] (if Benchmark
obligation default applicable)

[Dual Exchange Rate]

[General Inconvertibility]
[General Non-Transferability]
[Governmental Authority Default]
[INiquidity]

[Minimum Amount: [e]]; [Illiquidity Valuation Date:
[e]] (if Hliquidity applicable)

[Material Change in Circumstances]
[Nationalisation]

[Price Materiality]
[Secondary Rate: [@]]

[Price Materiality Percentage [®]](if Price Materiality
applicable)

[Price Source Disruption]

[Specific Inconvertibility]

[Minimum Amount:[e]] (if Specific Inconvertibility
applicable)

[Specific Non-Transferability]]
[Applicable][Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)
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(i)

(i)

(i)
(iv)
v)

(vi)

(vii)

Type of Notes:

Credit Event Redemption
Method:

[- Fallback Redemption
Method:

[Fixed Recovery Percentage:
Credit Payment on Maturity:
Credit Event Accrued Interest:

Credit Event Suspended
Interest:

Credit Event Deferred Interest
on Loss Amount:

(viii) Single Name Credit Linked

Notes:

— Reference Entity:
— Seniority Level:

— Standard Reference

Obligation:

— Reference Obligation:

— Auction Redemption

Amount:

— Cash Redemption Amount:

— Cash Redemption Date:

— Final Auction Redemption

Amount:

— Final Cash Redemption

Amount:

Form of Final Terms

[Single Name Credit Linked Notes][Basket Credit Linked Notes
Notes][Index Tranche Credit Linked Notes]

[Auction Redemption][Cash Redemption][Fixed

Redemption]

Recovery

[Cash Redemption][Not Applicable]] (Only applicable where
‘Auction Redemption’ is the Credit Event Redemption Method)

[®] per cent.]] (Delete this row if not applicable)
[Applicable][Not Applicable]
[Applicable][Not Applicable]
[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[Specify]
[Senior Level][Subordinated Level]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

(Where Applicable, specify Reference Obligation below if the
fallback to a Non-Standard Reference Obligation under paragraph
(c) of the definition of ““Reference Obligation” is to apply)

[Specify Reference Obligation]

[Specify if an alternative to that set out in the Credit Linked
Conditions is to apply][As per the Credit Linked Conditions] (Only
include if ‘Auction Redemption’ is applicable)

[Specify if an alternative to that set out in the Credit Linked
Conditions is to apply][As per the Credit Linked Conditions] (Only
include if “Cash Redemption’ is applicable, including where ‘Cash
Redemption’ is the Fallback Redemption Method)

[[®] Business Days following the relevant date specified in the
Credit Linked Conditions][As per the Credit Linked Conditions]
(Only include if Cash Redemption is the Credit Event Redemption
Method or the Fallback Redemption Method)

[Specify if an alternative to that set out in the Credit Linked
Conditions is to apply][As per the Credit Linked Conditions](Only
include if ‘Auction Redemption’ and ‘Credit Payment on Maturity’
applies)

[Specify if an alternative to that set out in the Credit Linked
Conditions is to apply][As per the Credit Linked Conditions](Only
include if “‘Cash Redemption’ and ‘Credit Payment on Maturity’
applies)
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Funding Interest Rate:

(ix) Basket Credit Linked Notes:

Index:

Reference Entities,
Weighting, Reference Entity
Notional Amount and
Seniority Level:

Standard Reference
Obligations:

Reference Obligations:

Basket Auction Redemption
Amount:

Basket Auction Redemption
Date:

Basket Cash Redemption
Amount:

Basket Cash Redemption
Date:

Form of Final Terms

[e]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[Specify][Not Applicable]

[As set out in Appendix 1 to the Final Terms](Insert if ‘Index’ is
applicable)

[(Insert below table if ‘Index’ is not applicable)

Reference | Weighting: | Reference Seniority Level:
Entity: Entity Notional
Amount:

[Specify] [Specify] [Specify] [Senior Level]
[Subordinated
Level]

[Specify] [Specify] [Specify] [Senior Level]
[Subordinated
Level]

(Repeat rows as necessary)]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

(Where applicable, specify Reference Obligation(s) below if the
fallback to a Non-Standard Reference Obligation under paragraph
(c) of the definition of “Reference Obligation™ is to apply. Insert
the Non-Standard Reference Obligation for each Reference Entity)

[Specify Reference Obligation(s)] (If ‘Index’ is not applicable,
insert the Reference Obligation for each Reference Entity) [In
respect of each Reference Entity, the obligation identified in
respect of such Reference Entity in the Appendix hereto](Insert if
‘Index’ is applicable)

[Specify if an alternative to that set out in the Credit Linked
Conditions is to apply][As per the Credit Linked Conditions] (Only
include if ‘Auction Redemption’ is applicable)

[[®] Business Days following the relevant date specified in the
Credit Linked Conditions][As per the Credit Linked Conditions]
(Only include if Auction Redemption is the Credit Event
Redemption Method)

[Specify if an alternative to that set out in the Credit Linked
Conditions is to apply][As per the Credit Linked Conditions] (Only
include if ‘Cash Redemption’ is applicable, including where’ Cash
Redemption’ is the Fallback Redemption Method)

[[®] Business Days following the relevant date specified in the
Credit Linked Conditions][As per the Credit Linked Conditions]
(Only include if Cash Redemption is the Credit Event Redemption
Method or the Fallback Redemption Method)
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Basket Final Auction
Redemption Amount:

Basket Final Cash
Redemption Amount:

Funding Interest Rate:

(X) Index Tranche Credit Linked
Notes:

Index:
Reference Entities:

Standard Reference
Obligations:

Reference Obligations:

Attachment Point:
Detachment Point:
Leverage:

Tranche Size:

Loss Threshold Amount:

Recovery Threshold
Amount:

Index Tranche Incurred Loss

Amount:

Index Tranche Incurred
Recovery Amount:

Index Tranche Cash
Redemption Date:

Index Tranche Auction
Redemption Date:

Funding Interest Rate:

(xi) Obligations:

Form of Final Terms

[Specify if an alternative to that set out in the Credit Linked
Conditions is to apply][As per the Credit Linked Conditions](Only
include if ‘Auction Redemption’ and ‘Credit Payment on Maturity’
applies)

[Specify if an alternative to that set out in the Credit Linked
Conditions is to apply][As per the Credit Linked Conditions](Only
include if ‘Cash Redemption’ and ‘Credit Payment on Maturity’

applies)
[e]
[Applicable][Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete remaining sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph)

[Specify]
As set out in Appendix 1 to the Final Terms

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

(Where Applicable, specify Reference Obligation(s) below if the
fallback to a Non-Standard Reference Obligation under paragraph
(c) of the definition of ““Reference Obligation™ is to apply. Insert
the Non-Standard Reference Obligation for each Reference Entity)

[In respect of each Reference Entity, the obligation identified in
respect of such Reference Entity in the Appendix hereto]

[®] per cent.
[®] per cent.
[®] per cent.

[®] [This is the product of (a) the Original Aggregate Nominal
Amount of the Notes and (b) the Detachment Point minus the
Attachment Point]

[®] [This is the product of the Original Aggregate Nominal Amount
and the Attachment Point]

[®] [This is the product of (a) the Original Aggregate Nominal
Amount and (b) 100% minus the Detachment Point]

[Specify][As per the Credit Linked Conditions]

[Specify][As per the Credit Linked Conditions]

[[®] Business Days following the relevant date specified in the
Credit Linked Conditions][As per the Credit Linked Conditions]

[[®] Business Days following the relevant date specified in the
Credit Linked Conditions][As per the Credit Linked Conditions]

[e]
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— Obligation Category:

— Obligation Characteristics:

— Excluded Obligation:

—  All Guarantees:

(xii) Valuation Obligations:

— Valuation Obligation
Category:

— Valuation Obligation
Characteristics:

—  Excluded Valuation
Obligation:

—  All Guarantees:

(xiii) Financial Reference Entity
Terms:

Form of Final Terms

[Payment][Borrowed Money][Reference  Obligation  Only]
[Bond][Loan][Bond or Loan] (Select one only)

[Not Subordinated]

[Specified Currency] (Specify unless the fallback in the definition
of “Specified Currency” applies)

[Not Sovereign Lender]

[Not Domestic Currency]

[Not Domestic Law]

[Listed]

[Not Domestic Issuance]

[None]

(Select all that apply)

[Specify][Not Applicable]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]
Fixed Cap: [Specify] [Not Applicable]

[Payment][Borrowed Money][Reference Obligations Only]
[Bond][Loan][Bond or Loan] (Select one only)

[Not Subordinated]

[Specified Currency] (Specify unless the fallback in the definition
of “Specified Currency” applies)

[Not Sovereign Lender]

[Not Domestic Currency]

[Domestic Currency] (Specify unless the fallback in the definition
of “Domestic Currency” in the Credit Linked Conditions applies)
[Not Domestic Law]

[Listed]

[Not Domestic Issuance]

[Assignable Loan]

[Consent Required Loan]

[Direct Loan Participation]

[Transferable]

[Maximum Maturity [of [¢] years (Specify if default is not to
apply)]]

[Accelerated or Matured]

[Not Bearer] (Select all that apply)

[Together with [Specify other obligation applicable for each
Reference Entity other than those determined by reference to
Obligation Category and Obligation Characteristics]]

[Specify][Not Applicable]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]
Fixed Cap: [Specify] [Not Applicable]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]
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(xiv) Subordinated European
Insurance Terms:

(xv) Coco Supplementary
Provisions:

[ [Trigger Percentage:
(xvi) Credit Event[(s)]:

—  Default Requirement:

— All Guarantees:

— Notice of Publicly Available
Information:

(xvii) Non-Standard Event
Determination Date:

(xviii) Event Determination Date
\ersion B:

(xix)  Movement Option:

Form of Final Terms

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[e]]
[Bankruptcy]
[Failure to Pay
Payment Requirement: [e® or its equivalent in the relevant
Obligation Currency as of the occurrence of the relevant failure
to pay] [OR] [As per the Credit Linked Conditions]
Grace Period Extension: [Applicable][Not Applicable]
[Grace Period: [Specify][As per the Credit Linked Conditions]]
[Governmental Intervention]
[Obligation Acceleration]
[Obligation Default]
[Repudiation/Moratorium]
[Restructuring
Mod R: [Applicable][Not Applicable]
Mod Mod R: [Applicable][Not Applicable]
Multiple Holder Obligation: [Applicable][Not Applicable]]
[Select all that apply]

[Specify][As per the Credit Linked Conditions]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]
Fixed Cap: [Specify] [Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable] [Note that it is not necessary to specify
“Applicable” as the default position under the Credit Linked
Conditions is for a Notice of Publicly Available Information to
apply]
Public Source(s): [Specify][As per the Credit Linked
Conditions]
Specified Number: [Specify][As per the Credit Linked
Conditions]]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[Applicable][Not Applicable] (Specify Event Determination Date
Version B as applicable where the hedging CDS has only one
Notifying Party (i.e. “Buyer” or “Seller” is specified as the
Notifying Party). Otherwise specify “Not Applicable” and the
Event Determination Date provisions which are equivalent to
having two Notifying Parties under a CDS will apply]

[Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Full Transferable
Obligation  Applicable][Modified  Restructuring  Maturity
Limitation and Conditionally Transferable Obligation Applicable]
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(xx)

Cash Redemption Terms:

— Valuation Date[(s)]:

— Valuation Time:

—  Valuation Method:
— Quotation Method:
— Quotation Dealers:

— Accrued Interest:

(xxi)  Physical Settlement Matrix

Standard Terms:

(xxii)  Redemption Following

Merger:

(xxiii)  Settlement Currency:

Form of Final Terms

[Applicable [as Fallback Redemption Method]][Not Applicable]

[Single Valuation Date:

Number of Business Days: [Specify][As per the Credit
Linked Conditions]]

[Multiple Valuation Dates:

[e] Business Days and each [e] Business Days thereafter.
[Number of Valuation Dates: [®]]]

[Specify][As per the Credit Linked Conditions]
[Highest][Market][Average Highest][Average Market][Lowest]
[Bid][Offer][Mid-market]

[Specify][As per the Credit Linked Conditions]

[Include Accrued Interest][Exclude Accrued Interest][As per
Credit Linked Condition 12(b)(ii)I1]
[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[Physical Settlement Matrix: [Specify][As per the Credit Linked
Conditions]

Transaction Type: [Specify]]
[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[Specify][As per the Credit Linked Conditions]

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

29

30

31

Form of Notes:
(i) [Form:

(i) New Global Note:

Calculation Agent responsible for
calculating the [Variable] Rate(s)
of Interest and Interest Amount(s)
and for making calculations
pursuant to [Condition
3(c)][Condition 5(d)] [Condition
6][Condition 7][Condition
8][Condition 9][Credit Linked
Conditions]:

Additional Financial Centre(s)
and/or other elections relating to
Payment Days:

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global
Note which is exchangeable for definitive Notes only upon an
Exchange Event]]

[Yes][No]

[(Give name and address)]

[Not Applicable/give details] (Note that this item relates to the
place of payment and not ““Business Days” for the purposes of the
Maturity Date, Interest Payment Dates and Optional Redemption
Dates - please insert any additional financial centres required for
the definition of Payment Day which applies to payments to be
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32

Talons for future Coupons to be
attached to Definitive Notes (and
dates on which such Talons
mature):

DISTRIBUTION

33

34

35
36

37

38

39
40

(i) Method of distribution:
(ii) If syndicated:

a) Names and addresses of
Managers:

b) [Date of Subscription
Agreement:

c) Stabilisation Manager(s), if
any:

If non-syndicated, name of relevant
Dealer:

[Total commission and concession:

U.S. Selling Restrictions:

Prohibition of sales to EEA retail
investors:

Prohibition of sales to consumers in
Belgium:

[Additional selling restrictions:
[Public Offer Consent:

3

4

5

Form of Final Terms

made to Noteholders and separate from the definition of
“Additional Business Centre” and ““Business Day”’)

[TARGET Not Required]

[Principal Financial Centre Not Required]

[Yes/No (if yes, give details)]]

[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]

[Not Applicable/give names and addresses]

(Include names and addresses of entities agreeing to underwrite
the issue on a firm commitment basis and names and addresses of
the entities agreeing to place the issue without a firm commitment
or on a “best efforts™ basis if such entities are not the same as the
managers. Describe underwriting)

[e]]®

[Not Applicable/give name]

[Not Applicable/give name]

[e] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount]*

Reg. S Compliance Category 2; [TEFRA D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not
applicable]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]
[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable/give details]]®

[Not Applicable] [An offer of the Notes may be made by the
[Dealers/Managers] [and] [specify names and addresses of any
financial intermediaries receiving specific consent] (the “Initial
Authorised Offerors”)] [[and by any additional financial
intermediaries who have or obtain the Issuer’s consent to use the

Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or XII.

Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or XII.

Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or XII.
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Form of Final Terms

Base Prospectus in connection with the Public Offer, and whose
names and addresses are made available, on the website of the
Issuer (at [www.kbc.com][e]) as an Authorised Offeror (together
being persons to which the Issuer has given its consent, the
“Authorised Offerors”)] other than pursuant to Article 3(2) of the
Prospectus Directive in [Belgium/Luxembourg] (the “Public Offer
Jurisdictions”) during the period from (and including) [specify
date] to (and including) [specify date] (“Offer Period”). See
further Paragraph 10 of Part B below.]]®

41 [General consent: [Applicable][Not Applicable]]”
42 [Other conditions to consent: [Not Applicable][®]]®

THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

[[®] (the “Reference Information™) has been extracted from [www.standardandpoors.com, www.moodys.com
and www.fitchratings.com (the "Relevant Websites")]. The Issuer confirms that such information has been
accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by [each
of the Relevant Websites], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information
inaccurate or misleading].

Signed on behalf of the Issuer:

By: By:
Duly authorised Duly authorised

Signed on behalf of the Guarantor:

By: By:
Duly authorised Duly authorised

 Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or XII.

" Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or XII.

8 Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or XII.
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Form of Final Terms

PART B - OTHER INFORMATION

1. ADMISSION TO TRADING:

Admission to trading:

[Estimate of total expenses related to
admission to trading:

2. [RATINGS™Y:

9

[Application [has been made]/[is expected to be made] by the
Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on
[specify relevant regulated market]/[the Regulated Market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange] with effect from on or around [the
Issue Date][®].] [Not Applicable.]

[0].1°

The Notes to be issued have not been rated. The rating of the
Guarantor is:

[Standard & Poor’s Credit Market Services Italy Srl.: [e]]
[Moody’s France S.A.S.: [e]]

[Fitch France S.A.S.: [e]]

[[Other]: [e]]

[Need to include here a brief explanation of the meaning of the
ratings if this has previously been published by the rating
provider.]

[The Notes to be issued [[have been]/[are expected to be]] rated
[insert details] by [insert credit rating agency name(s)].]

[[Insert credit rating agency] is established in the European Union
and has applied for registration under Regulation (EC) No.
1060/2009, although notification of the corresponding registration
decision has not yet been provided by the relevant competent
authority.]

[[Insert credit rating agency] is established in the European Union
and is registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 and listed
on the “List of Registered and Certified CRA’s” as published by
ESMA in accordance with Article 18(3) of such Regulation]

[[Insert credit rating agency] is not established in the European
Union and is not registered in accordance with Regulation (EC)
No. 1060/2009.]

[[Insert credit rating agency] is not established in the European
Union and has not applied for registration under Regulation (EC)
No. 1060/2009. However, the application for registration under
Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 of [insert the name of the relevant

Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex XIII.

10 A list of credit rating agencies registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 and listed on the “List of Registered and Certified CRA's”
is published on the ESMA website (http://esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-CRAS).
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Form of Final Terms

EU CRA affiliate that applied for registration], which is
established in the European Union, disclosed the intention to
endorse credit ratings of [insert credit rating agency].]

[[Insert credit rating agency] is not established in the European
Union and has not applied for registration under Regulation (EC)
No. 1060/2009. The ratings [[have been]/[are expected to be]]
endorsed by [insert the name of the relevant EU-registered credit
rating agency] in accordance with Regulation (EC) No.
1060/2009. [Insert the name of the relevant EU-registered credit
rating agency] is established in the European Union and registered
under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 and listed on the “List of
Registered and Certified CRA's” as published by ESMA in
accordance with Article 18(3) of such Regulation.]

[[Insert credit rating agency] is not established in the European
Union and has not applied for registration under Regulation (EC)
No. 1060/2009, but it is certified in accordance with such
Regulation.]]*

3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE:

[Save for any fees payable to the [Dealers/Managers/Initial Authorised Offerors/Authorised Offerors], so far
as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the offer of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. The
[Managers/Dealers/Initial Authorised Offers/Authorised Offerors] and their affiliates have engaged, and may
in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform
other services for, the Issuer and the Guarantor and their affiliates in the ordinary course of business. - Amend
as appropriate if there are other interests]

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters described
constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Base
Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)]

4. REASONS FOR THE OFFER[, ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AND TOTAL EXPENSES]*:

(i) [Reasons for the offer: [e]]

(See “Use of Proceeds” wording in Base Prospectus - if reasons
for offer different from making profit and/or hedging certain risks
will need to include those reasons here.)

[(iD)] [Estimated net proceeds: [e]]*®

(If proceeds are intended for more than one use will need to split
out and present in order of priority. If proceeds insufficient to fund
all proposed uses state amount and sources of other funding.)

1 Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex XIIl.
12 Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex XIII.
13 Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex XIII.
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[(iii))]  [Estimated total expenses:

5. YIELD:

Indication of yield:

(i) Gross yield:

(i) Net yield:

Maximum yield:

Minimum yield:

Form of Final Terms

[e]]*
(Expenses are required to be broken down into each principal
intended ““use” and presented in order of priority of such “uses™.

[Include for Fixed Rate Notes only]

[e]
[[Calculated as [include details of method of calculation in
summary form] on the Issue Date.] ]*

[Not Applicable]

[e]

[[Calculated as [include details of method of calculation in
summary form] on the Issue Date.] ]*¢

[Not Applicable]

[e][Include for Floating Rate Notes only where a maximum rate of
interest applies]

[[Calculated as [include details of method of calculation in
summary form] on the Issue Date.] 1*'

[Not Applicable]

[e][Include for Floating Rate Notes only where a minimum rate of
interest applies]

[[Calculated as [include details of method of calculation in
summary form] on the Issue Date.]]*®

[Not Applicable]

6. HISTORIC INTEREST RATES: (Floating Rate Notes only)

[Details of historic and projected performance of [LIBOR/EURIBOR/NIBOR/CMS] rates can be obtained

from [Reuters].][Not Applicable]

7. PERFORMANCE OF INDEX, EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT AND
ASSOCIATED RISKS AND OTHER INFORMATION CONCERNING THE INDEX: (Index-Linked

Notes only)

[The details of past and future performance and volatility of the index/formula can be obtained on [insert

relevant Bloomberg page].

[Need to include a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the investment is affected by the
underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most evident.]

14

15

16

17

18

Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex XIII.
Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or XIII.
Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or XIII.

Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or XIII.

Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or XIII.
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[Need to include the name of [the/each] Index and need to include details of where the information about
[the/each] Index can be obtained.]

[Include other information concerning the underlying required by paragraph 4.2 of Annex XlI of the
Prospectus Directive Regulation.]

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters described
constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Base
Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)]][Not Applicable]

PERFORMANCE OF [THE UNDERLYING EQUITY/BASKET OF UNDERLYING EQUITIES],
AND ASSOCIATED RISKS [AND OTHER INFORMATION CONCERNING [THE UNDERLYING
EQUITY/BASKET OF UNDERLYING EQUITIES]] (Equity Linked Notes only)

[The details of past and future performance and volatility of the Underlying Equity/basket of Underlying
Equities can be obtained on [insert relevant Bloomberg page].

[Need to include the name of [the/each] issuer of the underlying equity/underlying equities and the ISIN or
other identification code]

[Include other information concerning the underlying required by paragraph 4.2 of Annex XllI of the
Prospectus Directive Regulation.]

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters described
constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Base
Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)]][Not Applicable]

PERFORMANCE OF INFLATION AND OTHER INFORMATION CONCERNING INFLATION
INDEX] (Inflation Linked Notes only)

[The details of past and future performance and volatility of the relevant rates/formula/currencies/ inflation
index can be obtained on [insert relevant Bloomberg page].

[Include other information concerning the underlying required by paragraph 4.2 of Annex XllI of the
Prospectus Directive Regulation.]

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters described
constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Base
Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)]][Not Applicable]
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10. INFORMATION IN RELATION TO THE REFERENCE ENTITY AND ASSOCIATED RISKS
[AND OTHER INFORMATION CONCERNING THE REFERENCE ENTITY] (Credit Linked Notes

only)
[The details of past and future performance and volatility of the Reference Entity can be obtained [insert
relevant Bloomberg page].

[Include other information concerning the underlying required by paragraph 4.2 of Annex XllI of the
Prospectus Directive Regulation.]

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters described
constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Base
Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)]][Not Applicable]

11. [TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER:]*®

[Offer Price: [Specify]

[Conditions to which the offer is [Not Applicable/give details]
subject:]

[Description of the application [Not Applicable/give details]
process:]

[Details of the minimum and/or [Not Applicable/give details]

maximum amount of application]:

[Description of possibility to reduce: [Not Applicable/give details]
subscriptions and manner for
refunding excess amount paid by

applicants]

[Details of the method and time limits ~ [Not Applicable/give details - where Additional Settlement Date(s)
for paying up and delivering the is/are specified as being applicable, insert the following
Notes:] paragraph:

The date of delivery of the Notes to the investors’ respective book-
entry securities accounts will vary depending on the period during
which the offer of the Notes is accepted by the relevant investor.
The Issuer estimates that the Notes will be delivered on or around
the date specified for the relevant period under the heading
“Settlement Date” as specified in the table under “Offer Price”
above.]

[Manner in and date on which results ~ [Not Applicable/give details]
of the offer and the Additional

Settlement Date(s) (if relevant) are to

be made public:]

¥ Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or XII.

165



12.

[Procedure for exercise of any right of
pre-emption, negotiability of
subscription rights and treatment of
subscription rights not exercised:]

[Whether tranche(s) have been
reserved for certain countries:]

[Process for notification to applicants
of the amount allotted and the
indication whether dealing may begin
before notification is made:]

[Amount of any expenses and taxes
specifically charged to the subscriber
or purchaser:]

[Name(s) and addresses, to the extent
known to the Issuer, of the placers in
the various countries where the offer
takes place:]

OPERATIONAL INFORMATION:
) ISIN:

(i)
(iii)

Common Code:

Any clearing system(s) other
than Euroclear Bank SA/NV and
Clearstream Banking, société
anonyme and the relevant
identification number(s):

(iv)
v)
(vi)

Delivery:

Agent:

Names and addresses of
additional Paying Agent(s) (if
any):

Intended to be held in a manner

which would allow Eurosystem
eligibility:

(vii)

Form of Final Terms

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/the financial intermediaries identified in or in the
manner specified in paragraph [e] (Public Offer Consent)/give
details]

[e]
[e]
[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)]

Delivery against payment
[Banque Internationale a Luxembourg S.A] [e]

[e] [Not Applicable]

(Insert here any other relevant codes such as CUSIP and CINS
codes)

[Yes. Note that the designation “yes” simply means that the Notes
are intended upon issue to be deposited with one of the ICSDs as
common safekeeper and does not necessarily mean that the Notes
will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary
policy and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem either
upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition
will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem
eligibility criteria have been met.]

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as “no” at the date of these
Final Terms, should the Eurosystem eligibility criteria be amended
in the future such that the Notes are capable of meeting them the
Notes may then be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common
safekeeper. Note that this does not necessarily mean that the Notes
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will then be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem
at any time during their life. Such recognition will depend upon
the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have
been met.]
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Annex — Summary of the Notes

[ANNEX
SUMMARY OF THE NOTES]?

[Insert completed summary for the Notes]

(include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or Annex
XI1 of the Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as amended, and not for Notes that require information to be given in
accordance with Annex XlII of the Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as amended)

2 Include only if Notes are issued that require information to be given in accordance with Annex V or XII.

168



Terms and Conditions of the Notes

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES
This section sets out the contractual terms and conditions of the Notes. The subsections on Interest
Amounts and redemption contain certain options for determining interest payments (if any), early
redemption rights and final redemption payments. The Final Terms will indicate which of these
options shall apply for each specific Notes issuance.

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes which, as completed in accordance with the applicable
Final Terms, will be incorporated by reference into each Global Note (as defined below) and each Definitive
Note (as defined below), in the latter case only if permitted by the rules of the relevant stock exchange (if any)
and agreed by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) at the time of issue but if not so permitted and agreed, such
Definitive Note will have endorsed upon or attached thereto such Terms and Conditions. The applicable Final
Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) will be endorsed upon, or attached to, each Temporary Global Note,
Permanent Global Note and Definitive Note. Reference should be made to *““Form of Final Terms” above for a
description of the content of Final Terms which will include the definitions of certain terms used in the following
Terms and Conditions and/or will specify which of such terms are to apply in relation to the relevant Notes.

The Notes are one of a Series (as defined below) of Notes issued by KBC IFIMA S.A. (the “Issuer”) pursuant
to the Agency Agreement (as defined below).

References herein to the “Notes” shall be references to the Notes of this Series and shall mean (i) in relation to
any Notes represented by a global note (a “Global Note™), units of each Specified Denomination in the
Specified Currency, (ii) any Definitive Notes issued in exchange for a Global Note (a “Definitive Note”) and
(i) any Global Note.

The Notes and any Coupons (as defined below) are issued pursuant to and have the benefit of an Agency
Agreement (the “Agency Agreement”) dated 21 June 2017 as amended and/or supplemented and/or restated
from time to time in relation to the Issuer’s EUR 10,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme, and
made among the Issuer, KBC Bank NV (the “Guarantor”) as guarantor, Banque Internationale a Luxembourg
S.A. as issuing and principal paying agent (the “Agent”, which expression shall include any successor agent
specified in the applicable Final Terms), and the other paying agents named therein (together with the Agent,
the “Paying Agents”, which expression shall include any additional or successor paying agents).

Interest bearing Definitive Notes (unless otherwise indicated in the applicable Final Terms) have interest
coupons (“Coupons™) and, if indicated in the applicable Final Terms, talons for further Coupons (“Talons”)
attached on issue. Any reference herein to Coupons or coupons shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be
deemed to include a reference to Talons or talons. Global Notes do not have Coupons or Talons attached on
issue.

The final terms for a Series of Notes (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Final Terms
and are attached hereto or endorsed hereon and complete these Terms and Conditions (the “Conditions”) for
the purposes of such Series of Notes. References to the “applicable Final Terms” are to the Final Terms (or the
relevant provisions thereof) attached hereto or endorsed hereon.

The payment and, where applicable, delivery of all amounts in respect of the Notes has been guaranteed by the
Guarantor pursuant to a deed of guarantee dated 21 June 2017 as amended and/or supplemented and/or restated
from time to time (the “Guarantee”) executed by the Guarantor. The original of the Guarantee is held by the
Agent on behalf of the Noteholders and the Couponholders at its specified office.

The Notes are issued on an unsubordinated basis by the Issuer and guaranteed on an unsubordinated basis by
the Guarantor as described in Condition 2. Any reference to “Noteholders” or “holders” in relation to any
Notes shall mean the holders of the Notes, and shall, in relation to any Notes represented by a Global Note, be
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construed as provided below. Any reference herein to “Couponholders” shall mean the holders of the Coupons,
and shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include the holders of the Talons.

As used herein, “Tranche” means Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing) and “Series”
means a Tranche of Notes together with any further Tranche or Tranches of Notes which are (i) expressed to be
consolidated and form a single series and (ii) identical in all respects (including as to listing) except for their
respective Issue Dates, Interest Commencement Dates and/or Issue Prices.

The Noteholders and the Couponholders are entitled to the benefit of the Deed of Covenant executed by the
Issuer (the “Deed of Covenant”) dated 21 June 2017 as amended and/or supplemented and/or restated from
time to time. The original of the Deed of Covenant is held by a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear (as
defined below) and Clearstream, Luxembourg (as defined below).

Copies of the Agency Agreement, the Guarantee and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection during
normal business hours at the specified office of each of the Paying Agents. Copies of the applicable Final Terms
are available for viewing at, and copies may be obtained from, the specified office of each of the Paying Agents,
save that a Final Terms relating to a Note which is neither admitted to trading on a regulated market in the
European Economic Area nor offered in the European Economic Area in circumstances where a prospectus is
required to be published under the Prospectus Directive will only be available for inspection by a Noteholder
holding one or more Notes of that Series and such Noteholder must produce evidence satisfactory to the relevant
Paying Agent as to its holding of such Notes and identity. Copies of the applicable Final Terms relating to Notes
which are admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic Area and/or offered in the
European Economic Area in circumstances where a prospectus is required to be published under the Prospectus
Directive are also available for viewing on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, www.bourse.lu.
The Noteholders and the Couponholders are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the
provisions of the Agency Agreement, the Guarantee, the Deed of Covenant and the applicable Final Terms
which are applicable to them. The statements in these Conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the
detailed provisions of the Agency Agreement.

Words and expressions defined in the Agency Agreement or used in the applicable Final Terms shall have the
same meanings where used in these Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated
and provided that, in the event of inconsistency between the Agency Agreement and the applicable Final Terms,
the applicable Final Terms will prevail.

Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes are in bearer form and, in the case of Definitive Notes, serially numbered, in the Specified Currency
and the Specified Denomination(s). Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Notes of
another Specified Denomination.

Notes may be Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes, Zero Coupon Notes, Range Accrual Notes, Index Linked
Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest Notes, Inflation Linked Interest Notes, Currency Linked Interest Notes
(each, an “Interest Basis”) or a combination of any of the foregoing, depending upon the Interest Basis or
Interest Bases shown in the applicable Final Terms. The Notes will be Fixed Redemption Notes (redeeming at
par unless the Final Redemption Amount is otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms), Index Linked
Redemption Notes, Equity Linked Redemption Notes, or Currency Linked Redemption Notes, and may be
Autocall Notes, depending upon the Redemption/Payment Basis shown in the applicable Final Terms.
Definitive Notes are issued with Coupons attached, unless they are Zero Coupon Notes in which case references
to Coupons and Couponholders in these Conditions are not applicable.
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Subject as set out below, title to the Notes and Coupons will pass by delivery. The Issuer, the Guarantor and the
Paying Agents will (except as otherwise required by law) deem and treat the bearer of any Note or Coupon as
the absolute owner thereof, whether or not overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing
thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof, for all purposes but, in the case of any Global Note,
without prejudice to the provisions set out in the next paragraph.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear Bank SA/NV
(“Euroclear™) and/or Clearstream, Banking société anonyme (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”), each person
(other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg), who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear
or of Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which regard
any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the nominal amount
of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the
case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Paying Agents as the holder of such
nominal amount of such Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or Interest
Amounts on the Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant Global Note shall be treated by the Issuer,
the Guarantor and the Paying Agents as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance with
and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note and the expressions “Noteholder” and “holder of Notes”
and related expressions shall be construed accordingly. Notes which are represented by a Global Note will be
transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg, as the case may be.

References to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed
to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Status of the Notes and the Guarantee
(@)  Ranking of Notes and Coupons

The Notes and the relevant Coupons constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of the Issuer and rank and will rank pari passu with all present and future unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and pari passu without any preference among themselves
except for obligations given priority by law.

(b)  Notes Guaranteed

The Notes are guaranteed as to payment of principal and Interest Amounts by the Guarantor upon the
terms contained in the Guarantee.

(¢)  Ranking of Claims on the Guarantee

Claims in respect of the Guarantee constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of the Guarantor and rank and will rank pari passu with all present and future unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor, without any preference among themselves and pari passu
without any preference one above the other by reason of priority of date of issue, currency of payment
or otherwise, except for obligations given priority by law.

Interest

The applicable Final Terms may specify one or more Interest Basis as being applicable to the Notes. Where
more than one Interest Basis is applicable, the Notes shall bear interest in accordance with each of the provisions
of this Condition 3 that apply to each applicable Interest Basis. Where an Interest Basis specified in the
applicable Final Terms is:

171



(i)
(iii)
(iv)
@

Terms and Conditions of the Notes

Index Linked Interest Notes, then the provisions of this Condition 3 are subject to Condition 6;
Equity Linked Interest Notes, then the provisions of this Condition 3 are subject to Condition 7;
Inflation Linked Interest Notes, then the provisions of this Condition 3 are subject to Condition 8; and
Currency Linked Interest Notes, then the provisions of this Condition 3 are subject to Condition 9.
Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest from (and including) its Interest Commencement Date at the rate(s)
per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate(s) of Interest specified in the applicable Final
Terms. Interest will accrue in respect of each Interest Period (as defined in Condition 3(e)) and will be
payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s).

The Interest Amount (as defined in Condition 3(e)) payable on Fixed Rate Notes in respect of any Interest
Period shall be calculated by applying the relevant Rate of Interest to:

(A) inthe case of Fixed Rate Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding
nominal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes represented by such Global Note; or

(B) inthe case of Fixed Rate Notes in definitive form, the Calculation Amount,

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Fixed Day Count Fraction, and rounding the
resultant figure to the nearest two decimal places (or, in the case of Japanese Yen, the nearest whole unit)
in the Specified Currency, 0.005 (or, in the case of Japanese Yen, half of one unit) being rounded
upwards. Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note in definitive form comprises more
than one Calculation Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Fixed Rate Note in
accordance with this Condition 3(a) shall be the aggregate of the amounts (determined in the manner
provided above) for each Calculation Amount comprising the Specified Denomination without any
further rounding.

For the purposes of these Conditions:

“Fixed Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an Interest Amount in accordance
with this Condition 3(a):

(i) if “Actual/Actual (ICMA)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms:

(@  inthe case of Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from (and including)
the most recent Interest Period End Date (or, if none, the applicable Interest
Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (the “Accrual
Period”) is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which the Accrual
Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual Period divided by the product of (1) the
number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Dates
(as specified in the applicable Final Terms) that would occur in one calendar year; or

(b)  in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the Determination Period
during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:

(1)  the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination Period in
which the Accrual Period begins divided by the product of (x) the number of days
in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates (as
specified in the applicable Final Terms) that would occur in one calendar year; and
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(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)
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(2)  the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next Determination Period
divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and
(y) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year;

if “Actual/Actual” or “Actual/Actual (ISDA)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the
actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Interest
Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest
Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of
the Interest Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);

if “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in
the Interest Period divided by 365;

if “Actual/365 (Sterling)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days
in the Interest Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Period End Date falling in a
leap year, 366;

if “Actual/360” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the
Interest Period divided by 360;

if “30/360”, “360/360” or “Bond Basis” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number
of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360x (Y2 - Y1)]+[30x(M2—Ma)]+(D2—D1)
360

Fixed Day Count Fraction =

where:
“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of
the Interest Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period
falls;

“M.” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Interest Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number
would be 31, in which case D will be 30; and

“D," is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31 and D; is greater than 29, in which case D>
will be 30;

if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days
in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360x (Y2 — Y1)]+[30x (M2 —M1)]+(D2—Dz1)
Fixed Day Count Fraction = 360

where:

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;
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“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of
the Interest Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period
falls;

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Interest Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number
would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30;

(viii) if “30E/360 (ISDA)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the Interest
Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360x (Y2 — Y1)]+[30x (M2 —M1)]+(D2—Dx1)
360

Fixed Day Count Fraction =

where:
“Y 1 is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:

“Y," is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of
the Interest Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period
falls;

“M." is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Interest Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless (i) that day is
the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30;

“D," is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Interest Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (ii)
such number would be 31, in which case D will be 30; and

(ix) if “1/1” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, 1,
where:

“Determination Period” means, for the purposes of Actual/Actual (ICMA) only, the period from
(and including) a Determination Date to (but excluding) the next Determination Date (including
where either the applicable Interest Commencement Date or final Interest Period End Date is not
a Determination Date, the period commencing on the first Determination Date prior to, and
ending on the first Determination Date falling after, such date).

(b)  Interest on Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest Notes, Inflation
Linked Interest Notes and Currency Linked Interest Notes

Q) Interest Period End Dates and Interest Payment Dates

Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest Notes, Inflation Linked
Interest Notes and Currency Linked Interest Notes bear interest at the rate per annum (expressed
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as a percentage) equal to the rate of interest determined in accordance with Condition 3(b)(ii),
from (and including) their Interest Commencement Date. Interest will accrue in respect of each
Interest Period (as defined in Condition 3(e)) relating to an Interest Basis and will be payable in
arrear on the applicable Interest Payment Date(s). The Interest Amount payable shall be
calculated in accordance with Condition 3(b)(iv).

Rate(s) of Interest

The rate(s) of interest payable from time to time in respect of Notes that are Floating Rate Notes,
Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest Notes, Inflation Linked Interest Notes and/or
Currency Linked Interest Notes will be equal to the rate(s) of interest determined in accordance
with this Condition 3(b)(ii), depending on the Interest Variable Option specified for each such
applicable Interest Basis in the applicable Final Terms (each, a “Variable Rate of Interest”), but
subject always to any minimum and/or maximum limits imposed on such Variable Rate of Interest
in accordance with Condition 3(b)(iii).

For the purposes of any calculations required to calculate a Variable Rate of Interest, unless
otherwise specified, all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if
necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 of a
percentage point being rounded upwards).

(A)  Screen Rate Determination

(1) ForFloating Rate Notes in respect of which Screen Rate Determination is specified
in the applicable Final Terms as the Interest Variable Option, the Variable Rate of
Interest for an Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the product of (a)
either:

() the offered quotation; or
(I1)  the arithmetic mean of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which appears
or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at the Specified Time
(as defined in Condition 3(b)(ii)(A)(4)) on the Interest Determination Date in
question plus or minus the Margin (if any) (as indicated in the applicable Final
Terms), all as determined by the Calculation Agent and (b) the Interest Multiplier
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

(2)  If the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Final Terms to be LIBOR,
EURIBOR or NIBOR, where:

(@  five or more of such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen
Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one
only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such
lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the
Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean
(rounded as provided above) of such offered quotations; or

(b)  the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if in the case of Condition
3(b)(i))(A)(1)(1), no such offered quotation appears or, in the case of
Condition 3(b)(ii)(A)(1)(1I), fewer than three such offered quotations
appear, in each case as at the Specified Time (as defined in Condition
3(b)(ii)(A)(4)), the Calculation Agent shall request each of the Reference
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Banks (as defined in Condition 3(b)(ii)(A)(4)) to provide the Calculation
Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum)
for the Reference Rate at approximately the Specified Time on the Interest
Determination Date in question and if on any Interest Determination Date:

(i) two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent
with such offered quotations, the Variable Rate of Interest for such
Interest Period shall be the product of (a) the arithmetic mean (rounded
as provided above) of such offered quotations, plus or minus (as
appropriate) the Margin (if any), and (b) the Interest Multiplier
specified in the applicable Final Terms; or

(if) fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent
with such offered rates, the Variable Rate of Interest for the relevant
Interest Period shall be the product of (a) the offered rate for deposits
in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have
been used for the Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean (rounded as
provided above) of the offered rates for deposits in the Specified
Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the
Reference Rate, at which, at approximately the Specified Time on the
relevant Interest Determination Date, any one or more banks (which
bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for such
purpose) informs the Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading banks
in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London interbank market or, if
the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone interbank market, or,
if the Reference Rate is NIBOR, the Oslo interbank market, as the case
may be, plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any) and (b) the
Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms,

all as determined by the Calculation Agent; or

(c) the Variable Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the
foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Variable Rate of Interest shall
be determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date.

If the Reference Rate is CMS and no quotation appears on the Relevant Screen
Page at the Specified Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, then the
Variable Rate of Interest will be determined on the basis of the mid-market annual
swap rate quotations provided by five leading swap dealers in the European inter-
bank market at approximately the Specified Time on the relevant Interest
Determination Date. The Calculation Agent will select the five swap dealers in
its sole discretion and will request each of those dealers to provide a quotation of
its rate in accordance with market practice. If at least three quotations are
provided, the Variable Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period will be the
product of (a) the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of the quotations,
eliminating the highest and lowest quotations or, in the event, of equality, one of
the highest and one of the lowest quotations plus or minus (as appropriate) the
Margin (if any) and (b) the Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final
Terms. If fewer than three quotations are provided, the Calculation Agent will
determine the Variable Rate of Interest in its sole discretion.
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(4)  For the purposes of this Condition 3(b)(ii)(A):

“Reference Banks” means, in the case of a determination of LIBOR, the principal
London office of four major banks in the London inter-bank market, in the case of
a determination of EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of four major banks
in the Euro-zone inter-bank market, and in the case of a determination in NIBOR,
the principal Oslo office of four major banks in the Oslo inter-bank market, in each
case selected by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion.

“Specified Time” means 11.00 a.m. (London time) in the case of LIBOR, 11.00
a.m. (Brussels time) in the case of EURIBOR, 12.00 noon (Oslo time) in the case
of NIBOR or 11.00 a.m. (Frankfurt time) in the case of CMS.

Rates Variance

For Floating Rate Notes in respect of which Rates Variance is specified in the applicable
Final Terms as the Interest Variable Option, the Variable Rate of Interest for each Interest
Period will be the product of;

(D) [(Rate; — {Rate, x SF}) £+ Margin]; and
(2)  the Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(B)(1), unless a fixed percentage is specified in the
applicable Final Terms, the value of Rate; and/or Rate, for each Interest Period will be
equal to the Variable Rate of Interest determined in accordance with Condition 3(b)(ii)(A)
above, for which purpose only (a) the Reference Rate, Interest Determination Date and
Relevant Screen Page are as set out in the Rates Variance paragraph of the applicable Final
Terms, (b) the Interest Multiplier is 100 per cent. and (c) there is no Margin.

“SF” means the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Evolution of Underlying Equity

For Equity Linked Interest Notes in respect of which Evolution of Underlying Equity is
specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Interest Variable Option, the Variable Rate
of Interest for each Interest Period will be the product of:

(1) [({Equityt—[Equiwt_l - SF]}) + Margin] ; and
Equity, ;

(2)  the Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(C)(1), the value of Equity; for each Interest Period
will be equal to the arithmetic average of the relevant Reference Price(s) (as defined in
Condition 7(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 7 in
respect of each Valuation Date(s) relating to such Interest Period as specified in the
applicable Final Terms, and the value of any Equity.i for each Interest Period will be
equal to the arithmetic average of the relevant Reference Price(s) (as defined in Condition
7(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 7 in respect of
the Valuation Date(s) relating to the immediately preceding Interest Period (or, with
respect to the first Interest Period following the Interest Commencement Date, the
Equityinitiar Valuation Date).

“SF” means the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms.
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Evolution of Basket of Underlying Equities
For Equity Linked Interest Notes in respect of which Evolution of Basket of Underlying

Equities is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Interest Variable Option, the
Variable Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the product of:

(1) [({Equity Basket, - [Equity Basket,_; x SF]}

+ .
Equity Basket, ; ) - Margm], and

(2)  the Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(D)(1), the value of EquityBasket; for each Interest
Period will be equal to the arithmetic average of the relevant Reference Price(s) (as defined
in Condition 7(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition
7 in respect of each Valuation Date(s) relating to such Interest Period as specified in the
applicable Final Terms, and the value of any EquityBasket:.1 for each Interest Period will
be equal to the arithmetic average of the relevant Reference Price(s) (as defined in
Condition 7(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 7 in
respect of the Valuation Date(s) relating to the immediately preceding Interest Period (or,
with respect to the first Interest Period following the Interest Commencement Date, the
EquityBasketiniia Valuation Date).

“SF” means the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Evolution of Index

For Index Linked Interest Notes in respect of which Evolution of Index is specified in the
applicable Final Terms as the Interest Variable Option, the Variable Rate of Interest for
each Interest Period will be the product of:

(1) [({Indext - [Indext.1 x SF]}

. 1.
—— ) + Margln], and

(2)  the Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(E)(1), the value of any Index: for each Interest Period
will be equal to the arithmetic average of the relevant Reference Price(s) (as defined in
Condition 6(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 6 in
respect of each Valuation Date(s) relating to such Interest Period as specified in the
applicable Final Terms, and the value of any Index.; for each Interest Period will be equal
to the arithmetic average of the relevant Reference Price(s) (as defined in Condition 6(d))
determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 6 in respect of the
Valuation Date(s) relating to the immediately preceding Interest Period (or, with respect
to the first Interest Period following the Interest Commencement Date, the IndeXinitial
Valuation Date).

“SF” means the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Evolution of Inflation

For Inflation Linked Interest Notes in respect of which Evolution of Inflation is specified
in the applicable Final Terms as the Interest Variable Option, the Variable Rate of Interest
for each Interest Period will be the product of:

(1) [({Inﬂationt— [Inflation;.1 XSF]}) + Margin]; and

Inflationt.1
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(2)  the Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(F)(1), the value of any Inflation; for each Interest
Period will be equal to the Relevant Level (as defined in Condition 8(a)) determined (and
subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 8 in respect of the Reference Month
relating to such Interest Period, and the value of any Inflationt; for each Interest Period
will be equal to the Relevant Level (as defined in Condition 8(a)) determined (and subject
to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 8 in respect of the Reference Month relating
to the immediately preceding Interest Period (or, with respect to the first Interest Period
following the Interest Commencement Date, the Inflationiniia Reference Month).

“SF” means the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Evolution of Currency

For Currency Linked Interest Notes in respect of which Evolution of Currency is specified
as the Interest Variable Option, in each case within the applicable Final Terms, the Variable
Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the product of:

(1) [({Currencyl_l - [Currency, x SF]}) + Margin]; and

Currency;

(2)  the Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(G)(1), the value of any Currency; for each Interest
Period will be equal to the Reference Price (as defined in Condition 9(c)) determined (and
subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 9 in respect of the Valuation Date
relating to such Interest Period, and the value of any Currency.i for each Interest Period
will be equal to the Reference Price (as defined in Condition 9(c)) determined (and subject
to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 9 in respect of the Valuation Date relating to
the immediately preceding Interest Period (or, with respect to the first Interest Period
following its Interest Commencement Date, the Currencyiniia Valuation Date).

“SF” means the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Asian Option — Interest Rates

For Floating Rate Notes in respect of which Asian Option — Interest Rates is specified in
the applicable Final Terms as the Interest Variable Option, the Variable Rate of Interest for
each Interest Period will be the product of:

[(Ratetl + Rateg, +:--+ Rategp
n

) ) + Margin]; and

(2)  the Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(H)(1), the value of any Rate: for each Interest Period
will be equal to the Variable Rate of Interest determined in accordance with Condition
3(b)(ii)(A) above, for which purpose only (a) the Reference Rate, Interest Determination
Date(s) and Relevant Screen Page relating to each Ratey, are as set out in the Asian Option
— Interest Rates paragraph of the applicable Final Terms, (b) the Interest Multiplier is 100
per cent. and (c) there is no Margin.

“n” means the actual number of valuations obtained for the determination of the Variable
Rate of Interest, subject to any adjustments.
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Asian Option — Index

For Index Linked Interest Notes in respect of which Asian Option — Index is specified in
the applicable Final Terms as the Interest Variable Option, the Variable Rate of Interest for
each Interest Period will be the product of:

{Index¢y +Index¢p +--+Indexen} [Indexinitia] X SF]
() .

IndeXjnitial

+ Margin] :and

(2) the Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(1)(1), the value of (I) IndexXinitial Will be equal to the
arithmetic average of the relevant Reference Price(s) (as defined in Condition 6(d))
determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 6 in respect of each
Indexinitiar Valuation Date specified in the applicable Final Terms and (I1) any Index; for
each Interest Period will be equal to the Reference Price (as defined in Condition 6(d))
determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 6 in respect of the
Valuation Date relating to such Indext and the relevant Interest Period.

[TPe 1}

n” means the actual number of valuations obtained for the determination of the Variable
Rate of Interest, subject to any adjustments.

“SF” means the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Asian Option — Inflation

For Inflation Linked Interest Notes in respect of which Asian Option — Inflation is
specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Interest Variable Option, the Variable Rate
of Interest for each Interest Period will be the product of:

Inflationgy + Inflation; + ..+ Inflationgn) S
(1) [({ ™ } [Inflationjpjtial X SF])

Inflationjpitjal

+ Margin]; and

(2) the Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(J)(1), the value of (I) Inflationinisiar Will be equal to
the arithmetic average of the relevant Relevant Level(s) (as defined in Condition 8(a))
determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 8 in respect of each
Inflationiniia Reference Month specified in the applicable Final Terms and (II) any
Inflation: for each Interest Period will be equal to the Relevant Level (as defined in
Condition 8(a)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 8 in
respect of the Reference Month relating to such Inflation; and the relevant Interest Period.

“n” means the actual number of valuations obtained for the determination of the Variable
Rate of Interest, subject to any adjustments.

“SF” means the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Asian Option — Underlying Equity/Basket of Underlying Equities

(M For Equity Linked Interest Notes in respect of which Asian Option — Underlying
Equity is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Interest Variable Option,
the Variable Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the product of:

180



(L)

(i)

Terms and Conditions of the Notes

{Equitytq + Equityty + ..+ Equityin} [Equi
— [Equityinitjal X SF] .
1) [( n - + Margin|; and

Equityinitial

(2) the Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(K)(i)(1), the value of (I) Equityiniia Will be
equal to the arithmetic average of the relevant Reference Price(s) (as defined in
Condition 7(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with
Condition 7 in respect of each Equityinitia Valuation Date specified in the applicable
Final Terms and (Il) any Equity: for each Interest Period will be equal to the
Reference Price (as defined in Condition 7(d)) determined (and subject to
adjustment) in accordance with Condition 7 in respect of the Valuation Date
relating to such Equity: and the relevant Interest Period.

For the purposes of the above, “SF” means the Scaling Factor specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

“n” means the actual number of valuations obtained for the determination of the
Variable Rate of Interest, subject to any adjustments.

For Equity Linked Interest Notes in respect of which Asian Option — Basket of
Underlying Equities is specified as the Interest Variable Option, in each case within
the applicable Final Terms, the Variable Rate of Interest for each Interest Period
will be the product of:

n
Equity Basketipjtial

{Equity Baskety; + Equity Baskettp + ..+ Equity Basketn} _ [Equity Basketinitia X SF]
initia .
1) + Margin|; and

(2) the Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(K)(ii)(1), the value of (I) EquityBasketinitia
will be equal to the arithmetic average of the relevant Reference Price(s) (as
defined in Condition 7(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance
with Condition 7 in respect of each EquityBasketinitiar Valuation Date specified in
the applicable Final Terms and (I1) any EquityBasket: for each Interest Period will
be equal to the Reference Price (as defined in Condition 7(d) determined (and
subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 7 in respect of the Valuation
Date relating to such Equity Basket; and the relevant Interest Period.

For the purposes of the above, “SF” means the Scaling Factor specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

“n” means the actual number of valuations obtained for the determination of the
Variable Rate of Interest, subject to any adjustments.

Asian Option — Currency

For Currency Linked Interest Notes in respect of which Asian Option — Currency is

(1)

)

specified as the Interest Variable Option, in each case within the applicable Final Terms,
the Variable Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the product of:

Currencygy + Currency,
[(Currencyinicial - {[ = o 2L icu"e"cy"‘] x SF}) + Marei ] q
+ Margin|; an

[Currencytl + Currencyp 4.4 Currencym]

| =

the Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms.
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For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(L)(1), the value of (I) Currencyinitia Will be equal to
the arithmetic average of the relevant Reference Price(s) (as defined in Condition 9(c))
determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 9 in respect of each
Currencyiniiar Valuation Date specified in the applicable Final Terms and (1) any
Currency; for each Interest Period will be equal to the Reference Price (as defined in
Condition 9(c)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with Condition 9 in
respect of the Valuation Date relating to such Currency:.

(T8 1}

n” means the actual number of valuations obtained for the determination of the Variable
Rate of Interest, subject to any adjustments.

Digital Option

For any of Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest Notes,
Inflation Linked Interest Notes or Currency Linked Interest Notes, in respect of which
Digital Option is specified as the Interest Variable Option within the applicable Final
Terms, the Variable Rate of Interest for each Interest Period and such Interest Basis will
be:

(1) the Digital Option Exercised Rate, if the Digital Option Payment Condition is
satisfied; or

(2)  the Digital Option Fallback Rate, if the Digital Option Payment Condition is not
satisfied,

in each case with respect to the relevant Interest Period.
For the purposes of this Condition 3(b)(ii)(M):

()] the “Digital Option Payment Condition” shall be satisfied with respect to an
Interest Period if:

(@  “Greater Than” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Digital
Option Payment Condition and the Digital Option Variable is greater than
the product of (i) the Digital Option Strike and (ii) the Scaling Factor
specified in the applicable Final Terms;

(b)  “Less Than” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Digital Option
Payment Condition and the Digital Option Variable is less than the product
of (i) the Digital Option Strike and (ii) the Scaling Factor specified in the
applicable Final Terms;

(c)  “Greater Than Or Equal To” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as
the Digital Option Payment Condition and the Digital Option Variable is
greater than or equal to the product of (i) the Digital Option Strike and (ii)
the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(d)  “Less Than Or Equal To” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the
Digital Option Payment Condition and the Digital Option Variable is less
than or equal to the product of (i) the Digital Option Strike and (ii) the
Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms;
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(1)  the “Digital Option Exercised Rate” with respect to an Interest Period means:

(@)

(b)

©

if an interest rate (expressed as a percentage per annum rate) is specified as
such in the applicable Final Terms, such interest rate;

if Screen Rate Determination is specified as the Digital Option Payment
Determination Method, the Variable Rate of Interest determined in
accordance with Condition 3(b)(ii)(A) for which purpose the Reference
Rate, Interest Determination Date(s), Relevant Screen Page, Interest
Multiplier and Margin are as set out in the applicable Final Terms; or

if Collar Rate is specified as the Digital Option Payment Determination
Method, the Variable Rate of Interest will be:

[MAX (Floor Rate; {MIN[Cap Rate; Screen Rate + Collar Margin]})]

For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(M)(11)(c), the value of the Floor Rate,
Cap Rate and Collar Margin (if any) shall be specified in the applicable
Final Terms and the Screen Rate shall be the Variable Rate of Interest
determined in accordance with Condition 3(b)(ii)(A) for which purpose the
Reference Rate, Interest Determination Date(s), Relevant Screen Page,
Interest Multiplier and Margin are as set out in the applicable Final Terms.

(1) the “Digital Option Fallback Rate” with respect to an Interest Period means:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

if Zero is specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, zero (and no
Interest Amount shall be payable in respect of the relevant Interest Period);
or

if an interest rate (expressed as a percentage per annum rate) is specified as
such in the applicable Final Terms, such interest rate; or

if the Screen Rate Determination is specified as the Digital Option Fallback
Rate, the Variable Rate of Interest determined in accordance with Condition
3(b)(ii)(A) for which purpose the Reference Rate, Interest Determination
Date(s), Relevant Screen Page, Interest Multiplier and Margin are as set out
in the applicable Final Terms; or

if Collar Rate is specified as the Digital Option Fallback Rate, the Variable
Rate of Interest will be:

[MAX (Floor Rate; {MIN[Cap Rate; Screen Rate + Collar Margin]})]

For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(M)(111)(d), the value of the Floor Rate,
Cap Rate and Collar Margin (if any) shall be specified in the applicable
Final Terms, and the Screen Rate shall be the Variable Rate of Interest
determined in accordance with Condition 3(b)(ii)(A) for which purpose the
Reference Rate, Interest Determination Date(s), Relevant Screen Page,
Interest Multiplier and Margin are as set out in the applicable Final Terms.

(IV) the “Digital Option Variable” with respect to an Interest Period means:

@)

if the Digital Option Type is specified as Interest Rates, the Variable Rate
of Interest determined in accordance with Condition 3(b)(ii)(A) for which
purpose the Reference Rate, Interest Determination Date(s), Relevant
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Screen Page, Interest Multiplier and Margin are as set out in the applicable
Final Terms;

if the Digital Option Type is specified as Index, the Reference Price (as
defined in Condition 6(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in
accordance with Condition 6 in respect of the Valuation Date relating to
such Interest Period; or

if the Digital Option Type is specified as Underlying Equity, the Reference
Price (as defined in Condition 7(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment)
in accordance with Condition 7 in respect of the Valuation Date relating to
such Interest Period; or

if the Digital Option Type is specified as Basket of Underlying Equities, the
Reference Price (as defined in Condition 7(d)) determined (and subject to
adjustment) in accordance with Condition 7 in respect of the Valuation Date
relating to such Interest Period; or

if the Digital Option Type is specified as Inflation, the Relevant Level (as
defined in Condition 8(a)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in
accordance with Condition 8 in respect of the Reference Month relating to
such Interest Period; or

if the Digital Option Type is specified as Currency, the Reference Price (as
defined in Condition 9(c)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in
accordance with Condition 9 in respect of the Valuation Date relating to
such Interest Period.

the “Digital Option Strike” with respect to an Interest Period means:

(@)

(b)

(©

if the Digital Option Type is specified as Interest Rates, (X) the percentage
rate specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or (y) if Screen Rate
Determination is specified as the Digital Option Strike, the Variable Rate of
Interest determined in accordance with Condition 3(b)(ii)(A) for which
purpose the Reference Rate, Interest Determination Date(s), Relevant
Screen Page, Interest Multiplier and Margin are as set out in the applicable
Final Terms;

if the Digital Option Type is specified as Index, (x) the index level specified
as such in the applicable Final Terms or (y) if Index Determination is
specified as the Digital Option Strike, the Reference Price (as defined in
Condition 6(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with
Condition 6 in respect of the relevant Valuation Date specified for that
purpose;

if the Digital Option Type is specified as Underlying Equity, (X) the amount
specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or (y) if Equity
Determination is specified as the Digital Option Strike, the Reference Price
(as defined in Condition 7(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in
accordance with Condition 7 in respect of the relevant Valuation Date
specified for that purpose;
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(d) if the Digital Option Type is specified as an Basket of Underlying Equities,
(x) the amount specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or (y) if
Equity Determination is specified as the Digital Option Strike, the
Reference Price (as defined in Condition 7(d)) determined (and subject to
adjustment) in accordance with Condition 7 in respect of the relevant
Valuation Date specified for that purpose;

(e)  ifthe Digital Option Type is specified as Inflation, (x) the amount specified
as such in the applicable Final Terms or (y) if Inflation Determination is
specified as the Digital Option Strike, the Reference Level (as defined in
Condition 8(a)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with
Condition 8 in respect of the relevant Reference Month specified for that
purpose;

()] if the Digital Option Type is specified as Currency, (x) the amount specified
as such in the applicable Final Terms or (y) if Currency Determination is
specified as the Digital Option Strike, the Reference Price (as defined in
Condition 9(c)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with
Condition 9 in respect of the relevant Valuation Date specified for that
purpose.

Single Fixing — Index

For Index Linked Interest Notes in respect of which Single Fixing - Index is specified in
the applicable Final Terms as the Interest Variable Option, the Variable Rate of Interest for
an Interest Period will be the product of:

1) [(&) % * Margin]; and

Denominator

(2)  the Interest Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purpose of Condition 3(b)(ii)(N)(1), the value of (I) the Denominator shall be
specified in the applicable Final Terms and (I1) Index: for the relevant Interest Period will
be equal to the Reference Price (as defined in Condition 6(d)) determined (and subject to
adjustment) in accordance with Condition 6 in respect of Valuation Date:.

Asian Fixing — Index

For Index Linked Interest Notes in respect of which Asian Fixing - Index is specified in
the applicable Final Terms as the Interest Variable Option, the Variable Rate of Interest for
an Interest Period will be the product of;

Indextq + Indextp +--+ Indexip
(1) [{

1 }% * Margin ]; and

Denominator

(2)  the Interest Multiplier.

For the purpose of Condition (3)(b)(ii)(O)(1), the value of (I) the Denominator shall be
specified in the applicable Final Terms and (I1) any Index; for each Interest Period will be
equal to the Reference Price (as defined in Condition 6(d)), determined (and subject to
adjustment) in accordance with Condition 6 in respect of the Valuation Date;.

n” means the actual number of valuations obtained for the determination of the Variable
Rate of Interest, subject to any adjustments.
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Minimum Rate of Interest and/or Maximum Rate of Interest

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Minimum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period and
applicable Interest Basis, then, in the event that the Variable Rate of Interest in respect of such
Interest Period and applicable Interest Basis determined in accordance with the provisions of
Condition 3(b)(ii) is less than such Minimum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest
Period and applicable Interest Basis shall be such Minimum Rate of Interest. If the applicable
Final Terms specifies a Maximum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period and applicable Interest
Basis, then, in the event that the Variable Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period and
applicable Interest Basis determined in accordance with the provisions of Condition 3(b)(ii) is
greater than such Maximum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be
such Maximum Rate of Interest.

Where the Variable Rate of Interest for any Interest Period is negative (whether by operation of
a negative Margin, negative Interest Multiplier or otherwise), then such Variable Rate of Interest
shall be deemed to be zero.

Determination of Variable Rate of Interest and calculation of Interest Amounts

The Calculation Agent will, at or as soon as practicable after each time at which any Rate of
Interest is to be determined in respect of an Interest Basis, determine the Variable Rate of Interest
for the relevant Interest Period. The Calculation Agent will notify the Issuer, the Guarantor and
the Agent of each applicable Variable Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period as soon as
practicable after calculating the same.

The Calculation Agent will calculate the Interest Amount in respect of an Interest Basis for the
relevant Interest Period by applying the relevant Rate of Interest to:

(A) in the case of Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest
Notes, Inflation Linked Interest Notes or Currency Linked Interest Notes which are
represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Notes
represented by such Global Note; or

(B) in the case of Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest
Notes, Inflation Linked Interest Notes or Currency Linked Interest Notes in definitive
form, the Calculation Amount,

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the
resultant figure to the nearest two decimal places (or, in the case of Japanese Yen, the nearest
whole unit) in the Specified Currency, 0.005 (or, in the case of Japanese Yen, half of one unit)
being rounded upwards. Where the Specified Denomination of a Floating Rate Note, an Index
Linked Interest Note, an Equity Linked Interest Note, an Inflation Linked Interest Note or a
Currency Linked Interest Note in definitive form comprises more than one Calculation Amount,
the Interest Amount payable in respect of such Note shall be the aggregate of the amounts
(determined in the manner provided above) for each Calculation Amount comprising the
Specified Denomination without any further rounding.

For Notes in respect of which more than one Interest Basis applies, a separate Interest Amount
may be payable in accordance with each such Interest Basis.
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“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an Interest Amount for any Interest
Period in accordance with this Condition 3(b) or Condition 3(c):

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

if “Actual/Actual” or “Actual/Actual (ISDA)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms,
the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that
Interest Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion
of the Interest Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of
days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);

if “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of
days in the Interest Period divided by 365;

if “Actual/365 (Sterling)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of
days in the Interest Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Period End Date
falling in a leap year, 366;

If “Actual/360” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in
the Interest Period divided by 360;

if “30/360”, “360/360” or “Bond Basis” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the
number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as
follows:

[360%(Y2— Y1)]+[30x(M2—Mi)]+(D2—D1)
360

Fixed Day Count Fraction =

where:
“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last
day of the Interest Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest
Period falls;

“M.” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such
number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“D,” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day
included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31 and D is greater than 29,
in which case D will be 30;

if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number
of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360%(Y2— Y1)]+[30x(M2—M1)]+(D2—D1)
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;
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“Y," is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last
day of the Interest Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest
Period falls;

“My” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such
number would be 31, in which case D; will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day
included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D, will be
30;

(vii) if “30E/360 (ISDA)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the
Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360%(Y2— Y1)]+[30x(M2—Mi)|+(D2—D1)
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:
“Y 1" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:

“Y," is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last
day of the Interest Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest
Period falls;

“My” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless

(x) that day is the last day of February or (y) such number would be 31, in which case D1
will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day
included in the Interest Period, unless (x) that day is the last day of February but not the
Maturity Date or (y) such number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30; and

(viii) if “1/1” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, 1.
Notification of Variable Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts

The Calculation Agent will promptly notify the Agent of each Interest Amount and the Agent will
cause each Variable Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Period and the
relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer, the Guarantor, the other Paying Agents
and any stock exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes,
Equity Linked Interest Notes, Inflation Linked Interest Notes or Currency Linked Interest Notes
are for the time being listed and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 18
(Notices) as soon as possible after their determinations. Each Interest Amount and Interest
Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements
made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the
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Interest Period. Any such amendment will be promptly notified to the Noteholders in accordance
with Condition 18 (Notices) and to each stock exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate
Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest Notes, Inflation Linked Interest Notes
or Currency Linked Interest Notes are for the time being listed.

Certificates to be Final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and
decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Condition
3(b) by the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or manifest error)
be binding on the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Agent, the other Paying Agents and all Noteholders
and Couponholders and (in the absence as aforesaid) no liability to the Issuer, the Guarantor, the
Noteholders or the Couponholders shall attach to the Calculation Agent in connection with the
exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions.

Interest on Range Accrual Notes

If the Notes are Range Accrual Notes then the provisions of this Condition 3(c) shall apply.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Interest Period End Dates and Interest Payment Dates

Each Range Accrual Note bears interest from (and including) its Interest Commencement Date.
Interest will accrue in respect of each Interest Period (as defined in Condition 3(e)) and will be
payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year up to (and including) the Maturity
Date.

Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Range Accrual Notes will be
determined in the manner specified below.

The Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below (in particular, under
Condition 3(c)(iv)), be the rate determined in accordance with the following (the “Range Accrual
Rate of Interest”):

N
RA Base Rat —]
ase an[A

Definitions

For the purposes of this Condition 3(c):

“A” means the actual number of calendar days of days in the relevant Interest Period;
“Lower Threshold” means the percentage specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

“N” means the actual number of days in the relevant Interest Period on which the Range Accrual
Condition is satisfied, which will occur on any day if:

(@  “Between (Inclusive)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Range Accrual
Condition and the daily fixing of the Reference Spread is greater than or equal to the
Lower Threshold but less than or equal to the Upper Threshold;

(b)  “Between (Exclusive)” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Range Accrual
Condition and the daily fixing of the Reference Spread is greater than the Lower Threshold
but less than the Upper Threshold;
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()  “Greater Than Lower Threshold” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Range
Accrual Condition and the daily fixing of the Reference Spread is greater than the Lower
Threshold;

(d)  “Greater Than Or Equal To Lower Threshold” is specified in the applicable Final Terms
as the Range Accrual Condition and the daily fixing of the Reference Spread is greater
than or equal to the Lower Threshold,;

()  “Less Than Lower Threshold” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Range
Accrual Condition and the daily fixing of the Reference Spread is less than the Lower
Threshold; and

)] “Less Than Or Equal To Lower Threshold” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as
the Range Accrual Condition and the daily fixing of the Reference Spread is less than or
equal to the Lower Threshold;

“RA Base Rate” means the rate (expressed as a percentage) specified as such in the applicable
Final Terms;

“Reference Spread” means, the spread of Variable 1 minus Variable 2, to be fixed by the
Calculation Agent on each day by reference to information published on the Relevant Screen
Page(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms, except that (i) if any day is not a Business Day,
the fixing for the immediately preceding Business Day shall be used and (ii) the last fixing of
Variable 1 and Variable 2 in each Interest Period will be the fifth Business Day prior to the Interest
Payment Date falling at the end of that Interest Period and this fixing will be used for the
remaining days of the Interest Period (whether or not they are Business Days);

“Upper Threshold” means the percentage specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;

“Variable 1”7 means the Variable Rate of Interest determined in accordance with Condition
3(b)(ii)(A), for which purpose only (x) the Reference Rate, Interest Determination Date(s) and
Relevant Screen Rate are as specified in the applicable Final Terms, (y) the Interest Multiplier is
100 per cent. and (2) there is no Margin; and

“Variable 2” means, (a) if applicable, the Variable Rate of Interest determined in accordance with
Condition 3(b)(ii)(A), for which purpose only (x) the Reference Rate, Interest Determination
Date(s) and Relevant Screen Rate are as specified in the applicable Final Terms, (y) the Interest
Multiplier is 100 per cent. and (z) there is no Margin and (b) if not applicable, zero.

Minimum Range Accrual Rate of Interest and/or Maximum Range Accrual Rate of Interest

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Minimum Range Accrual Rate of Interest for any Interest
Period, then, in the event that the Range Accrual Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period
determined in accordance with Condition 3(c)(ii) is less than such Minimum Range Accrual Rate
of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such Minimum Range Accrual
Rate of Interest. If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Maximum Range Accrual Rate of
Interest for any Interest Period, then, in the event that the Range Accrual Rate of Interest in respect
of such Interest Period determined in accordance with Condition 3(c)(ii) is greater than such
Maximum Range Accrual Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be
such Maximum Range Accrual Rate of Interest.
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Determination of Range Accrual Rate of Interest and calculation of Interest Amounts

The Calculation Agent, will, at or as soon as practicable after each time at which the Range
Accrual Rate of Interest is to be determined, determine the Range Accrual Rate of Interest for the
relevant Interest Period. The Calculation Agent will notify the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Agent
of the Range Accrual Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period as soon as practicable after
calculating the same.

The Calculation Agent will calculate the Interest Amount for the Range Accrual Notes and
relevant Interest Period (which may, for the avoidance of doubt, be in addition to any other
Interest Amount determined pursuant to this Condition 3) by applying the Range Accrual Rate of
Interest to:

(A) inthe case of Range Accrual Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate
outstanding nominal amount of the Range Accrual Notes represented by such Global Note;
or

(B) inthe case of Range Accrual Notes in definitive form, the Calculation Amount,

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the
resultant figure to the nearest two decimal places (or, in the case of Japanese Yen, the nearest
whole unit) in the Specified Currency, 0.005 (or, in the case of Japanese Yen, half of one unit)
being rounded upwards. Where the Specified Denomination of a Range Accrual Note in definitive
form comprises more than one Calculation Amount, the Interest Amount payable in respect of
such Note shall be the aggregate of the amounts (determined in the manner provided above) for
each Calculation Amount comprising the Specified Denomination without any further rounding.

The Calculation Agent will notify the Agent of the Interest Amount payable on the Range Accrual
Notes in respect of each Calculation Amount for the relevant Interest Period as soon as practicable
after calculating the same.

“Day Count Fraction” shall have the meaning given to such term in Condition 3(b)(iv).
Notification of Range Accrual Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts

The Calculation Agent will promptly notify the Agent of each Interest Amount and the Agent will
cause the Range Accrual Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Period and
the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer, the Guarantor, the other Paying
Agents, the Noteholders and any stock exchange on which the relevant Range Accrual Notes are
for the time being listed and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 18
(Notices) as soon as possible after their determination . Each Interest Amount and Interest
Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements
made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the
Interest Period. Any such amendment will be promptly notified to each stock exchange on which
the relevant Range Accrual Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 18 (Notices).

Certificates to be Final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and
decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Condition
3(c) by the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or manifest error)
be binding on the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Agent, the other Paying Agents and all Noteholders
and Couponholders and (in the absence as aforesaid) no liability to the Issuer, the Guarantor, the
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Noteholders or the Couponholders shall attach to the Calculation Agent in connection with the
exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions.

Accrual of Interest

Each Note will cease to bear interest (if any) from the date for its redemption unless either, upon due
presentation thereof (if applicable), payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such
event, interest will continue to accrue until whichever is the earlier of; (1) the date on which all amounts
due in respect of such Note have been paid; and (2) five days after the date on which the full amount of
the moneys payable on the Notes has been received by the Agent and/or all assets in respect of such Note
have been received by any agent appointed by the Issuer to deliver such assets to Noteholders and notice
to that effect has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 18 (Notices).

For the avoidance of doubt, where any Autocall Redemption Amount and/or Interest Amount and/or
Redemption Amount in respect of Index Linked Notes, Equity Linked Notes, Currency Linked Notes or
Autocall Notes is postponed as a result of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day (in each case in accordance
with, and as defined in, Conditions 5(d), 6, 7 and 9 respectively), no Interest Amount or other sum shall
be payable in respect of the postponement of the payment thereof.

General definitions applicable to interest-bearing Notes
For the purposes of these Conditions:

“Interest Amount” means, with respect to each applicable Interest Basis (other than Zero Coupon
Notes), the amount of interest payable in respect of an Interest Period and such Interest Basis;

“Interest Commencement Date” means, with respect to each applicable Interest Basis (other than Zero
Coupon Notes), the Interest Commencement Date specified in the applicable Final Terms with respect
to such Interest Basis;

“Interest Determination Date” means (i) each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;(ii)
where “Standard IDD” is specified in the applicable Final Terms (a) if the specified Relevant Screen
Page is a LIBOR (other than euro LIBOR or Sterling LIBOR) rate, the second day on which commercial
banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency
deposits) in London prior to the start of each relevant Interest Period; (b) if the specified Relevant Screen
Page is a Sterling LIBOR rate, the first day of each Interest Period; (c) if the specified Relevant Screen
Page is a EURIBOR or euro LIBOR rate, the second day on which the TARGET2 System is open prior
to the start of each Interest Period; (d) if the specified Relevant Screen Page is a NIBOR rate, the second
day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange
and foreign currency deposits) in Oslo prior to the start of each Interest Period; and (e) if the specified
Relevant Screen Page is a CMS rate, the second day on which commercial banks are open for general
business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in Frankfurt prior to the
start of each Interest Period; or (iii) where “Arrears IDD” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the
first day of the next following Interest Period or, in the case of the final Interest Period, the Scheduled
Maturity Date;

“Interest Payment Date” means, with respect to each applicable Interest Basis (other than Zero Coupon
Notes), the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year specified in the applicable Final Terms with respect to
such Interest Basis;

“Interest Period” means, with respect to each applicable Interest Basis (other than Zero Coupon Notes),
the period from (and including) an Interest Period End Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to
(but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Period End Date;
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“Interest Period End Date” means, with respect to each applicable Interest Basis (other than Zero
Coupon Notes), the Interest Period End Date(s) in each year specified in the applicable Final Terms with
respect to such Interest Basis;

“Reference Rate” means the relevant reference rate specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or,
if such reference rate ceases to be calculated and/or published, any successor or replacement rate
therefor, in each case as determined by the Calculation Agent acting in good faith;

“Relevant Screen Page” means the relevant page specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or any
successor display page, other published source, information vendor or provider that has been officially
designated by the official sponsor of the original page or source (or, failing which, the relevant
information vendor or provider); and

“sub-unit” means, with respect to any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that
is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with respect to euro, means, one cent.

Business Day Conventions and Business Days

() If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms in relation to any date
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Maturity Date) and (x) if there is no numerically
corresponding day in the calendar month in which such date should occur or (y) if such date
would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention
specified is: in the case of Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked
Interest Notes, Inflation Linked Interest Notes or Currency Linked Interest Notes only, the
Floating Rate Convention, the relevant Interest Period End Date (i) in the case of (x) above, shall
be the last day that is a Business Day in the relevant month and the provisions of (B) below shall
apply mutatis mutandis or (ii) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to the next day which
is a Business Day, unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (A)
such Interest Period End Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business
Day and (B) each subsequent Interest Period End Date shall be the last Business Day in the
month;

(if)  the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day which is a
Business Day;

(iii)  the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day
which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event
such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; or

(iv)  the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward to the immediately
preceding Business Day.

In these Conditions, “Business Day” means a day which is both:

(A) aday on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are
open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency
deposits) in each Additional Business Centre specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(B) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on
which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for
general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in
the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency (which if
the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or New Zealand dollars shall be Sydney or
Wellington, respectively), or (2) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on which
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the Trans European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer
(TARGET?2) System (the “TARGET2 System”) is open.

4  Payments

(@)

(b)

Method of Payment
Subject as provided below:

(i) payments in a Specified Currency other than euro will be made by credit or transfer to an account
in the relevant Specified Currency maintained by the payee with, or, at the option of the payee,
by a cheque in such Specified Currency drawn on, a bank in the principal financial centre of the
country of such Specified Currency (which, if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or
New Zealand dollars, shall be Sydney or Wellington, respectively); and

(i)  payments in euro will be made by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to
which euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee or, at the option of the payee,
by a euro cheque.

All payments will be subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws, regulations or directives applicable
thereto in the place of payment or other laws and regulations to which the Issuer, the Guarantor or its
Paying Agents agree to be subject and neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor will be liable for any taxes or
duties of whatever nature imposed or levied by such laws, regulations or directives or agreements, but
without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 12(a) (as applicable).

Any references in these Conditions to payment of any sums in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to
include, as applicable, delivery of assets if so provided in the applicable Final Terms and references to
paid and payable shall be construed accordingly. The method of delivery of any assets and the liability
for the costs and charges arising from such delivery will be as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Presentation of Definitive Notes and Coupons

Payments of principal in respect of Definitive Notes will (subject as provided below) be made in the
manner provided in paragraph (a) above only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part
payment of any sum due, endorsement) of Definitive Notes, and payments of Interest Amounts in respect
of Definitive Notes will (subject as provided below) be made as aforesaid only against presentation and
surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of Coupons, in each case at the
specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (which expression, as used herein, means
the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia and its possessions)).

Fixed Rate Notes in Definitive form should be presented for payment together with all unmatured
Coupons appertaining thereto (which expression shall for this purpose include Coupons falling to be
issued on exchange of matured Talons), failing which the amount of any missing unmatured Coupon (or,
in the case of payment not being made in full, the same proportion of the amount of such missing
unmatured Coupon as the sum so paid bears to the sum due) will be deducted from the sum due for
payment. Each amount of principal so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against
surrender of the relative missing Coupon at any time before the expiry of 10 years after the Relevant
Date (as defined in Condition 12(a)) in respect of such principal (whether or not such Coupon would
otherwise have become void under Condition 13) or, if later, five years from the date on which such
Coupon would otherwise have become due, but in no event thereafter.
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Upon any Fixed Rate Note in definitive form becoming due and repayable prior to its Maturity Date, all
unmatured Talons (if any) appertaining thereto will become void and no further Coupons will be issued
in respect thereof.

Upon the date on which any Floating Rate Note, Range Accrual Note, Index Linked Note, Equity Linked
Note, Inflation Linked Note, Currency Linked Note or Long Maturity Note in definitive form becomes
due and repayable prior to its Maturity Date, unmatured Coupons and Talons (if any) relating thereto
(whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment or, as the case may be, exchange for further
Coupons shall be made in respect thereof. A “Long Maturity Note” is a Fixed Rate Note (other than a
Fixed Rate Note which on issue had a Talon attached) whose nominal amount at issue is less than the
aggregate Interest Amount payable thereon (provided that such Note shall cease to be a Long Maturity
Note on the Interest Payment Date on which the aggregate Interest Amount remaining to be paid after
that date is less than the nominal amount of the relevant Definitive Note).

If the due date for redemption of any Definitive Note is not an Interest Payment Date in respect of an
applicable Interest Basis, interest (if any) accrued in respect of such Note on such Interest Basis from
(and including) the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the case may be, the applicable Interest
Commencement Date shall be payable only against surrender of the relevant Definitive Note.

Payments in respect of Global Notes

Payments of principal and Interest Amounts (if any) in respect of Notes represented by any Global Note
will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner specified above in relation to Definitive Notes
or otherwise in the manner specified in the relevant Global Note, where applicable, against presentation
or surrender, as the case may be, of such Global Note at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside
the United States. Arecord of each payment made, distinguishing between any payment of principal and
any payment of interest, will be made on such Global Note either by the Paying Agent to which it was
presented or in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream Luxembourg, as applicable.

General provisions applicable to payments

The holder of a Global Note shall be the only person entitled to receive payments in respect of Notes
represented by such Global Note and the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor will be discharged
by payment to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note in respect of each amount so paid. Each
of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the beneficial holder
of a particular nominal amount of Notes represented by such Global Note must look solely to Euroclear
or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer
or, as the case may be, the Guarantor to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Condition, if any amount of principal and/or Interest
Amounts in respect of Notes is payable in U.S. dollars, such U.S. dollar payments of principal and/or
Interest Amounts in respect of such Notes will be made at the specified office of a Paying Agent in the
United States if:

(i the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United States with the
reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment in U.S. dollars
at such specified offices outside the United States of the full amount of principal and Interest
Amounts on the Notes in the manner provided above when due;

(i)  payment of the full amount of such principal and Interest Amounts at all such specified offices
outside the United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar
restrictions on the full payment or receipt of principal and Interest Amounts in U.S. dollars; and
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(iii)  such payment is then permitted under United States law without involving, in the opinion of the
Issuer and the Guarantor, adverse tax consequences to the Issuer or the Guarantor.

Payment Day

If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note or Coupon is not a Payment Day, the holder
thereof shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Payment Day in the relevant place and
shall not be entitled to further Interest Amounts or other payment in respect of such delay. For these
purposes, “Payment Day” means any day which (subject to Condition 13 (Prescription)) is:

Q) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open
for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in:

(A) inthe case of Definitive Notes only, the relevant place of presentation; and
(B) each Additional Financial Centre specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(C) aday on which the TARGET2 System is open, unless the applicable Final Terms specify
“TARGET Not Required”; and

(D)  where a sum is payable in a Specified Currency, a day on which commercial banks and
foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including
dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre
of the country of such Specified Currency (which if the Specified Currency is Australian
dollars or New Zealand dollars shall be Sydney or Wellington, respectively) unless the
applicable Final Terms specify “Principal Financial Centre Not Required”.

Interpretation of Principal and Interest (Amount(s))

Any reference in these Conditions to principal in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as
applicable:

(i) any additional amounts which may be payable under Condition 12(a) as a result of a withholding
or deduction having made in respect of a principal payment under the Notes;

(i) the Final Redemption Amount;
(iii)  the Early Redemption Amount;
(iv)  the Optional Redemption Amount(s) (if any);

(v)  inrelation to Zero Coupon Notes, the Amortised Face Amount (as defined in Condition 5(e)(ii));
and

(vi) any premium and any other amounts (other than interest) which may be payable by the Issuer
under or in respect of the Notes.

Any reference in these Conditions to interest or Interest Amount(s) in respect of the Notes shall be
deemed to include, as applicable, any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to the
Interest Amounts under Condition 12(a).
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5 Redemption and Purchase

(@)

(b)

Redemption at Maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as specified below, each Note will be redeemed
by the Issuer on the Maturity Date at an amount in the relevant Specified Currency equal to:

(i) in the case of Fixed Redemption Notes, par; or

(i) in the case of Index Linked Redemption Notes, Equity Linked Redemption Notes or Currency
Linked Redemption Notes, the applicable Redemption Amount determined in accordance with
the provisions of Conditions 6, 7 and 9, respectively.

Redemption for Tax Reasons

If the Prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time (if
the Notes are not Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked Interest Notes,
Inflation Linked Interest Notes, Currency Linked Interest Notes and/or Range Accrual Notes) or on any
Interest Payment Date (if the Notes are Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Equity Linked
Interest Notes, Inflation Linked Interest Notes, Currency Linked Interest Notes and/or Range Accrual
Notes), on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Agent and, in accordance with
Condition 18 (Notices), the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), if:

(i) on the occasion of the next payment due under the Notes, the Issuer has or will become obliged
to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 12(a) or the Guarantor would
be unable for reasons outside its control to procure payment by the Issuer and in making payment
itself would be required to pay such additional amounts, in either case as a result of any change
in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of any Tax Jurisdiction (as defined below) or any
political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the
application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment
becomes effective on or after the date on which agreement is reached to issue the first Tranche of
the Notes; and

(i) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor taking
reasonable measures available to it,

provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date
on which the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor would be obliged to pay such additional
amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes then due. Prior to the publication of any notice of
redemption pursuant to this Condition, the Issuer shall deliver to the Agent a certificate signed by two
Directors of the Issuer or, as the case may be, two Directors of the Guarantor, stating that the Issuer is
entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions
precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred, and an opinion of independent legal
advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor has or
will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such change or amendment.

Notes redeemed pursuant to this Condition 5(b) will be redeemed at the Early Redemption Amount
referred to in Condition 5(e) below together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the
date of redemption.

If the Prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as not applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, this Condition 5(b) shall not apply to the Notes.
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Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)

If Issuer Call is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, giving the Issuer an option to
redeem, the Issuer may, having given:

Q) not less than 15 nor more than 30 days’ notice (or such other Issuer Call Period of days’ notice as
is specified in the applicable Final Terms) to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 18
(Notices); and

(i) not less than 15 days before the giving of the notice referred to in (i), notice to the Agent,

(which notices shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for redemption), redeem all (but not
some only) of the Notes then outstanding on any Optional Redemption Date (which, if the Notes are due
to bear interest, will be an Interest Payment Date) and at their Optional Redemption Amount specified
in the applicable Final Terms together with accrued interest (if any). Where the Optional Redemption
Date does not fall on an Interest Payment Date, and must fall on a Business Day, such Business Day
shall be subject to the Business Day Convention and Additional Business Day Centre(s) specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

If the Prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as not applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, the Issuer Call shall only be made applicable if this call option is one of the main characteristics
of the Notes (so-called “callable notes™).

Autocall Early Redemption

Where the Autocall Early Redemption provisions are specified to be applicable in the applicable Final
Terms (“Autocall Notes™), if the Autocall Condition is satisfied in respect of any Autocall Observation
Date:

() the Issuer shall provide notice of such event to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 18
(Notices) as soon as reasonably practicable following the date on which the Autocall Condition
is determined to have been satisfied (an “Autocall Early Redemption Notice”);

(i) such Autocall Early Redemption Notice shall specify the date on which all of the Notes
outstanding shall be redeemed early (which will be the next following Interest Payment Date that
falls not less than five Business Days following the date on which the Autocall Early Redemption
Notice is provided or, if no such date exists, the Maturity Date) at their Autocall Redemption
Amount (together with accrued interest(if any)); and

(iii)  for the avoidance of doubt, if the determination of the Autocall Variable or Autocall Strike is
postponed as a result of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day (as defined in Conditions 6(c), 7(d)
or 9(c), depending on the relevant Autocall Type specified in the applicable Final Terms), then
the Autocall Redemption Amount shall be paid without any Interest Amount or other sum in
respect of the postponement thereof.

For the purposes of this Condition 5(d):

() the “Autocall Condition” shall be satisfied with respect to an Autocall Observation Date
if:

(@  “Greater Than” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Autocall Condition
and the Autocall Variable is greater than the product of (i) the Autocall Strike and
(ii) the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms;
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“Less Than” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Autocall Condition
and the Autocall Variable is less than the product of (i) the Autocall Strike and (ii)
the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms;

“Greater Than Or Equal To” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the
Autocall Condition and the Autocall Variable is greater than or equal to the product
of (i) the Autocall Strike and (ii) the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final
Terms; and

“Less Than Or Equal To” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the Autocall
Condition and the Autocall Variable is less than or equal to the product of (i) the
Autocall Strike and (ii) the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms.

the “Autocall Redemption Amount” means an amount equal to:

(@)

(b)

(©)

the amount per Calculation Amount specified as such in the applicable Final Terms
for a redemption occurring within a specified period of time; or

if no amount is specified in the applicable Final Terms and the Autocall Type is
specified as Index, Underlying Equity or Basket of Underlying Equities an amount
determined by the Calculation Agent equal to:

Reference Itemgipa)

MAX [Floor %; {MIN (Cap %; X AM)}] x Calculation Amount

SF x Reference Itemjpjtjal
;or

if no amount is specified in the applicable Final Terms and the Autocall Type is
specified as Currency an amount determined by the Calculation Agent equal to:

MAX [Floor %; {MIN (Cap %; _Reference teminitial X AM)}] x Calculation Amount

SF x Reference Itemgjp )

where the value of:

(v) “Reference Iteminiia” shall be:

(M the index level or amount specified as such for such Autocall Observation
Date in the applicable Final Terms; or

(i)  if Reference Iteminiia Determination is specified as being applicable in the
applicable Final Terms, the Autocall Reference Price in respect of the
Valuation Date specified for such Autocall Observation Date; or

(iii)  if Autocall Reference Iteminisiai Averaging is specified as being applicable in
the applicable Final Terms, the Average Autocall Reference Price in respect
of the Valuation Dates: specified for such Autocall Observation Date;

(w) “Reference Itemyina™ shall be:

(1 the index level or amount specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;
or

(i)  if Reference Itemsna Determination is specified as being applicable in the
applicable Final Terms, the Autocall Reference Price in respect of the
Valuation Date specified for such Autocall Observation Date; or
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(iii)  if Autocall Reference Itemsina Averaging is specified as being applicable in
the applicable Final Terms, the Average Autocall Reference Price in respect
of the Valuation Dates: specified for such Autocall Observation Date;

(x) “AM” means the Autocall Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms;
(y) “Cap %” shall be as specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
(z2) “Floor %” shall be as specified in the applicable Final Terms,

and the Autocall Redemption Amount will be rounded to the nearest two decimal places
(or, in the case of Japanese Yen, the nearest whole unit) in the Specified Currency, 0.005
(or, in the case of Japanese Yen, half of one unit) being rounded upwards, provided that
where Condition 5(d)(iii)(11)(b) or (c) applies in the case of Autocall Notes which are
represented by a Global Note, the references to “Calculation Amount” shall be deemed to
refer to the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Autocall Notes represented by
such Global Note.

the “Autocall Reference Price” with respect to any specified Valuation Date means:

(@) if the Autocall Type is specified as Index, the Reference Price (as defined in
Condition 6(d) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with
Condition 6 in respect of such Valuation Date;

(b)  if the Autocall Type is specified as Underlying Equity, the Reference Price (as
defined in Condition 7(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance
with Condition 7 in respect of such Valuation Date;

(c) if the Autocall Type is specified as Basket of Underlying Equities, the Reference
Price (as defined in Condition 7(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in
accordance with Condition 7 in respect of the Valuation Date; or

(d) if the Autocall Type is specified as Currency, the Reference Price (as defined in
Condition 9(c)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with
Condition 9 in respect of the Valuation Date.

the “Autocall Variable” with respect to an Autocall Observation Date means:

(@  the Autocall Reference Price in respect of the Valuation Date specified in the
Autocall Variable paragraph of the applicable Final Terms for such Autocall
Observation Date; or

(b)  where Autocall Variable Averaging is specified as being applicable in the
applicable Final Terms, the Average Autocall Reference Price in respect of the
Valuation Dates: specified in the Autocall Variable paragraph of the applicable
Final Terms for such Autocall Observation Date.

the “Autocall Strike” with respect to an Autocall Observation Date means:

(@)  if Autocall Strike Amount is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, the index level or amount specified as such in the applicable Final Terms;
or
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if Autocall Strike Determination is specified as being applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, the Autocall Reference Price in respect of the Valuation Date specified
for such Autocall Observation Date; or

if Autocall Strike Averaging is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, the Average Autocall Reference Price in respect of the Valuation Dates;
specified for such Autocall Observation Date.

(V1) the “Average Autocall Reference Price” with respect to an Autocall Observation Date and:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

an Autocall Variable where Autocall Variable Averaging is specified as being
applicable; and/or

an Autocall Strike where Autocall Strike Averaging is specified as being
applicable; and/or

a Reference Iteminiial Where Autocall Reference Iteminitial Averaging is specified as
being applicable; and/or

a Reference Itemsina Where Autocall Reference Itemyina Averaging is specified as
being applicable,

in each case within the applicable Final Terms, shall be equal to the arithmetic average of
the relevant Autocall Reference Prices determined in respect of each Valuation Date;
specified for such Autocall Observation Date as follows:

[(Autocall Reference Pricey; + Autocall Reference Pricet, + ... + Autocall Reference Pricety)

n

(VIN) “SF” means the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms.

(e)  Early Redemption Amounts

(i)

If the Prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, for the purpose of these Conditions, the Early Redemption Amount in respect of any
Note (other than a Note redeeming early in accordance with Condition 5(c) or Condition 5(d)
above) shall be, in respect of each nominal amount of such Notes equal to the Calculation
Amount, such amount(s) calculated by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion, acting
reasonably, by determining:

(A) inrespect of a Note other than a Zero Coupon Note, if:

(@)

(b)

a Fixed Early Redemption Amount or Fixed Early Redemption Percentage is
specified in the applicable Final Terms, such amount or an amount equal to the
product of the Calculation Amount and such Fixed Early Redemption Percentage,
as the case may be, together with accrued but unpaid interest if “Including Interest”
is specified in the applicable Final Terms; or

no Fixed Early Redemption Amount or Fixed Early Redemption Percentage is
specified in the applicable Final Terms, the fair market value of such Notes on the
date of redemption, including accrued interest (if any), adjusted to account fully
for any losses, expenses and costs to the Issuer (or any of its Affiliates) of
unwinding any underlying or related hedging and funding arrangements, all as
determined by the Calculation Agent. For the purposes hereof: (1) the references to
“together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of
redemption” shall be deemed to be deleted from Condition 5(b); and (II) the
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references to “together with accrued interest thereon to the date of repayment”,
shall be deemed to be deleted from Condition 14 (Events of Default); or

in respect of a Zero Coupon Note, subject to Condition 5(j) below, the Amortised Face
Amount which on the relevant date of early redemption shall be the scheduled Final
Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date discounted at a rate per annum
(expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield applied on the Amortisation
Yield Compounding Basis specified in the applicable Final Terms.

If the Prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as not applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, for the purpose of these Conditions, the Early Redemption Amount in respect of any
Note (other than a Note redeeming early in accordance with Condition 5(c) or Condition 5(d)
above) shall be, in respect of each nominal amount of such Notes equal to the Calculation
Amount, such amount(s) calculated by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion, acting
reasonably, by determining:

(A)

(B)

in the case of a unilateral termination by the Issuer in the case of a force majeure, the fair
market value; and

in the case of a unilateral termination by the Issuer other than in the case of a force
majeure:

(@  inrespect of structured Notes with total or partial capital protection, at the choice
of the Noteholder, either (a) the fair market value or (b) the amount obtained using
the formula stipulated below:

S+D)«~A+nr)"
where:

S = the market value of the savings component on the day of the
activating event,

D = the market value of the derivative component on the day of the
decision to proceed to early repayment,

where account is taken of the accrued unpaid interest,

r = the annual interest rate that the entity on which the Noteholder is
exposed to the principal (more than 50%) credit risk (depending on the
circumstances, the Issuer, Guarantor or any other party involved in the
construction) offers on the date of the activating event on a debt
instrument with the same maturity as the remaining maturity of the
terminated structured Note (“funding rate”, which also matches the
discount rate used when determining S), from that date until maturity,

n = the remaining maturity expressed in years, and

in case the Noteholder has not communicated his choice to the Calculation Agent
within seven Business Days following the date on which notice has been given to
the Noteholder of the event giving rise to the early redemption, the fair market
value;

(b)  inthe case of structured Notes with no capital protection, the fair market value; and
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(c)  inthe case of unstructured Notes which give a right to the payment of the nominal
amount at maturity, the higher of (a) the fair market value or (b) the nominal
amount.

If the Early Redemption Amount payable to the Noteholder is determined pursuant to Condition
5(e)(ii)(A) above, the Noteholder will not be charged any costs for the unilateral termination upon
the Issuer’s initiative.

If the Early Redemption Amount payable to the Noteholder is determined pursuant to Condition
5(e)(ii)(B) above:

(A) the Noteholder will not be charged any costs for the unilateral termination upon the
Issuer’s initiative; and

(B) atthe time of the unilateral termination, the Noteholder will be refunded the costs initially
paid by it to the Issuer pro rata in the following proportion:

Total term of the Notes initially set—expired term of the Notes at the time of early repayment

Total term of the Notes initially set

(iii)  For the purpose of these Conditions, the Early Redemption Amount in respect of any Note
redeeming early on its Optional Redemption Date in accordance with Condition 5(c) above shall
be, in respect of each nominal amount of such Notes equal to the Calculation Amount, such
amount(s) calculated by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion, acting reasonably, by
determining the relevant Optional Redemption Amount determined pursuant to Condition 5(c)
above.

(iv)  For the purpose of these Conditions, the Early Redemption Amount in respect of any Note
redeeming early as a result of the Autocall Condition being satisfied, shall be, in respect of each
nominal amount of such Notes equal to the Calculation Amount, such amount(s) calculated by
the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion, acting reasonably, by determining the relevant
Autocall Redemption Amount determined pursuant to Condition 5(d) above.

Illegality
In the event that the Calculation Agent determines that;

(i) the performance of the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes or, as the case may be, the
Guarantor’s obligations under the Guarantee, or

(i) any arrangements made to hedge the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes,

has or will become unlawful, illegal or otherwise prohibited in whole or in part as a result of compliance
with any applicable present or future law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or directive of any
governmental, administrative, legislative or judicial authority or power, or in the interpretation thereof,
the Issuer having given not less than 10 nor more than 30 days’ notice to Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 18 (Notices) (which notice shall be irrevocable), may, on expiry of such notice redeem all,
but not some only, of the Notes, each Note being redeemed at the Early Redemption Amount together
(if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

Paragraph (f)(ii) shall not apply if the Prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as not
applicable in the applicable Final Terms.
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Cessation of Reference Rate

In the event that the Calculation Agent determines that a Reference Rate for the time being that is
required to make any calculations on the Notes has ceased to be calculated and/or published and no
successor or replacement rate has been established therefor, the Issuer having given not less than 10 nor
more than 30 days’ notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 18 (Notices) (which notice shall
be irrevocable), may, on expiry of such notice redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes, each Note
being redeemed at the Early Redemption Amount together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but
excluding) the date of redemption.

Purchases

The Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their respective subsidiaries may at any time purchase Notes
(provided that, in the case of Definitive Notes, all unmatured Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto
are purchased therewith) at any price in the open market or otherwise. Such Notes may be held, reissued,
resold or, at the option of the Issuer or the Guarantor, surrendered to the Agent for cancellation.

Cancellation

All Notes which are redeemed will forthwith be cancelled (together with all unmatured Coupons and
Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith at the time of redemption). All Notes so cancelled and
the Notes purchased and cancelled pursuant to Condition 5(h) (together with all unmatured Coupons and
Talons cancelled therewith) shall be forwarded to the Agent and cannot be reissued or resold.

Late payment on Zero Coupon Notes

If the amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note upon redemption of such Zero Coupon Note
pursuant to Condition 5(a), (b) or (c) above or upon its becoming due and repayable as provided in
Condition 14 (Events of Default) is improperly withheld or refused, the amount due and repayable in
respect of such Zero Coupon Note shall be the amount calculated as provided in Condition 5(e)(ii) above
as though the references therein to the date fixed for the redemption or the date upon which such Zero
Coupon Note becomes due and payable were replaced by references to the date which is the earlier of:

0] the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Zero Coupon Note have been paid to the
Noteholder; and

(i) five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of such Zero
Coupon Notes has been received by the Agent and notice to that effect has been given to the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 18 (Notices).

Index Linked Notes

If the Notes are Index Linked Interest Notes and/or Index Linked Redemption Notes then the provisions of this
Condition 6 apply, as applicable, as completed by the applicable Final Terms.

Unless Index Linked Notes are previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, if the determination of (1) an
Interest Amount (in the case of Index Linked Interest Notes); or (I1) the Redemption Amount (in the case of
Index Linked Redemption Notes) is postponed as a result of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day (as defined in
Condition 6(d) below) which prevents a Valuation Date falling on its corresponding Scheduled Valuation Date,
then payment of any such amount (the “Index Linked Affected Amount™) shall be postponed to the date which
is the Index Linked Interest Payment Extension Number (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) of Business
Days following the latest Valuation Date that is necessary to determine such Index Linked Affected Amount,
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and such Index Linked Affected Amount shall be paid without any Interest Amount or other sum payable in
respect of the postponement of the payment thereof.

(@)

(b)

Redemption of Index Linked Redemption Notes

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each nominal amount of Index Linked
Redemption Notes equal to the Calculation Amount set out in the applicable Final Terms will be
redeemed by the Issuer at its Redemption Amount (as defined below) on the Maturity Date.

Adjustments to an Index

0]

(i)

(iii)

Successor Index Sponsor Calculates and Reports of an Index

If a relevant Index is (A) not calculated and announced by the Index Sponsor but is calculated
and announced by a successor sponsor (a “Successor Index Sponsor”) acceptable to the
Calculation Agent or (B) replaced by a successor index using, in the determination of the
Calculation Agent, the same or a substantially similar formula for and method of calculation as
used in the calculation of that Index, then, in each case, that index (the “Successor Index”) will
be deemed to be the Index for the purposes of the Notes.

Modification and Cessation of Calculation of an Index

If (A) on or prior to a Valuation Date the relevant Index Sponsor makes or announces that it will
make a material change in the formula for or the method of calculating a relevant Index or in any
other way materially modifies that Index (other than a modification prescribed in that formula or
method to maintain that Index in the event of changes in constituent stock and capitalisation or
contracts and other routine events) (an “Index Modification™) or permanently cancels the Index
and no Successor Index exists (an “Index Cancellation”), or (B) on a Valuation Date the Index
Sponsor or (if applicable) the Successor Index Sponsor fails to calculate and announce a relevant
Index (an “Index Disruption” and, together with an Index Modification and an Index
Cancellation, each an “Index Adjustment Event”), then the Issuer may take the action described
in (a) or (b) below:

@ require the Calculation Agent to determine if such Index Adjustment Event has a material
effect on the Index Linked Notes and, if so, to either () in relation to any Valuation Date,
calculate the Reference Price using, in lieu of a published level for that Index, the level
for that Index as at the Valuation Time on that Valuation Date as determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the formula for and method of calculating that Index
last in effect prior to the change, failure or cancellation, but using only those securities
that comprised that Index immediately prior to that Index Adjustment Event or (II)
substitute that Index with a replacement index using, in the determination of the
Calculation Agent, the same or a substantially similar method of calculation as used in the
calculation of that Index and the Calculation Agent shall determine the adjustments, if any,
to be made to these Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms to account for such
substitution; or

(b)  give notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 18 (Notices) and redeem all,
but not some only, of the Index Linked Redemption Notes, each nominal amount of Notes
equal to the Calculation Amount being redeemed at the Early Redemption Amount.

Correction of an Index Level

If Correction of Index Levels is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms, with the
exception of any correction published after the Correction Cut-Off Date specified in the
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applicable Final Terms, if the official closing level of an Index published on a Valuation Date is
subsequently corrected and the correction (the “Corrected Index Level”) is published by the
Index Sponsor or (if applicable) the Successor Index Sponsor within one Settlement Cycle after
the original publication, (A) the Issuer shall give notice as soon as practicable of that correction
to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 18 (Notices), (B) such Corrected Index Level
shall be deemed to be the closing level for such Index for that Valuation Date and (C) the
Calculation Agent shall use such Corrected Index Level in determining the relevant Interest
Amount and/or Redemption Amount. Corrections published after the Correction Cut-Off Date
will be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purposes of determining the relevant Interest
Amount and/or Redemption Amount.

Notice

Upon the occurrence of an Index Adjustment Event, the Issuer shall give notice as soon as
practicable to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 18 (Notices) giving details of the action
proposed to be taken in relation thereto.

Offer of a Series of Notes to consumers within the meaning of the Belgian Code of Economic Law

If the Prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as not applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, adjustments and modifications pursuant to this Condition 6(b) cannot relate to an
essential feature of the Notes and the Notes cannot be early redeemed by the Issuer, other than,
in each case, if a force majeure or an event occurs which substantially alters the economics of the
contract as initially agreed between the parties and for which the Issuer is not accountable. In
addition, any such adjustment or modification may not create a significant imbalance between
the rights and obligations of the parties to the detriment of the Noteholder and the Issuer may not
charge costs to the Noteholder for any such adjustment or modification.

(c) Consequences of Disrupted Days: Averaging Payments

0)

Disruption Fallback Provisions

If the Calculation Agent determines that any Valuation Date in respect of an Averaging Payment
is a Disrupted Day, then:

(@ if “Omission” is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms, such date shall
be deemed not to be a relevant Valuation Date for the purposes of determining the relevant
Averaging Payment in respect of such Valuation Date, provided that if through the
operation of this provision there would not be any Valuation Date in respect of such
Averaging Payment, then the sole Valuation Date shall be the earlier of (A) the first
Scheduled Trading Day following the Scheduled Valuation Date that is not a Disrupted
Day and (B) the Valuation Cut-Off Date;

(b) if “Postponement” is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the Valuation
Date shall be the earlier of (A) the first Scheduled Trading Day following the Scheduled
Valuation Date that is not a Disrupted Day and (B) the Valuation Cut-Off Date. Any day
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Valuation Cut-Off Date) determined to be a
Valuation Date as a result of the operation of this Condition 6(c) shall be a Valuation Date,
irrespective of whether it falls on a day that already is or is deemed to be a Valuation Date;
or

(c) if “Modified Postponement” is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms,
the Valuation Date shall be the earlier of (A) the first Valid Date following the Scheduled
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Valuation Date and (B) the Valuation Cut-Off Date, irrespective of whether the Valuation
Cut-Off Date falls on a day that already is or is deemed to be a Valuation Date.

Determination of Index Levels

If, in respect of any Index, a Valuation Date falls on the relevant Valuation Cut-Off Date pursuant
to Condition 6(c)(i) above:

(@  if such Valuation Cut-Off Date is not a Disrupted Day for such Index, the Calculation
Agent shall determine the Index Level of such Index as at the Reference Time on such
Valuation Reference Cut-Off Date; and/or

(b) if such Valuation Cut-Off Date is a Disrupted Day for such Index, the Calculation Agent
shall determine the Index Level for such Index as at the Reference Time on the Valuation
Date in accordance with the formula for and method of calculating the Index Level of such
Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day using the Exchange
traded or quoted price as of the Reference Time on the Valuation Cut-Off Date of each
security comprised in such Index (or, if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day (as defined
in Condition 7 (Equity Linked Notes) in relation to a share) has occurred in respect of the
relevant security on the Valuation Cut-Off Date, its good faith estimate of the value for the
relevant security as of the Reference Time on the Valuation Cut-Off Date).

Notice of Disrupted Day

The Calculation Agent shall give notice as soon as practicable to the Noteholders in accordance
with Condition 18 (Notices) of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day on any day that, but for the
occurrence of a Disrupted Day, would have been a Valuation Date. Without limiting the obligation
of the Calculation Agent to give notice to the Noteholders as set forth in the preceding sentence,
failure by the Calculation Agent to notify the Noteholders of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day
shall not affect the validity of the occurrence and effect of such Disrupted Day.

Definitions applicable to Index Linked Notes

For the purposes of this Condition 6:

“Averaging Payment” means any payment relating to:

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(€)

Index Linked Interest Notes in respect of which the Variable Rate of Interest is determined in
accordance with Condition 3(b)(ii)(l), the Asian Option - Index Interest Variable Option;

Index Linked Interest Notes in respect of which the Variable Rate of Interest is determined in
accordance with Condition 3(b)(ii)(O), the Asian Fixing — Index Interest Variable Option;

Index Linked Redemption Notes where sub-paragraph (x)(iii) or sub-paragraph (y)(iii) of the
definition of “Redemption Amount” below is applicable;

Index Linked Autocall Notes where averaging is applicable to the calculation of the Autocall
Redemption Amount under Condition 5(d)(iii)(1V)(b), 5(d)(iii)(V)(c) or 5(d)(iii)(V1); and

any other amounts payable on Index Linked Notes to which averaging relates.

“Clearance System” means, in respect of a security underlying an Index, the principal domestic
clearance system customarily used for settling trades in such security.

“Clearance System Business Day” means, in respect of a Clearance System, any day on which such
Clearance System is (or, but for the occurrence of an event which results in such Clearance System being
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unable to clear the transfer of a relevant security, would have been) open for the acceptance and
execution of settlement instructions.

“Disrupted Day” means:

(@  where the Index is not specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a Designated Multi-
Exchange Index, any Scheduled Trading Day on which a relevant Exchange or any Related
Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session or on which a Market
Disruption Event has occurred; or

(b)  where the Index is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a Designated Multi-Exchange
Index, any Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) the Index Sponsor fails to publish the level of the
Index, (ii) any Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session or (iii)
a Market Disruption Event has occurred.

“Exchange” means:

(@)  where the Index is not specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a Designated Multi-
Exchange Index, each exchange or quotation system specified as such for such Index in the
applicable Final Terms, any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute
exchange or quotation system to which trading in the securities comprising such Index has
temporarily relocated (provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is
comparable liquidity relative to the securities comprising such Index on such temporary substitute
exchange or quotation system as on the original Exchange); or

(b)  where the Index is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a Designated Multi-Exchange
Index, in relation to each component security of that Index (each a “Component Security”), the
principal stock exchange on which such Component Security is principally traded, as determined
by the Calculation Agent.

“Exchange Business Day” means:

(a)  where the Index is not specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a Designated Multi-
Exchange Index, any Scheduled Trading Day on which each Exchange and each Related
Exchange are open for trading during their respective regular trading sessions, notwithstanding
any such Exchange or Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time; or

(b)  where the Index is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a Designated Multi-Exchange
Index, any Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) the Index Sponsor publishes the level of the Index
and (ii) each Related Exchange is open for trading during its regular trading session,
notwithstanding any such Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time.

“Index” means, subject to adjustment in accordance with Condition 6(b), the index specified in the
applicable Final Terms and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

“Index Linked Notes” means Index linked Interest Notes and Index Linked Redemption Notes.

“Index Sponsor” means, in relation to an Index, the corporation or other entity that (a) is responsible
for setting and reviewing the rules and procedures and the methods of calculation and adjustments, if
any, related to such Index and (b) announces (directly or through an agent) the level of such Index on a
regular basis during each Scheduled Trading Day, which as of the Issue Date is the index sponsor
specified for such Index in the applicable Final Terms.
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“Market Disruption Event” means:

(@  inrespect of an Index other than a Designated Multi-Exchange Index:

(i the occurrence or existence at any time during the one hour period that ends at the relevant
Valuation Time of:

(A)

(B)

any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the relevant Exchange or
Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price
exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or
otherwise:

(x)  onany relevant Exchange(s) relating to securities that comprise 20 per cent.
or more of the level of the relevant Index; or

(y)  infutures or options contracts relating to the relevant Index on any relevant
Related Exchange; or

any event (other than an event described in (ii) below) that disrupts or impairs (as
determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in general
(x) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, on any relevant
Exchange(s) securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the
relevant Index, or (y) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, futures
or options contracts relating to the relevant Index on any relevant Related
Exchange,

which in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material; or

(i) the closure on any Exchange Business Day of any relevant Exchange(s) relating to
securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index or any
Related Exchange(s) prior to its Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing time
is announced by such Exchange(s) or such Related Exchange(s), as the case may be, at
least one hour prior to the earlier of (A) the actual closing time for the regular trading
session on such Exchange(s) or such Related Exchange(s) on such Exchange Business
Day or, if earlier, (B) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the Exchange
or Related Exchange system for execution at the Valuation Time on such Exchange
Business Day; or

(b) inrespect of a Designated Multi-Exchange Index either:

0] the occurrence or existence, in respect of any Component Security, of:

(A)

(B)

(©)

a Trading Disruption in respect of such Component Security, which the Calculation
Agent determines is material, at any time during the one hour period that ends at
the relevant Valuation Time in respect of the Exchange in respect of such
Component Security;

an Exchange Disruption in respect of such Component Security, which the
Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during the one hour period
that ends at the relevant Valuation Time in respect of the Exchange in respect of
such Component Security; or

an Early Closure in respect of such Component Security, which the Calculation
Agent determines is material; and
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the aggregate of all Component Securities in respect of which a Trading Disruption, an
Exchange Disruption or an Early Closure occurs or exists, comprises 20 per cent. or more
of the level of the Index; OR

(i) the occurrence or existence, in respect of futures or options contracts relating to the Index,
of: (A) a Trading Disruption at any time during the one hour period that ends at the
Valuation Time in respect of any Related Exchange, (B) an Exchange Disruption at any
time during the one hour period that ends at the Valuation Time in respect of any Related
Exchange or (C) an Early Closure, in each case in respect of such futures or options
contracts and which the Calculation Agent determines is material.

As used above:

“Early Closure” means the closure on any Exchange Business Day of the Exchange in respect
of any Component Security or any Related Exchange prior to its Scheduled Closing Time unless
such earlier closing is announced by such Exchange or Related Exchange, as the case may be, at
least one hour prior to the earlier of: (a) the actual closing time for the regular trading session on
such Exchange or Related Exchange, as the case may be, on such Exchange Business Day; and
(b) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the relevant Exchange or Related
Exchange system for execution at the relevant Valuation Time on such Exchange Business Day.

“Exchange Disruption” means any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs
(as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in general to effect
transactions in, or obtain market values for: (a) any Component Security on the Exchange in
respect of such Component Security; or (b) futures or options contracts relating to the Index on
any Related Exchange.

“Trading Disruption” means any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the relevant
Exchange or Related Exchange, as the case may be, or otherwise and whether by reason of
movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or
otherwise: (a) relating to any Component Security on the Exchange in respect of such Component
Security; or (b) in futures or options contracts relating to the Index on any Related Exchange.

For the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event in respect of an Index or a
Component Security exists at any time, if a Market Disruption Event occurs in respect of a
security included in the Index or such Component Security at that time, then the relevant
percentage contribution of that security or Component Security, as the case may be, to the level
of the Index shall be based on a comparison of (a) the portion of the level of the Index attributable
to that security or Component Security, as the case may be, and (b) the overall level of the Index,
in each case either (i) except where the Index is a Designated Multi-Exchange Index, immediately
before the occurrence of such Market Disruption Event or (ii) where the Index is a Designated
Multi-Exchange Index, using the official opening weightings as published by the Index Sponsor
as part of the market “opening data”.

“Redemption Amount” means, in relation to an Index Linked Redemption Note, an amount
calculated by the Calculation Agent equal to:

. Reference Itemg,, — (SF X Reference Itemlnitial)]
Calculation Amount x MAX [Floor %; {MIN (Cap %; 1+ [IRM X )}]
Reference Item;p;yia)

where the value of:

(u) Floor % shall be specified in the applicable Final Terms;
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(v) Cap % shall be specified in the applicable Final Terms;
(w) “IRM” means the Index Redemption Multiplier specified in the applicable Final Terms;
(x) Reference Iteminitiar Shall be:

(M the amount specified as such in the applicable Final Terms; or

(i)  if Reference Iteminia Determination is specified as being applicable in the
applicable Final Terms, the Reference Price (as defined in this Condition 6(d))
determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with this Condition 6 in
respect of the Valuation Date; specified for this purpose in the applicable Final
Terms; or

(iii)  if Reference Iteminitiai Averaging is specified as being applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, the arithmetic average of the relevant Reference Prices (as defined in
this Condition 6(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with this
Condition 6 in respect of each Valuation Date; specified for this purpose in the
applicable Final Terms;

(y) Reference Itemyina shall be:
Q) the amount specified as such in the applicable Final Terms; or

(i)  if Reference Itemsna Determination is specified as being applicable in the
applicable Final Terms, the Reference Price (as defined in this Condition 6(d))
determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with this Condition 6 in
respect of the Valuation Date specified for this purpose in the applicable Final
Terms; or

(iii)  if Reference Itemsina Averaging is specified as being applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, the arithmetic average of the relevant Reference Prices (as defined in
this Condition 6(d)) determined (and subject to adjustment) in accordance with this
Condition 6 in respect of each Valuation Date specified for this purpose in the
applicable Final Terms; and

(z) SF means the Scaling Factor specified in the applicable Final Terms,

provided always that the Redemption Amount shall in no event be less than zero and in the case
of Index Linked Redemption Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the reference to
“Calculation Amount” shall be deemed to refer to the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of
the Index Linked Redemption Notes represented by such Global Note. The Redemption Amount
will be rounded to the nearest two decimal places (or, in the case of Japanese Yen, the nearest
whole unit) in the Specified Currency, 0.005 (or, in the case of Japanese Yen, half of one unit)
being rounded upwards.

“Reference Price” means, in relation to a Valuation Date an amount (which shall be deemed to
be an amount of the Specified Currency) equal to the official closing level of the Index as
determined by the Calculation Agent (or if a Valuation Time other than the Scheduled Closing
Time is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the level of the Index determined by the
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Calculation Agent at such Valuation Time) on that Valuation Date (as defined below), without
regard to any subsequently published correction.

“Related Exchange” means, in relation to an Index, each exchange or quotation system specified
as such for such Index in the applicable Final Terms, any successor to such exchange or quotation
system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in futures or options
contracts relating to such Index has temporarily relocated (provided that the Calculation Agent
has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to the futures or options contracts
relating to such Index on such temporary substitute exchange or quotation system as on the
original Related Exchange), PROVIDED THAT where “All Exchanges” is specified as the
Related Exchange in the applicable Final Terms, “Related Exchange” shall mean each exchange
or quotation system where trading has a material effect (as determined by the Calculation Agent)
on the overall market for futures or options contracts relating to such Index.

“Scheduled Closing Time” means, in respect of an Exchange or Related Exchange and a
Scheduled Trading Day, the scheduled weekday closing time of such Exchange or Related
Exchange on such Scheduled Trading Day, without regard to after hours or any other trading
outside of the regular trading session hours.

“Scheduled Trading Day” means:

(@)  where the Index is not specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a Designated Multi-
Exchange Index, any day on which each Exchange and each Related Exchange are
scheduled to be open for trading for their respective regular trading sessions; or

(b)  where the Index is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a Designated
Multi-Exchange Index, (i) any day on which the Index Sponsor is scheduled to publish
the level of that Index and (ii) each Related Exchange is scheduled to be open for trading
for its regular trading session.

“Scheduled Valuation Date” means, in relation to a Valuation Date, any original date that, but
for the occurrence of an event causing a Disrupted Day, would have been that Valuation Date.

“Settlement Cycle” means, in respect of an Index, the period of Clearance System Business Days
following a trade in the securities underlying such Index on the Exchange in which settlement
will customarily occur according to the rules of such Exchange (or, if there are multiple
Exchanges in respect of an Index, the longest such period).

“Valid Date” means a Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day and on which another
Valuation Date does not or is not deemed to occur.

“Valuation Cut-Off Date” means the eighth Scheduled Trading Day following the Scheduled
Valuation Date.

“Valuation Date” means each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if any such
date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day unless, in the
opinion of the Calculation Agent, such day is a Disrupted Day. If such day is a Disrupted Day:

(@  which does not relate to an Averaging Payment, then the Valuation Date shall be the earlier
of (i) the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day; and (ii) the
Valuation Cut-Off Date. If the earlier of such dates is the Valuation Cut-Off Date, (A) the
Valuation Cut-Off Date shall be deemed to be that Valuation Date notwithstanding the fact
that such day is a Disrupted Day and (B) the Calculation Agent shall determine the
Reference Price by determining the level of the Index as of the Valuation Time on the
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Valuation Cut-Off Date in accordance with the formula for and method of calculating the
Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day using the Exchange
traded or quoted price as of the Valuation Time on the Valuation Cut-Off Date of each
security comprised in the Index (or if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred
in respect of the relevant security on the Valuation Cut-Off Date, its good faith estimate
of the value for the relevant security as of the Valuation Time on the Valuation Cut-Off
Date); and

(b)  which relates to an Averaging Payment, then the Valuation Date shall be such date as is
determined in accordance with Condition 6(c) above.

“Valuation Time” means:

(@  where the Index is not specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a Designated Multi-
Exchange Index, the Valuation Time specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if no
Valuation Time is specified, the Scheduled Closing Time on the relevant Exchange on the
relevant Valuation Date in relation to each Index to be valued. If the relevant Exchange
closes prior to its Scheduled Closing Time and the specified Valuation Time is after the
actual closing time for its regular trading session, then the Valuation Time shall be such
actual closing time; or

(b)  where the Index is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being a Designated Multi-
Exchange Index, the Valuation Time specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if no
Valuation Time is specified, (i) for the purposes of determining whether a Market
Disruption Event has occurred: (A) in respect of a Component Security, the Scheduled
Closing Time on the relevant Exchange and (B) in respect of any options contracts or
futures contracts on the Index, the close of trading on the relevant Related Exchange, and
(i) in all other circumstances, the time at which the official closing level of the Index is
calculated and published by the Index Sponsor. If, for the purposes of (i) above, the
relevant Exchange closes prior to its Scheduled Closing Time and the specified Valuation
Time is after the actual closing time for its regular trading session, then the Valuation Time
shall be such actual closing time.

Equity Linked Notes

If the Notes are Equity Linked Interest Notes and/or Equity Linked Redemption Notes then the provisions of
this Condition 7 apply, as applicable, as completed by the applicable Final Terms.

Unless Equity Linked Notes are previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, if the determination of (I) an
Interest Amount (in the case of Equity Linked Interest Notes); or (1) the Redemption Amount (in the case of
Equity Linked Redemption Notes) is postponed as a result of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day (as defined in
Condition 7(d) below) which prevents a Valuation Date falling on its corresponding Scheduled Valuation Date,
then payment of any such amount (the “Equity Linked Affected Amount”) shall be postponed to the date
which is the Equity Linked Interest Payment Extension Number (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) of
Business Days following the latest Valuation Date that is necessary to determine such Equity Linked Affected
Amount, and such Equity Linked Affected Amount shall be paid without any Interest Amount or other sum
payable in respect of the postponement of the payment thereof.
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Redemption of Equity Linked Redemption Notes

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as specified below, each nominal amount of
Equity Linked Redemption Notes equal to the Calculation Amount set out in the applicable Final Terms
will be redeemed by the Issuer at its Redemption Amount (as defined below) on the Maturity Date.

Potential Adjustment Events, De-listing, Merger Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation and Insolvency,
Correction of Share Prices, Adjustments for Equity Linked Notes

0]

If Potential Adjustment Events are specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms, then
following the declaration by an Equity Issuer of the terms of any Potential Adjustment Event, the
Calculation Agent will determine whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a diluting,
concentrative or other effect on the theoretical value of the Underlying Equity or Equities and, if
so, will (a) either (A) make the corresponding adjustment, if any, to any one or more of the
relevant Interest Amount and/or the Redemption Amount and/or the Reference Iteminitia and/or
the Reference Itemsina and/or the Multiplier and/or any of the other terms of these Conditions
and/or the applicable Final Terms as the Calculation Agent determines appropriate to account for
that diluting, concentrative or other effect (provided that no adjustments will be made to account
solely for changes in volatility, expected dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relative to the
relevant Underlying Equity) or (B) substitute the Underlying Equity the subject of the Potential
Adjustment Event with a replacement equity security selected by the Calculation Agent and the
Calculation Agent shall determine the adjustments, if any, to be made to these Conditions and/or
the applicable Final Terms to account for such substitution and (b) determine the effective date
of that adjustment or substitution, as the case may be. With respect to an adjustment pursuant to
(A) above, the Calculation Agent may (but need not) determine the appropriate adjustment by
reference to the adjustment in respect of such Potential Adjustment Event made by an options
exchange to options on the Underlying Equity or Equities traded on that options exchange.

Upon making any such adjustment, the Issuer shall give notice as soon as practicable to the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 18 (Notices), stating the adjustment to the relevant
Interest Amount and/or Redemption Amount and/or, the Reference Iteminiiar and/or the Reference
Itemsina and/or the Multiplier and/or any of the other terms of these Conditions and/or the
applicable Final Terms and giving brief details of the Potential Adjustment Event.

For the purposes of this Condition 7:
“Potential Adjustment Event” means any of the following:

(@  a subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of a relevant Underlying Equity (unless
resulting in a Merger Event), or a free distribution or dividend of any such Underlying
Equity to existing holders by way of bonus, capitalisation or similar issue;

(b)  adistribution, issue or dividend to existing holders of a relevant Underlying Equity of (1)
an additional amount of such Underlying Equity or (2) other share capital or securities
granting the right to payment of dividends and/or the proceeds of liquidation of the
relevant Equity Issuer equally or proportionately with such payments to holders of such
Underlying Equity or (3) share capital or other securities of another issuer acquired or
owned (directly or indirectly) by the relevant Equity Issuer as a result of a spin-off or other
similar transaction or (4) any other type of securities, rights or warrants or other assets, in
any case for payment (in cash or other consideration) at less than the prevailing market
price as determined by the Calculation Agent;
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the declaration or payment of any dividend (or portion thereof) that the Calculation Agent
determines to be an extraordinary dividend;

a call by an Equity Issuer (other than an ETF Issuer) in respect of a relevant Underlying
Equity that is not fully paid;

a repurchase by an Equity Issuer or any of its subsidiaries of a relevant Underlying Equity
whether out of profits or capital and whether the consideration for such repurchase is cash,
securities or otherwise (excluding any redemption of ETF Shares initiated by an investor
on terms consistent with the relevant ETF Documents);

in respect of an Equity Issuer (other than an ETF Issuer), an event that results in any
shareholder rights being distributed or becoming separated from shares of common stock
or other shares of the capital stock of such Equity Issuer, pursuant to a shareholder rights
plan or arrangement directed against hostile takeovers that provides upon the occurrence
of certain events for a distribution of preferred stock, warrants, debt instruments or stock
rights at a price below their market value as determined by the Calculation Agent, provided
that any adjustment effected as a result of such an event shall be readjusted upon any
redemption of such rights; or

any other event that has or may have, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, a diluting,
concentrative or other effect on the theoretical value of the relevant Underlying Equity.

If (x) De-listing, Merger Event, Nationalisation and Insolvency and/or (y) Tender Offer is
specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms and (in the case of (x)), a De-listing,
Merger Event, Nationalisation or (other than in respect of an ETF Share) Insolvency occurs or
(in the case of (y)) a Tender Offer occurs, in each case, in relation to an Underlying Equity, the
Issuer in its sole and absolute discretion may:

(@)

(b)

require the Calculation Agent to determine the appropriate adjustment, if any, to be made
to any one or more of the relevant Interest Amount and/or the Redemption Amount and/or
the Reference Iteminitiar and/or the Reference Itemyina and/or the Multiplier and/or any of
the other terms of these Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms to account for the
De-listing, Merger Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation or Insolvency, as the case may be,
and determine the effective date of that adjustment. The relevant adjustments may (i)
include, without limitation, the substitution of the Underlying Equity the subject of the
De-listing, Merger Event, Nationalisation, Insolvency or Tender Offer by a replacement
equity security selected by the Calculation Agent and the Calculation Agent shall
determine the adjustments, if any, to be made to these Conditions and/or the applicable
Final Terms to account for such substitution or (ii) in the case of adjustments following a
Merger Event or Tender Offer include, without limitation, adjustments to account for
changes in volatility, expected dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relevant to the
Underlying Equities; or

give notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 18 (Notices) and redeem all,
but not some only, of the Equity Linked Redemption Notes, each nominal amount of Notes
equal to the Calculation Amount being redeemed at the Early Redemption Amount.

If the provisions of Condition 7(b)(ii)(a) apply, the Calculation Agent may (but need not)
determine the appropriate adjustment by reference to the adjustment in respect of the De-listing,
Merger Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation or Insolvency, as the case may be, made by an
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options exchange to options on the Underlying Equity or Equities traded on that options
exchange.

Upon the occurrence (if applicable) of a De-listing, Merger Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation
or Insolvency, the Issuer shall give notice as soon as practicable to the Noteholders in accordance
with Condition 18 (Notices) stating the occurrence of the De-listing, Merger Event, Tender Offer,
Nationalisation or Insolvency, as the case may be, giving details thereof and the action proposed
to be taken in relation thereto.

For the purposes of these Conditions:

“De-listing” means, in respect of any relevant Underlying Equities, the relevant Exchange
announces that pursuant to the rules of such Exchange, such Underlying Equities cease (or will
cease) to be listed, traded or publicly quoted on the Exchange for any reason (other than a Merger
Event or Tender Offer) and are not immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on an exchange
or quotation system located in the same country as the Exchange (or, where the Exchange is
within the European Union, in any member state of the European Union);

“Insolvency” means, other than in respect of an ETF Share, that by reason of the voluntary or
involuntary liquidation, bankruptcy, insolvency, dissolution or winding-up of, or any analogous
proceeding affecting an Equity Issuer (A) all the Underlying Equities of that Equity Issuer are
required to be transferred to a trustee, liquidator or other similar official or (B) holders of the
Underlying Equities of that Equity Issuer become legally prohibited from transferring them:;

“Merger Date” means the closing date of a Merger Event or, where a closing date cannot be
determined under the local law applicable to such Merger Event, such other date as determined
by the Calculation Agent;

“Merger Event” means, in respect of any relevant Underlying Equities, any (a) reclassification
or change of such Underlying Equities that results in a transfer of, or an irrevocable commitment
to transfer, all such Underlying Equities outstanding to another entity or person, (b) consolidation,
amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the relevant Equity Issuer with or into
another entity or person (other than a consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share
exchange in which such Equity Issuer is the continuing entity and which does not result in any
such reclassification or change of all such Underlying Equities outstanding), (c) takeover offer,
tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any entity or person to
purchase or otherwise obtain 100 per cent. of the outstanding Underlying Equities of the relevant
Equity Issuer that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all such
Underlying Equities (other than such Underlying Equities owned or controlled by such other
entity or person), or (d) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the
relevant Equity Issuer or its subsidiaries (if any) with or into another entity in which such Equity
Issuer is the continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or change of all such
Underlying Equities outstanding but results in the outstanding Underlying Equities (other than
those Underlying Equities owned or controlled by such other entity) immediately prior to such
event collectively representing less than 50 per cent. of the outstanding Underlying Equities
immediately following such event, in each case if the Merger Date is on or before the relevant
Valuation Date or, if the Equity Linked Redemption Notes are to be redeemed by delivery of
Underlying Equities, the Maturity Date;

“Nationalisation” means that all the Underlying Equities or all or substantially all the assets of
an Equity Issuer are nationalised, expropriated or are otherwise required to be transferred to any
governmental agency, authority, entity or instrumentality thereof; and
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“Tender Offer” means, in respect of an Equity Issuer, a takeover offer, tender offer, exchange
offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any entity or person that results in such entity or
person purchasing, or otherwise obtaining or having the right to obtain, by conversion or other
means, greater than 10 per cent. and less than 100 per cent. of the outstanding voting shares of
such Equity Issuer, as determined by the Calculation Agent, based upon the making of filings
with governmental or self-regulatory agencies or such other information as the Calculation Agent
deems relevant.

(iii)  If Correction of Share Prices is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms, with the
exception of any corrections published after the Correction Cut-Off Date specified in the
applicable Final Terms, if the price of an Underlying Equity published on a Valuation Date is
subsequently corrected and the correction (the “Corrected Share Price”) is published on the
relevant Exchange within one Settlement Cycle after the original publication, (A) the Issuer shall
give notice as soon as practicable of that correction to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 18 (Notices), (B) such Corrected Share Price shall be deemed to be the closing price
for such Underlying Equity for that Valuation Date (C) and the Calculation Agent shall use such
Corrected Share Price in determining the relevant Interest Amount and/or Redemption Amount.
Corrections published after the Correction Cut-Off Date will be disregarded by the Calculation
Agent for the purposes of determining the relevant Interest Amount and/or Redemption Amount.

(iv)  Inrespect of Equity Linked Notes relating to Underlying Equities originally quoted, listed and/or
dealt as of the Trade Date in a currency of a member state of the European Union that has not
adopted the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community,
as amended, if such Underlying Equities are at any time after the Trade Date quoted, listed and/or
dealt exclusively in euro on the relevant Exchange, then the Calculation Agent will adjust any
one or more of the relevant Interest Amount and/or the Reference Iteminitia and/or the Reference
Itemsina and/or the Multiplier and/or any of the other terms of these Conditions and/or the
Redemption Amount and/or the applicable Final Terms as the Calculation Agent determines to
be appropriate to preserve the economic terms of such Equity Linked Notes. The Calculation
Agent will make any conversion necessary for the purposes of any such adjustment as of the
Valuation Time at an appropriate mid-market spot rate of exchange determined by the Calculation
Agent prevailing as of the Valuation Time. No adjustments under this Condition 7(b)(iv) will
affect the currency denomination of any payments in respect of the Equity Linked Notes.

(v)  Offer of a Series of Notes to consumers within the meaning of the Belgian Code of Economic Law

If the Prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium is specified as not applicable in the applicable
Final Terms, adjustments and modifications pursuant to this Condition 7(b) cannot relate to an
essential feature of the Notes and the Notes cannot be early redeemed by the Issuer, other than,
in each case, if a force majeure or an event occurs which substantially alters the economics of the
contract as initially agreed between the parties and for which the Issuer is not accountable. In
addition, any such adjustment or modification may not create a significant imbalance between
the rights and obligations of the parties to the detriment of the Noteholder and the Issuer may not
charge costs to the Noteholder for any such adjustment or modification.

()  Consequences of Disrupted Days: Averaging Payments
Q) Disruption Fallback Provisions

(@  Where the Notes are specified in the applicable Final Terms to relate to a single Underlying
Equity, if the Calculation Agent determines that any Valuation Date in respect of an
Averaging Payment is a Disrupted Day, then:
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(i)

(i)

(iii)

Terms and Conditions of the Notes

if “Omission” is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms, such date
shall be deemed not to be a relevant Valuation Date for the purposes of determining
the relevant Averaging Payment in respect of such Valuation Date, provided that if
through the operation of this provision there would not be any Valuation Date in
respect of such Averaging Payment, then the sole Valuation Date shall be the earlier
of (A) the first Scheduled Trading Day following the Scheduled Valuation Date
that is not a Disrupted Day and (B) the Valuation Cut-Off Date;

if “Postponement” is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the
Valuation Date shall be the earlier of (A) the first Scheduled Trading Day following
the Scheduled Valuation Date that is not a Disrupted Day and (B) the Valuation
Cut-Off Date. Any day (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Valuation Cut-
Off Date) determined to be a Valuation Date as a result of the operation of this
Condition 7(c) shall be a Valuation Date, irrespective of whether it falls on a day
that already is or is deemed to be a Valuation Date; or

if “Modified Postponement” is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, the Valuation Date shall be the earlier of (A) the first Valid Date following
the Scheduled Valuation Date and (B) the Valuation Cut-Off Date, irrespective of
whether the Valuation Cut-Off Date falls on a day that already is or is deemed to
be a Valuation Date.

Where the Notes are specified in the appli